City
Commission
Agenda

January 11, 2022

City of Alma
Michigan

January 11, 2022
6:00 p.m.
City Commission Meeting Agenda

Mayor Mapes will ask City Commissioners for additions and deletions to the agenda. Commissioners
will be given an opportunity to review late arriving supporting materials prior to roll call.
Roll Call
Pledge of Allegiance
Approval of Minutes of the December 28, 2021 regular meeting.
A. Petitions:
B. Communications:
1. Communications regarding the City Manager position.
C.
D.
E.
F.
G.

Requested Action

Receive

Hearings:
Consent Agenda:
Requests for Purchase:
Recommendation on Bids:
Resolutions:
1. Consider adoption of an annual Resolution of Intent for Fiscal Year 2023, declaring Alma
Transit’s intent to provide public transportation services and apply for state financial assistance
with this annual plan in accordance with Public Act 51.
Approve
2. Consider adoption of a resolution authorizing Mayor Greg Mapes to execute a Michigan
Department of Transportation FY 2023 Contract Clauses Certification for Alma Transit
acknowledging review of contract clauses and compliance requirements on behalf of the City of
Alma.
Approve

H. Ordinances:
I. Agreements:
1. Consideration of a resolution authorizing the execution of a Project Authorization for the FY
2022 Section 5311 Operating Agreement with the Michigan Department of Transportation
(#2022-0005/P1) regarding the dollar amount for third party contracts, and to authorize the
Mayor and City Clerk to execute the agreement on behalf of the City of Alma.
Approve
2. Consideration of a resolution to authorize Mayor Greg Mapes to execute a “Consent to Enter
Private Property Form” to allow the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and
Energy (EGLE) to access the City owned property east of Jerome and adjacent to Hoffman Road
for the purposes of conducting a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) of the property.
Approve
(Subject: The Phase I ESA has become a prerequisite for properties to be marketed for development
by the State. The assessment is being funded by a grant from EGLE to the Gratiot County Brownfield
Redevelopment Authority.)
J.

Reports of Officers, Boards, Committees:
The City Commission may receive the following reports by one resolution. A City Commissioner
may remove any item within this section for individual discussion and vote.
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1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

January 11, 2022
6:00 p.m.

Alma Police Department December 2021 Report
Alma Police Department Annual Report for 2021
Alma Transit Center December 2021 Report
Annual Building Permit Report for 2021
Interim City Manager’s Report

Receive
K. Appointments:
1. Consideration of a resolution to re-appoint Roxann Hamilton to the Gratiot Area Water
Authority Board for a two-year term expiring January 11, 2024.
Approve
2. Consideration of a resolution to re-appoint Craig Zeese to the Alma Housing Commission for a
five-year term expiring December 31, 2026.
Approve
L. Unfinished Business:
M. New Business:
1. Presentation of the FY 2021 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report by Ali Barnes of Yeo & Yeo.
Appropriations
Commissioner's Comments
Invitation to Public
(Subject: Pursuant to Article II of the City Code, individuals requesting to address the City
Commission may do so by moving to the podium and being recognized by the Mayor, following
which they should state their name and address for the record. Individuals should address their
comments to the Mayor. Comments are limited to a maximum of five (5) minutes per person unless
the Commission grants further time.)
Adjournment
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Alma City Commission
Alma, Michigan
December 28, 2021
Mayor Greg Mapes called a regular meeting of the Alma City Commission to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Alma
Municipal Building. A quorum of the Commission was present.
Roll Call
Present:
Absent:

Roger Allman, Roxann Harrington, Greg Mapes, Nick Piccolo, Michelle Pitts, and Danny
Wernick.
Audra Stahl.

Motion by Commissioner Allman, seconded by Commissioner Piccolo, to approve the agenda as presented.
Motion carried.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Mayor Mapes led those present in a recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance to the United States of America.
Motion by Commissioner Pitts, seconded by Commissioner Piccolo, to approve minutes of the November 23,
2021 closed sessions and the December 14, 2021 regular meeting, as presented. Motion carried.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Petitions
Communications
Motion by Commissioner Piccolo, seconded by Vice-Mayor Harrington, to receive a communication
regarding the Warwick Living Center conditional rezoning approval. Motion carried.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Hearings
Consent Agenda
Requests for Purchase
Recommendation on Bids
Resolutions
2021-0188
Motion by Vice-Mayor Harrington, seconded by Commissioner Piccolo, to approve the
following FY 2022 budget amendments:
A. To increase the Emergency Management Expenditures Budget $9,000 and decrease the General
Fund’s Fund Balance $9,000 to cover additional hazard pay for public safety personnel as
approved at the November 9th Commission meeting.

B. To increase ISF General Fund Revenue Budget $280,500 and increase Major Streets Expenditures
Budget $6,300; Local Street Expenditures Budget $12,700; Downtown Development Authority
Expenditures Budget $940; Housing Rehabilitation Expenditures Budget $440; Alma Public
Library Expenditures Budget $37,600; State Street Plaza Expenditures Budget $460; Transit
Services Expenditures Budget $54,000; Wastewater Utility Expenditures Budget $50,200; Water
Utility Expenditures Budget $67,600; and Refuse Disposal Expenditures Budget $12,200 for their
projected allocation of administrative expense costs through internal service allocations.
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C. To increase ISF General Fund Revenue Budget $135,000 and increase Major Streets Expenditures
Budget $27,000; Local Street Expenditures Budget $27,000; Wastewater Utility Expenditures
Budget $27,000; and Water Utility Expenditures Budget $27,000 for their projected allocation
of engineering expense costs through internal service allocations.

D. To increase Alma Public Library Expenditures Budget $10,000; Transit Services Expenditures
Budget $75,000; Wastewater Utility Expenditures Budget $25,000; and Water Utility
Expenditures Budget $20,000 for updated projections for depreciation expense in the current
year stemming from a more detailed study and projection module performed by the Finance
Department.

E. To increase Major Streets Expenditures Budget $225,000 and Local Streets Expenditures Budget
$350,000 for Public Works salaries and fringe benefits not allocated in the original budget.

Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Resolution declared adopted.
Ordinances
2021-0189

Motion by Vice-Mayor Harrington, seconded by Commissioner Piccolo, to adopt a resolution
to introduce Ordinance #825 to amend Section 60-60 (j) (4) to allow residential uses on the
first floor of buildings in the B-1 Central Business District, so long as they are not located in
the front one-half of the main ground floor adjacent to the street.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Resolution declared adopted.

Agreements
Motion by Commissioner Pitts, seconded by Commissioner Piccolo, to approve renewal of a lease agreement
with Dalton Properties LLC for the lease of cold storage space at 6524 N. Jerome Road for a one-year term.
Interim City Manager Aeric Ripley briefly explained the lease agreement and proposed renewal. Discussion
followed about the tax status of the parcel of property. Ripley will seek additional information for the next
meeting. The motion to approve was withdrawn by Commissioner Pitts.
2021-0190

Motion by Commissioner Pitts, seconded by Commissioner Piccolo, to adopt a resolution to
table renewal of a lease agreement for cost storage space at 6524 N. Jerome Road until the
first meeting in January.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Resolution declared adopted.
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Reports
Motion by Commissioner Pitts, seconded by Commissioner Allman, to receive the following reports: Board
of Review December 14, 2021 Minutes, Building Permit Report for November 2021, Draft Planning
Commission Minutes of December 6, 2021, and Interim City Manager’s December 23, 2021 Report.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Motion by Commissioner Pitts, seconded by Commissioner Piccolo, to receive a verbal report from
Commissioner Piccolo on behalf of the Solid Waste Task Force Committee.
Commissioner Piccolo reported on a recent meeting regarding the upcoming bid process for solid waste
collection. He listed the following items that were discussed: the industry move to carted collection and the
likelihood that a switch to carts will be necessary, possible options for collecting recycling, options for contract
extensions, and possible options for large item collection such as designated days or appointment only
collection. Piccolo said additional information will be provided for the Commission, as the group progresses
towards a request for proposals. Discussion followed.
Motion to receive the report carried.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Appointments
Unfinished Business
New Business
Commissioner Wernick explained that the Personnel Committee had reached a general consensus to
recommend a salary for the Interim City Manager that would land in the middle of the salary range for that
pay grade level. Discussion followed.
Motion by Pitts to pay the median of the salary range for the City Manager position, seconded by Commissioner
Allman.
Clerk Anderson asked about an employment agreement.
amendment was suggested for the original motion.
2021-0191

Additional discussion followed.

A friendly

Motion by Commissioner Pitts, seconded by Commissioner Allman, to approve an
employment agreement for the Interim City Manager, with salary set at the median of the
salary range for City Manager and retroactive to October 1, 2021.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Resolution declared adopted.

3

Alma City Commission
Alma, Michigan
December 28, 2021
Appropriations
2021-0192
Motion by Commissioner Piccolo, seconded by Commissioner Allman, to adopt a resolution
approving Warrant No. 22-12 and authorizing the City Treasurer to issue checks in payment
of all claims.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.
Resolution declared adopted.
Commissioner’s Comments
Vice-Mayor Harrington reported a clear audit report had been received for the Gratiot Area Water Authority,
and offered thanks to Bobbie Marr, St. Louis Finance Director, for her efforts on behalf of the Authority. ViceMayor Harrington also explained the group would be returning to in-person meetings in the new year due to
limitations in the Open Meetings Act.
Commission members offered greetings for a Happy New Year.
Interim City Manager Ripley reminded everyone that municipal offices will be closed on December 31st, in
observance of the holiday.
Invitation to Public
John Lemmerman, Gratiot County Commissioner representing Alma, asked if the Water Authority would be
able to continue Zoom meetings if the declaration of emergency was renewed.
Adjournment
Motion by Commissioner Pitts, seconded by Commissioner Piccolo, to adjourn the meeting at 6:41 p.m.
Motion carried.
Yes:
Allman, Harrington, Mapes, Piccolo, Pitts, and Wernick.
No:
none.
Absent:
Stahl.

_____________________________________
Greg Mapes, City of Alma

__________________________________
Sara Anderson, City Clerk, City of Alma
__________________________________
Date of Approval
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December 24, 2021
City of Alma
525 East Superior Street
Attn: Mayor Greg Mapes
Alma MI 48801
Re: City Manager Position
Mr.Mapes –
Please accept this letter as a formal recommendation of Mr. Aeric Ripley for the open City Manager
position. As the Owner of the largest real estate development company in Gratiot County I have had the
opportunity to work with Mr.Ripley on a number of projects in multiple different capacities. Every
interaction I’ve had with Mr.Ripley has been positive. I have first-hand experience that Mr.Ripley has the
ability and knowledge to work closely with entrepreneurs to help them achieve their goals while
simultaneously working and meeting the goals of the city and all of its citizens.
The city manager position requires a great deal of inter-personal skills and planning for the short- and
long-term goals of the city. I believe that Mr. Ripley possesses great inter-personal skills as I have
experienced them while working with the city on my projects. Moreover, it is obvious that Mr.Ripley has
the necessary planning skills and the track record for goal achievement as evidenced by the
improvement to the city while performing his duties as Assistant City Manager. The improvement to the
city under his guidance has been so great that just last week the City was recognized for these
improvements by a visit from Governor Whitmer.
I can think of no other person who has such a long history with the city that would be better suited for
this position. I highly recommend that you hire Mr.Ripley for this position.

Sincerely,

Ryan Smith
325 Enterprise Drive
Breckenridge MI 48615
ryan@geminicapitalmgt.com
989-708-6850

Dear City Commissioners:

Greetings to everyone and hope this finds you well in the New year.
My name is Micah
Kemler, and I reside at 127 Philadelphia in Alma. I have lived in the
Alma area all my life.
have been previousry emproyed at the city of Arma
for over 9 years, and own a property
management company 43 North properties which operates
in the city of Arma.

I

am writing this letter in reference to a new city
Manager being considered. r am in fulr
support of Aeric Ripley for this role and think
thit he is the besicandidatofor the job. over
the years, r have worked arongside Aeric in severar
different capacities.
I

I have

witnessed Aeric's care and kindness toward
others in action whire working as an
employee for the city of AIma. Aeric excers at
his job, often working outside normal
business hours in order to herp find sorutions
to the probrems that come across his desk.
over the years I have also noticed the extent to
which Aeric is unsetrisi anJ generous with
his personar time. He is constantry vorunteering
for various committees and groups. The
Alma Action Association, the construction of th.-e
wright Avenue park, Lucky McDuck Day,
Jingle Bell Run, Chamber of Commerce, and others just
to name a few.
Aeric and I have arso worked together on business projects
within the city of Arma. He has
always been firm with policies but fair. He possesses
the right attitude and demeanor to be
an effective city Manager. He strives to
work with business owners trying to operate
within
the city limits to find common ground and sorutions
to probrems they face.
I have so

much more to say than there is time about
Aeric. The rast thing r wiil reave you
with is mentioning Aeric's loyalty and dedication. This
became apparent when I worked over
9 years for the city of Arma. over this time
r had to work every third weekend.
During the
summer on those mornings as r wourd be
driving to work, r wourd notice Aeric watering
the
flowers and plants downtown. This act rrrn, ,p-th"
commitment rever that Aeric has to the
City of Alma and its citizens.
Thank you for taking the time to read my retter
and hearing my position in favor of Aeric
Ripley for the city Manager position. I am confident
that he is the best candidate and hope
that you will make the best decision for our city.
r wish you alr the best in the
coming year!
Sincerely,_

lM>.--Micah Kemler

FY 2023 RESOLUTION OF INTENT

Michigan Department
Of Transportation
3078

The approved resolution of intent to apply for state formula operating assistance for
fiscal year 2023 under Act 51 of the Public Acts of 1951, as amended.

WHEREAS, pursuant to Act 51 of the Public Acts of 1951, as amended (Act 51), it is necessary for the
Alma, City of

(hereby known as THE APPLICANT)

established under Act 279 to provide a local transportation program for the state fiscal year of 2023 and,
therefore, apply for state financial assistance under provisions of Act 51; and
WHEREAS, it is necessary for the governing body, to name an official representative for all public
transportation matters, who is authorized to provide such information as deemed necessary by the State
Transportation Commission or department for its administration of Act 51; and
WHEREAS, it is necessary to certify that no changes in eligibility documentation have occurred during
the past state fiscal year; and
WHEREAS, the performance indicators have been reviewed and approved by the governing body.
WHEREAS, THE APPLICATION , has reviewed and approved the proposed balance (surplus) budget,
estimated state funds $ 474,014

and funding sources of estimated federal funds $ 243,881
estimated local funds $ 638,399

with total estimated expenses of $ 1,356,294

(Note: Local funds include fare box and any other local revenue)
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved that THE APPLICANT hereby makes its intentions known to provide
public transportation services and to apply for state financial assistance with this annual plan, in accordance
with Act 51; and
HEREBY, appoints Brett Baublitz

as the Transportation Coordinator, for all public

transportation matters, who is authorized to provide such information as deemed necessary by the State
Transportation Commission or department for its administration of Act 51 for 2023
I, Sara Anderson

(Name) City Clerk

(Secretary/Clerk) of THE Applicant , having custody of the records and proceedings of THE APPLICANT,
does hereby certify that I have compared this resolution adopted by THE APPLICANT at the meeting of
January

20 22

with the original minutes now on file and of record in the office and that this resolution

is true and correct.
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand
and affixed seal of said
day of

, this
A.D 20

SIGNATURE
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and location will be provided at l6asl l0 days in advanc€.
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FY 2023 CONTRACT CLAUSES CERTIFICATION
Certification 1

I acknowledge that I have reviewed a copy of the Contract Clauses. I understand that the nature of the project
will determine which requirements of the contract clauses apply and I will comply with all applicable clauses
for all FTA-funded contracts for the application year.
Name Of The Person Authorized To Sign A Contract Or Project Authorization
Greg Mapes
Legal Organization Name
Alma, City of
Title Of Authorized Signer

Signature Of Authorized Signer ** (See Below)

Mayor

Date
01/11/2022

Board Chair Information:
Name*
Greg Mapes
Phone* (###)###-####

Email*

(989)463-9509

gmapes@myalma.org

* If the organization has a master agreement with MDOT, the organization name must match the name as it
appears on the master agreement. Organizations with multiple contracts must submit multiple contract clauses
certifications.
** If the organization has a master agreement with MDOT, the signature must be the same as the authorized signer of
the master agreement or an individual with legal authority to sign a project authorization for the organization. Your
agency can change, add or remove an authorized signer at any time by completing a signature resolution.
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Contract Clauses
– October 1, 2020 –

All applicants must use the attached FY 2021 Federal Transit Administration
(FTA) Master Agreement as the contract clauses when applying for Federal
assistance through the FY 2023 annual applications for any public transportation
program(s) administered by the Office of Passenger Transportation, Michigan
Department of Transportation.
The Master Agreement identifies the federal authorizing legislation, regulations,
and directives pertinent to the program or programs for which the Applicant
seeks federal assistance. Federal laws, regulations, and directives that do not
apply will not be enforced. Nevertheless, the Applicant understands and agrees
that it must comply with all applicable federal laws and regulations, and follow
applicable federal directives, except to the extent that FTA determines otherwise
in writing.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION

MASTER AGREEMENT

For Federal Transit Administration Agreements authorized by
49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and Title 23, United States Code (Highways), as amended by the
Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act,
the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21),
the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users
(SAFETEA-LU), the SAFETEA-LU Technical Corrections Act of 2008,
or other federal laws that FTA administers.

FTA MA(28)
February 9, 2021
http://www.transit.dot.gov
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION
MASTER AGREEMENT
PREFACE
Statutory Authorities
This is the official Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Master Agreement that applies to each
Underlying Agreement (Grant Agreement, Cooperative Agreement, Loan Agreement, Loan
Guarantee Agreement, or Line of Credit Agreement) for a specific Award authorized by:
(a)

Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, as amended, including the following:
(1)

The Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act, Public Law No.
114-94, December 4, 2015, and other authorizing legislation that may be
enacted;

(2)

The Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21), Public
Law No. 112- 141, July 6, 2012, as amended by the Surface Transportation
and Veterans Health Care Choice Improvement Act of 2015, Public Law No.
114-41, July 31, 2015; and

(3)

The Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A
Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU), Public Law No. 109-59, August 10, 2005,
as amended by the SAFETEA-LU Technical Corrections Act of 2008, Public
Law No 110-244, June 6, 2008.

(b)

Continuing Resolutions or Other Appropriations Resolutions or Acts funding the
Department of Transportation during Fiscal Year 2021.

(c)

Title 23, United States Code (Highways).

(d)

Other federal legislation that FTA administers, as FTA so determines.
Purpose of this Master Agreement

This FTA Master Agreement contains the standard terms and conditions that apply to the
Underlying Agreement with the Recipient, which Underlying Agreement may take the form of
an:
(a)

FTA Grant Agreement, including an FTA Grant Agreement for an award of federal
assistance under the Tribal Transit Program;
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(b)

FTA Cooperative Agreement; or

(c)

Transportation Infrastructure Finance Innovation Act (TIFIA) or Railroad
Rehabilitation and Improvement Financing (RRIF) Loan, Loan Guarantee, Line of
Credit, Master Credit Agreement for a Project overseen by FTA, or State
Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Cooperative Agreement.

THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises, and representations herein,
FTA and the Recipient agree as follows:
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GENERALLY APPLICABLE PROVISIONS
Section 1.

Terms of this Master Agreement and Compliance.

(a)

The Recipient must comply with all applicable federal laws, regulations, and
requirements, and should follow applicable federal guidance, except as FTA
determines otherwise in writing.

(b)

To assure compliance with federal laws, regulations, and requirements, the Recipient
must take measures to assure that other participants in its Underlying Agreements
(e.g., Third Party Participants) comply with applicable federal laws, regulations, and
requirements, and follow applicable federal guidance, except as FTA determines
otherwise in writing.

(c)

FTA may take enforcement action if the Recipient or a Third Party Participant
violates an applicable federal law, regulation, or requirement, or does not follow
applicable federal guidance.

(d)

FTA and the Recipient agree that not every provision of this Master Agreement will
apply to every Recipient or Underlying Agreement.

(e)

(1)

FTA has divided this Master Agreement into the “Preface,” “Generally
Applicable Provisions,” and “Special Provisions for Specific Programs.”

(2)

This Master Agreement has an Appendix A illustrating the specific
provisions of this Master Agreement that apply to the Tribal Transit
Programs.

(3)

Criteria determining which federal laws, regulations, requirements, and
guidance apply include the type of Award, the federal law authorizing federal
assistance for the Award, the federal law, regulations, or requirements
governing how the Award must be implemented, the federal guidance
pertaining to the Award, and the Recipient’s legal status as a “state,” “state
instrumentality,” a “local government,” a federally recognized Indian Tribe
(Indian Tribe), a “private nonprofit entity,” a “private for-profit entity,” or an
individual.

As provided in federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, FTA will
enforce only those federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance that apply
to the specific FTA Recipient, its Third Party Participants, or to any Project and
related activities encompassed in the Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto.
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(f)

Each provision of this Master Agreement must be interpreted in context with all
other provisions of this Master Agreement and the Underlying Agreement. If a single
provision is read apart from the rest of this Master Agreement or the Underlying
Agreement, that provision might not convey the extent of the Recipient’s
responsibility to comply with the requirements of this Master Agreement and the
Underlying Agreement.

(g)

This Master Agreement does not have an Expiration Date. This Master Agreement
continues to apply to the Recipient and its Underlying Agreement, until modified or
superseded by a more recently enacted or issued applicable federal law, regulation,
requirement, or guidance, or Amendment to this Master Agreement or the
Underlying Agreement.

Section 2.
(a)

Definitions.

List of Definitions. In addition to the definitions provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5302, as
amended, or in previous legislation if circumstances may require, the Recipient
agrees that the following definitions apply:
(1)

Application means the request for federal assistance submitted that is signed
and dated by the Applicant or an official authorized to act on the behalf of the
Applicant, and includes all explanatory, supporting, and supplementary
documents filed with FTA by or on behalf of the Applicant, and has been
reviewed by FTA staff and addresses FTA’s comments and concerns. An
application for federal assistance in the form of a Grant or Cooperative
Agreement must be submitted in in FTA’s Transit Award Management
System (TrAMS).

(2)

Approval, unless FTA determines otherwise in writing, means a written
statement of an authorized federal official transmitted electronically or in
typewritten hard copy expressly permitting the Recipient to take or omit an
action in connection with its Underlying Agreement, and signed by a federal
official authorized to permit the Recipient to take or omit an action that may
not be taken or omitted without the Federal Government’s permission.
Approval does not mean permission to take or omit a similar action other
than the specific action for which approval was given and does not include an
oral permission or interpretation, which has no legal force, authority, or
effect. For purposes of this Master Agreement, the definition of “approval”
also applies to “concurrence” and “waiver.”

(3)

Associated Transit Improvement means, with respect to a Project or an area
to be served by a Project, an activity that is designed to enhance transit
service or use and that is physically or functionally related to transit facilities.
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(4)

Award means the Scope of Work that FTA has approved when FTA agreed
to provide federal assistance. The Award also includes the requirements of all
documents, terms, and conditions incorporated by reference and made part of
the Underlying Agreement, which may be a Grant or Cooperative
Agreement.

(5)

Award Budget [formerly, Approved Project Budget] means the budget for all
the Projects encompassed by the FTA Award. In contrast, Project Budget
means the budget allocated for a single Project contained within an Award
that FTA or a pass-through entity approves during the federal award process
or in subsequent amendments to the FTA Award. It may include the federal
and non-federal share or only the federal share, as determined by FTA or the
pass-through entity. For legal and other purposes, FTA reserves the right to
consider information other than that displayed electronically or on paper in
the “Award Budget” to determine the scope of the Award, eligible Project
activities, and other terms used in connection with the Award.

(6)

Common Rules means any one or more of the following:
(i)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR Part
1201, which incorporates by reference U.S. Office of Management
and Budget (OMB) regulatory guidance, “Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards,” 2 CFR Part 200;

(ii)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements for
Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local
Governments,” former 49 CFR Part 18; and

(iii)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements for
Grants and Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education,
Hospitals, and Other Non-profit Organizations,” former 49 CFR Part
19.

(7)

Concurrence has the same meaning as the definition of Approval in this
section of this Master Agreement.

(8)

Cooperative Agreement means an instrument that the Federal Government
uses to award federal assistance to the Recipient to support each specific
Project and related activities described in the Underlying Agreement in
which, consistent with 31 U.S.C. § 6305, the Federal Government takes an
active role and retains substantial control. An FTA Cooperative Agreement
consists of three parts:
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(i)

The FTA Award, consisting of the amount of federal assistance FTA
is providing to support each specific Project and related activities, and
a description of each Project as set forth in the Application submitted
to FTA in TrAMS or on paper if permitted;

(ii)

The Terms and Conditions incorporated by reference and made part
of the Cooperative Agreement consisting of the following documents,
irrespective of whether electronic or in typewritten hard copy,
including:

(iii)

(A)

The most recent “Federal Transit Administration Master
Agreement, which applies to this Cooperative Agreement;

(B)

The current Certifications and Assurances applicable to the
FTA Award that the Recipient has selected and provided to
FTA; and

(C)

Any Award notification containing special conditions or
requirements if issued; and

The Execution of the Cooperative Agreement by the Recipient.

(9)

Designated Recipient means an entity designated, in accordance with the
planning process under 49 U.S.C. §§ 5303 and 5304, by the governor of a
state, responsible local officials, and publicly owned operators of public
transportation, to receive and apportion amounts under 49 U.S.C. § 5336 to
urbanized areas of 200,000 or more in population; or a state or regional
authority, if the authority is responsible under the laws of a state for a Capital
Project and for financing and directly providing public transportation.

(10)

Disability has the same meaning as in section 3(1) of the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12102.

(11)

Federal Assistance means a type of federal funding that the Recipient
receives through the Underlying Agreement.

(12)

Federal Award Identification Number has the same meaning as “Project No.”
in previous Grant Agreements and Cooperative Agreements with FTA.

(13)

Federal Government means the United States of America and any of its
executive departments or agencies.

(14)

Federal Guidance includes any federal document or publication signed by an
authorized federal official providing official instructions or advice about a
federal program that is not defined as a “federal requirement” and applies to
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entities other than the Federal Government. Federal Guidance also may apply
to the Federal Government, and may take the form of a:
(i)

Federal directive;

(ii)

Federal circular;

(iii)

Federal order;

(iv)

Federal published policy;

(v)

Federal administrative practice;

(vi)

Federal guideline;

(vii)

Federal guidance document;

(viii) Letter signed by an authorized federal official; or
(ix)
(15)

Similar document.

Federal Requirement means:
(i)

An applicable federal law, regulation, or executive order;

(ii)

An applicable provision of the Underlying Agreement, including any
Special Condition, Requirement, Provision, or Condition of Award;

(iii)

This Master Agreement;

(iv)

A later Master Agreement after FTA and the Recipient have entered
into the Underlying Agreement; or

(v)

Another applicable federal mandate.

(16)

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) is an operating administration of the
Department of Transportation (U.S. DOT). Any reference to the “Urban
Mass Transportation Administration” (also referred to as “UMTA”) refers to
the “Federal Transit Administration” or “FTA” when appearing in any
records of the United States.

(17)

Federal Transit Administrator is the head of the Federal Transit
Administration.

(18)

Federally Recognized Indian Tribe means an Indian tribe that is federally
recognized by the Bureau of Indian Affairs of the U.S. Department of the
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Interior in accordance with the provisions of the Federally Recognized Indian
Tribe List Act of 1994, as amended, 25 U.S.C. § 5130.
(19)

Fiscal Year, as used in this Master Agreement, means “federal fiscal year,”
which begins on October 1 of each calendar year and ends on September 30
of the next calendar year.

(20)

Governor means the governor of a state, the mayor of the District of
Columbia, or the chief executive officer of a territory of the United States
and includes the designee thereof.

(21)

Grant Agreement means a legal instrument that the Federal Government uses
to award federal assistance to the Recipient to support each specific Project
and related activities described in the Underlying Agreement in which,
consistent with 31 U.S.C. § 6304, the Federal Government does not take an
active role and does not retain substantial control. An FTA Grant Agreement
consists of three parts:
(i)

The FTA Award, consisting of the amount of federal assistance FTA
is providing to support each specific Project and related activities, and
a description of each Project as set forth in the Application submitted
to FTA in TrAMS or on paper if permitted;

(ii)

The Terms and Conditions incorporated by reference and made part
of the Grant Agreement consisting of the following documents,
irrespective of whether electronic or in typewritten hard copy,
including:

(iii)
(22)

(A)

The most recent “Federal Transit Administration Master
Agreement, which applies to this Grant Agreement;

(B)

The current Certifications and Assurances applicable to the
FTA Award that the Recipient has selected and provided to
FTA; and

(C)

Any Award notification containing special conditions or
requirements if issued; and

The Execution of the Grant Agreement by the Recipient.

Indian Tribe means the Recipient or Subrecipient that receives “Tribal
Transit Program” assistance authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5311(c)(1) to support
its Underlying Agreement.
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(23)

Internal Controls means a process, implemented by a Recipient or
Subrecipient, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
achievement of objectives in the following categories: (a) effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, (b) reliability of reporting for internal and external
use, and (c) compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and requirements.

(24)

Local Government Authority includes (a) a political subdivision of a state; (b)
an authority of at least one state or political subdivision of a state; (c) an
Indian tribe; and (d) a public corporation, board, or commission established
under the laws of a state.

(25)

Low-Income Individual, for purposes of 49 U.S.C. § 5311(j)(1)(A)(iii),
means an individual whose family income is at or below 100 percent of the
poverty line, as that term is defined in section 673(2) of the Community
Services Block Grant Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9902(2), including any revision
required under that section, for a family of the size involved.

(26)

Master Credit Agreement means a conditional agreement to extend one or
more loans to a Recipient under the Transportation Infrastructure Finance
and Innovation Act (TIFIA) of 1998, as amended, 23 U.S.C. §§ 601 – 609, or
the Railroad Rehabilitation and Improvement Financing (RRIF) program,
45 U.S.C. §§ 821 – 823, and also means the type of Underlying Agreement
used for the TIFIA or RRIF loans.

(27)

Non-Federal Funds or Non-Federal Share includes the following sources of
funding or in-kind property or services used to match the federal assistance
awarded for the Grant or Cooperative Agreement:

(28)

(i)

Local funds;

(ii)

Local in-kind property or services;

(iii)

State funds;

(iv)

State in-kind property or services;

(v)

Other federal funds for which the federal statute authorizing a
program specifically provides that federal funds made available for
that program can be applied to the cost sharing requirements of other
federal programs.

Non-Tribal Service Provider, for purposes of 49 U.S.C. § 5311(j)(2), means a
non-tribal provider of public transportation that connects residents of tribal
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lands with surrounding communities, improves access to employment or
healthcare, or otherwise addresses the mobility needs of tribal members.
(29)

Project means the public transportation improvement activities eligible for
federal assistance in an application to FTA and/or in an FTA Award.

(30)

Public Transportation, has the same meaning as “transit” or “mass
transportation,” and, consistent with the definition at 49 U.S.C. § 5302,
means regular, continuing shared- ride surface transportation services that are
open to the general public, or open to a segment of the general public defined
by age, disability, or low income, but does not include:
(i)

Intercity passenger rail transportation provided by Amtrak or a
successor thereof as described in 49 U.S.C. chapter 243;

(ii)

Intercity bus service;

(iii)

Charter service;

(iv)

School bus service;

(v)

Sightseeing service;

(vi)

Courtesy shuttle service for patrons of one or more specific
establishments; or

(vii)

Intra-terminal or intra-facility shuttle services.

(31)

Recipient or Direct Recipient means a non-federal entity that receives a
federal award directly from a federal awarding agency to carry out an activity
under a federal program. The term “Recipient” does not include a
Subrecipient.

(32)

Scope of Work means the purpose of the Grant Agreement or Cooperative
Agreement and the activities and approaches required to carry out a Project.
The scope of work consists of various components, including the Award
Budget, beneficiaries, locations, and other aspects identified in the approved
application. FTA reserves the right to consider other information in
determining the scope of the Project or the “scope of work of a Grant
Agreement or Cooperative Agreement” when “scope” is used for other
purposes. See the latest edition of the FTA Master Agreement.

(33)

Split Letter (sometimes referred to as a suballocation letter or government
subapportionment letter) means a letter in which a Designated Recipient of
Urbanized Area Formula Grant Program funding authorized by 49 U.S.C.
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§ 5307, a Designated Recipient of Formula Grants for Enhanced Mobility of
Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5310, a
Designated Recipient of the State of Good Repair Formula Grants, 49 U.S.C.
§ 5337, agrees to a reassignment or reallocation of that federal assistance to
one or more direct Recipients.
(34)

Subagreement or Subgrant means an agreement through which the Recipient
awards federal assistance to its Subrecipient(s) to support or stimulate any of
the Recipient’s or Subrecipient’s Projects or related activities supported
under the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, or Amendments
thereto, but does not include a third party contract, third party subcontract, or
lease.

(35)

Subrecipient or Subgrantee means any entity or person that receives federal
assistance provided by an FTA Recipient instead of FTA directly, but does
not include a Third Party Contractor, Third Party Subcontractor, or Lessee.

(36)

Third Party Agreement includes agreements or arrangements supported in
whole or in part with federal assistance awarded to a Recipient by FTA,
including a subagreement with a subrecipient, a third party contract, a third
party subcontract, a lease, or similar arrangement or agreement as FTA may
recognize.

(37)

Third Party Contract means a legal instrument by which a Recipient or
Subrecipient purchases property or services needed to carry out the Grant
Agreement or Cooperative Agreement. This does not include an instrument
describing a transaction that meets the definition of a federal Award, Grant,
Cooperative Agreement, Subaward, or Subagreement.

(38)

Third Party Participant means each participant in the Recipient’s Project,
except for FTA and the Recipient, whose work under the Project is supported
with FTA funding, eligible non-federal share dedicated to the Project, or is
dedicated as an in-kind contribution eligible for non-federal share. A Third
Party Participant may be a Subrecipient, Third Party Contractor, Third Party
Subcontractor, Lessee, or Similar Participant in the Recipient’s Project (for
example, a partner in a joint development venture).

(39)

Third Party Subcontract means a subcontract entered into by the Third Party
Contractor with a Third Party Subcontractor, or a Third Party Subcontractor
with another Third Party Subcontractor at any tier, and is supported in whole
or in part with the federal assistance originally derived from FTA, or nonfederal share dedicated to the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement.
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(40)

Underlying Agreement means a specific Grant Agreement, Cooperative
Agreement, or, with respect to TIFIA or RRIF assistance, a specific Loan
Agreement, Line of Credit Agreement, or Loan Guarantee Agreement that
incorporates the terms of this Master Agreement, in each case including any
amendments thereto, supported with federal assistance appropriated or made
available under the authorized program.

(41)

Unique Entity Identifier has two meanings:

(42)
(b)

(i)

A Recipient’s or a Subrecipient’s unique entity identifier for purposes
of the “System of Award Management” (SAM), which currently is
the DUNS Number; but

(ii)

For FTA purposes, FTA assigns a separate Recipient/Vendor ID as a
“unique entity identifier,” which is a four-digit number and is
displayed on the Grant Agreement and the Cooperative Agreement
following the heading “Recipient ID.”

Waiver has the same meaning as the definition of Approval in this section of
this Master Agreement.

Application of Definitions. The Recipient also agrees that the definitions in
section 2(a) above apply throughout this Master Agreement.

Section 3.

Implementation.

(a)

Effective Date. The Effective Date of Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is the date
when the authorized FTA official signs the Underlying Agreement.

(b)

Description of Each Project. The “Description of Each Project” in the “Executive
Summary” of the “FTA Award” section of the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement
often provides only a brief description of each Project and related activities to be
undertaken by the Recipient; therefore, the Recipient agrees to perform the work
described in the terms of its Underlying Agreement, including all the documents and
information incorporated by reference and made part of that Underlying Agreement.

(c)

Prompt Implementation. After receiving notice that the FTA official signed the
Underlying Agreement, the Recipient agrees to undertake promptly each Project and
related activities described in the Underlying Agreement.

(d)

Completion Dates. The Recipient agrees to complete each Project within the time
periods specified in the Underlying Agreement and all activities must be completed
by the Award’s end date, unless FTA agrees in writing to extend the end date. Unless
FTA determines otherwise in writing, interim milestone dates and other completion
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dates applicable to the Award are good faith estimates and are not intended to be
firm contractual requirements. However, FTA and the Recipient agree that milestone
dates and other completion dates for Full Funding Grant Agreements, Small Starts
Grant Agreements or other specific agreements in which FTA expressly states that
the milestone dates or other completion dates for the Underlying Agreement are firm
dates that may be enforced.
(e)

The Recipient’s Capacity. To carry out its Underlying Agreement, the Recipient
agrees to maintain:
(1)

(2)

(f)

Sufficient legal, financial, technical, and managerial capacity, and adequate
functional capacity to:
(i)

Plan, manage, and complete its responsibilities outlined in the
Underlying Agreement;

(ii)

Use the Project property;

(iii)

Carry out the safety and security aspects of the Underlying
Agreement;

(iv)

Comply with the terms and conditions of the Underlying Agreement,
the Recipient’s annual Certifications and Assurances to FTA, and
applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements; and

(v)

Follow applicable federal guidance, except as the Federal
Government determines otherwise in writing.

Strong internal controls to assure that it is managing its Award in compliance
with federal laws, regulations, requirements, and the terms and conditions of
the Underlying Agreement including, but not limited to:
(i)

Amendments or revisions to its Award Budget;

(ii)

Salaries and wages of the Recipient’s and Subrecipient’s personnel;

(iii)

Protection of personally identifiable information and other sensitive
information; and

(iv)

Other matters that must be in compliance with federal laws,
regulations, requirements, and the terms and conditions of the
Underlying Agreement.

U.S. DOT Administrative Requirements. The Recipient agrees to comply with the
following U.S. DOT regulations (Common Rules) to the extent applicable:
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(1)

(2)

Requirements Applicable On or After December 26, 2014. The following
requirements apply to the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement,
and any Amendments thereto signed by an authorized FTA official on or
after December 26, 2014 as follows:
(i)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR Part
1201, which incorporates by reference U.S. OMB regulatory
guidance, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR Part 200, and
which applies to an Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments to any Underlying Agreement with
a state, local government, Indian tribe, institution of higher education
(IHE), or nonprofit organization; and

(ii)

Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, U.S. DOT
regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR Part 1201, and
subparts A through E of U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR Part 200, apply to a
private for-profit entity; notably, the Cost Principles of Part 31 of the
Federal Acquisition Regulation, which permits the payment of profits
or fees for work under procurement contracts, generally will not apply
to private for-profit entities.

Requirements Applicable Before December 26, 2014. The following
requirements apply to the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement,
and any Amendments thereto signed by an authorized FTA official before
December 26, 2014 as follows:
(i)

For a state, local government, or Indian tribal government, U.S. DOT
regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and
Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments,” former
49 CFR Part 18;

(ii)

For an institution of higher education or a nonprofit organization,
U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements for
Grants and Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education;
Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit Organizations,” former 49 CFR Part
19; or

(iii)

For a private for-profit organization, U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform
Administrative Requirements for Grants and Agreements with
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Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-profit
Organizations,” former 49 CFR Part 19.
(g)

Application of Federal, State, and Local Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and
Guidance. The Recipient agrees to comply with all applicable federal requirements
and follow applicable federal guidance. All standards or limits are minimum
requirements when those standards or limits are included in the Recipient’s
Underlying Agreement or this Master Agreement. At the time the FTA official
awards federal assistance to the Recipient in support of the Underlying Agreement,
the federal requirements and guidance that apply then may be modified from time to
time, and will apply to the Recipient or the accompanying Underlying Agreement,
except as FTA determines otherwise in writing.

(h)

The Recipient’s Responsibility to Comply with Federal Requirements. Irrespective of
involvement by any other entity in the Underlying Agreement:
(1)

General. The Recipient agrees to comply with all federal
requirements that apply to itself and the Underlying Agreement.

(2)

Primary Responsibility for Compliance.
(i)

(ii)

The Recipient, as the Direct Recipient of federal assistance, agrees
that it is ultimately responsible for full compliance with federal
requirements related to itself, its Award, the accompanying
Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, even though:
(A)

A Third Party Participant provides property or services to
support a Project or related activities implementing the
Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, any
Amendments thereto; or

(B)

Another entity or person is involved with the Award, the
accompanying Underlying Agreement, or any Amendments
thereto.

FTA and the Recipient agree that if FTA makes an Award to a
Recipient other than the Designated Recipient as defined under
49 U.S.C. § 5302, the Designated Recipient is not a party to the
Award or the Underlying Agreement and is not responsible for
compliance with federal requirements related to the Underlying
Agreement. However, if FTA makes an Award to a Designated
Recipient, then that Designated Recipient is responsible for
compliance with federal requirements related to its Underlying
Agreement. FTA and the Recipient further agree to the terms of the
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Designated Recipient’s Split Letter, Suballocation Letter, or
Government Subapportionment Letter attached in TrAMS, including
the amounts allocated by the Designated Recipient to each Direct
Recipient, and the commitment to comply with the associated transit
improvement requirement as stated in that letter.
(iii)

(i)

Apart from other oversight and reviews FTA may conduct, the
Recipient agrees that FTA is expressly authorized to conduct
oversight of the Recipient’s and its Subrecipients’ compliance with
federal requirements for safety and security, procurement (including
Buy America requirements), management, and finance.

The Recipient’s Responsibility to Extend Federal Requirements to Third Party
Participants. In certain circumstances, the Recipient’s compliance with specific
federal requirements depends on compliance by its Third Party Participant(s) with
those federal requirements, and therefore:
(1)

General. The Recipient agrees to ensure that its Third Party Participant(s)
will comply with applicable federal requirements, and follow applicable
federal guidance.

(2)

The Recipient as a “Pass-Through” Entity. If the Recipient is providing a
subaward to a Subrecipient to carry out all or part of its Award, the Recipient
agrees to obtain the agreement of each Subrecipient to comply with U.S.
DOT’s administrative requirements, as set forth above.

(3)

Performance of the Recipient’s Responsibilities. If a Third Party Participant
is expected to fulfill any responsibilities typically performed by the
Recipient, the Recipient agrees to ensure that the Third Party Participant will
carry out the Recipient’s responsibilities in compliance with federal
requirements, and provide enough information to each Third Party
Participant so that it understands that it will be expected to follow federal
guidance.

(4)

Risk. As provided in 2 CFR Part 1201, which incorporates by reference
2 CFR Part 200, the Recipient agrees to evaluate the risk involved before
awarding a subagreement to any entity.

(5)

Third Party Agreements. To comply with federal requirements, the Recipient
agrees to enter into a written Third Party Agreement with each Third Party
Participant in its Underlying Agreement and must include all appropriate
provisions stating the Third Party Participant’s responsibilities to assure the
Recipient’s capability to comply with applicable federal requirements and
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guidance and specifying the responsibilities that the Third Party Participant
will fulfill on the Recipient’s behalf.
(6)

(j)

Notice to Third Party Participants. The Recipient agrees to include notice in
each Third Party Agreement that:
(i)

Federal requirements that apply to the Recipient or the Award, the
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto
may change due to changes in federal law, regulation, other
requirements, or guidance, or changes in the Recipient’s Underlying
Agreement including any information incorporated by reference and
made part of that Underlying Agreement; and

(ii)

Applicable changes to those federal requirements will apply to each
Third Party Agreement and parties thereto at any tier.

Changed Circumstances. The Recipient agrees that changed circumstances may
occur that may impact the Recipient’s ability to comply with the terms and
conditions of the Underlying Agreement.
(1)

Types of Changes. Certain circumstances can cause significant changes in
performance of a Project or related activities or adversely affect the
Recipient’s ability to carry out its Underlying Agreement, such as:
(i)

A change in federal requirements or guidance;

(ii)

A change in state, territorial, local, or tribal requirements;

(iii)

A change in the Recipient’s circumstances, including:

(iv)

(A)

Its legal, financial, technical, or managerial capacity;

(B)

Its continuing control of Project property; or

(C)

Another similar situation; and

Any current or prospective legal matter with potentially serious
consequences, including a major dispute, default, breach, or litigation,
or knowledge that the Recipient’s principal, official, employee, agent,
or a Third Party Participant, or other person has submitted a false
claim under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, et seq., or has
committed a criminal or civil violation of law pertaining to fraud,
conflict of interest, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving
federal assistance; suspension, debarment, or other similar
administrative or enforcement action against the Recipient or any
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Third Party Participant; or any matter or situation, including any other
change or legal action that may adversely affect the Federal
Government’s interest in a Project or related activities.
(2)

(k)

Notice. In the circumstances described above, the Recipient agrees to provide
immediate written notice to the:
(i)

FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient
operates public transportation or implements the Underlying
Agreement;

(ii)

FTA Headquarters Manager that administers the Underlying
Agreement; or

(iii)

FTA Chief Counsel.

Conflict Between Federal Requirements and State, Territorial, Local, or Tribal
Requirements. FTA and the Recipient understand that a federal requirement may
conflict with a state, territorial, local, or tribal requirement, and agree that the
Recipient must comply with each applicable federal requirement that pre-empts the
conflicting state, territorial, local, or tribal requirement.
(1)

(2)

Compliance with State, Territorial, Local or Tribal Requirements. Unless
otherwise pre-empted by a federal requirement, FTA and the Recipient agree
that:
(i)

FTA expects the Recipient to comply with applicable state, territorial,
local, and tribal requirements; and

(ii)

FTA does not require the Recipient to take any action involving the
Underlying Agreement that would violate a state, territorial, local, or
tribal requirement that conflicts with a federal requirement.

When a Conflict Arises. When a federal requirement conflicts with a state,
territorial, local, or tribal requirement:
(i)

The Recipient must notify FTA immediately in writing if compliance
with the federal requirement would violate a state, territorial, local, or
tribal requirement, or require the Recipient to violate a state,
territorial, local, or tribal requirement.

(ii)

The Recipient must make appropriate arrangements with FTA to
proceed with its responsibilities as set forth in the Underlying
Agreement, or terminate the Underlying Agreement expeditiously, if
necessary.
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(l)

No Federal Government Commitment or Liability to Third Parties. Except as the
Federal Government expressly consents in writing, the Recipient agrees that:
(1)

The Federal Government does not and shall not have any commitment or
liability related to the Underlying Agreement, to any Third Party Participant
at any tier, or to any other person or entity that is not a party (FTA or the
Recipient) to the Underlying Agreement; and

(2)

Notwithstanding that the Federal Government may have concurred in or
approved any Solicitation or Third Party Agreement at any tier that may
affect the Underlying Agreement, the Federal Government does not and shall
not have any commitment or liability to any Third Party Participant or other
entity or person that is not a party (FTA or the Recipient) to the Underlying
Agreement.

Section 4.
(a)

Ethics, Political Activity, Disqualification, and Certain Criminal Activity.

Standards of Conduct. At a minimum, the Recipient agrees to, and assures that its
Subrecipients will, establish and maintain written Standards of Conduct covering
conflicts of interest that:
(1)

(2)

Apply to the following individuals who have a present or potential financial
interest, or other significant interest, such as a present or potential
employment interest in the selection, award, or administration of a third party
contract or subcontract:
(i)

The Recipient or its Subrecipients’ officers, employees, board
members, or agents engaged in the selection, award, or administration
of any third party agreement;

(ii)

The immediate family members or partners of those listed above in
section 4(a)(1)(i) of this Master Agreement; and

(iii)

An entity or organization that employs or is about to employ any
person that has a relationship with the Recipient or its Subrecipient
listed above in sections 4(a)(1)(i) and (ii) of this Master Agreement;

Prohibit those individuals listed above in section 4(a)(1) from:
(i)

Engaging in any activities involving the Recipient’s or any of its
Subrecipients’ present or potential Third Party Participants at any tier,
including selection, award, or administration of a third party
agreement in which the individual has a present or potential financial
or other significant interest; and
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(ii)

(3)

Accepting a gratuity, favor, or anything of monetary value from a
present or potential Third Party Participant in the Recipient’s
Underlying Agreement, unless the gift is unsolicited and has an
insubstantial financial or nominal intrinsic value; and

Establish penalties, sanctions, or other disciplinary actions for violations, as
permitted by state or local law or regulations, that apply to those individuals
listed above in section 4(a)(1) and the Recipient’s or Subrecipient’s Third
Party Participants.

(b)

Bonus or Commission. The Recipient affirms that it has not paid, and agrees that it
will not pay, any bonus or commission to obtain federal assistance for any Project or
related activities supported under the Underlying Agreement.

(c)

Lobbying Restrictions. The Recipient agrees that neither it nor any Third Party
Participant will use federal assistance to influence any officer or employee of a
federal agency, member of Congress or an employee of a member of Congress, or
officer or employee of Congress on matters that involve the Underlying Agreement,
including any extension or modification, according to the following:
(1)

(2)

(d)

Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance. This includes:
(i)

The Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, 31 U.S.C. § 1352, as
amended;

(ii)

U.S. DOT regulations, “New Restrictions on Lobbying,” 49 CFR Part
20, to the extent consistent with 31 U.S.C. § 1352, as amended; and

(iii)

Other applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, and
guidance prohibiting the use of federal assistance for any activity
concerning legislation or appropriations designed to influence the
U.S. Congress or a state legislature; and

Exception. If permitted by applicable federal law, regulations, requirements,
or guidance, such lobbying activities described above may be undertaken
through the Recipient’s or Subrecipient’s proper official channels.

Political Activity. The Recipient agrees to comply with:
(1)

The Hatch Act, 5 U.S.C. chapter 15, which limits the political activities of
state and local government agencies supported in whole or in part with
federal assistance, including the political activities of state and local
government officers and employees whose principal governmental
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employment activities are supported in whole or in part with federal
assistance;

(e)

(2)

U.S. Office of Personnel Management regulations, “Political Activity of
State or Local Officers or Employees,” 5 CFR Part 151; and

(3)

49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(2) and 23 U.S.C. § 142(g), which limits the applicability
of the Hatch Act, as follows:
(i)

The Hatch Act does not apply to nonsupervisory employees of a
public transportation system, or any other agency or entity performing
related functions, based upon the Award of federal assistance under
49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or 23 U.S.C. § 142(a)(2); but

(ii)

Notwithstanding the preceding section 4(e)(3)(ii) of this Master
Agreement, the Hatch Act does apply to a nonsupervisory employee
if imposed for a reason other than the Award of federal assistance to
its employer under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or 23 U.S.C. § 142(a)(2).

False or Fraudulent Statements or Claims.
(1)

(2)

Civil Fraud. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that:
(i)

Federal laws, regulations, and requirements apply to itself and its
Underlying Agreement, including the Program Fraud Civil Remedies
Act of 1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801, et seq., and U.S. DOT
regulations, “Program Fraud Civil Remedies,” 49 CFR Part 31.

(ii)

By executing the Underlying Agreement, the Recipient certifies and
affirms to the Federal Government the truthfulness and accuracy of
any claim, statement, submission, certification, assurance,
affirmation, or representation that the Recipient provides to the
Federal Government.

(iii)

The Federal Government may impose the penalties of the Program
Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, as amended, and other applicable
penalties if the Recipient presents, submits, or makes available any
false, fictitious, or fraudulent information.

Criminal Fraud. The Recipient acknowledges that 49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(1)
authorizes the Federal Government to impose the penalties under 18 U.S.C.
§ 1001 if the Recipient provides a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim,
statement, submission, certification, assurance, or representation in
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connection with a federal public transportation program under 49 U.S.C.
chapter 53 or any other applicable federal law.
(f)

Trafficking in Persons.
(1)

(2)

Legal Authorities. The Recipient agrees to comply and assures the
compliance of each Subrecipient, with federal requirements and guidance,
including:
(i)

Section 106(g) of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000
(TVPA), as amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7104(g); and

(ii)

The terms of this section 4(f), which have been derived from U.S.
OMB regulatory guidance, “Award Term for Trafficking in Persons,”
2 CFR Part 175, per U.S. OMB’s direction.

Definitions. The Recipient agrees that for purposes of this section 4(f):
(i)

Employee means either an individual who is employed by the
Recipient or a Subrecipient, and is participating in a Project or related
activities as set forth in the Underlying Agreement, or another person
who is participating in a Project or related activities as set forth in the
Underlying Agreement and is not compensated by the Recipient,
including, but not limited to, a volunteer, or an individual whose
services are contributed by the Recipient or Third Party Participant as
an in-kind contribution toward the cost sharing requirements of the
Recipient’s Underlying Agreement.

(ii)

Forced labor means labor obtained by recruitment, harboring,
transportation, provision, or other means of obtaining of a person for
labor or services through the use of force, fraud, or coercion for the
purpose of subjection to involuntary servitude, peonage, debt
bondage, or slavery.

(iii)

Private entity means any entity other than a state, local government,
Indian tribe, or foreign public entity, as those terms are defined in
2 CFR § 175.25, and includes a for-profit organization, or a nonprofit
organization, including any nonprofit organization of higher
education, hospital, or tribal organization other than one included in
the definition of Indian Tribe at 2 CFR § 175.25(b).

(iv)

Severe forms of trafficking in persons has the meaning given at
section 103 of the TVPA, as amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7102.
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(3)

(v)

Commercial sex act has the meaning given at section 103 of the
TVPA, as amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7102.

(vi)

Coercion has the meaning given at section 103 of the TVPA, as
amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7102.

Provisions Applicable to All Recipients. The Recipient agrees to, and assures
that its Subrecipients will:
(i)

Provide Information. Inform FTA immediately of any information it
receives from any source alleging a violation of the prohibitions listed
in section 4(f)(4) of this Master Agreement; and

(ii)

Subagreement Provision. Include the following provision in any
subagreement it enters into with a private entity as defined above in
section 4(f)(2)(iii) of this Master Agreement:
XXX agrees that it and its employees that participate in the
Recipient’s Award, may not:
Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of
time that the Recipient’s Award is in effect,
Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that the
Recipient’s Award is in effect, or
Use forced labor in the performance of the Recipient’s Award or
subagreements thereunder.

(4)

Provisions Applicable to a Private Entity Recipient. If the Recipient is a
private entity, it agrees that:
(i)

Prohibitions. It, its employees, its Subrecipients, and its
Subrecipients’ employees that participate in the Underlying
Agreement will not:
(A)

Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the
period of time that the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in
effect;

(B)

Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that
the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in effect; or

(C)

Use forced labor in the performance of the Recipient’s
Underlying Agreement or subagreements.
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(ii)

Termination of Federal Assistance. Section 106(g) of the TVPA, as
amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7104(g), and U.S. OMB regulatory guidance,
“Award Term for Trafficking in Persons,” 2 CFR Part 175, provide
FTA the right to unilaterally terminate the Underlying Agreement for
a violation of that Act without penalty to the Federal Government, if
FTA determines that the private entity Recipient or its Subrecipient:
(A)

Has violated a prohibition described above in section
4(g)(4)(i) of this Master Agreement; or

(B)

Has an employee whose conduct is determined to have
violated a prohibition described above in section 4(g)(4)(i) of
this Master Agreement because that employee’s conduct is
either:
a. Associated with the performance of the Recipient’s
Underlying Agreement; or
b. Imputed to the Recipient or Subrecipient using the
standards of due process for conduct of an individual
to an organization provided in:
i. U.S. DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement
Suspension and Debarment,” 2 CFR Part 1200;
or
ii. U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Guidelines to
Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and
Suspension (Nonprocurement),” 2 CFR Part
180.

(5)

Provisions Applicable to a Recipient That is Not a Private Entity. A
Recipient that is not a private entity agrees that section 106(g) of the TVPA,
as amended, 22 U.S.C. § 7104(g), and U.S. OMB regulatory guidance,
“Award Term for Trafficking in Persons,” 2 CFR Part 175, provides FTA the
right to unilaterally terminate the Underlying Agreement, without penalty to
the Federal Government, for a violation of that Act if FTA determines that:
(i)

A private entity that is the Subrecipient of the Recipient is determined
to have engaged in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the
period of time that the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in effect;
procured a commercial sex act during the period of time that the
Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in effect; or used forced labor in
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the performance of the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement or
subagreements thereunder; or
(ii)

(6)

(g)

An employee of a private entity that is the Subrecipient has engaged
in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that
the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement is in effect; procured a
commercial sex act during the period of time that the Recipient’s
Underlying Agreement is in effect; or used forced labor in the
performance of the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement or
subagreements thereunder, and whose conduct described above is
associated with the performance of the Recipient’s Underlying
Agreement; or is imputed to the Subrecipient using the standards for
due process to impute the conduct of an individual to an organization
as provided in U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Guidelines to
Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension
(Nonprocurement),” 2 CFR Part 180, and U.S. DOT regulations,
“Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment,” 2 CFR Part 1200.

Remedies Other Than Termination of Federal Assistance. The Recipient
agrees that FTA’s right to terminate federal assistance as provided in the
TVPA and in sections 4(f)(4)(ii) and 4(f)(5) are in addition to all other
remedies for noncompliance available to the Federal Government under this
Master Agreement.

Federal Tax Liability and Recent Felony Convictions.
(1)

Transactions Prohibited.
(i)

The Recipient agrees that, prior to entering into any Third Party
Agreement with any private corporation, partnership, trust, joint-stock
company, sole proprietorship, or other business association, the
Recipient will obtain from the prospective Third Party Participant a
certification that the Third Party Participant—
(A)

Does not have any unpaid Federal tax liability that has been
assessed, for which all judicial and administrative remedies
have been exhausted or have lapsed, and that is not being paid
in a timely manner pursuant to an agreement with the
authority responsible for collecting the tax liability; and

(B)

Was not convicted of the felony criminal violation under any
Federal law within the preceding 24 months.
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(ii)

(2)

(h)

If the prospective Third Party Participant cannot so certify, the
Recipient agrees to refer the matter to FTA and not to enter into any
Third Party Agreement with the Third Party Participant without
FTA’s written approval.

Flow-Down. The Recipient agrees to require all Third Party Participants to
flow this requirement down to participants at all lower tiers, without regard to
the value of any subagreement.

Debarment and Suspension. The Recipient agrees to the following:
(1)

It will comply with the following requirements of 2 CFR Part 180, subpart C,
as adopted and supplemented by U.S. DOT regulations at 2 CFR Part 1200.

(2)

It will not enter into any “covered transaction” (as that phrase is defined at
2 CFR §§ 180.220 and 1200.220) with any Third Party Participant that is, or
whose principal is, suspended, debarred, or otherwise excluded from
participating in covered transactions, except as authorized by—
(i)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement Suspension and
Debarment,” 2 CFR Part 1200;

(ii)

U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Guidelines to Agencies on
Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement),”
2 CFR Part 180; and

(iii)

Other applicable federal laws, regulations, or requirements regarding
participation with debarred or suspended Recipients or Third Party
Participants.

(3)

It will review the U.S. GSA “System for Award Management – Lists of
Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement and Nonprocurement Programs,”
if required by U.S. DOT regulations, 2 CFR Part 1200.

(4)

It will ensure that its Third Party Agreements contain provisions necessary to
flow down these suspension and debarment provisions to all lower tier
covered transactions.

(5)

If the Recipient suspends, debars, or takes any similar action against a Third
Party Participant or individual, the Recipient will provide immediate written
notice to the:
(i)

FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is
located or implements the Underlying Agreement;
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Section 5.

(ii)

FTA Headquarters Manager that administers the Grant or Cooperative
Agreement; or

(iii)

FTA Chief Counsel.

Federal Assistance.

(a)

Total Federal Assistance Awarded and Obligated. The Recipient agrees that FTA’s
responsibility to provide federal assistance for its Underlying Agreement is up to the
amount shown in the Underlying Agreement, as modified by any Amendments
thereto, which is equal to the smallest of: (1) the maximum amount permitted by
federal law or regulation, or (2) the “Total FTA Amount Awarded and Obligated,” as
stated in the Underlying Agreement. FTA’s responsibility to provide federal
assistance is limited to the amounts listed in the most recent Award Budget identified
in the Underlying Agreement and may not exceed the federal share of the actual
eligible expenses incurred for participation in the Award.

(b)

Basis of Federal Assistance. The Recipient agrees that the “Total FTA Amount
Awarded and Obligated” stated in the Underlying Agreement and modified by any
Amendments thereto is calculated based on the Net Project Cost or on another basis
as set forth below:
(1)

(2)

“Net Project Cost.” The Recipient agrees that if federal law or regulation
requires an Underlying Agreement to be financed based on its “Net Project
Cost,” as defined in 49 U.S.C. § 5302:
(i)

FTA will provide federal assistance for a percentage of the portion of
the “Total Award Budget” that the Recipient cannot reasonably
finance from its revenues, which is the “Net Project Cost;”

(ii)

FTA will use the amount of the “Total Award Budget” stated on the
Underlying Agreement to calculate the “Total FTA Amount Awarded
and Obligated;” and

(iii)

In TrAMS, the amount stated as the “Total Award Budget” on the
Underlying Agreement is actually the “Net Project Cost,” as defined
in 49 U.S.C. § 5302.

Other Basis for FTA Participation. The Recipient agrees that if federal law or
FTA permits an Underlying Agreement to be financed on a basis other than
its “Net Project Cost,” as defined in 49 U.S.C. § 5302, or under previous
authorizing legislation:
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(c)

FTA will provide federal assistance for all or part of the cost of the
Underlying Agreement that is eligible for federal assistance;

(ii)

In some instances, FTA has discretion to determine the amount of
federal assistance to provide for each specific Project or related
activities; and

(iii)

FTA will use the amount stated in the Underlying Agreement as the
“Total Award Budget” to calculate the “Total FTA Amount Awarded
and Obligated.”

Award Budget. The Recipient agrees to prepare an Award Budget that, after FTA has
provided its approval, will be incorporated by reference and made part of the
Underlying Agreement.
(1)

Restrictions. The Recipient agrees that it will not incur costs eligible for FTA
participation under the Award or withdraw federal assistance for eligible
costs incurred unless those costs are consistent with the Award Budget.

(2)

Amendments to the Award Budget. To the extent specified in applicable FTA
program management guidance, the Recipient agrees that it must obtain prior
FTA approval in writing before amending its Award Budget or transferring
federal assistance for the Award if the transfer is not expressly authorized by
federal law, regulation, or guidance. An Award of additional federal
assistance will require an amended Award Budget.

(3)

Revisions to the Award Budget. To the extent specified in applicable FTA
program management guidance, the Recipient may revise the Award Budget
without prior FTA written approval. The Recipient agrees that all other
Award Budget revisions will require prior FTA approval in writing.

(4)

Unexpended Federal Assistance. The Recipient agrees to inform FTA
promptly if it believes it will have unexpended federal assistance after the
period of performance for the Award ends.

Section 6.
(a)

(i)

Non-Federal Share.

Amount. The Recipient agrees to provide the amount of non-federal share specified
in the Underlying Agreement. Except to the extent that FTA has provided its written
consent permitting the Recipient to defer payment of the non-federal share required
by the Underlying Agreement, the Recipient agrees to provide its proportionate
amount of the non- federal share no later than the time it draws down the federal
share to pay eligible costs.
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(b)

Duty to Obtain. The Recipient agrees to complete all proceedings necessary to
provide the non-federal share and to notify FTA of any changed circumstances
adversely affecting its ability to pay the non-federal share, including a description of
the actions it has taken or will take to ensure adequate resources to provide the nonfederal share, and a re-affirmation of its commitment to provide the non-federal
share.

(c)

Permissible Sources. The Recipient agrees that the following are permissible sources
of the non-federal share for the Award:

(d)

(1)

Undistributed cash surpluses;

(2)

A replacement or depreciation cash fund or reserve; and

(3)

New capital.

Restricted Sources. Because sources of non-federal share differ among FTA’s public
transportation assistance programs, FTA will specify in an FTA circular or otherwise
whether the following sources may be used as the non-federal share for a specific
Award under that program:
(1)

Program income generated by a Project or related activities supported by a
prior Grant or Cooperative Agreement, which is a form of undistributed cash
surplus;

(2)

Advertising revenues;

(3)

Concession revenues;

(4)

Revenues from a service agreement from a state or local social service
agency or a private social service organization;

(5)

Third party in-kind contributions;

(6)

Proceeds from the issuance of revenue bonds pursuant 49 U.S.C. § 5323(e);

(7)

Transportation development credits (formerly toll revenue credits) pursuant
to 23 U.S.C. § 120(i);

(8)

Revenue from Value Capture pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 5323(s);

(9)

Federal assistance made available for the Federal Lands Highway Program
authorized under 23 U.S.C. § 204; or
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(10)
(e)

(f)

Prohibited Sources. Except as permitted by federal laws, regulations, requirements,
or guidance, or approved in writing by FTA, the Recipient agrees that it will not
provide any non-federal share for the Underlying Agreement derived from:
(1)

Farebox revenues from providing public transportation services using
facilities and equipment acquired with federal assistance for the Award;

(2)

Program income derived from the use of facilities or equipment acquired
with federal assistance for the Award, except if expressly permitted by
federal laws, regulations, requirements, or FTA guidance; or

(3)

Other federal funds not authorized for use as non-federal share by federal
law, regulation, requirements, or guidance.

Reductions or Refunds.
(1)

Reductions. The Recipient agrees that if it reduces the non-federal share of
eligible costs required for the Award, then at the same time it must reduce the
proportionate amount of federal assistance for the Award.

(2)

Refunds. The Recipient agrees that if it accepts a refund of the non-federal
share of eligible costs provided through the Underlying Agreement, then at
the same time it must provide the Federal Government an amount of that
refund proportionate to the federal contribution.

Section 7.
(a)

Federal assistance derived from other federal programs whose enabling laws
permit their funds to be used as the non-federal share.

Payments to the Recipient.

Conditions for Accessing Federal Assistance. To seek or obtain federal assistance for
the costs of implementing the Award, the Recipient agrees that:
(1)

It must execute the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments thereto;

(2)

It must receive and file a properly signed document seeking payment for the
expense, such as a voucher or other appropriate record, and a properly
detailed description of the relationship of the expense to the Award;

(3)

It must identify all sources of federal assistance from which the payment is
derived;

(4)

It must provide FTA with all financial and progress reports required to date;
and
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(5)

(b)

If the Recipient must provide a non-federal share, unless FTA has stated
otherwise in writing that the Recipient may defer the non-federal share:
(i)

The Recipient will not request or obtain more federal assistance than
justified by the eligible non-federal share it has provided;

(ii)

The Recipient will not cause the proportion of federal assistance
available for the Award at any time to exceed the percentage of
federal assistance authorized and documented in the Underlying
Agreement; and

(iii)

When combined with federal payments, the Recipient will be able to
demonstrate that the non-federal share will be adequate to cover all
eligible costs incurred in support of the Award.

Eligible Costs. Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing,
the Recipient agrees, and will obtain the agreement of each Subrecipient, to seek and
obtain federal assistance only for the eligible costs of the Award that are:
(1)

Consistent with the Description of Each Project, the Award Budget, this
Master Agreement, and the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments
thereto;

(2)

Necessary to carry out the Award;

(3)

Reasonable for the property or services acquired for use in the Project;

(4)

The actual net costs, which consist of the price paid minus reductions of the
costs incurred, such as any refunds, rebates, or other items of value, but
excluding program income;

(5)

Incurred for work performed after the Effective Date of the:
(i)

Award;

(ii)

Pre-award authority that FTA has provided; or

(iii)

Letter of No Prejudice;

(6)

Satisfactorily documented;

(7)

Consistent with federally approved accounting principles and procedures,
including requirements for indirect costs, consistent with the applicable U.S.
DOT Common Rules; and
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(8)
(c)

Consistent with applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules and other applicable
federal law, regulations, requirements, and guidance.

Ineligible Costs. The Recipient agrees that, except as the Federal Government
determines otherwise in writing, FTA will exclude ineligible costs incurred in
connection with the Award or otherwise, such as:
(1)

A cost the Recipient has incurred before the Effective Date of the Award as
documented in the Underlying Agreement or any Amendments thereto that is
not accompanied by FTA’s written approval, including, but not limited to,
pre-award authority or a Letter of No Prejudice, and permitted by applicable
federal law, regulation, guidance, or the Underlying Agreement or any
Amendments thereto;

(2)

A cost not included in the most recent Award Budget;

(3)

A cost for property or services received in connection with any third party
agreement lacking any FTA approval or concurrence in writing that is
required;

(4)

An ordinary governmental or operating cost not applicable to the Award, as
prohibited by 49 U.S.C. § 5323(h)(1);

(5)

A profit or fee for services provided by the Recipient or any of its
Subrecipients in implementing the Award; or

(6)

A cost that is ineligible for FTA participation as provided in applicable
federal law, regulation, requirement, or guidance.

(d)

Bond Interest and Other Financing Costs – Limited Eligibility. The Recipient agrees
that bond interest and other financing costs are allowable costs to the extent
permitted by applicable federal law, regulation, requirement, or guidance. FTA’s
share of interest and financing costs that implement the Award will be limited to an
amount that does not exceed the most favorable financing terms reasonably available
at the time of borrowing, except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in
writing.

(e)

Payment Procedures Based on the Type of Federal Assistance Awarded. The
Recipient agrees that:
(1)

All payments in connection with the Award will be made through electronic
methods.

(2)

Payment procedures for a Recipient differ based upon the type of federal
assistance that is awarded.
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(3)

(f)

FTA determines which electronic system it will use to make payments to the
Recipient as follows:
(i)

For Grants and other types of federal assistance, FTA will use the
Electronic Clearinghouse Operation Web System (ECHO-Web),
Automated Clearing House (ACH) payment method, except as
provided below in sections 7(e)(3)(ii) and (iii) of this Master
Agreement;

(ii)

For Cooperative Agreements, FTA will use the DELPHI eInvoicing
System or DELPHI Mark View System if the Recipient is granted a
waiver (see the following section 7(g) of this Master Agreement for
more information about payments for cooperative agreements and
section 7(g) of this Master Agreement for information about
accessing and using the DELPHI eInvoicing System); and

(iii)

For Grants requiring more detailed review of supporting
documentation before receiving federal assistance and as determined
by the FTA Manager for the Underlying Agreement, FTA will use the
DELPHI eInvoicing System (see the following section 7(g) of this
Master Agreement for more information about accessing and using
the DELPHI eInvoicing System).

Payment Procedures Using ECHO. The Recipient agrees that if payment is made
through ECHO-Web using an ECHO Control Number, it will comply with the “FTA
ECHO-Web User Manual,” April 2016, and it will withdraw federal assistance only
to pay the eligible costs of implementing the Award.
(1)

Major Withdrawals. When a single withdrawal will exceed $50,000,000, the
Recipient agrees to notify the appropriate FTA Regional or Program Office at
least three (3) days before the withdrawal is anticipated.

(2)

Immediate Use. The Recipient agrees that it will not withdraw federal
assistance until needed for immediate payment of those expenses and will use
that federal assistance to pay for expenses that implement the Award no later
than three (3) days after receipt, except as an authorized official of the
Federal Government permits otherwise in writing.

(3)

Limits. The Recipient agrees that it will not withdraw more than the sum of
federal assistance the Federal Government has awarded or the current
available balance for its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement,
and any Amendments thereto, whichever is less.
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(4)

Control. The Recipient agrees to provide for the control and accountability of
all federal assistance for its Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto.

(5)

Reporting. Unless an authorized FTA official determines otherwise in
writing, the Recipient agrees to report its cash payments and balances
promptly.

(6)

Penalties. If the Recipient fails to comply with this section of this Master
Agreement, it agrees that it may incur or be subjected to penalties, including,
but not limited to, the following:
(i)

(ii)

Access to ECHO-Web. The Federal Government may revoke or
suspend the Recipient’s ECHO Control Number and access to the
ECHO-Web if the Federal Government determines that:
(A)

Fraud, waste, mismanagement, or abuse exists in the
Recipient’s use and application of federal assistance;

(B)

The Recipient has failed to use federal assistance it withdrew
to pay costs incurred that implement the Underlying
Agreement within three (3) days of withdrawing that federal
assistance;

(C)

The Recipient has failed to return withdrawn but unspent
federal assistance to the Federal Government within a
reasonable time;

(D)

The Recipient has failed to establish procedures to minimize
the time between advances of federal assistance and payments
of costs incurred that implement the Underlying Agreement;

(E)

The Recipient has been awarded Federal assistance through a
Cooperative Agreement with FTA and will use the eInvoicing
or DELPHI Mark View System as its payment method instead
of the ECHO-Web System (see section 7(g)); or

(F)

For Grants requiring a more detailed review of supporting
documentation before receiving federal assistance, and as
determined by the FTA Manager for the Award, the Recipient
will use eInvoicing (see section 7(g)).

Interest. The Recipient agrees to pay interest to the Federal
Government on any federal assistance withdrawn prematurely,
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irrespective of whether the federal assistance has been deposited in an
interest-bearing account.

(7)

(g)

(A)

A State or State Instrumentality. If the Recipient is a state or
state instrumentality, it agrees to pay interest calculated as
provided in section 5(b) of the Cash Management
Improvement Act of 1990, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 6503(b),
and U.S. Department of Treasury (U.S. Treasury) regulations,
“Rules and Procedures for Efficient Federal-State Funds
Transfers,” 31 CFR Part 205.

(B)

Other than a State or State Instrumentality. If the Recipient is
not a state or state instrumentality, it agrees to pay
prejudgment common law interest determined by the Federal
Government, as authorized by joint U.S. Treasury and U.S.
Department of Justice (joint U.S. Treasury and U.S. DOJ)
regulations, “Standards for the Administrative Collection of
Claims,” 31 C.F.R. § 901.9(i). The Federal Government may
determine the amount of interest due, based on the amount of
interest the Recipient demonstrates it earned on its premature
withdrawals of federal assistance, the amount of interest based
on the “Treasury tax and loan account” rate prescribed under
31 U.S.C. § 3717 for debts owed to the United States, or an
amount of interest as the Federal Government otherwise
determines.

ECHO System. If the Recipient is authorized to receive payments provided
through ECHO-Web, FTA does not generally review the drawdown when
made; however, FTA may review the drawdown at a later time, and subject
that drawdown to an audit under a financial oversight review, a triennial
review, or another audit.

Payment Procedures for a Cooperative Agreement. A Recipient of federal assistance
through a Cooperative Agreement must use the DELPHI eInvoicing System to
obtain federal payments for costs incurred that implement the Underlying
Agreement, unless a waiver is granted.
(1)

Standard Procedures. To make and receive payments through the DELPHI
eInvoicing System, the procedures below must be followed:
(i)

Access to the DELPHI eInvoicing System. To access the DELPHI
eInvoicing System, the Recipient:
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(2)

(A)

Must have internet access to register and submit payment
requests through the DELPHI eInvoicing System;

(B)

Should contact its FTA Manager for the Underlying
Agreement to obtain the required DELPHI User access form
and approval;

(C)

Must complete the required form that the FAA, Enterprise
Service Center’s (ESC) Help Desk uses to verify the
Recipient’s identity, and present it to a Notary Public for
verification;

(D)

Return that form, completed and notarized, to:
DOT Enterprise Services Center
FAA Accounts Payable, AMZ-100
PO Box 25710
Oklahoma City, OK 73125;
and

(E)

Should contact its FTA Manager for the Underlying
Agreement with any changes to its system profile information.

(ii)

Payment Requests. The Recipient must submit each payment request
electronically through the DELPHI eInvoicing System, unless a
waiver is granted; use of the DELPHI eInvoicing System requires the
FTA Manager for the Underlying Agreement to review all supporting
documentation before authorizing payment.

(iii)

Additional Information. The U.S. DOT DELPHI elnvoicing System
website at http://www.dot.gov/cfo/delphi-einvoicing-system.html
displays additional information, including the access form and
training materials a Recipient may need.

(iv)

Federal Responsibilities. When FTA so requests, the Federal
Aviation Administration (FAA) will make payments to FTA
Recipients electronically. On behalf of FTA, FAA/ESC must process
payment requests to a Recipient of federal assistance documented in
its Cooperative Agreement with FTA, and will deposit that federal
assistance with the Recipient’s financial institution (Note: FTA no
longer issues paper checks).

Waiver Requests. On a case-by-case basis, U.S. DOT Financial Management
officials may waive the requirement for a Recipient to register and use the
DELPHI eInvoicing System.
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(i)

The Recipient’s Responsibilities. If the Recipient seeks a waiver from
the requirement to use the DELPHI eInvoicing System:
(A)

It must notify U.S. DOT and FTA by downloading the waiver
request form, which can be obtained on the U.S. DOT
elnvoicing website at http://www.dot.gov/cfo/delphieinvoicing-system.html, and notifying its FTA Manager for
the Underlying Agreement that it has requested a waiver from
using the DELPHI eInvoicing System;

(B)

It must send its waiver request to the Director of the Office of
Financial Management, U.S. Department of Transportation,
Office of the Secretary (OST), Office of Financial
Management, B-30, 1200 New Jersey Avenue SE,
Washington DC 20590-0001
DOTElectroniclnvoicing@dot.gov; and

(C)

If it obtains a waiver from the use of the DELPHI eInvoicing
System, then payment will be made using the DELPHI Mark
View System, and the Recipient should submit all invoices
and any supporting documentation directly to:
a. FTAinvoices@faa.gov (Note: no more than 10 MB of
data can be transmitted at one time. For invoices
greater than 10MB, split into multiple emails and
notate in the subject Email 1 of 4, 2 of 4, etc.); or
b. DOT/FAA (FTA Account)
6500 South MacArthur Blvd.
AMZ-150, HQ Room 272
PO Box 26904
Oklahoma City, OK 73125-69041

(ii)

Federal Responsibilities. FTA and U.S. DOT have the following
responsibilities:
(A)

The Director, OST, Office of Financial Management, will
confirm or deny the waiver request within approximately 30
days.

(B)

If the request is granted, then payments will be made after
receipt of the required FTA reporting forms, provided the
Recipient has complied with the U.S. DOT Common Rules
and this Master Agreement.
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(iii)

(iv)

DELPHI eInvoicing System or DELPHI Mark View System. If the
Recipient receives payments provided through the DELPHI
eInvoicing System or DELPHI Mark View System, the Recipient
must submit a request for payment with adequate supporting
documentation for FTA to determine that:
(A)

It has complied and is complying with the Underlying
Agreement;

(B)

It has made and is making adequate progress toward
completion of the Award; and

(C)

It has satisfied FTA that the federal assistance requested is
needed for the eligible purposes of the Award in that
requisition period.

Reimbursement. After it has demonstrated satisfactory compliance
with this section, FTA may reimburse the federal share of the
Recipient’s apparent allowable costs incurred or to be incurred in the
requisition period if those apparent allowable costs are consistent with
the Award Budget, and those apparent allowable costs do not exceed
the maximum amount of federal assistance that may be paid through
the federal fiscal year of that requisition.

(h)

Safeguarding Federal Assistance. The Recipient agrees to deposit all federal
assistance it receives in a financial institution and in an insured account whenever
possible, and understands that FTA encourages it to use financial institutions owned
at least fifty (50) percent by minority group members.

(i)

The Recipient’s Duty to Pay Eligible Costs. When accompanied by appropriate
documentation, the Recipient agrees to pay the eligible costs incurred that implement
the Award when due, using the available federal assistance provided for the Award
and the non- federal share.

(j)

Effect of Federal Payments. The Recipient agrees that any federal payment made for
a cost incurred that is supported by its Underlying Agreement does not constitute the
Federal Government’s final decision about the eligibility of the cost for payment
with federal assistance provided through the Underlying Agreement, or a waiver of
any violation of any federal law, regulation, requirement, guidance, the Underlying
Agreement or this Master Agreement.

(k)

Revocation of Federal Assistance. The Federal Government may revoke the
unexpended portion of federal assistance for the Award after the Award has been
made and executed.
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(l)

Final Cost Determination. The Recipient acknowledges that the Federal Government
will not make a final determination about the eligibility of any cost until the audit of
the Award and Underlying Agreement has been completed.

(m)

Closeout. The Recipient agrees that closeout of the Award will not alter:
(1)

The Recipient’s obligation to return any amounts it owes the Federal
Government for later refunds, corrections, or other similar actions; and

(2)

The Federal Government’s right to disallow costs and recover federal
assistance based on a later audit or other review.

(n)

Notification. If the Federal Government determines that the Recipient is not entitled
to any portion of federal assistance paid, the Federal Government will notify the
Recipient in writing.

(o)

Recovery of Improper Payments. Unless prohibited by federal law or regulation, the
Federal Government may recover any federal assistance necessary to satisfy any
outstanding monetary claims it may have against the Recipient.

(p)

Program Income. The Recipient agrees that it may use its program income derived
from a Project receiving federal assistance through the Underlying Agreement as
FTA permits. In determining the total amount of program income a Recipient has
earned from its Project, those costs incident to earning program income that have not
been charged to the Award may be deducted from the Recipient’s gross income.
(1)

During the Period of Performance. The Recipient may use program income
earned during the period of performance of the Underlying Agreement as
follows:
(i)

The Recipient may retain the income for other capital or operating
public transportation expenses. If the Recipient chooses not to use
program income for current or future FTA Grants or Cooperative
Agreements or for other purposes ineligible for federal participation,
then the amount of program income used for purposes ineligible for
federal participation will be deducted from the total allowable costs to
determine the net allowable costs.

(ii)

For each Public Transportation Innovation, Technical Assistance,
Workforce Development Project or Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and
Individuals with Disabilities project, or related activities, the
Recipient may add program income to the Award.
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(iii)

(2)

Depending on federal statutory or regulatory restrictions, the
Recipient may use the program income for the non-federal share for a
future public transportation Project that will receive federal assistance
provided by FTA.

After the Award Period. Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, the
Recipient has no obligation to the Federal Government regarding the
disposition of program income earned after the end of the period of
performance of the Award (i.e., after the ending date of the final Federal
Financial Report).

(q)

Profits. The Recipient and Subrecipient may earn or keep the profits it may derive as
a result of an Award, but the Recipient agrees that any such profits must be used in a
manner consistent with the provisions of this Master Agreement or applicable federal
guidance.

(r)

Excess Payments, Disallowed Costs, Refunds, Claims, Debts, Interest, Penalties,
Administrative Charges, and Other Amounts Owed to the Federal Government.
(1)

(2)

The Recipient’s Responsibility to Pay. The Recipient agrees that after
receiving notice of specific amounts due, it will pay the amount it owes the
Federal Government for:
(i)

Excess federal payments for disallowed costs;

(ii)

Refunds due and amounts recovered from third parties or other
sources;

(iii)

Federal claims or debts;

(iv)

Interest assessed;

(v)

Penalties;

(vi)

Administrative charges; or

(vii)

Other amounts it owes the Federal Government.

Amount of Interest Due. The amount of interest to be assessed depends on the
procedures used to pursue payment:
(i)

The Debt Collection Act. When the Federal Government uses the
procedures of the Debt Collection Act of 1982, as amended, 31
U.S.C. § 3701, et seq., to collect claims or debts owed by the
Recipient for any reason authorized under that Act (including excess
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payments and disallowed costs), the Recipient agrees that the amount
of interest it will owe will be determined by the Joint U.S. Treasury
and U.S. DOJ regulations, “Standards for the Administrative
Collection of Claims,” 31 CFR Part 900, specifically 31 C.F.R.
§ 901.9(a) – (g), or common law interest authorized by 31 C.F.R.
§ 901.9(i), as the Federal Government determines.
(ii)

(s)

De-obligation of Federal Assistance. The Recipient agrees that the Federal
Government may de-obligate federal assistance the Recipient has not spent both
before and after closeout of the Award.

Section 8.
(a)

Other Collection Processes. When the Federal Government uses
methods or procedures other than those described in 31 U.S.C.
§ 3701, et seq., to recover money(ies) the Recipient owes the Federal
Government, the Recipient agrees that common law interest will be
due as authorized by Joint U.S. Treasury and U.S. DOJ regulations,
“Standards for the Administrative Collection of Claims,” 31 C.F.R.
§ 901.9(i), but interest for premature withdrawals of federal assistance
by states or state instrumentalities will be calculated as required under
Section 5(b) of the Cash Management Improvement Act of 1990, as
amended, 31 U.S.C. § 6503(b), and U.S. Treasury regulations, “Rules
and Procedures for Efficient Federal-State Funds Transfers,” 31 CFR
Part 205.

Records and Reports Related to the Award and the Underlying Agreement.

Records. The Recipient agrees to maintain satisfactory records of each Project and
activities related in whole or in part to its Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto to the extent FTA requires, including, but
not limited to:
(1)

Financial Records. Accurate financial records in its account for its Award,
the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto,
including, but not limited to, records of:
(i)

Assets Received that Implement the Award. The amount of all assets it
receives to implement its Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto including, but not limited to
all federal assistance or the value of any property the Federal
Government provides that implement its Award, the accompanying
Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, and all other
funds and the value of any property or services it has received from
sources other than the Federal Government provided for, accruing to,
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or otherwise received on account of its Award, the accompanying
Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto.
(ii)

Costs Incurred that Implement the Award. Information about the costs
incurred to implement its Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, including all costs incurred
for the eligible property or services, detailed descriptions of the type
of property or services acquired, including, but not limited, to
properly executed payrolls, time records, invoices, contracts,
vouchers, and other appropriate records, and detailed justifications for
those costs.

(iii)

Program Income. All program income derived from the use of Project
property, except income FTA determines to be exempt from federal
program income record requirements.

(2)

Other Records Needed for Reports Related to the Award. Sufficient records
as needed to prepare adequate reports related to the Award that it must
submit to the Federal Government.

(3)

Formats. Formats for records must be satisfactory to FTA and include, but
are not limited to, electronic records, including any emails related to the
Award, records on paper, and records created in other formats.

(4)

Availability of Records Related to the Award. Accessibility for review and
separation from other records not related to the Award to the extent feasible
must be maintained.

(b)

Reports. The Recipient agrees to provide to FTA, and others if FTA so directs, all
reports related in whole or in part required by applicable federal laws, regulations,
requirements, the Underlying Agreement, or at FTA’s express direction in the
number and format as FTA specifies.

(c)

National Transit Database. For each fiscal year the Recipient receives or provides to
any public transportation operator federal assistance appropriated or made available
for 49 U.S.C. § 5307 (including the Passenger Ferry Grant Program) or any
provision of 49 U.S.C. § 5311 (including the Tribal Transit Program):
(1)

Reporting Requirements. The Recipient agrees to, and assures that it will
require any person that receives benefits directly from its Award (including
the public transportation operators participating in its Award), the
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto:
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(2)
(d)

(i)

To facilitate compliance with 49 U.S.C. § 5335(a), which authorizes
the National Transit Database (NTD);

(ii)

To conform to the NTD reporting system and the Uniform System of
Accounts and Records;

(iii)

To comply with FTA regulations, “Uniform System of Accounts and
Records and Reporting System,” 49 CFR Part 630;

(iv)

To report information relating to, and the condition of, its public
transportation assets, as provided in FTA regulations, “Transit Asset
Management; National Transit Database,” 49 CFR Parts 625 and 630;

(v)

To comply with any other applicable reporting regulations, and
requirements, and

(vi)

To follow FTA guidance.

Voluntary Compliance. FTA encourages any Recipient that is not required to
provide information for the NTD, to provide that information voluntarily.

U.S. OMB Special Reporting Requirements.
(1)

(2)

Authority. U.S. OMB has issued regulatory guidance in 2 C.F.R. § 25.220
instructing federal agencies to include special “award terms” as authorized
under federal laws, including:
(i)

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006
(FFATA), Public Law No. 109-282, September 26, 2006;

(ii)

Section 6202 of the Department of Defense Appropriations Act for
Fiscal Year 2008, Public Law No. 110-252, June 30, 2008, which
amended the FFATA; and

(iii)

Section 872 of the Duncan Hunter National Defense Authorization
Act for Fiscal Year 2009, Public Law No. 110-417, October 14, 2008,
which further amended the FFATA.

Universal Identifier and System for Award Management (SAM). The
Recipient agrees to comply with the award terms in U.S. OMB regulatory
guidance, “Universal Identifier and System for Award Management (SAM),”
2 CFR Part 25, appendix A, which FTA has included in this Master
Agreement at the direction of U.S. OMB:
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(i)

(ii)

Requirements for the System for Award Management (SAM). Unless
exempted from SAM as provided in 2 C.F.R. § 25.110, the Recipient
agrees to:
(A)

Maintain the currency of its information in SAM until the later
of the date it submits its final financial report required under
this Master Agreement, or the date it receives its final federal
payment for the Underlying Agreement; and

(B)

Review and update its information in SAM at least annually
after the initial registration, and more frequently if required by
changes in its information, another provision of an applicable
federal or federally assisted agreement, or an applicable
federal law or regulation, or U.S. OMB regulatory guidance.

Requirement for a Unique Entity Identifier [Currently, the Data
Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number for SAM]. If the
Award includes federal assistance intended to support subawards, the
Recipient agrees to notify each potential Subrecipient and other entity
participating in the Award that:
(A)

The potential Subrecipient or entity must provide its unique
entity identifier for SAM [currently, its DUNS number] to the
Recipient;

(B)

The Recipient may not make any subaward to any potential
Subrecipient or entity unless that Subrecipient or entity has
provided its unique entity identifier for SAM [currently, its
DUNS number] to the Recipient; and

(C)

No Subrecipient or entity, as described below in section
8(d)(4) of this Master Agreement, may receive a subaward
provided through the Underlying Agreement, unless that
entity has provided its unique entity identifier for SAM
[currently, its DUNS number] to the Recipient.

(3)

Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation. The Recipient agrees to
comply with the award terms in U.S. OMB regulatory guidance, “Reporting
Subaward and Executive Compensation Information,” 2 CFR Part 170,
appendix A, which FTA has included in this Master Agreement at the
direction of U.S. OMB.

(4)

Reporting of First-Tier Subawards. The Recipient agrees that when it takes
an action that obligates $25,000 or more in federal assistance for a subaward,
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it must report each such action as provided below, but it need not report an
obligation of $25,000 or more in federal assistance, if the Recipient is exempt
from U.S. OMB’s Special Reporting Requirements as provided below.
(i)

Where and when to report. The Recipient agrees to report each
obligating action described below to http://www.fsrs.gov, and the
Recipient agrees to report subaward information no later than the end
of the month after the month in which the obligation was made, (for
example, if the obligation was made on October 1, 2015, the
obligation must be reported by no later than November 1, 2015).

(ii)

What to report. The Recipient agrees to report the requisite
information about each obligating action required by the submission
instructions posted at http://www.usaspending.gov.

(iii)

Reporting Total Compensation of the Recipient’s Executives. The
Recipient agrees to report the total compensation for each of its five
highest compensated executives for the preceding completed fiscal
year if:
(A)

The total federal assistance authorized to date for the
Underlying Agreement is $25,000 or more; and

(B)

In its preceding fiscal year, the Recipient:
a. Received 80 percent or more of its annual gross
revenues from federal assistance subject to the
Transparency Act, as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.320
(and subawards) and/or federal procurement contracts
(and subcontracts);
b. Received $25,000,000 or more in annual gross
revenues from federal assistance subject to the
Transparency Act, as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.320
(and subawards) and/or federal procurement contracts
(and subcontracts); and
c. The public does not have access to information about
the compensation of the Recipient’s executives
through periodic reports filed under Section 13(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.
§ 78m(a), Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78o(d), or Section 6104 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 26 U.S.C. § 6104
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(to determine if the public has access to the
compensation information, see the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission total compensation filings at
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm).
(C)

The Recipient agrees to report executive total compensation
described above as part of Recipient’s registration profile at
http://www.sam.gov, and by the end of the month after the
month in which the Underlying Agreement is executed and
annually thereafter.

(D)

Reporting of Total Compensation of the Subrecipient’s
Executives. Unless exempt as provided below, the Recipient
agrees to report the names and total compensation of each of
its first-tier Subrecipient’s five highest compensated
executives for the Subrecipient’s preceding completed fiscal
year if:
a. It received 80 percent or more of its annual gross
revenues from federal assistance subject to the
Transparency Act, as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.320
(and subawards) and/or federal procurement contracts
(and subcontracts); and
b. It received $25,000,000 or more in annual gross
revenues from federal assistance subject to the
Transparency Act as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.320
(and subawards) and/or federal procurement contracts
(and subcontracts);
c. The public does not have access to information about
the compensation of the Subrecipient’s executives
through periodic reports filed under Section 13(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.
§ 78m(a), Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78o(d), or Section 6104 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 26 U.S.C. § 6104
(to determine if the public has access to the
compensation information, see the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission total compensation filings at
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm).

(E)

The Recipient agrees to report the Subrecipient’s executives’
total compensation described above to FTA and elsewhere as
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may be determined by the Federal Government, and by the
end of the month following the month during which the
Recipient makes the subaward (for example, if a subaward is
obligated on any date during the month of October of a given
year, i.e., between October 1 and 31, the Recipient must report
any required compensation information about the Subrecipient
by November 30 of that year).
(F)

(5)

(e)

Any Recipient that had gross income under $300,000 from all
sources in the previous tax year is exempt from those federal
requirements to report subawards, and the total compensation
of the five highest compensated executives of any
Subrecipient.

Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters. U.S. OMB regulatory
guidance, “Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters,” 2 CFR Part 200,
appendix XII, contains mandatory provisions that may affect the Recipient’s
reporting requirements.

Closeout. The Recipient agrees that closeout of its Award does not alter the recordkeeping and reporting requirements of this section of this Master Agreement.

Section 9.

Record Retention and Access to Sites of Performance.

(a)

Types of Records. The Recipient agrees to retain, and will require its Third Party
Participants to retain, complete and readily accessible records related in whole or in
part to the Underlying Agreement, including, but not limited to, data, documents,
reports, statistics, subagreements, leases, third party contracts, arrangements, other
third party agreements of any type, and supporting materials related to those records.

(b)

Retention Period. The Recipient agrees to comply with the record retention
requirements in the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rule. Records pertaining to its
Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto
must be retained from the day the Underlying Agreement was signed by the
authorized FTA official through the course of the Award, the accompanying
Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto until three years after the
Recipient has submitted its last or final expenditure report, and other pending matters
are closed.

(c)

Access to Recipient and Third Party Participant Records. The Recipient agrees, and
assures that each Subrecipient, if any, will agree to:
(1)

Provide, and require its Third Party Participants at each tier to provide,
sufficient access to inspect and audit records and information related to its
47

Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments
thereto to the U.S. Secretary of Transportation or the Secretary’s duly
authorized representatives, to the Comptroller General of the United States,
and the Comptroller General’s duly authorized representatives, and to the
Recipient and each of its Subrecipients;
(2)

Permit those individuals listed above to inspect all work and materials related
to its Award, and to audit any information related to its Award under the
control of the Recipient or Third Party Participant within books, records,
accounts, or other locations; and

(3)

Otherwise comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5325(g), and federal access to records
requirements as set forth in the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules.

(d)

Access to the Sites of Performance. The Recipient agrees to permit, and to require its
Third Party Participants to permit, FTA to have access to the sites of performance of
its Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto,
and to make site visits as needed in compliance with the U.S. DOT Common Rules.

(e)

Closeout. Closeout of the Award does not alter the record retention or access
requirements of this section of this Master Agreement.

Section 10. Completion, Audit, Settlement, and Closeout.
(a)

(b)

Completion. Within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days after completion or
termination of the Award, the Recipient agrees to submit; and within ninety (90)
calendar days after completion or termination of the Award (or an earlier date as
agreed upon by the pass-through entity and subrecipient), the subrecipient agrees to
submit to the pass-through entity:
(1)

Its final Federal Financial Report, either electronically or on Federal
Financial Report Standard Form 425 (SF-425);

(2)

A certification of expenses incurred that implement its Award, the
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto; and

(3)

The necessary audit reports of its Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto.

Audit of the Recipient. Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in
writing, the Recipient agrees that:
(1)

Audits Required. It must obtain the following audits:
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(i)

Annual “Single Audit.” A financial and compliance audit consistent
with the requirements of the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996,
31 U.S.C. § 7501, et seq., and applicable U.S. DOT “Single Audit”
requirements of 2 CFR Part 1201, which incorporate by reference
2 CFR Part 200, for each Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments to any Underlying Agreement; and

(ii)

Other Audits. Other audits the Federal Government may require.

(2)

Auditing Standards. It must comply with the “Audit Requirements” of 2 CFR
Part 200, subpart F, and conform to U.S. Government Accountability Office
(U.S. GAO) “Government Auditing Standards” in the conduct of audits of its
Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments
thereto.

(3)

Costs of Audits. The audit costs for the administration and management of the
Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments to
any Underlying Agreement are allowable to the extent authorized by the cost
principles of 49 CFR Part 1201, which incorporate by reference 2 CFR Part
200.

(c)

Amounts Owed to the Federal Government. The Recipient agrees to return to the
Federal Government any excess federal payments it receives for disallowed costs,
and the Federal Government’s proportionate part of any amounts it recovers from
third parties or other sources, including refunds due and amounts recovered from
third parties or other sources, interest assessed, penalties, and administrative charges.

(d)

Closeout. The Recipient agrees that closeout of the Award occurs when FTA notifies
the Recipient that the Award is closed, and approves the final federal payment, or
acknowledges receipt of the proper refund. Closeout of the Award does not alter the
Recipient’s audit responsibilities and does not invalidate any continuing
requirements of applicable federal law, regulations, or requirements, this Master
Agreement or the Underlying Agreement.

Section 11. Right of the Federal Government to Terminate.
(a)

Justification. After providing written notice to the Recipient, the Recipient agrees
that the Federal Government may suspend, suspend then terminate, or terminate all
or any part of the federal assistance for the Award if:
(1)

The Recipient has failed to make reasonable progress implementing the
Award;
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(2)

The Federal Government determines that continuing to provide federal
assistance to support the Award does not adequately serve the purposes of the
law authorizing the Award; or

(3)

The Recipient has violated the terms of the Underlying Agreement,
especially if that violation would endanger substantial performance of the
Underlying Agreement.

(b)

Financial Implications. In general, termination of federal assistance for the Award
will not invalidate obligations properly incurred before the termination date to the
extent that those obligations cannot be canceled. The Federal Government may
recover the federal assistance it has provided for the Award, including the federal
assistance for obligations properly incurred before the termination date, if it
determines that the Recipient has misused its federal assistance by failing to make
adequate progress, failing to make appropriate use of the Project property, or failing
to comply with the Underlying Agreement, and require the Recipient to refund the
entire amount or a lesser amount, as the Federal Government may determine
including obligations properly incurred before the termination date.

(c)

Expiration of the Period of Performance. Except for a Full Funding Grant
Agreement, expiration of any period of performance established for the Award does
not, by itself, constitute an expiration or termination of the Award; FTA may extend
the period of performance to assure that each Formula Project or related activities
and each Project or related activities funded with “no year” funds can receive FTA
assistance to the extent FTA deems appropriate.

(d)

Uniform Administrative Requirements. These termination rights are in addition to
and in no way limit the Federal Government’s rights to terminate described in 2 CFR
§ 200.340.

Section 12. Civil Rights.
(a)

Civil Rights Requirements. The Recipient agrees that it must comply with applicable
federal civil rights laws, regulations, and requirements, and follow applicable federal
guidance, except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing.
Therefore, unless a Recipient or a federal program, including the Indian Tribe
Recipient or the Tribal Transit Program, is specifically exempted from a civil rights
statute, FTA requires compliance with each civil rights statute, including compliance
with equity in service requirements.

(b)

Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs. The Recipient
agrees to, and assures that it and each Third Party Participant will:
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(1)

Prohibit discrimination based on race, color, religion, national origin, sex
(including gender identity), disability, or age.

(2)

Prohibit the:

(3)

(c)

(i)

Exclusion from participation in employment or a business opportunity
for reasons identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332;

(ii)

Denial of program benefits in employment or a business opportunity
identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332; or

(iii)

Discrimination identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332, including
discrimination in employment or a business opportunity identified in
49 U.S.C. § 5332.

Follow:
(i)

The most recent edition of FTA Circular 4702.1, “Title VI
Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration
Recipients,” to the extent consistent with applicable federal laws,
regulations, requirements, and guidance; but

(ii)

FTA does not require an Indian Tribe to comply with FTA programspecific guidelines for Title VI when administering its Underlying
Agreement supported with federal assistance under the Tribal Transit
Program.

Nondiscrimination – Title VI of the Civil Rights Act. The Recipient agrees to, and
assures that each Third Party Participant will:
(1)

Prohibit discrimination based on race, color, or national origin,

(2)

Comply with:

(3)

(i)

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C.
§ 2000d, et seq.;

(ii)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted
Programs of the Department of Transportation – Effectuation of Title
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,” 49 CFR Part 21; and

(iii)

Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332; and

Follow:
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(d)

(i)

The most recent edition of FTA Circular 4702.1, “Title VI
Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration
Recipients,” to the extent consistent with applicable federal laws,
regulations, requirements, and guidance;

(ii)

U.S. DOJ, “Guidelines for the enforcement of Title VI, Civil Rights
Act of 1964,” 28 C.F.R. § 50.3; and

(iii)

All other applicable federal guidance that may be issued.

Equal Employment Opportunity.
(1)

(2)

Federal Requirements and Guidance. The Recipient agrees to, and assures
that each Third Party Participant will, prohibit discrimination based on race,
color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin,
and:
(i)

Comply with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended,
42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq.;

(ii)

Facilitate compliance with Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal
Employment Opportunity” September 24, 1965 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e
note), as amended by any later Executive Order that amends or
supersedes it in part and is applicable to federal assistance programs;

(iii)

Comply with federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, as
provided in section 12 of this Master Agreement;

(iv)

FTA Circular 4704.1 “Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO)
Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration
Recipients;” and

(v)

Follow other federal guidance pertaining to EEO laws, regulations,
and requirements, and prohibitions against discrimination on the basis
of disability.

Specifics. The Recipient agrees to, and assures that each Third Party
Participant will:
(i)

Affirmative Action. If required to do so by U.S. DOT regulations
(49 CFR Part 21) or U.S. Department of Labor regulations (41 C.F.R.
chapter 60), take affirmative action that includes, but is not limited to:
(A)

Recruitment advertising, recruitment, and employment;
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(ii)

(3)

(e)

(B)

Rates of pay and other forms of compensation;

(C)

Selection for training, including apprenticeship, and
upgrading; and

(D)

Transfers, demotions, layoffs, and terminations; but

Indian Tribe. Recognize that Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, as amended, exempts Indian Tribes under the definition of
“Employer;” and

Equal Employment Opportunity Requirements for Construction Activities.
Comply, when undertaking “construction” as recognized by the U.S.
Department of Labor (U.S. DOL), with:
(i)

U.S. DOL regulations, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance
Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor,”
41 C.F.R. chapter 60; and

(ii)

Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity in
Federal Employment,” September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note
(30 Fed. Reg. 12319, 12935), as amended by any later Executive
Order that amends or supersedes it, referenced in 42 U.S.C. § 2000e
note.

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise. To the extent authorized by applicable federal
laws, regulations, or requirements, the Recipient agrees to facilitate, and assures that
each Third Party Participant will facilitate, participation by small business concerns
owned and controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged individuals, also
referred to as “Disadvantaged Business Enterprises” (DBEs), in the Underlying
Agreement as follows:
(1)

Statutory and Regulatory Requirements. The Recipient agrees to comply
with:
(i)

Section 1101(b) of the FAST Act, 23 U.S.C. § 101 note;

(ii)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Participation by Disadvantaged Business
Enterprises in Department of Transportation Financial Assistance
Programs,” 49 CFR Part 26; and

(iii)

Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, as provided in
section 12 of this Master Agreement.
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(2)

DBE Program Requirements. A Recipient that receives planning, capital
and/or operating assistance and that will award prime third party contracts
exceeding $250,000 in a federal fiscal year must have a DBE program that is
approved by FTA and meets the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26.

(3)

Special Requirements for a Transit Vehicle Manufacturer (TVM). The
Recipient agrees that:

(4)

(i)

TVM Certification. Each TVM, as a condition of being authorized to
bid or propose on FTA-assisted transit vehicle procurements, must
certify that it has complied with the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26;
and

(ii)

Reporting TVM Awards. Within 30 days of any third party contract
award for a vehicle purchase, the Recipient must submit to FTA the
name of the TVM contractor and the total dollar value of the third
party contract, and notify FTA that this information has been attached
in TrAMS. The Recipient must also submit additional notifications if
options are exercised in subsequent years to ensure that the TVM is
still in good standing.

Assurance. As required by 49 C.F.R. § 26.13(a):
(i)

(ii)

Recipient Assurance. The Recipient agrees and assures that:
(A)

It must not discriminate based on race, color, national origin,
or sex in the award and performance of any FTA or U.S.
DOT-assisted contract, or in the administration of its DBE
program or the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26;

(B)

It must take all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 CFR
Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and
administration of U.S. DOT-assisted contracts;

(C)

Its DBE program, as required under 49 CFR Part 26 and as
approved by U.S. DOT, is incorporated by reference and made
part of the Underlying Agreement; and

(D)

Implementation of its DBE program approved by U.S. DOT is
a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be
treated as a violation of this Master Agreement.

Subrecipient/Third Party Contractor/Third Party Subcontractor
Assurance. The Recipient agrees and assures that it will include the
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following assurance in each subagreement and third party contract it
signs with a Subrecipient or Third Party Contractor and agrees to
obtain the agreement of each of its Subrecipients, Third Party
Contractors, and Third Party Subcontractors to include the following
assurance in every subagreement and third party contract it signs:

(5)

(f)

(A)

The Subrecipient, each Third Party Contractor, and each Third
Party Subcontractor must not discriminate based on race,
color, national origin, or sex in the award and performance of
any FTA or U.S. DOT-assisted subagreement, third party
contract, and third party subcontract, as applicable, and the
administration of its DBE program or the requirements of
49 CFR Part 26;

(B)

The Subrecipient, each Third Party Contractor, and each Third
Party Subcontractor must take all necessary and reasonable
steps under 49 CFR Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the
award and administration of U.S. DOT-assisted
subagreements, third party contracts, and third party
subcontracts, as applicable;

(C)

Failure by the Subrecipient and any of its Third Party
Contractors or Third Party Subcontractors to carry out the
requirements of this subparagraph 12.e(4)(b) is a material
breach of this subagreement, third party contract, or third
party subcontract, as applicable; and

(D)

The following remedies, or such other remedy as the
Recipient deems appropriate, include, but are not limited to,
withholding monthly progress payments, assessing sanctions,
liquidated damages, and/or disqualifying the Subrecipient,
Third Party Contractor, or Third Party Subcontractor from
future bidding as non-responsible.

Remedies. Upon notification to the Recipient of its failure to carry out its
approved program, FTA or U.S. DOT may impose sanctions as provided for
under 49 CFR Part 26, and, in appropriate cases, refer the matter for
enforcement under either or both 18 U.S.C. § 1001, and/or the Program
Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, 31 U.S.C. § 3801, et seq.

Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex. The Recipient agrees to comply with federal
prohibitions against discrimination based on sex, including:
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(g)

(h)

(1)

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, 20 U.S.C.
§ 1681, et seq.;

(2)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education
Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 CFR Part
25; and

(3)

Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332.

Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age. The Recipient agrees to comply with federal
prohibitions against discrimination based on age, including:
(1)

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 621 – 634, which
prohibits discrimination based on age;

(2)

U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC) regulations,
“Age Discrimination in Employment Act,” 29 CFR Part 1625;

(3)

The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6101, et seq.,
which prohibits discrimination against individuals based on age in the
administration of Programs, Projects, and related activities receiving federal
assistance;

(4)

U.S. Health and Human Services regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the
Basis of Age in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial
Assistance,” 45 CFR Part 90; and

(5)

Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332.

Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability. The Recipient agrees to comply with
the following federal prohibitions against discrimination based on disability:
(1)

Federal laws, including:
(i)

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C.
§ 794, which prohibits discrimination based on disability in the
administration of federally assisted Programs, Projects, or activities;

(ii)

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, 42
U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., which requires that accessible facilities and
services be made available to individuals with disabilities:
(A)

For FTA Recipients generally, Titles I, II, and III of the ADA
apply; but
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(B)

(2)

For Indian Tribes, Titles II and III of the ADA apply, but Title
I of the ADA does not apply because it exempts Indian Tribes
from the definition of “employer;”

(iii)

The Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C.
§ 4151, et seq., which requires that buildings and public
accommodations be accessible to individuals with disabilities;

(iv)

Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, which now
includes disability as a prohibited basis for discrimination; and

(v)

Other applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements
pertaining to access for seniors or individuals with disabilities.

Federal regulations and guidance, including:
(i)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Transportation Services for Individuals with
Disabilities (ADA),” 49 CFR Part 37;

(ii)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability
in Programs and Activities Receiving or Benefiting from Federal
Financial Assistance,” 49 CFR Part 27;

(iii)

Joint U.S. Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance
Board (U.S. ATBCB) and U.S. DOT regulations, “Americans With
Disabilities (ADA) Accessibility Specifications for Transportation
Vehicles,” 36 CFR Part 1192 and 49 CFR Part 38;

(iv)

U.S. DOT regulations, “Transportation for Individuals with
Disabilities: Passenger Vessels,” 49 CFR Part 39;

(v)

U.S. DOJ regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability
in State and Local Government Services,” 28 CFR Part 35;

(vi)

U.S. DOJ regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability
by Public Accommodations and in Commercial Facilities,” 28 CFR
Part 36;

(vii)

U.S. EEOC, “Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment
Provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act,” 29 CFR Part
1630;

(viii) U.S. Federal Communications Commission regulations,
“Telecommunications Relay Services and Related Customer Premises
Equipment for Persons with Disabilities,” 47 CFR Part 64, subpart F;
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(i)

(j)

(ix)

U.S. ATBCB regulations, “Electronic and Information Technology
Accessibility Standards,” 36 CFR Part 1194;

(x)

FTA regulations, “Transportation for Elderly and Handicapped
Persons,” 49 CFR Part 609;

(xi)

FTA Circular 4710.1, “Americans with Disabilities Act: Guidance;”
and

(xii)

Other applicable federal civil rights and nondiscrimination regulations
and guidance.

Drug or Alcohol Abuse – Confidentiality and Other Civil Rights Protections. The
Recipient agrees to comply with the confidentiality and civil rights protections of:
(1)

The Drug Abuse Office and Treatment Act of 1972, as amended, 21 U.S.C.
§ 1101, et seq.;

(2)

The Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment
and Rehabilitation Act of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4541, et seq.; and

(3)

The Public Health Service Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 290dd – 290dd-2.

Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency. The Recipient
agrees to promote accessibility of public transportation services to persons with
limited understanding of English by following:
(1)

Executive Order No. 13166, “Improving Access to Services for Persons with
Limited English Proficiency,” August 11, 2000, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-1 note,
(65 Fed. Reg. 50121); and

(2)

U.S. DOT Notice, “DOT Policy Guidance Concerning Recipients’
Responsibilities to Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Persons,” 70 Fed. Reg.
74087, December 14, 2005.

(k)

Other Nondiscrimination Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance. The
Recipient agrees to comply with other applicable federal nondiscrimination laws,
regulations, and requirements, and follow federal guidance prohibiting
discrimination.

(l)

Remedies. Remedies for failure to comply with applicable federal Civil Rights laws,
regulations, and requirements, and failure to follow guidance may be enforced as
provided in those federal laws, regulations, requirements, or guidance.
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(m)

Promoting Free Speech and Religious Liberty. The recipient shall ensure that
Federal funding is expended in full accordance with the U.S. Constitution, Federal
Law, and statutory and public policy requirements: including, but not limited to,
those protecting free speech, religious liberty, public welfare, the environment, and
prohibiting discrimination.

Section 13. Planning.
(a)

Standard Planning Provisions. The Recipient agrees to the following:
(1)

(2)

Planning Requirements and Guidance. To assure that its Underlying
Agreement is consistent with the Planning requirements that apply, the
Recipient agrees to:
(i)

Comply with the Metropolitan planning requirements of 49 U.S.C.
§ 5303, and joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Planning and
Assistance Standards” (for Metropolitan Transportation Planning and
Programming), 23 CFR Part 450 and 49 CFR Part 613, to the extent
those regulations are consistent with the metropolitan planning
requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5303;

(ii)

Comply with the statewide and nonmetropolitan planning
requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5304, and joint FHWA and FTA
regulations, “Planning and Assistance Standards” (for statewide
transportation planning and programming), 23 CFR Part 450 and
49 CFR Part 613, to the extent those regulations are consistent with
the state planning requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5304; and

(iii)

Follow any guidance FTA issues to implement requirements of 49
U.S.C. §§ 5303 and 5304.

Participation of State or Local Governmental and Private Nonprofit
Providers of Nonemergency Transportation. The Recipient agrees to comply
with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(k) by assuring that it will, as feasible:
(i)

Provide the opportunity to participate and coordinate with the
Recipient in the design and the delivery of federally assisted
transportation services, and be included in planning for the
Recipient’s federally assisted transportation services; and

(ii)

Make that opportunity available to federally-assisted state or local
governmental agencies and nonprofit organizations that receive
federal assistance for nonemergency transportation, but do not receive
federal assistance for nonemergency transportation from U.S. DOT.
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(b)

Tribal Transit Program Planning Provisions. The Indian Tribe agrees that:
(1)

Planning Requirements. The federal assistance it receives for its Tribal
Transit Program will be consistent with its documents, including any formal
plan provided to FTA in support of the development and basis of its Award
of federal assistance under the Tribal Transit Program, and are or will be
coordinated with transportation service funded by other federal sources to the
maximum extent feasible.

(2)

Participation of State or Local Governmental and Private Nonprofit
Providers of Nonemergency Transportation. The Recipient agrees to comply
with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(k) by assuring that it will, as feasible:
(i)

Provide the opportunity to participate and coordinate with the
Recipient in the design and the delivery of federally assisted
transportation services, and be included in planning for the
Recipient’s federally assisted transportation services; and

(ii)

Make that opportunity available to federally-assisted state or local
governmental agencies and nonprofit organizations that receive
federal assistance for nonemergency transportation, but do not receive
federal assistance for nonemergency transportation from U.S. DOT.

Section 14. Private Enterprise.
(a)

(b)

Protections. The Recipient agrees to protect the interests of private enterprise
affected by federal public transportation programs by:
(1)

Encouraging private enterprise to participate in the planning of public
transportation and programs that provide public transportation, to the extent
permitted under 49 U.S.C. § 5306; and

(2)

Providing just compensation for the Project property it acquires, including
the franchises of private providers of public transportation, as required under
49 U.S.C. § 5323(a)(1)(C).

Infrastructure Investment. The Recipient agrees to follow the infrastructure
investment recommendations of:
(1)

Executive Order No. 12803, “Infrastructure Privatization,” April 30, 1992, 31
U.S.C. § 501 note (57 Fed. Reg. 19,036); and

(2)

Executive Order No. 12893, “Principles for Federal Infrastructure
Investments,” January 26, 1994, 31 U.S.C. § 501 note (59 Fed. Reg. 4233).
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(c)

Joint Development. If joint development is involved, the Recipient agrees to follow
the latest edition of FTA Circular 7050.1, “Federal Transit Administration Guidance
on Joint Development.”

Section 15. Preference for United States Products and Services.
Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, the Recipient agrees to
comply with FTA’s U.S. domestic preference requirements and follow federal guidance,
including:
(a)

Buy America. The domestic preference procurement requirements of 49 U.S.C.
§ 5323(j), and FTA regulations, “Buy America Requirements,” 49 CFR Part 661, to
the extent consistent with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j);

(b)

Cargo Preference–Use of United States-Flag Vessels. The shipping requirements of
46 U.S.C. § 55305, and U.S. Maritime Administration regulations, “Cargo
Preference – U.S.-Flag Vessels,” 46 CFR Part 381; and

(c)

Fly America. The air transportation requirements of Section 5 of the International
Air Transportation Fair Competitive Practices Act of 1974, as amended, 49 U.S.C.
§ 40118, and U.S. General Services Administration (U.S. GSA) regulations, “Use of
United States Flag Air Carriers,” 41 C.F.R. §§ 301-10.131 – 301-10.143.

(d)

Uniform Administrative Requirements. Compliance with FTA’s Buy America
requirements shall be deemed to satisfy 2 CFR § 200.322, “Domestic Preferences for
Procurements.”

(e)

Limitation on Certain Rolling Stock Procurements. The Recipient will comply with
the limitation on certain rolling stock procurements at 49 U.S.C. § 5323(u).

Section 16. Procurement.
(a)

Federal Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance. The Recipient agrees:
(1)

To comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and other
applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements in effect now or later
that affect its third party procurements;

(2)

To comply with the applicable U.S. DOT Common Rules; and

(3)

To follow the most recent edition and any revisions of FTA Circular 4220.1,
“Third Party Contracting Guidance,” to the extent consistent with applicable
federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance.
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(b)

Full and Open Competition. The Recipient agrees to conduct all its third party
procurements using full and open competition as provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(a),
and as determined by FTA.

(c)

Exclusionary or Discriminatory Specifications. The Recipient agrees that it will not
use any federal assistance under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 for any procurement based on
exclusionary or discriminatory specifications, as provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(h),
unless authorized by other applicable federal laws, regulations, or requirements.

(d)

Required Clauses in Third Party Contracts. In addition to other applicable
provisions of federal law, regulations, requirements, and guidance, all third party
contracts made by the Recipient under the Federal award must contain provisions
covering the following, as applicable:
(1)

Simplified Acquisition Threshold. Contracts for more than the simplified
acquisition threshold, which is the inflation adjusted amount determined by
the Civilian Agency Acquisition Council and the Defense Acquisition
Regulations Council (Councils) as authorized by 41 U.S.C. § 1908, or
otherwise set by law, must address administrative, contractual, or legal
remedies in instances where contractors violate or breach contract terms, and
provide for such sanctions and penalties as appropriate. (Note that the
simplified acquisition threshold determines the procurement procedures that
must be employed pursuant to 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.317–200.327. The simplified
acquisition threshold does not exempt a procurement from other eligibility or
processes requirements that may apply. For example, Buy America’s
eligibility and process requirements apply to any procurement in excess of
$150,000. 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j)(13).)

(2)

Termination. All contracts in excess of $10,000 must address termination for
cause and for convenience by the non-federal entity including the manner by
which it will be effected and the basis for settlement.

(3)

Equal Employment Opportunity. Except as otherwise provided under 41 CFR
Part 60, all contracts that meet the definition of “federally assisted
construction contract” in 41 CFR Part 60-1.3 must include the equal
opportunity clause provided under 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.4(b), in accordance with
Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity,” 42 U.S.C.
§ 2000e note (30 Fed. Reg. 12319, 12935, 3 C.F.R. 1964–1965 Comp., p.
339), as amended by Executive Order No. 11375, “Amending Executive
Order No. 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity,” (32 Fed. Reg.
14,303) and implementing regulations at 41 CFR Part 60, “Office of Federal
Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity,
Department of Labor.”
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(4)

Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141 – 3148). When required by
federal program legislation, all prime construction contracts in excess of
$2,000 awarded by non-federal entities must include a provision for
compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141 – 3144, and 3146
– 3148) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR
Part 5, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts Covering
Federally Financed and Assisted Construction”). In accordance with the
statute, contractors must be required to pay wages to laborers and mechanics
at a rate not less than the prevailing wages specified in a wage determination
made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, contractors must be required to
pay wages not less than once a week. The non-federal entity must place a
copy of the current prevailing wage determination issued by the Department
of Labor in each solicitation. The decision to award a contract or subcontract
must be conditioned upon the acceptance of the wage determination. The
non-federal entity must report all suspected or reported violations to the
federal awarding agency. The contracts must also include a provision for
compliance with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U.S.C. § 3145), as
supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 3,
“Contractors and Subcontractors on Public Building or Public Work
Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or Grants from the United States”).
The Act provides that each contractor or subrecipient must be prohibited
from inducing, by any means, any person employed in the construction,
completion, or repair of a public work, to give up any part of the
compensation to which he or she is otherwise entitled. The non-federal entity
must report all suspected or reported violations to the federal awarding
agency.

(5)

Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. §§ 3701 – 3708).
Where applicable, all contracts awarded by the non-federal entity in excess of
$100,000 that involve the employment of mechanics or laborers must include
a provision for compliance with 40 U.S.C. §§ 3702 and 3704, as
supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 5). Under 40
U.S.C. § 3702 of the Act, each contractor must be required to compute the
wages of every mechanic and laborer based on a standard work week of 40
hours. Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided that
the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the
basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week.
The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction work
and provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in
surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or
dangerous. These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or
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materials or articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for
transportation or transmission of intelligence.
(6)

Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement. If the federal
award meets the definition of “funding agreement” under 37 C.F.R.
§ 401.2(a) and the recipient or subrecipient wishes to enter into a contract
with a small business firm or nonprofit organization regarding the
substitution of parties, assignment or performance of experimental,
developmental, or research work under that “funding agreement,” the
recipient or subrecipient must comply with the requirements of 37 CFR Part
401, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small
Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative
Agreements,” and any implementing regulations issued by the awarding
agency.

(7)

Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 – 7671q.) and the Federal Water Pollution
Control Act (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 – 1388), as amended. Contracts and
subgrants of amounts in excess of $150,000 must contain a provision that
requires the non-federal award to agree to comply with all applicable
standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act
(42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 – 7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as
amended (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 – 1388). Violations must be reported to the
Federal awarding agency and the Regional Office of the Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA).

(8)

Debarment and Suspension (Executive Orders 12549 and 12689). A covered
transaction (see 2 C.F.R. §§ 180.220 and 1200.220) must not be entered into
with any party listed on the governmentwide exclusions in the System for
Award Management (SAM), in accordance with the OMB guidelines at
2 C.F.R. 180 that implement Executive Orders 12549 (31 U.S.C. § 6101 note,
51 Fed. Reg. 6370,) and 12689 (31 U.S.C. § 6101 note, 54 Fed. Reg. 34131),
“Debarment and Suspension.” SAM Exclusions contains the names of parties
debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties
declared ineligible under statutory or regulatory authority other than
Executive Order 12549. The Recipient agrees to include, and require each
Third Party Participant to include, a similar provision in each lower tier
covered transaction, ensuring that each lower tier Third Party Participant:
(i)

Complies with federal debarment and suspension requirements; and

(ii)

Reviews the SAM at https://www.sam.gov, if necessary to comply
with U.S. DOT regulations, 2 CFR Part 1200.
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(9)

Restrictions on Lobbying (31 U.S.C. § 1352). Contractors that apply or bid
for an award exceeding $100,000 must file the certification required by
49 CFR Part 20. Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has
not used federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency,
a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a
member of Congress in connection with obtaining any federal contract, grant
or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Each tier must also disclose
any lobbying with non-federal funds that takes place in connection with
obtaining any Federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier
up to the non-federal award.

(10)

Solid Wastes. A Recipient that is a state agency or agency of a political
subdivision of a state and its contractors must comply with section 6002 of
the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act. The requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only
items designated in guidelines of the Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) at 40 CFR Part 247 that contain the highest percentage of recovered
materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory level of
competition, where the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the
value of the quantity acquired during the preceding fiscal year exceeded
$10,000; procuring solid waste management services in a manner that
maximizes energy and resource recovery; and establishing an affirmative
procurement program for procurement of recovered materials identified in
the EPA guidelines.

(e)

Geographic Restrictions. The Recipient agrees that it will not use any state or local
geographic preference, except as permitted by federal law, regulation, requirement,
or guidance.

(f)

In-State Bus Dealer Restrictions. The Recipient agrees that any state law requiring
buses to be purchased through in-state dealers will not apply to purchases of vehicles
supported with federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C.
chapter 53, as provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(i).

(g)

Organizational Conflict of Interest. The Recipient agrees that it will not enter into a
procurement that involves a real or apparent organizational conflict of interest.

(h)

Project Labor Agreements. As a condition of a third party contract award, the
Recipient may require the Third Party Contractor or Subcontractor to have an
affiliation with a labor organization, such as a Project Labor Agreement, consistent
with Executive Order No. 13502, “Use of Project Labor Agreements for Federal
Construction Projects,” February 6, 2009 (74 Fed. Reg. 6985).
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(i)

Force Account. The Recipient agrees that FTA may determine the extent to which
Federal assistance may be used to participate in force account costs.

(j)

FTA Technical Review. The Recipient agrees that FTA may review and approve the
Recipient’s technical specifications and requirements to the extent FTA believes
necessary to ensure proper administration of the Underlying Agreement.

(k)

Relationship of the Award to Third Party Contract Approval. The Recipient agrees
that the terms of the Underlying Agreement do not, by themselves, constitute
approval of any non- competitive third party contract associated with the Award,
unless FTA indicates otherwise in writing.

(l)

National Intelligent Transportation Systems Architecture and Standards. The
Recipient agrees to conform to the National Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS)
Architecture requirements of 23 U.S.C. § 517(d), unless it obtains an exemption
from those requirements, and to follow FTA Notice, “FTA National ITS
Architecture Policy on Transit Projects,” 66 Fed. Reg. 1455, January 8, 2001, and all
other applicable federal guidance.

(m)

Rolling Stock. The Recipient agrees that any procurement for rolling stock will
comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5325 (Contract Requirements), 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j) (Buy
America Requirements), 49 U.S.C. § 5323(m) (Pre-Award and Post Delivery
Requirements), and 49 U.S.C. § 5318(e) (Bus Testing Requirements), and their
implementing regulations.

(n)

Bonding. The Recipient agrees to comply with the following bonding requirements
and restrictions as provided in federal regulations and guidance:

(o)

(1)

Construction. As provided in federal regulations and modified by FTA
guidance, for each Project or related activities implementing the Underlying
Agreement that involve construction, it will provide bid guarantee bonds,
contract performance bonds, and payment bonds.

(2)

Activities Not Involving Construction. For each Project or related activities
implementing the Underlying Agreement not involving construction, the
Recipient will not impose excessive bonding and will follow FTA guidance.

Architectural Engineering and Related Services. When procuring architectural
engineering or related services supported with federal assistance appropriated or
made available for 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or provided in any other law requiring the
Award to be administered under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, the Recipient agrees to
comply and assures that each of its Subrecipients will comply with 49 U.S.C.
§ 5325(b).
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(p)

Design-Build Projects. As provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(d), the Recipient may use a
design- build procurement to carry out its Design-Build Project, provided that it
complies with applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements, and follows
federal guidance.

(q)

Award to Other than the Lowest Bidder. As permitted under 49 U.S.C. § 5325(c), the
Recipient may award a third party contract to other than the lowest bidder, if that
award furthers an objective (for example, improved long-term operating efficiency
and lower long- term costs) consistent with the purposes of 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and
any implementing federal regulations, requirements, or guidance that FTA may
issue.

(r)

Award to Responsible Third Party Contractors. The Recipient agrees to award third
party contracts only to contractors able to carry out the procurement successfully, as
provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(j), and before awarding a third party contract, it will
consider the proposed contractor’s integrity, compliance with public policy, past
performance, and financial and technical resources.

(s)

Access to Third Party Contract Records. The Recipient agrees to require, and
assures that each of its Subrecipients will require, its Third Party Contractors at each
tier to provide:
(1)

The U.S. Secretary of Transportation and the Comptroller General of the
United States, the state, or their duly authorized representatives, access to all
third party contract records (at any tier) as required under 49 U.S.C.
§ 5325(g); and

(2)

Sufficient access to all third party contract records (at any tier) as needed for
compliance with applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements or to
assure proper management of Underlying Agreement as determined by FTA.

(t)

Electronic and Information Technology. The Recipient agrees that reports or
information it provides to or on behalf of the Federal Government will use electronic
or information technology that complies with the accessibility requirements of
Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794d, and
U.S. ATBCB regulations, “Electronic and Information Technology Accessibility
Standards,” 36 CFR Part 1194.

(u)

Veterans Preference. As provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(k), to the extent practicable,
the Recipient agrees and assures that each of its Subrecipients:
(1)

Will give a hiring preference to veterans, as defined in 5 U.S.C. § 2108, who
have the skills and abilities required to perform construction work required
under a third party contract in connection with a Capital Project supported
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with federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C.
chapter 53; and
(2)

Will not require an employer to give a preference to any veteran over any
equally qualified applicant who is a member of any racial or ethnic minority,
female, an individual with a disability, or a former employee.

(v)

Acquisition by Lease. The Recipient agrees that if it intends to acquire Project
property through a lease it will comply, as applicable, with 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 and
section 3019 of the FAST Act.

(w)

Bid Protests. The Recipient agrees to provide FTA, as part of the annual or quarterly
Milestone Progress Report, with a list of all bid protests and appeals for solicitations
or contracts in excess of $500,000. The Recipient also should be mindful of the
requirement in Section 39, Disputes, that the Recipient must promptly notify the
FTA Chief Counsel, or FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient
is located, of significant current or prospective legal matters that may affect the
Federal Government.

Section 17. Patent Rights.
(a)

(b)

General. The Recipient agrees that:
(1)

Depending on the nature of the Underlying Agreement, the Federal
Government may acquire patent rights when the Recipient or Third Party
Participant produces a patented or patentable invention, improvement, or
discovery;

(2)

The Federal Government’s rights arise when the patent or patentable
information is conceived or reduced to practice with federal assistance
provided through the Underlying Agreement; or

(3)

When a patent is issued or patented information becomes available as
described in the preceding section 17(a)(2) of this Master Agreement, the
Recipient will notify FTA immediately and provide a detailed report
satisfactory to FTA.

Federal Rights. The Recipient agrees that:
(1)

Its rights and responsibilities and each Third Party Participant’s rights and
responsibilities in that federally assisted invention, improvement, or
discovery will be determined as provided in applicable federal laws,
regulations, requirements, and guidance, including any waiver thereof; and
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(2)

(c)

Unless the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, irrespective
of its status or the status of any Third Party Participant as a large business,
small business, state government, state instrumentality, local government,
Indian tribe, nonprofit organization, institution of higher education, or
individual, the Recipient will transmit the Federal Government’s patent rights
to FTA, as specified in 35 U.S.C. § 200, et seq., and U.S. Department of
Commerce regulations, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit
Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants,
Contracts and Cooperative Agreements,” 37 CFR Part 401.

License Fees and Royalties. Consistent with the applicable U.S. DOT Common
Rules, the Recipient agrees that license fees and royalties for patents, patent
applications, and inventions produced with federal assistance provided through the
Underlying Agreement are program income, and must be used in compliance with
applicable federal requirements.

Section 18. Rights in Data and Copyrights.
(a)

Definition of “Subject Data.” As used in this section, “subject data” means recorded
information, whether or not copyrighted, that is delivered or specified to be delivered
as required by the Underlying Agreement. Examples of subject data include, but are
not limited to computer software, standards, specifications, engineering drawings
and associated lists, process sheets, manuals, technical reports, catalog item
identifications, and related information, but do not include financial reports, cost
analyses, or other similar information used for performance or administration of the
Underlying Agreement.

(b)

General Federal Restrictions. The following restrictions apply to all subject data
first produced in the performance of the Underlying Agreement:

(c)

(1)

Prohibitions. The Recipient may not publish or reproduce any subject data, in
whole, in part, or in any manner or form, or permit others to do so.

(2)

Exceptions. The prohibitions do not apply to publications or reproductions
for the Recipient’s own internal use, an institution of higher learning, the
portion of subject data that the Federal Government has previously released
or approved for release to the public, or the portion of data that has the
Federal Government’s prior written consent for release.

Federal Rights in Data and Copyrights. The Recipient agrees that:
(1)

General. It must provide a license to its subject data to the Federal
Government that is royalty-free, non-exclusive, and irrevocable. The Federal
Government’s license must permit the Federal Government to reproduce,
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publish, or otherwise use the subject data or permit other entities or
individuals to use the subject data provided those actions are taken for
Federal Government purposes; and
(2)

(d)

U.S. DOT Public Access Plan – Copyright License. The Recipient grants to
U.S. DOT a worldwide, non-exclusive, non-transferable, paid-up, royaltyfree copyright license, including all rights under copyright, to any and all
Publications and Digital Data Sets as such terms are defined in the U.S. DOT
Public Access plan, resulting from scientific research funded either fully or
partially by this funding agreement. The Recipient herein acknowledges that
the above copyright license grant is first in time to any and all other grants of
a copyright license to such Publications and/or Digital Data Sets, and that
U.S. DOT shall have priority over any other claim of exclusive copyright to
the same.

Special Federal Rights in Data for Research, Development, Demonstration,
Deployment, Technical Assistance, and Special Studies Programs. In general, FTA’s
purpose in providing federal assistance for a research, development, demonstration,
deployment, technical assistance, or special studies program is to increase
transportation knowledge, rather than limit the benefits of the Award to the Recipient
and its Third Party Participants. Therefore, the Recipient agrees that:
(1)

Publicly Available Report. When an Award providing federal assistance for
any of the programs described above is completed, it must provide a report of
the Underlying Agreement that FTA may publish or make available for
publication on the Internet.

(2)

Other Reports. It must provide other reports related to the Award that FTA
may request.

(3)

Availability of Subject Data. FTA may make available its copyright license to
the subject data, and a copy of the subject data to any FTA Recipient or any
Third Party Participant at any tier, except as the Federal Government
determines otherwise in writing.

(4)

Identification of Information. It must identify clearly any specific
confidential, privileged, or proprietary information submitted to FTA.

(5)

Incomplete. If the Award is not completed for any reason whatsoever, all data
developed with federal assistance for the Award becomes subject data and
must be delivered as the Federal Government may direct.
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(6)

Exception. This section does not apply to an adaptation of any automatic data
processing equipment or program that is both for the Recipient’s use, and
acquired with FTA capital program assistance.

(e)

License Fees and Royalties. Consistent with the applicable U.S. DOT Common
Rules, the Recipient agrees that license fees and royalties for patents, patent
applications, and inventions produced with federal assistance provided through the
Underlying Agreement are program income, and must be used in compliance with
federal applicable requirements.

(f)

Hold Harmless. Upon request by the Federal Government, the Recipient agrees that
if it intentionally violates any proprietary rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, and
if its violation under the preceding section occurs from any of the publication,
translation, reproduction, delivery, use or disposition of subject data, then it will
indemnify, save, and hold harmless the Federal Government against any liability,
including costs and expenses of the Federal Government’s officers, employees, and
agents acting within the scope of their official duties. The Recipient will not be
required to indemnify the Federal Government for any liability described in the
preceding sentence, if the violation is caused by the wrongful acts of federal officers,
employees or agents, or if indemnification is prohibited or limited by applicable state
law.

(g)

Restrictions on Access to Patent Rights. Nothing in this section of this Master
Agreement pertaining to rights in data either implies a license to the Federal
Government under any patent, or may be construed to affect the scope of any license
or other right otherwise granted to the Federal Government under any patent.

(h)

Data Developed Without Federal Assistance or Support. The Recipient agrees that in
certain circumstances it may need to provide to FTA data developed without any
federal assistance or support. Nevertheless, this section generally does not apply to
data developed without federal assistance, even though that data may have been used
in connection with the Award. The Recipient agrees that the Federal Government
will not be able to protect data developed without federal assistance from
unauthorized disclosure unless that data is clearly marked “Proprietary,” or
“Confidential.”

(i)

Requirements to Release Data. The Recipient understands and agrees that the
Federal Government may be required to release data and information that the
Recipient submits to the Federal Government as required under:
(1)

The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552;

(2)

The U.S. DOT Common Rules;
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(3)

The U.S. DOT Public Access Plan, which provides that the Recipient agrees
to satisfy the reporting and compliance requirements as set forth in the U.S.
DOT Public Access plan, including, but not limited to, the submission and
approval of a Data Management Plan, the use of Open Researcher and
Contributor ID (ORCID) numbers, the creation and maintenance of a
Research Project record in the Transportation Research Board’s (TRB)
Research in Progress (RiP) database, and the timely and complete submission
of all required publications and associated digital data sets as such terms are
defined in the DOT Public Access plan. Additional information about how to
comply with the requirements can be found at
http://ntl.bts.gov/publicaccess/howtocomply.html; or

(4)

Other federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance concerning
access to records pertaining to the Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto.

Section 19. Use of Real Property, Equipment, and Supplies.
(a)

Federal Interest. The Recipient agrees that the Federal Government retains a federal
interest in all real property, equipment, and supplies acquired or improved for use in
connection with a Project (Project property) until, and to the extent that, the Federal
Government removes its federal interest.

(b)

FTA Requirements and Guidance for Use of Project Property. The Recipient agrees
that:
(1)

Satisfactory Continuing Control. It will maintain continuing control of the
use of its Project property as satisfactory to FTA, which is defined as the
legal assurance that Project property will remain available to be used for its
originally authorized purpose throughout its useful life or until disposition.

(2)

Appropriate Use. It will use its Project property for appropriate purposes
(including joint development purposes as well as uses that provide program
income to support public transportation) for the duration of the useful life of
its Project property, which may extend beyond the duration of the Award,
and consistent with other requirements FTA may impose.

(3)

Delay or Failure to Use Project Property. The Federal Government may
require it to return the entire amount of federal assistance spent on its Project
property if, during the useful life of its Project property, it has unreasonably
delayed using its Project property, or failed to use its Project property.

(4)

Notification. It will notify FTA immediately when it uses any of its Project
property in a manner substantially different from the representations in its
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Application or other documents submitted in support of the Award, or the
requirements of the accompanying Underlying Agreement, or it withdraws
any of its Project property from appropriate use.
(5)

FTA Guidance. It will consult FTA guidance through its circulars or other
written documents for ways in which FTA property requirements should be
implemented. FTA guidance will apply unless FTA determines otherwise in
writing.

(c)

General Federal Requirements. The Recipient agrees to comply with the applicable
U.S. DOT property management provisions as provided in the U.S. DOT Common
Rules and this Master Agreement. The Recipient also agrees to follow FTA’s
reimbursement provisions pertaining to premature dispositions of certain equipment,
as provided in this Master Agreement and FTA guidance.

(d)

Maintenance. As provided in federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance,
the Recipient agrees to maintain its Project property in good operating order, and
comply with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management” and “National Transit
Database,” 49 CFR Parts 625 and 630.

(e)

Property Records. The Recipient agrees to keep satisfactory records of its use of its
Project property, and, upon request, it will provide FTA the necessary information
required to assure compliance with this Master Agreement.

(f)

Incidental Use.
(1)

The Recipient agrees that any incidental use of Project property will not
exceed what is permitted under applicable federal requirements and federal
guidance.

(2)

As provided in 49 U.S.C. § 5323(p), it may permit nontransit public entities
and private entities to have incidental use of its federally assisted alternative
fueling facilities and equipment, only if:
(i)

The incidental use does not interfere with public transportation
operations or violate the provisions of the Underlying Agreement and
any Amendments thereto;

(ii)

It fully recaptures all the costs related to the incidental use from any
nontransit public entity or private entity that uses the alternative
fueling facilities or equipment;
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(iii)

It uses revenues it receives from the incidental use in excess of costs
for planning, capital, and operating expenses that are incurred in
providing public transportation; and

(iv)

Private entities pay all applicable excise taxes on fuel.

(g)

Reasonable Access for Private Intercity or Charter Transportation Operators. The
Recipient agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(r), and may not deny reasonable
access for a private intercity or charter transportation operator to federally funded
public transportation facilities, including intermodal facilities, park and ride lots, and
bus-only highway lanes. In determining reasonable access, capacity requirements of
the Recipient and the extent to which access would be detrimental to existing public
transportation services must be considered.

(h)

Encumbrance of Project Property. Absent the express consent of the Federal
Government in writing, the Recipient agrees to preserve the federal interest in its
Project property, and to maintain satisfactory continuing control of its Project
property as follows:

(i)

(1)

Written Transactions. The Recipient agrees that it will not execute any
documents that would either adversely affect the federal interest in or impair
its continuing control of the use of its Project property including, but not
limited to, lease, transfer of title, lien, pledge, mortgage, encumbrance, third
party contract, subagreement, grant anticipation note, alienation, innovative
finance arrangements, such as a cross-border or leveraged lease, or other
types of innovative financing arrangements, or any restriction, constraint, or
commitment that may apply to the Project property. Upon request, the
Recipient will provide a copy of any document described above to FTA.

(2)

Oral Transactions. The Recipient agrees it will not obligate itself in any way
through an oral statement to any third party with respect to its Project
property that would either adversely affect the federal interest in or impair its
continuing control of the use of its Project property.

(3)

Other Actions. The Recipient agrees that it will not take any other action that
would either adversely affect the federal interest in or impair its continuing
control of the use of its Project property.

Useful Life of Project Property. The Recipient agrees that:
(1)

Determining the Useful Life. FTA may establish the useful life of Project
property;
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(j)

(2)

Required Use. It will use its Project property continuously and appropriately
throughout the useful life of that property;

(3)

Expired Useful Life. When the useful life of its Project property has expired,
it will comply with FTA’s disposition requirements; and

(4)

Premature Withdrawal. The Federal Government retains a federal interest in
the fair market value of Project property or remaining useful life in Project
property calculated based on straight line depreciation (including Project
equipment acquired by a state). Therefore, if the Recipient withdraws that
property from public transportation use prematurely, it will notify FTA
immediately when any of its Project property is prematurely withdrawn from
appropriate use, whether by planned withdrawal, misuse, or casualty loss.
(i)

Amount of Federal Interest. The federal interest in the Recipient’s or
any of its Subrecipients’ Project property will be determined based on
the ratio of the federal assistance provided for that property to the
actual cost of that property.

(ii)

Financial Commitments to the Federal Government. Except as
otherwise approved in writing by the Federal Government, the
Recipient agrees that if its Project property is prematurely withdrawn
from appropriate use:
(A)

It will return an amount equal to the remaining federal interest
in the withdrawn property to the Federal Government; or

(B)

With FTA approval, it will invest an amount equal to the
remaining federal interest in the withdrawn property in other
transit property eligible for federal assistance provided
through the Underlying Agreement.

Calculating the Value of Prematurely Withdrawn Project Property. The Recipient
agrees that the fair market value of Project property prematurely withdrawn from use
in support of the Award (including the fair market value of project equipment
acquired or improved by a state) will be calculated as follows:
(1)

Equipment and Supplies. The fair market value of project equipment or
supplies will be calculated by straight-line depreciation, based on the useful
life of that equipment or supplies as established or approved by FTA. The
fair market value of the Project equipment and supplies withdrawn from
proper use will be based on the value of that property immediately before it
was withdrawn from appropriate use irrespective of whether the Project
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property was withdrawn from use due to fire, casualty, or natural disaster,
and irrespective of the extent of insurance coverage.
(2)

(3)

(k)

(l)

Real Property. The Recipient agrees that the fair market value of Project real
property shall be determined by:
(i)

Competent appraisal based on an appropriate date as approved by
FTA, consistent with U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Relocation
Assistance and Real Property Acquisition for Federal and FederallyAssisted Programs,” 49 CFR Part 24;

(ii)

Straight line depreciation of improvements to the Project real property
coupled with the value of the land determined by FTA based on
appraisal; or

(iii)

Other applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements.

Exceptional Circumstances. The Recipient agrees that the Federal
Government may require another method of valuation to be used to
determine the fair market value of Project real property withdrawn from
service. In unusual circumstances, the Recipient may request permission to
use another reasonable valuation method including, but not limited to
accelerated depreciation, comparable sales, or established market values.

Insurance Proceeds. The Recipient agrees to use any insurance proceeds it receives
for Project property that has been damaged or destroyed (including insurance
proceeds for Project equipment acquired or improved by a state) as follows:
(1)

Replacement. It may apply those insurance proceeds to the cost of replacing
that damaged or destroyed property;

(2)

Another Purpose. It may use those insurance proceeds for another authorized
purpose, provided that it has obtained FTA’s consent in writing; or

(3)

Return to the Federal Government. It may return to the Federal Government
an amount equal to the amount of the remaining federal interest in that
property that has been damaged or destroyed.

Misused or Damaged Project Property. If any damage to Project property results
from abuse or misuse occurring with the Recipient’s knowledge and consent, the
Recipient agrees to restore the Project property that has been damaged to its original
condition, or refund the value of the federal interest in its Project property (including
the remaining federal interest in Project equipment acquired by a state), as the
Federal Government may require.
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(m)

Disposition of Project Property. The Recipient agrees that disposition of its Project
property may be made as provided in FTA’s enabling legislation, 49 U.S.C.
§ 5334(h), U.S. DOT Common Rules, and the most recent edition of FTA Circular
5010.1, to the extent consistent with applicable federal laws, regulations,
requirements, and guidance. The Recipient understands and agrees that under certain
circumstances, the Recipient must obtain disposition instructions from FTA before
disposing of Project property, including real property, equipment including rolling
stock, and supplies.

(n)

Responsibilities After Closeout. The Recipient agrees that closeout of the Award will
not change the Recipient’s property management responsibilities for its Project
property as provided in federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance
effective now or at a later date, and this section of this Master Agreement.

Section 20. Transit Asset Management.
(a)

Transit Asset Management Plan. The Recipient agrees to develop a Transit Asset
Management Plan that complies with federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C.
§ 5326, FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management,” 49 CFR Part 625, and
“National Transit Database,” 49 CFR Part 630, and other applicable federal laws,
regulations, and requirements.

(b)

When Compliance is Required. The Recipient agrees to, and assures that each Third
Party Participant will, comply with FTA regulations, “Transit Asset Management;
National Transit Database,” 49 CFR Parts 625 and 630, and follow applicable
federal guidance.

Section 21. Insurance.
(a)

Flood Insurance. The Recipient agrees and assures that its Third Party Participants
will agree to comply with flood insurance laws and guidance as follows:
(1)

It will have flood insurance as required by the Flood Disaster Protection Act
of 1973, 42 U.S.C. § 4012a(a), for any building located in a special flood
hazard area (100-year flood zone), before accessing federal assistance to
acquire, construct, reconstruct, repair, or improve that building.

(2)

Each such building and its contents will be covered by flood insurance in an
amount at least equal to the federal investment (less estimated land cost) or to
the maximum limit of coverage made available with respect to the particular
type of property under the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C.
§ 4001, et seq., whichever is less.
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(3)
(b)

It will follow FTA guidance, except to the extent FTA determines otherwise
in writing.

Other Insurance Requirements. It will comply with the insurance requirements
normally imposed by its state and local laws, regulations, and ordinances.

Section 22. Relocation and Real Property.
(a)

Relocation Protections. Irrespective of whether federal assistance is used to pay
relocation costs required under federal laws, regulations, or requirements, the
Recipient agrees to:
(1)

Provide fair and equitable treatment to displaced individuals and businesses
that must be relocated as a result of any Project for which the FTA has
provided federal assistance; and

(2)

Comply with federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(b), which
requires compliance with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real
Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4601, et
seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real
Property Acquisition for Federal and Federally Assisted Programs,” 49 CFR
Part 24.

(b)

Nondiscrimination in Housing. The Recipient agrees that when it must provide
housing for individuals as a result of relocation, it will comply with Title VIII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1968, as amended (Fair Housing Act), 42 U.S.C. § 3601, et seq.,
and facilitate and follow Executive Order No. 12892, “Leadership and Coordination
of Fair Housing in Federal Programs: Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing,”
January 17, 1994, 42 U.S.C. § 3608 note, (59 Fed. Reg. 2939), except as the Federal
Government determines otherwise in writing.

(c)

Prohibition Against the Use of Lead-Based Paint. The Recipient agrees that if it
constructs or rehabilitates residential structures on behalf of individuals displaced by
its any Project, it will not use lead-based paint, and it will comply with Section
401(b) of the Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, 42 U.S.C. § 4831(b), and
U.S. Housing and Urban Development regulations, “Lead-based Paint Poisoning
Prevention in Certain Residential Structures,” 24 CFR Part 35.

(d)

Real Property Acquisition Protections. Irrespective of whether federal assistance is
used to pay real property acquisition costs required to implement the Award, the
Recipient agrees to provide fair and equitable treatment to owners of real property or
interests in real property that must be acquired as a result of any Project, and comply
with federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(b), which requires
compliance with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition
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Policies Act of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4601, et seq., and U.S. DOT
regulations, “Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition for
Federal and Federally-Assisted Programs,” 49 CFR Part 24.
(e)

Covenant Against Discrimination. The Recipient agrees to include a covenant in the
title of the real property acquired for use in any Project that assures
nondiscrimination during the useful life of that real property.

(f)

Recording the Title to Real Property. The Recipient agrees to record the federal
interest in the title to real property used in connection with any Project if FTA so
requires.

(g)

FTA Approval of Changes in Real Property Ownership. Unless it receives
permission or instructions from FTA, the Recipient agrees that it will not dispose of,
modify the use of, or change the title to real property used in any Project, or any
other interests in the site and facilities used in any Project.

Section 23. Construction.
(a)

Construction Plans and Specifications. The Recipient agrees to comply with all
applicable statutes, regulations, and requirements, and follow FTA guidance in the
development and implementation of construction plans and specifications, including
drafting, review, and approval, for the Award.

(b)

Seismic Safety. The Recipient agrees to comply with the Earthquake Hazards
Reduction Act of 1977, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7701, et seq., and U.S. DOT
regulations, “Seismic Safety,” 49 CFR Part 41, specifically, 49 C.F.R. § 41.117.

(c)

Supervision of Construction. The Recipient agrees to maintain competent and
adequate engineering supervision at the construction site of any Project to ensure
that the completed work conforms to the approved plans and specifications.

(d)

Construction Reports. For any Project or related activities involving construction,
the Recipient agrees to provide progress reports and other relevant information or
data, as required by FTA or the state in which construction takes place.

(e)

Major Capital Investment Projects. If the Recipient’s Project involves a Major
Federal Project, it agrees to comply with all applicable federal regulations, including
FTA regulations, “Major Capital Investment Projects,”49 CFR Part 611, and
“Project Management Oversight,” 49 CFR Part 633, to the extent that they are
consistent with applicable federal legislation, regulations, and requirements, and
follow all applicable federal guidance.

79

Section 24. Employee Protections.
(a)

Awards Involving Construction. The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that
each Third Party Participant will comply with all federal laws, regulations, and
requirements providing protections for construction employees involved in each
Project or related activities with federal assistance provided through the Underlying
Agreement, including the:
(1)

(2)

(3)

Prevailing Wage Requirements of:
(i)

Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5333(a), (FTA’s “DavisBacon Related Act”);

(ii)

The Davis-Bacon Act, 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141 – 3144, 3146, and 3147;
and

(iii)

U.S. DOL regulations, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to
Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction
(also Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Nonconstruction
Contracts Subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards
Act),” 29 CFR Part 5.

Wage and Hour Requirements of:
(i)

Section 102 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as
amended, 40 U.S.C. § 3702, and other relevant parts of that Act, 40
U.S.C. § 3701, et seq.; and

(ii)

U.S. DOL regulations, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to
Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction
(also Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Nonconstruction
Contracts Subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards
Act),” 29 CFR Part 5.

“Anti-Kickback” Prohibitions of:
(i)

Section 1 of the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act, as amended,
18 U.S.C. § 874;

(ii)

Section 2 of the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act, as amended,
40 U.S.C. § 3145; and

(iii)

U.S. DOL regulations, “Contractors and Subcontractors on Public
Building or Public Work Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or
Grants from the United States,” 29 CFR Part 3.
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(4)

Construction Site Safety of:
(i)

Section 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as
amended, 40 U.S.C. § 3704, and other relevant parts of that Act,
40 U.S.C. § 3701, et seq.; and

(ii)

U.S. DOL regulations, “Recording and Reporting Occupational
Injuries and Illnesses,” 29 CFR Part 1904; “Occupational Safety and
Health Standards,” 29 CFR Part 1910; and “Safety and Health
Regulations for Construction,” 29 CFR Part 1926.

(b)

Awards Not Involving Construction. The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that
each Third Party Participant will comply with all federal laws, regulations, and
requirements providing wage and hour protections for nonconstruction employees,
including Section 102 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as
amended, 40 U.S.C. § 3702, and other relevant parts of that Act, 40 U.S.C. § 3701,
et seq., and U.S. DOL regulations, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to
Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction (also Labor
Standards Provisions Applicable to Nonconstruction Contracts Subject to the
Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act),” 29 CFR Part 5.

(c)

Awards Involving Commerce. The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that each
Third Party Participant will comply with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA),
29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. to the extent that the FLSA applies to employees performing
work with federal assistance provided through the Underlying Agreement involving
commerce, and as the Federal Government otherwise determines applicable.

(d)

Public Transportation Employee Protective Arrangements. As a condition of award
of federal assistance appropriated or made available for FTA programs involving
public transportation operations, the Recipient agrees to comply and assures that
each Third Party Participant will comply with the following employee protective
arrangements of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b):
(1)

U.S. DOL Certification. When its Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, or any Amendments thereto involve public transportation
operations and are supported with federal assistance appropriated or made
available for 49 U.S.C. §§ 5307 – 5312, 5316, 5318, 5323(a)(1), 5323(b),
5323(d), 5328, 5337, 5338(b), or 5339, or former 49 U.S.C. §§ 5308, 5309,
5312, or other provisions of law as required by the Federal Government, U.S.
DOL must provide a certification of employee protective arrangements
before FTA may provide federal assistance for that Award. The Recipient
agrees that the certification issued by U.S. DOL is a condition of the
Underlying Agreement and that the Recipient must comply with its terms and
conditions.
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(2)

Special Warranty. When its Underlying Agreement involves public
transportation operations and is supported with federal assistance
appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. § 5311, U.S. DOL will provide
a Special Warranty for its Award, including its Award of federal assistance
under the Tribal Transit Program. The Recipient agrees that its U.S. DOL
Special Warranty is a condition of the Underlying Agreement and the
Recipient must comply with its terms and conditions.

(3)

Special Arrangements for Underlying Agreements for Federal Assistance
Authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5310. The Recipient agrees, and assures that
any Third Party Participant providing public transportation operations will
agree, that although pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 5310, and former 49 U.S.C.
§§ 5310 or 5317, FTA has determined that it was not “necessary or
appropriate” to apply the conditions of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) to any
Subrecipient participating in the program to provide public transportation for
seniors (elderly individuals) and individuals with disabilities, FTA reserves
the right to make case-by-case determinations of the applicability of
49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) for all transfers of funding authorized under title 23,
United States Code (flex funds), and make other exceptions as it deems
appropriate.

Section 25. Early Systems Work Agreement.
(a)

Statutory Requirements. If FTA enters into an Early System Work Agreement
(ESWA) with the Recipient to advance the implementation of the Recipient’s Capital
Project, the Recipient agrees that the provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5309(k)(3) will apply
to that ESWA, the Recipient, and FTA.

(b)

ESWA Provisions. Except to the extent that the Federal Government determines
otherwise in writing, the Recipient understands and agrees that the following
provisions apply to its ESWA, unless the ESWA contains specific requirements to
the contrary:
(1)

Recipient Representations. In view of the standards and commitments
imposed on the Recipient by 49 U.S.C. § 5309(k)(3), the Recipient has
provided sufficient representations and information to FTA so that FTA has
reason to believe the following:
(i)

FTA and the Recipient will enter into a Full Funding Grant
Agreement for the Project; and

(ii)

The terms of the ESWA will promote the ultimate completion of the
Project more rapidly and at less cost.
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(2)

FTA Commitments. By entering into an ESWA with the Recipient, FTA has
agreed to provide for reimbursement of the preliminary costs of carrying out
the Project, including:
(i)

Land acquisition;

(ii)

Timely procurement of system elements for which the specifications
are decided; and

(iii)

Other activities that FTA decides are appropriate to make efficient,
long-term Project management easier.

(3)

Time Period of the ESWA. FTA reserves the right to determine the period of
time in which the ESWA will remain in effect, even if that period extends
beyond the time of the authorization of federal funding that will support the
Project costs covered by the ESWA.

(4)

Interest and Other Financing Costs. Interest and other financing costs of
carrying out the ESWA efficiently and within a reasonable time are eligible
ESWA costs, provided that:

(5)

(6)

(i)

The interest and financing costs claimed do not exceed the cost of the
most favorable financing terms reasonably available for the Project at
the time of borrowing;

(ii)

The Recipient has certified that it will show reasonable diligence in
seeking the most favorable financing terms; and

(iii)

The Recipient is able to show reasonable diligence in seeking the
most favorable financing terms to support this ESWA.

Contingent Commitment. In providing funding for the ESWA:
(i)

In its discretion, FTA may include a commitment, contingent on
amounts made available under a later-enacted law, to obligate an
additional amount from future available budget authority to support
the costs of the Recipient’s ESWA; and

(ii)

If FTA does make a commitment to provide funding contingent on
future amounts to be specified in law, that commitment is not an
obligation of the Federal Government.

Failure to Carry Out the Project. If, for reasons within its control, the
Recipient does not carry out the Project for which its ESWA was made
available by FTA, the Recipient must:
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(i)

Repay all Federal Grant funds awarded under the ESWA from all
Federal funding sources for all Project activities, facilities, and
equipment; and

(ii)

Pay reasonable interest and penalty charges:
(A)

As established by FTA before or after FTA provided funding
for the ESWA; or

(B)

Allowable under law.

Section 26. Environmental Protections.
(a)

General. The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party Participants will,
comply with all applicable environmental and resource use laws, regulations, and
requirements, and follow applicable guidance, now in effect or that may become
effective in the future, including state and local laws, ordinances, regulations, and
requirements and follow applicable guidance.

(b)

National Environmental Policy Act. An Award of federal assistance requires the full
compliance with applicable environmental laws, regulations, and requirements.
Accordingly, the Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party Participants
will:
(1)

Comply and facilitate compliance with federal laws, regulations, and
requirements, including, but not limited to:
(i)

Federal transit laws, such as 49 U.S.C. § 5323(c)(2), and 23 U.S.C.
§ 139;

(ii)

The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA), as
amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321, et seq., as limited by 42 U.S.C. § 5159,
and CEQ’s implementing regulations 40 CFR Part 1500 – 1508;

(iii)

Joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Environmental Impact and
Related Procedures,” 23 CFR Part 771 and 49 CFR Part 622;

(iv)

Executive Order No. 11514, as amended, “Protection and
Enhancement of Environmental Quality,” March 5, 1970, 42 U.S.C.
§ 4321 note (35 Fed. Reg. 4247); and

(v)

Other federal environmental protection laws, regulations, and
requirements applicable to the Recipient or the Award, the
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto.
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(2)

(c)

Follow the federal guidance identified herein to the extent that the guidance
is consistent with applicable authorizing legislation:
(i)

Joint FHWA and FTA final guidance, “Interim Guidance on MAP-21
Section 1319, Accelerated Decisionmaking in Environmental
Reviews,” January 14, 2013;

(ii)

Joint FHWA and FTA final guidance, “SAFETEA-LU Environmental
Review Process (Public Law 109-59),” 71 Fed. Reg. 66576,
November 15, 2006; and

(iii)

Other federal environmental guidance applicable to the Recipient or
the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any
Amendments thereto.

Environmental Justice. The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party
Participants will, promote environmental justice by following:
(1)

Executive Order No. 12898, “Federal Actions to Address Environmental
Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations,” February 11,
1994, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 note, (59 Fed. Reg. 7629, 3 C.F.R. 1994 Comp.,
p. 859) as well as facilitating compliance with that Executive Order;

(2)

U.S. DOT Order 5610.2(a), “Department of Transportation Updated
Environmental Justice Order,” 77 Fed. Reg. 27534, May 10, 2012; and

(3)

The most recent edition of FTA Circular 4703.1, “Environmental Justice
Policy Guidance for Federal Transit Administration Recipients,” August 15,
2012, to the extent consistent with applicable federal laws, regulations,
requirements, and guidance.

(d)

Other Environmental Federal Laws. The Recipient agrees to comply or facilitate
compliance, and assures that its Third Party Participants will comply or facilitate
compliance, with all applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements, and will
follow applicable guidance, including, but not limited to, the Clean Air Act, Clean
Water Act, Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of 1968, Coastal Zone Management Act of
1972, the Endangered Species Act of 1973, Magnuson Stevens Fishery Conservation
and Management Act, Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, Executive Order No.
11990 relating to “Protection of Wetlands,” and Executive Order No. 11988, as
amended, “Floodplain Management.”

(e)

Corridor Preservation. The Recipient agrees that:
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(1)

It will not develop any right-of-way acquired under 49 U.S.C. § 5323(q) in
anticipation of implementing its Award until all required environmental
reviews for each Project or related activities have been completed; and

(2)

It will follow FTA Final Guidance on the Application of 49 U.S.C § 5323(q)
to Corridor Preservation for a Transit Project, October 27, 2014.

(f)

Use of Certain Public Lands. The Recipient agrees to comply, and assures that its
Third Party Participants will comply, with U.S. DOT laws, specifically 49 U.S.C.
§ 303 (often referred to as “section 4(f)”), and joint FHWA and FTA regulations,
“Parks, Recreation Areas, Wildlife and Waterfowl Refuges, and Historic Sites,”
23 CFR Part 774, and referenced in 49 CFR Part 622.

(g)

Historic Preservation. The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party
Participants will:
(1)

Comply with U.S. DOT laws, including 49 U.S.C. § 303 (often referred to as
“section 4(f)”), which requires certain findings be made before an Award
may be undertaken if it involves the use of any land from a historic site that
is on or eligible for inclusion on the National Register of Historic Places.

(2)

Encourage compliance with the federal historic and archaeological
preservation requirements of section 106 of the National Historic
Preservation Act, as amended, 54 U.S.C. § 306108.

(3)

Comply with the Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974, as
amended, 54 U.S.C. § 312501, et seq.

(4)

Comply with U.S. Advisory Council on Historic Preservation regulations,
“Protection of Historic Properties,” 36 CFR Part 800.

(5)

Comply with federal requirements and follow federal guidance to avoid or
mitigate adverse effects on historic properties.

(h)

Indian Sacred Sites. The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Third Party
Participants will, facilitate compliance with federal efforts to promote the
preservation of places and objects of religious importance to American Indians,
Eskimos, Aleuts, and Native Hawaiians, and facilitate compliance with the American
Indian Religious Freedom Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1996, and Executive Order No. 13007,
“Indian Sacred Sites,” May 24, 1996, 42 U.S.C. § 3161 note (61 Fed. Reg. 26771).

(i)

Mitigation of Adverse Environmental Effects.
(1)

The Recipient agrees to comply with all environmental mitigation measures
that may be identified as conditions that the Federal Government might
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impose in its finding of no significant impact or record of decision or
commitments in the environmental documents that apply to the Award, such
as environmental assessments, environmental impact statements, categorical
exclusions, memoranda of agreement, documents required under 49 U.S.C.
§ 303, and other environmental documents.
(2)

(j)

The Recipient agrees that:
(i)

Any mitigation measures agreed on will be incorporated by reference
and made part of the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments
thereto;

(ii)

Any deferred mitigation measures will be incorporated by reference
and made part of the Underlying Agreement and any Amendments
thereto as soon as agreement with the Federal Government is reached;
and

(iii)

Any mitigation measures agreed on will not be modified or
withdrawn without the written approval of the Federal Government.

Energy Conservation. The Recipient agrees to, and assures that its Subrecipients
will, comply with the mandatory energy standards and policies of its state energy
conservation plans under the Energy Policy and Conservation Act, as amended,
42 U.S.C. § 6321, et seq., and perform an energy assessment for any building
constructed, reconstructed, or modified with federal assistance required under FTA
regulations, “Requirements for Energy Assessments,” 49 CFR Part 622, subpart C.

Section 27. State Management and Monitoring Systems.
The Recipient agrees to comply with joint FHWA and FTA regulations, “Management and
Monitoring Systems,” 23 CFR Part 500, and FTA regulations, “Transportation Infrastructure
Management,” 49 CFR Part 614.
Section 28. Charter Service.
(a)

Prohibitions. The Recipient agrees that neither it nor any Third Party Participant
involved in the Award will engage in charter service, except as permitted under
federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(d), (g), and (r), FTA regulations,
“Charter Service,” 49 CFR Part 604, any other federal Charter Service regulations,
federal requirements, or federal guidance.

(b)

Exceptions. Apart from exceptions to the Charter Service restrictions in FTA’s
Charter Service regulations, FTA has established the following additional exceptions
to those restrictions:
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(c)

(1)

FTA’s Charter Service restrictions do not apply to equipment or facilities
supported with federal assistance appropriated or made available for
49 U.S.C. § 5307 to support a Job Access and Reverse Commute (JARC)type Project or related activities that would have been eligible for assistance
under repealed 49 U.S.C. § 5316 in effect in Fiscal Year 2012 or a previous
fiscal year, provided that the Recipient uses that federal assistance for FTA
program purposes only; and

(2)

FTA’s Charter Service restrictions do not apply to equipment or facilities
supported with the federal assistance appropriated or made available for
49 U.S.C. § 5310 to support a New Freedom-type Project or related activities
that would have been eligible for federal assistance under repealed 49 U.S.C.
§ 5317 in effect in Fiscal Year 2012 or a previous fiscal year, provided the
Recipient uses that federal assistance for FTA program purposes only.

Violations. If it or any Third Party Participant engages in a pattern of violations of
FTA’s Charter Service regulations, FTA may require corrective measures and
remedies, including withholding an amount of federal assistance as provided in
FTA’s Charter Service regulations, 49 CFR Part 604, appendix D, or barring it or the
Third Party Participant from receiving federal assistance provided in 49 U.S.C.
chapter 53, 23 U.S.C. § 133, or 23 U.S.C. § 142.

Section 29. School Bus Operations.
(a)

Prohibitions. The Recipient agrees that neither it nor any Third Party Participant that
is participating in its Award will engage in school bus operations exclusively for the
transportation of students or school personnel in competition with private school bus
operators, except as permitted by federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. § 5323(f) or (g),
FTA regulations, “School Bus Operations,” 49 CFR Part 605, and any other
applicable federal “School Bus Operations” laws, regulations, requirements, or
applicable federal guidance.

(b)

Violations. If a Recipient or any Third Party Participant has operated school bus
service in violation of FTA’s School Bus laws, regulations, or requirements, FTA
may require the Recipient or Third Party Participant to take such remedial measures
as FTA considers appropriate, or bar the Recipient or Third Party Participant from
receiving federal transit assistance.

Section 30. Geographic Information and Related Spatial Data.
The Recipient agrees that each Project or related activity that implements the Award will
conform to the Federal Geographic Data Committee’s National Spatial Data Infrastructure if the
Project or related activity directly or indirectly involves spatial data, or geographic information
systems, and it will follow U.S. OMB Circular A-16, “Coordination of Geographic Information
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and Related Spatial Data Activities,” August 19, 2002, and U.S. OMB Circular A-16
Supplemental Guidance, “Geospatial Line of Business,” November 10, 2010.
Section 31. Federal “$1 Coin” Requirements.
The Recipient agrees to comply with section 104 of the Presidential $1 Coin Act of 2005,
31 U.S.C. § 5112(p), its equipment and facilities will be fully capable of accepting and
dispensing $1 coins when coins or currency are required to use that equipment or those facilities,
and it will display signs and notices of the $1 coin capability of its equipment and facilities on its
premises, including vending machines, where coins or currency are used.
Section 32. Public Transportation Safety.
The Recipient agrees to comply with applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements and
follow applicable guidance that implement the Public Transportation Safety Program provisions
of 49 U.S.C. § 5329.
Section 33. Motor Carrier Safety.
(a)

(b)

Financial Responsibility. The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that its Third
Party Participants will comply with the economic and insurance registration
requirements of the:
(1)

U.S. Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (U.S. FMCSA)
regulations, “Minimum Levels of Financial Responsibility for Motor
Carriers,” 49 CFR Part 387, if it is engaged in operations requiring
compliance with 49 CFR Part 387, it is engaged in interstate commerce, and
it is not within a defined commercial zone; and

(2)

The provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 31138(e)(4), which supersede inconsistent
provisions of 49 CFR Part 387, and reduce the amount of insurance the
Recipient must obtain to the highest amount required by any state in which
the public transportation provider operates, if it operates within a public
transportation service area located in more than one state, and receives
federal assistance under 49 U.S.C. §§ 5307, 5310, and 5311.

U.S. FMCSA Requirements. The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that its
Third Party Participants will comply with:
(1)

The safety requirements of U.S. FMCSA regulations, “Federal Motor Carrier
Safety Regulations,” 49 CFR Parts 390 – 397, to the extent applicable; and

(2)

The driver’s license requirements of U.S. FMCSA regulations, “Commercial
Driver’s License Standards, Requirements, and Penalties,” 49 CFR Part 383,
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and “State Compliance with Commercial Driver's License,” 49 CFR Part
384, to the extent applicable, with the substance abuse requirements and
guidance of U.S. FMCSA’s regulations, “Controlled Substances and Alcohol
Use and Testing,” 49 CFR Part 382, and implementing federal guidance, to
the extent applicable.
Section 34. Safe Operation of Motor Vehicles.
(a)

(b)

Seat Belt Use. The Recipient agrees to implement Executive Order No. 13043,
“Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States,” April 16, 1997, 23 U.S.C. § 402
note, (62 Fed. Reg. 19217), by:
(1)

Adopting and promoting on-the-job seat belt use policies and programs for its
employees and other personnel that operate company-owned vehicles,
company-rented vehicles, or personally operated vehicles; and

(2)

Including a “Seat Belt Use” provision in each third party agreement related to
the Award.

Distracted Driving, Including Text Messaging While Driving. The Recipient agrees
to comply with:
(1)

Executive Order No. 13513, “Federal Leadership on Reducing Text
Messaging While Driving,” October 1, 2009, 23 U.S.C. § 402 note, (74 Fed.
Reg. 51225);

(2)

U.S. DOT Order 3902.10, “Text Messaging While Driving,” December 30,
2009; and

(3)

The following U.S. DOT Special Provision pertaining to Distracted Driving:
(i)

Safety. The Recipient agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety
policies to decrease crashes caused by distracted drivers, including
policies to ban text messaging while using an electronic device
supplied by an employer, and driving a vehicle the driver owns or
rents, a vehicle Recipient owns, leases, or rents, or a privately-owned
vehicle when on official business in connection with the Award, or
when performing any work for or on behalf of the Award;

(ii)

Recipient Size. The Recipient agrees to conduct workplace safety
initiatives in a manner commensurate with its size, such as
establishing new rules and programs to prohibit text messaging while
driving, re-evaluating the existing programs to prohibit text
messaging while driving, and providing education, awareness, and
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other outreach to employees about the safety risks associated with
texting while driving; and
(iii)

Extension of Provision. The Recipient agrees to include the preceding
Special Provision of section 34(b)(3)(i) – (ii) of this Master
Agreement in its third party agreements, and encourage its Third
Party Participants to comply with this Special Provision, and include
this Special Provision in each third party subagreement at each tier
supported with federal assistance.

Section 35. Substance Abuse.
(a)

(b)

Drug-Free Workplace. The Recipient agrees to:
(1)

Comply with the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, as amended, 41 U.S.C.
§ 8103, et seq.;

(2)

Comply with U.S. DOT regulations, “Governmentwide Requirements for
Drug-Free Workplace (Financial Assistance),” 49 CFR Part 32; and

(3)

Follow and facilitate compliance with U.S. OMB regulatory guidance,
“Governmentwide Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace (Financial
Assistance),” 2 CFR Part 182, particularly where the U.S. OMB regulatory
guidance supersedes comparable provisions of 49 CFR Part 32.

Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use.
(1)

(2)

Requirements. The Recipient agrees to comply and assures that its Third
Party Participants will comply with:
(i)

Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5331;

(ii)

FTA regulations, “Prevention of Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug
Use in Transit Operations,” 49 CFR Part 655; and

(iii)

Applicable provisions of U.S. DOT regulations, “Procedures for
Transportation Workplace Drug and Alcohol Testing Programs,”
49 CFR Part 40.

Remedies for Non-Compliance. The Recipient agrees that if FTA determines
that the Recipient or a Third Party Participant receiving federal assistance
under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 is not in compliance with 49 CFR Part 655, the
Federal Transit Administrator may bar that Recipient or Third Party
Participant from receiving all or a portion of the federal transit assistance for
public transportation it would otherwise receive.
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Section 36. Protection of Sensitive Security and Other Sensitive Information.
The Recipient agrees to comply with the following requirements for the protection of sensitive
security information:
(a)

The Homeland Security Act, as amended, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 40119(b), and
U.S. DOT regulations, “Protection of Sensitive Security Information,” 49 CFR
Part 15;

(b)

The Aviation and Transportation Security Act, as amended, 49 U.S.C. § 114(r), and
U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Transportation Security Administration
regulations, “Protection of Sensitive Security Information,” 49 CFR Part 1520;

(c)

U.S. DOT Common Rules, which require the Recipient to implement, and to require
its Subrecipients, if any, to implement reasonable measures to safeguard protected
personally identifiable information as well as any information that the FTA or passthrough entity designates as sensitive; and

(d)

National Archives and Records Administration regulations, “Controlled Unclassified
Information,” 32 CFR Part 2002.

Section 37. Special Notification Requirements for States.
(a)

(b)

Types of Information. To the extent required under federal law, the State, as the
Recipient, agrees to provide the following information about federal assistance
awarded for its State Program, Project, or related activities:
(1)

The Identification of FTA as the federal agency providing the federal
assistance for a State Program or Project;

(2)

The Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number of the program from
which the federal assistance for a State Program or Project is authorized; and

(3)

The amount of federal assistance FTA has provided for a State Program or
Project.

Documents. The State agrees to provide the information required under this
provision in the following documents: (1) applications for federal assistance, (2)
requests for proposals or solicitations, (3) forms, (4) notifications, (5) press releases,
and (6) other publications.
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Section 38. Freedom of Information.
(a)

Applicability. The Recipient agrees that the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA),
5 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, applies to most information submitted to FTA and U.S.
DOT, whether electronically or in typewritten hard copy.

(b)

Records. The Recipient agrees that all applications and materials it submits to FTA
that are related to its Award have or will become federal agency records, and are or
will be subject to FOIA and to public release through individual FOIA requests,
unless FTA determines that a valid exemption under FOIA or another statute applies.

(c)

Confidentiality. President Obama’s “Memorandum for the Heads of Executive
Departments and Agencies on the Freedom of Information Act,” dated January 21,
2009, directs federal agencies to adopt a presumption that information should
generally be disclosed when requested, and therefore the Recipient agrees that:
(1)

Unless a federal law or regulation requires that a document or other
information be withheld, FTA does not consent to withhold information,
irrespective of its format, merely because it is accompanied by a “routine”
confidentiality statement that may appear on:
(i)

Information about the Award, the accompanying Underlying
Agreement, and any Amendments thereto;

(ii)

Information accompanying or supplementing the Award, the
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto;
or

(iii)

Any other information FTA may obtain.

(2)

As provided in federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, FTA
will review the information and documents that are the subject of each FOIA
request to determine the extent to which FTA must or should exercise its
discretion to withhold that information or those documents.

(3)

Any genuinely confidential, privileged, or sensitive security information will
be marked clearly and specifically as confidential or privileged, and justified
as confidential or privileged under FOIA standards. The Recipient will mark
all sensitive security information (SSI), as defined by 49 C.F.R. § 15.5, as set
forth in 49 C.F.R. § 1520.13. The Recipient will not mark non-SSI material
as SSI. Also refer to Section 36 of this Agreement, regarding the protection
of SSI and other sensitive information.
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Section 39. Disputes, Breaches, Defaults, and Litigation.
(a)

FTA Interest. FTA has a vested interest in the settlement of any violation of federal
law, regulation, or requirement, or any disagreement involving the Award, the
accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto including, but
not limited to, a default, breach, major dispute, or litigation, and FTA reserves the
right to concur in any settlement or compromise.

(b)

Notification to FTA; Flow Down Requirement. If a current or prospective legal
matter that may affect the Federal Government emerges, the Recipient must
promptly notify the FTA Chief Counsel and FTA Regional Counsel for the Region
in which the Recipient is located. The Recipient must include a similar notification
requirement in its Third Party Agreements and must require each Third Party
Participant to include an equivalent provision in its subagreements at every tier, for
any agreement that is a “covered transaction” according to 2 C.F.R. §§ 180.220 and
1200.220.
(1)

The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited
to, a major dispute, breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal
Government as a party to litigation or a legal disagreement in any forum for
any reason.

(2)

Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited
to, the Federal Government’s interests in the Award, the accompanying
Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, or the Federal
Government’s administration or enforcement of federal laws, regulations,
and requirements.

(3)

Additional Notice to U.S. DOT Inspector General. The Recipient must
promptly notify the U.S. DOT Inspector General in addition to the FTA
Chief Counsel or Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is
located, if the Recipient has knowledge of potential fraud, waste, or abuse
occurring on a Project receiving assistance from FTA. The notification
provision applies if a person has or may have submitted a false claim under
the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, et seq., or has or may have
committed a criminal or civil violation of law pertaining to such matters as
fraud, conflict of interest, bid rigging, misappropriation or embezzlement,
bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving federal assistance. This
responsibility occurs whether the Project is subject to this Agreement or
another agreement between the Recipient and FTA, or an agreement
involving a principal, officer, employee, agent, or Third Party Participant of
the Recipient. It also applies to subcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, as
used in this paragraph, includes, but is not limited to, knowledge of a
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criminal or civil investigation by a Federal, state, or local law enforcement or
other investigative agency, a criminal indictment or civil complaint, or
probable cause that could support a criminal indictment, or any other credible
information in the possession of the Recipient. In this paragraph, “promptly”
means to refer information without delay and without change. This
notification provision applies to all divisions of the Recipient, including
divisions tasked with law enforcement or investigatory functions.
(c)

Federal Interest in Recovery. The Federal Government retains the right to a
proportionate share of any proceeds recovered from any third party, based on the
percentage of the federal share for the Underlying Agreement. Notwithstanding the
preceding sentence, the Recipient may return all liquidated damages it receives to its
Award Budget for its Underlying Agreement rather than return the federal share of
those liquidated damages to the Federal Government, provided that the Recipient
receives FTA’s prior written concurrence.

(d)

Enforcement. The Recipient must pursue its legal rights and remedies available
under any third party agreement or any federal, state, or local law or regulation.

Section 40. Amendments to the Underlying Agreement.
(a)

(b)

When Required. An Amendment to the Underlying Agreement is required under the
following circumstances:
(1)

A change in the scope of work or an addition of federal assistance to an
existing Award (regardless of whether the source of assistance is the same or
different);

(2)

A change to the scope of work that necessitates a change in the distribution
of federal assistance across scope codes or activities; or

(3)

The Award includes multiple sources of financial assistance and the action
requires the addition of a new Scope to a Project.

Process. An amendment to the Underlying Agreement must be submitted and
approved in TrAMS, and must meet the same application requirements as would
apply to a request for a new Award.

Section 41. FTA’s Transit Award Management System (TrAMS).
The Recipient agrees to submit its application for an Award, reports, documents, or other
information required by federal law, regulations, or requirements, through FTA’s Transit Award
Management System (TrAMS). To submit its application, reports, documents, or information
required to FTA, any signature submitted for use in TrAMS must comply with the requirements
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of the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act (E-Sign Act), 15 U.S.C.
§§ 7001, et seq.
Section 42. Information Obtained through Internet Links.
Although this Master Agreement may include electronic links to federal laws, regulations,
requirements, and guidance, FTA does not guarantee the accuracy of the information that may
accessed through such links. Accordingly, the Recipient understands and agrees that any
information obtained through any electronic link within this Master Agreement does not
represent an official version of a federal law, regulation, or requirement, and might be inaccurate.
Therefore, any information that is obtained through such links is neither incorporated by
reference nor made part of this Master Agreement. The Federal Register and the Code of Federal
Regulations are the official sources for regulatory information pertaining to the Federal
Government.
Section 43. Severability.
The Recipient agrees that if any provision of the Underlying Agreement or any Amendment
thereto is determined to be invalid, then the remaining provisions thereof that conform to federal
laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance will continue in effect.
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SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR SPECIFIC PROGRAMS
Section 44. Special Provisions for All Public Transportation Innovation, Technical
Assistance or Workforce Development Programs.
(a)

(b)

Applicability. The Recipient understands and agrees that this section of the Master
Agreement applies to the following programs to which FTA provides federal
assistance, including the following programs:
(1)

Programs authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5312, irrespective of the fiscal year
for which the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement were
authorized;

(2)

Programs authorized under former 49 U.S.C. § 5313, irrespective of the fiscal
year for which the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement
were authorized;

(3)

Programs authorized under 49 U.S.C. § 5314, irrespective of the fiscal year
for which the appropriations that supported the Underlying Agreement were
authorized;

(4)

Programs authorized by the repealed section 3045 of SAFETEA-LU;

(5)

Programs authorized by the repealed section 3046 of SAFETEA-LU; and

(6)

Other similar Programs for which FTA awards federal assistance under
49 U.S.C. §§ 5312 or 5314, as amended, or other similar research-type or
technical assistance authorizing legislation.

Provisions for Underlying Agreements for Public Transportation Innovation or
Technical Assistance and Workforce Development Awards. The Recipient agrees
that the following provisions will apply to the Underlying Agreement for a Public
Transportation Innovation or Technical Assistance and Workforce Development
Project or related activities:
(1)

Report. The Recipient agrees that in addition to any other Report FTA may
require, the Recipient will prepare and submit to FTA a Report of each
Project and related activities that describes the subject (or subjects)
investigated, the methods used, the results, and the conclusions reached, is
satisfactory, sufficiently organized, well-written, and comprehensive.

(2)

Disclaimer. The Report must contain the following disclaimer: “This
document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the United States
Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration, in the interest
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of information exchange. The United States government assumes no liability
for the contents or use thereof. The United States government does not
endorse products or manufacturers. Trade or manufacturers’ names appear
herein solely because they are considered essential to the contents of the
report.”
(3)

Format. The Report must comply with the accessibility requirements of
Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794d,
and U.S. ATBCB regulations, “Electronic and Information Technology
Accessibility Standards,” 36 CFR Part 1194, and the specific publication
elements and report style guide at
http://www.fta.dot.gov/research/program_requirements. The Report must
identify clearly and precisely any specific information or data that is
confidential, privileged, or proprietary and is contained within any report or
document.

(4)

Publication. Except for confidential, privileged, or proprietary information in
the Report, FTA may publish the Report, and make it available for
publication on the Internet or in any other venue.

(5)

Identification of Federal Assistance. The Recipient agrees that:
(i)

It will display information on any product developed with federal
assistance for 49 U.S.C. § 5312 for which the U.S. Department of
Transportation, Federal Transit Administration provided federal
assistance to support the development of the product that is tangible
and is produced from, or is a result of, a Project, is a deliverable, and
visible to the public, or is or will be made available to other research
organizations, or public transportation providers, and consists of
equipment, a prototype, hardware, construction, reports, data,
software, internet pages, or any similar item.

(ii)

The information required will be given using an appropriate sign,
designation, or notice.

(c)

Special Disposition Provision. In addition to other disposition provisions, FTA may
vest title in tangible personal property used in the conduct of basic or applied
scientific research in a nonprofit institution of higher education or in a nonprofit
organization whose primary purpose is conducting scientific research, provided the
requirements of 31 U.S.C. § 6306 are met.

(d)

Protection of Human Subjects. The Recipient agrees to comply with the protections
for human subjects involved in a Project or related activities supported with federal
assistance through the Underlying Agreement, as required by the National Research
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Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 289, et seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, “Protection of
Human Subjects,” 49 CFR Part 11.
(e)

Protection of Animals. The Recipient agrees to comply with the protections for
animals involved in a Project or related activities, as required by the Animal Welfare
Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 2131, et seq., and U.S. Department of Agriculture
regulations, “Animal Welfare,” 9 CFR Parts 1, 2, 3, and 4.

(f)

Export Control. The Recipient understands and agrees that before exporting any
information that is subject to federal export requirements, it must first obtain the
necessary federal license(s), and comply with the federal export control regulations
of the U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Industry and Security, “Export
Administration Regulations,” specifically, 15 CFR Parts 730, et seq., U.S.
Department of State, U.S. Department of the Treasury, and U.S. Department of
Defense.

Section 45. Special Provisions for the State Safety Oversight Grant Program.
In administering any State Safety Oversight Grant Program Award under 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e)(6),
the Recipient agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5329(e)(6).
Section 46. Special Provisions for the State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Program.
(a)

Federal Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance. The State, as the
Recipient, agrees to administer its Underlying Agreement to support its SIB
consistent with federal laws, regulations, requirements, and guidance, including, but
not limited to:
(1)

Title 23, U.S.C. (Highways), specifically 23 U.S.C. § 610, to the extent
required under the FAST Act, and other applicable federal legislation;

(2)

Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(o), which requires
compliance with 49 U.S.C. §§ 5307, 5309, and 5337 for Underlying
Agreements to which MAP-21 and the FAST Act apply;

(3)

Section 350 of the National Highway System Designation Act of 1995, as
amended, (NHS Act), 23 U.S.C. § 101 note, to the extent this section has not
been superseded by 23 U.S.C. § 610;

(4)

Any federal law enacted or federal regulation or requirements promulgated at
a later date applicable to the Underlying Agreement;

(5)

All other applicable federal guidance that may be issued;
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(b)

(6)

The terms and conditions of any U.S. DOL certification(s) of employee
protective arrangements;

(7)

The SIB Cooperative Agreement establishing the SIB in the state, signed by
the Executive Director of the Build America Bureau, the Federal Transit
Administrator, authorized state official(s) or their authorized designees, and
if applicable, the administrator (or designee) for any other federal modal
agency that the State wishes to include in its SIB; and

(8)

The FTA Grant Agreement providing federal assistance for the Underlying
Agreement in support of its SIB, except that any provision of this Master
Agreement that would otherwise apply to a SIB Project does not apply to the
Underlying Agreement if it conflicts with any other federal law or regulation
applicable to a SIB, federal SIB Guidelines, the SIB Cooperative Agreement,
or the Underlying Agreement, but the conflicting provision of this Master
Agreement will prevail, however, if FTA expressly determines so in writing.

Limitations on Accessing Federal Assistance in the Transit Account. The Recipient
understands that the total amount of federal assistance awarded under the Grant
Agreement to be supported with SIB deposits may not be available for immediate
withdrawal. The State and the Recipient agree to restrict the amount of federal
assistance it withdraws from its SIB to an amount not exceeding the limits specified
in its Grant Agreement in support of the SIB or the Award Budget for that Grant
Agreement.

Section 47. Special Provisions for the TIFIA and RRIF Programs.
(a)

Federal Laws, Regulations, Requirements, and Guidance. The Recipient agrees to
administer any Underlying Agreement for TIFIA or RRIF credit assistance as
required by and in accordance with the terms of the Underlying Agreement.

(b)

Default. The Recipient agrees that FTA may declare the Recipient in violation of this
Master Agreement if there has been an Event of Default according to an Underlying
Agreement for TIFIA or RRIF assistance, and that Event of Default is not cured
within 90 days.

(c)

Order of Precedence. Any provision of this Master Agreement that is applicable to
the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement for TIFIA or RRIF assistance but that
conflicts with the laws, regulations, and requirements applicable to the Recipient’s
Underlying Agreement for TIFIA or RRIF assistance, will not apply to the
Recipient’s TIFIA or RRIF Loan, Loan Guarantee, Line of Credit, or Master Credit
Agreement, unless FTA determines otherwise in writing.
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Section 48. Special Provisions for the Joint FTA–FRA Program.
(a)

General Legal Requirements. When both FTA and the U.S. Federal Railroad
Administration (FRA) make federal assistance available for the same Underlying
Agreement, the Recipient understands and agrees to administer the Underlying
Agreement to achieve maximum compliance with FTA’s statutory and regulatory
requirements, FRA’s statutory and regulatory requirements, and other federal
statutory requirements.

(b)

Disadvantaged Business Enterprises.

(c)

(1)

The Recipient acknowledges and understands that the statutory and
regulatory provisions relating to disadvantaged business enterprises (DBE)
differ significantly between FTA and FRA, including Section 1101(b) of the
FAST Act (23 U.S.C. § 101 note) and U.S. DOT regulations, “Participation
by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in Department of Transportation
Financial Assistance Programs,” 49 CFR Part 26, both of which apply to
FTA, but not to FRA.

(2)

FRA is not authorized to use FTA’s DBE regulations, and consequently the
Recipient agrees to comply with the statutory and regulatory DBE provisions
that apply to federal assistance provided by FTA when using that federal
assistance for purchases.

(3)

The Recipient agrees to use the “contracting with small and minority firms,
women's business enterprise” provisions of the applicable U.S. DOT
Common Rules.

Buy America. The Recipient agrees that statutory and regulatory Buy America
provisions that apply to federal assistance authorized for FTA differ from those that
apply to federal assistance authorized for FRA. Therefore, the Recipient agrees that:
(1)

It must comply with FTA’s statutory and regulatory Buy America provisions
to the extent that the purchases are for a Project or related activities that
implement the Underlying Agreement;

(2)

It must comply with FRA’s statutory and regulatory Buy America provisions,
section 301(a) of the Passenger Rail Investment and Improvement Act of
2008 (PRIIA), Pub L. 110-432, October 16, 2008, and 49 U.S.C. § 24405(a),
to the extent that the purchases are required to comply with FRA Buy
America requirements; and
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(3)

If it uses federal assistance authorized for FTA and for FRA to finance a
purchase, the Recipient agrees to comply with both FTA’s and FRA’s
requirements.

(d)

Force Account – Procurement. The Recipient agrees that FTA deems section 16(j) of
this Master Agreement to be satisfied for work that is performed by the railroad’s
force account employees if a Project or related activities are being conducted on the
property of a railroad, and under the railroad’s collective bargaining agreements with
its employees, certain work to be performed for the Recipient must be performed by
force account employees.

(e)

Procurement of Rolling Stock. The Recipient agrees that if FRA requires the
Recipient to acquire any rolling stock for the Underlying Agreement from the Next
Generation Corridor Equipment Pool Committee that has been established under
section 305 of PRIIA, FTA deems section 15 of this Master Agreement to be
satisfied.

(f)

Use of Real Property, Equipment, and Supplies. The Recipient agrees that
application of section 19 of this Master Agreement is reserved.

(g)

Davis-Bacon. The Recipient agrees that, as provided in 49 U.S.C. § 24312, wages
paid to railroad employees at rates provided in a collective bargaining agreement
negotiated under the Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C. § 151, et seq., are deemed to
comply with the requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act, 40 U.S.C. § 3141, et seq., and
satisfy section 24 of this Master Agreement.

(h)

Employee Protective Arrangements. The Recipient agrees to pass down to a railroad
employee subject to the Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C. § 151, et seq., protective
arrangements as provided in a special Attachment to FTA’s Grant Agreement or
Cooperative Agreement with the Recipient, and not pass down employee protective
arrangements as provided in section 24 of this Master Agreement.

(i)

Motor Carrier Safety. The Recipient agrees that railroad signal employees and their
employers must comply with the hours of service requirements of 49 U.S.C.
§ 21104, see 49 U.S.C. § 21104(e), and FRA’s hours of service regulation,
specifically 49 CFR Part 228, and that section 33 of this Master Agreement does not
apply to railroad signal employees concerning hours of service.

(j)

Railroad Safety. The Recipient agrees that a railroad subject to FRA’s safety
jurisdiction must comply with the federal railroad safety laws.
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SPECIAL PROVISION FOR PROMOTING COVID-19 SAFETY
Section 49. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Order on Requirements for
Persons to Wear Masks While on Conveyances and at Transportation Hubs.
(a)

Compliance with CDC Mask Order. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
(“CDC”) Order of January 29, 2021, titled Requirement for Persons to Wear Masks
While on Conveyances and at Transportation Hubs (“CDC Mask Order”), is within
the meaning of “Federal Requirement” as that term is defined in this Master
Agreement. One of the objectives of the CDC Mask Order is “[m]aintaining a safe
and operating transportation system.” The Recipient agrees that it will comply, and
will require all Third-Party Participants to comply, with the CDC Mask Order.

(b)

Enforcement for non-compliance. The Recipient agrees that FTA may take
enforcement action for non-compliance with the CDC Mask Order, including:
(1)

Enforcement actions authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5329(g);

(2)

Referring the Recipient to the CDC or other Federal authority for
enforcement action;

(3)

Enforcement actions authorized by 2 CFR §§ 200.339 – .340; and

(4)

Any other enforcement action authorized by Federal law or regulation.

103

APPENDIX A
TRIBAL TRANSIT PROGRAM—APPLICABLE PROVISIONS
FTA recognizes that several provisions of this Master Agreement generally applicable to other
programs do not apply to the Tribal Transit Programs or the Indian Tribes that are the Direct
Recipients of federal assistance under those Programs. The following sections of this Master
Agreement are not applicable to the Tribal Transit Programs:
Section 14(a)(1) and 14(b) – Private Enterprise
Section 22(e) – Relocation and Real Property
Section 27 – State Management and Monitoring Systems
Section 30 – Geographic Information and Related Spatial Data
Section 37 – Special Notification Requirement for States
However, this list is not intended to be comprehensive and FTA may determine that other
provisions are not applicable depending upon the Underlying Agreement for the Tribal Transit.
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Date:
Agreement No.:
Authorization No.:
Job No.:
Agenda:

December 2, 2021
2022-0005
P1
213639NI
MA

PROJECT AUTHORIZATION
CITY OF ALMA
FY 2022 SECTION 5311 OPERATING
CORONAVIRUS RESPONSE AND RELIEF
SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS ACT
This information is required by the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) in order to
record agreement of utilization of funds provided by the Federal Transit Administration, United
States Department of Transportation and MDOT. The funds shall be used by the AGENCY in
accordance with the above referenced Master Agreement.
Authorization Effective Date: October 1, 2021
Authorization Expiration Date: September 30, 2022
Fiscal Year of Effective Contract Clauses: 2022
The Federal grant associated with the PROJECT AUTHORIZATION is Permanent No.
MI-2021-023-00.
Award Year: 2022
The Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number for the Federal Transit Administration
Formula Grants for Rural Areas Program, Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental
Appropriations Act is 20.509.
Payments to the AGENCY under this PROJECT AUTHORIZATION will be based on 40% of the
estimated eligible costs. The maximum amount to be paid will not exceed the amount in the
authorization.
In accordance with Section 10 of the Master Agreement, the dollar amount for third party contracts
as identified in COMMISSION policy is $25,000. All agencies who are not self-certified must
submit third party contracts over $25,000 to MDOT for approval. Please refer to Section 10 of
the Master Agreement for competitive bidding requirements.
The AGENCY will be financially and legally responsible for the terms and conditions of the Special
Section 5333(b) labor warranty as agreed to in your annual application. The Special Section
5333(b) warranty can be found at: https://www.dol.gov/olms/regs/compliance/compltransit.htm.
The AGENCY agrees to prepare and submit to MDOT quarterly operating assistance reports via
the Public Transportation Management System (PTMS). Instructions on preparing the report are
available in the "Local Public Transit Revenue and Expense Manual" (October 1, 2021, through
September 30, 2022). The manual is available on the web at www.michigan.gov/mdotptd by
locating the resources box on the home page and opening the item listed "Audit/Accounting
Information."
S:\PASS\Common\Section 5311\MI-2021-023-00 FY22 CRRSAA\Authorizations.docx

City of Alma
Agreement No.: 2022-0005
Authorization No.: P1
Job No.: 213639NI
Page: 2 of 2

Funding source:
TW3354521/3120

PRF No.: 2022-166
$514,951 (F)

CITY OF ALMA

_______________________________________________
Signature

MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

_______________________________________________
Title: Department Director
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PART 201 CONSENT TO ENTER PRIVATE PROPERTY FORM
Property Owner or Authorized Representative Information
Name of Individual Signing this
☐ Signer is an owner of the property
Document:
☒ Signer is an authorized representative of the
Greg Mapes
Title:
Mayor

owner.
Business Name:
City of Alma

Mailing Address:
525 E. Superior Street
City:
Alma
Telephone Number:
989-463-8336

State:
Michigan

Zip:
48801

Email:
aripley@myalma.org

Location Information (fill in known information)
Location Name (if applicable):
West Hoffman Road Properties

Location ID (if applicable):
N/A

Property Owner Name:
City of Alma

Assessor’s Property Tax ID Number:
See Attachment A

Street Address of the Location:
See Attachment A
City:
Alma

State:
Michigan

Zip:
48801

Other:
N/A

I, Greg Mapes representative authorized by the owner to grant access to) the property
described in Attachment A (Property), having been informed of the request by the
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (Department or EGLE)
to conduct response activities on the Property, hereby voluntarily permit and authorize
the Department, its employees, contractors, or authorized representatives to enter, and
if necessary re-enter, the Property to undertake response activities, including but not
limited to conducting inspections, installing soil borings, collecting wastewater, soil,
groundwater, surface water, air and/or suspected regulated substance samples. This
authorization permits photography, videography and data collection from ground level
and/or by a small unmanned aerial vehicle.
I understand that the Department has the authority pursuant to Section 20117 of
Part 201, Environmental Remediation, of the Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, as amended (NREPA), to enter public or private property
at all reasonable times for purposes that include, but are not limited to, investigating the
existence, origin, nature, or extent of a release or threatened release of a hazardous
substance into the environment.

The due care provisions in Section 20107a(1) of the NREPA, in part provide that a
person who owns or operates Property that he or she has knowledge is a facility shall
provide reasonable cooperation, assistance, and access to the persons that are
authorized to conduct response activities at the facility, including the cooperation and
access necessary for the installation, integrity, operation, and maintenance of any
complete or partial response activity at the facility. I understand that the access granted
herein covers a portion of the due care obligations that I, as an owner (or representative
authorized by the owner to act on his or her behalf for this access) have pursuant to
Section 20107a(1) of the NREPA.
I understand that I am entitled to accompany the Department, its employees,
contractors, or authorized representatives during these activities; to participate in the
collection of any split samples taken as part of these activities; and, if I so request, to
receive a copy of any sample analysis results, photographs, or video taken as part of
these activities.
I agree and understand that all information collected by the Department is subject to
disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act, 1976 PA 442, MCL 15.231 to 15.246.
I agree to comply with the requirements of any Department health and safety plan while
on the Property during these sampling activities.
I agree that the duration of this entry authorization shall be of such reasonable length to
enable the Department, its employees, contractors, or authorized representatives to
satisfactorily complete the activities described above. If I choose to revoke this entry
authorization, I agree that I will provide a revocation of entry in writing to Ms. Janet
Michaluk, Brownfield Coordinator, Brownfield Assessment and Redevelopment Section,
Remediation and Redevelopment Division, EGLE, via email: michalukj@michigan.gov
or mail: 5th Floor, Constitution Hall, 525 West Allegan Street, Michigan 48933, at least
thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the revocation of entry authorization. I
agree that the duration of this entry authorization shall continue until either I revoke it, or
the activities described above are completed. I also agree that as long as this entry
authorization remains in force, I will not interfere with, interrupt, change, or otherwise
disturb any systems or equipment installed or utilized by the Department, its employees,
contractors, or authorized representatives.
Upon completion of the response activities performed pursuant to this Part 201 Consent
to Enter Private Property Form, the Department will undertake reasonable efforts to
restore the Property to the conditions that existed at the time this access was granted
including any property, vegetation, and structures damaged by the Department. The
Department will properly abandon any monitor wells installed by the Department or its
contactors on the Property within a reasonable time following completion of the other
response activities to be performed. I understand that the Department contractors are
required through their contract with the State of Michigan to carry certain insurance
coverages with respect to their activities.

1

This voluntary written permission is granted to the Department by:
_______________________________________________
Signature of Property Owner or Authorized Representative
City of Alma

2

____________________
Date

Attachment A
Legal Description, Address & Parcel ID of the Property
(6524 N. Jerome Road, Alma Michigan 48801 – Parcel Number: 12-036-011-00)

WD L 552 P 138 COM AT W 1/4 POST, TH N 932.5 FT, E 983.85 FT TO RR ROW, TH SW'LY ALG
SD ROW TO CENTERLINE OF SEC, TH W 217.5 FT TO BEG EX COM 832.50 FT N OF W 1/4 COR,
TH E 275 FT, N 100 FT, W 275 FT, S 100 FT TO POB, SEC 36-12-3.

(W. Hoffman (000) Road, St. Louis Michigan 48880 – Parcel Number: 12-036-008-50)

WD L 587 P 228 PA 116 L 481 P 212 CONTRACT NO 29-39999-123133 W 30 A OF S 1/2 OF NE
1/4 LYING S & W OF US 27 ROW, & ALL OF S 1/2 OF NW 1/4 S OF RR EX BEG 2769.06 FT E OF
W 1/4 COR OF SEC, TH N 1 DEG 30' E 308.35 FT TO A PT ON SW'LY ROW LINE OF US 27, TH
ALG SD ROW S 51 DEG 25' 18" E 137.11 FT, & S 88 DEG 28' 52" E 25.39 FT & S 51 DEG 25' 18" E
360.06 FT TO A PT ON E & W 1/4 LINE, TH W ALG SD 1/4 LINE TO POB, SEC 36-12-3.

(W. Hoffman Road (000), Alma Michigan 48801 – Parcel Number: 12-036-008-10)

DEED L 464 P 698 BEG ON E & W 1/4 LINE 2769.06 FT E OF W 1/4 COR OF SEC, TH N 1 DEG 30'
00" E 308.35 FT TO A PT ON SW'LY ROW LINE OF US 27, TH ALG SD ROW S 51 DEG 25' 18" E
137.11 FT & S 88 DEG 28' 52" E 25.39 FT & S 51 DEG 25' 18" E 360.06 FT TO A PT ON E & W 1/4
LINE, TH W ALG SD 1/4 LINE TO POB SEC 36-12-3.

(N. Jerome (6000) Road, Alma Michigan 48801 – Parcel Number: 12-036-015-00)
WD L 468 P 454 NW 1/4 OF SW 1/4 EX RR SEC 36-12-3. 39.05 A.

(W. Hoffman Road (000), Alma Michigan 48801 – Parcel Number: 12-036-020-00)

WD L 587 P 228 PA 116 L 794 P 803 CONTRACT NO 29-39998-123133 NE 1/4 OF SW 1/4 EX
BEG 1627.73 FT E OF W 1/4 COR OF SEC, TH S 285 FT, E 220 FT N 285 FT, W 220 FT TO POB &
SUBJECT TO AN EASEMENT RECORDED IN LIBER 527 OF PAGE 623, SEC 36-12-3.

(675 W. Hoffman Road, Alma Michigan 48801 – Parcel Number: 12-036-020-10)

WD L 476 P 1198 COM 1627.73 FT E OF W 1/4 COR OF SEC, TH S 285 FT, E 220 FT, N 285 FT, W
220 FT TO POB TOGETHER WITH AN EASEMENT RECORDED IN LIBER 527 OF PAGE 623, SEC
36-12-3.

(W. Hoffman Road (000), Alma Michigan 48801 – Parcel Number: 12-036-030-00)

WD L 587 P 228 PA 116 L 481 P 212 CONTRACT NO 29-39999-123133 W 30 A OF N 1/2 OF SE
1/4 EX ALL THAT PART WHICH LIES NE'LY OF A SW'LY ROW LINE OF HWY US 27, & EX BEG ON
E & W 1/4 LINE AT A PT 2769.06 FT E OF W 1/4 COR OF SEC, TH S 1 DEG 30' 00" W 42 FT, E
139.12 FT, S 1 DEG 30' 00" W 142 FT, TH S 83 DEG 20' 00" E 155 FT, N 1 DEG 30' 00" E 82 FT, N
71 DEG 34' 00" E 190.32 FT, TH N 51 DEG 25' 18" W 93.46 FT ALG US 27 ROW TO E & W 1/4
LINE, TH W ALG E & W 1/4 LINE TO POB, SEC 36-12-3.

(465 W. Hoffman Road, Alma Michigan 48801 – Parcel Number: 12-036-030-10)

DEED L 464 P 698 BEG ON E & W 1/4 LINE AT A PT 2769.06 FT E OF W 1/4 COR OF SEC TH S 1
DEG 30' 00" W 42 FT, E 139.12 FT, S 1 DEG 30' 00" W 142 FT, TH S 83 DEG 20' 00" E 155 FT, N 1
DEG 30' 00" E 82 FT, N 71 DEG 34' 00" E 190.32 FT, N 51 DEG 25' 18" W 93.46 FT ALG US 27
ROW TO E & W 1/4 LINE, TH W ALG E & W 1/4 LINE TO POB, SEC 36-12-3.

Monthly Commission Report
December 2021

Noteworthy Cases
12-1-21: Officers took a report of a juvenile domestic assault. The report has been sent to the
Prosecutor for possible charges.
12-1-21: A report of a disorderly subject was taken by officers. The report has been sent to the
Prosecutor for potential criminal charges.
12-1-21: A criminal sexual conduct report was taken by officers. The report was sent to the
prosecutor for review.
12-2-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of the driver for operating while intoxicated, possession
of open intoxicants and no security.
12-2-21: A juvenile domestic assault investigation was opened. The case has been sent to the
Prosecutor for review.
12-2-21: Officers responded to a call of a domestic assault. The investigation is ongoing.
12-3-21: A call of a possible breaking and entering complaint in progress, led to the arrest of a
subject for possession of methamphetamine.
12-4-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of the driver for driving without a valid license and a
passenger was cited for being a minor in possession of marijuana.
12-4-21: A traffics stop resulted in the driver being arrested for driving on a suspended license.
12-5-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of the driver for driving with the presence of a schedule
one drug. The subject was also cited for being a minor in possession of marijuana.
12-5-21: A complaint of an embezzlement was investigated. The complaint has been sent to the
Prosecutor for potential charges.
12-7-21: Officers responded to a call of a domestic assault. The investigation led to the report
being sent to the Prosecutor for potential criminal charges.
12-8-21: A traffic stop led to the driver being arrested for transporting open intoxicants.
12-9-21: A call of a domestic assault resulted in an arrest of a subject for a felonious domestic
assault.

12-9-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of a subject for a violation of a PPO, violation of a
conditional bond release, and no security.
12-10-21: A traffic stop resulted in an officer seeking charges on a subject for allowing a subject
to operate a vehicle with no insurance.
12-13-21: Officers responded to a call of a possible domestic assault. The case has been
submitted to the prosecutor for possible criminal charges.
12-14-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of a subject for operating without insurance.
12-14-21: A traffic accident led to a driver being arrested for no security.
12-17-21: Officers responded to a call of a domestic assault in progress where a subject was
bleeding. The investigation led to a report being sent to the Prosecutor for potential criminal
charges.
12-17-21: Officers responded to a call of an assault and malicious destruction of personal
property. A suspect was identified, and the report has been sent to the prosecutor for review.
12-17-21: A report of a domestic resulted in the arrest of a subject for domestic assault and
resisting and obstructing an officer.
12-18-21: A subject was arrested for retail fraud.
12-19-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of a subject for possessing a concealed pistol.
12-19-21: A call of a domestic assault led to the arrest of a subject for domestic.
12-21-21: Multiple calls for psychological issues led to a subject being taken for treatment and a
report being sent to the Prosecutor for possible misuse of 911 charges.
12-22-21: A call of a domestic assault in progress, led to the arrest of a subject for a domestic
assault.
12-22-21: A call of a domestic dispute, led to a subject being arrested for domestic assault.
12-24-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of the driver for operating without security. A warrant is
also being sought for possession of a controlled substance.
12-28-21: Officers responded to a call of a domestic assault. The investigation was completed,
and the report has been submitted for possible charges.
12-28-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of the driver for driving without a license and no
security.

12-30-21: A call of a domestic disturbance, led to the arrest of one subject for operating while
intoxicated and driving while license suspended. Another subject was arrested for domestic
assault.
12-31-21: Officers responded to a call of a domestic assault. The investigation led to the report
being submitted to the Prosecutor for potential charges.
12-31-21: A traffic stop led to the arrest of a subject for operating under the influence of drugs,
no security, possession of methamphetamine, and attempted resisting and obstructing an officer.

During the month of December, the Alma Police Department handled 307 calls for service.
1100-7 -- SEXUAL CONTACT FORCIBLE CSC2 Count: 1
1300-1 -- NONAGGRAVATED ASSAULT Count: 17
1300-2 -- AGGRAVATED/FELONIOUS ASSAULT Count: 2
2200-3 -- BURGLARY - UNLAWFUL ENTRY(NO INTENT Count: 1
2300-3 -- LARCENY - THEFT FROM BUILDING Count: 1
2300-5 -- LARCENY - THEFT FROM MOTOR VEHICLE Count: 1
2300-7 -- LARCENY - OTHER Count: 1
2400-1 -- MOTOR VEHICLE THEFT Count: 1
2600-1 -- FRAUD - FALSE PRETENSE/SWINDLE/CONF Count: 1
2600-3 -- FRAUD - IMPERSONATION Count: 1
2700-0 -- EMBEZZLEMENT Count: 1
2900-0 -- DAMAGE TO PROPERTY Count: 6
3000-2 -- RETAIL FRAUD - THEFT Count: 3
3500-1 -- VIOLATION OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE Count: 6
4100-2 -- LIQUOR VIOLATIONS - OTHER Count: 2
4800-0 -- OBSTRUCTING POLICE Count: 2
5000-0 -- OBSTRUCTING JUSTICE Count: 2
5200-1 -- WEAPONS OFFENSE - CONCEALED Count: 1
5200-3 -- WEAPONS OFFENSE - OTHER Count: 2
5300-1 -- DISORDERLY CONDUCT Count: 2
5400-1 -- HIT & RUN MOTOR VEHICLE ACCIDENT Count: 2
5400-2 -- OUIL OR OUID Count: 5
5400-3 -- DRIVING LAW VIOLATIONS Count: 12

5500-0 -- HEALTH AND SAFETY Count: 1
5700-1 -- TRESPASS Count: 1
7000-0 -- JUVENILE RUNAWAY Count: 1
7000-4 -- Juvenile Issues Count: 1
7300-0 -- MISCELLANEOUS CRIMINAL OFFENSE Count: 17
9200-5 -- CIVIL-ILLEGAL POSSESSION OF ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR Count: 1
9300-1 -- PROPERTY DAMAGE ACCIDENT/PI Count: 9
9300-2 -- ACCIDENT, NONTRAFFIC Count: 8
9400-2 -- FALSE ALARM ACTIVATION Count: 15
9800-2 -- MOTOR VEHICLE, VIN, SCHOOL BUS INSPECTIONS Count: 1
9800-5 -- UNFOUNDED ALARMS Count: 1
9800-6 -- CIVIL MATTER DISPUTES/FAMILY TROUBLE Count: 34
9800-7 -- SUSPICIOUS SITUATION (CARS, PERSONS,PACKAGES, ETC) Count: 7
9800-8 -- LOST & FOUND PROPERTY Count: 5
9900-1 -- SUICIDE (INCLUDES ATTEMPTS) Count: 5
9900-2 -- NATURAL DEATH Count: 2
9900-3 -- MISSING PERSONS Count: 1
9900-8 -- GENERAL ASSISTANCE (ESCORTS, SERVICE CALLS) Count: 63
9900-9 -- GENERAL NONCRIMINAL Count: 84

December 2021 Statistics:
Traffic Stops

November 2021
191

141

Moving Violations

22

11

Non-Moving Violations

29

21

Felony

4

3

Misdemeanor

29

24

City Ordinance

2

0

Accident Total:

17

19
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Yearly Comparison
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Our yearly training total includes hours logged as
monthly review of policy and procedures, training of
new officers and individual officers expanding their
knowledge base attending outside agency training
courses, completing inhouse training curriculum as
well as viewing training videos.
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Annual Building Permit Report
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PB21-001
PB20-097
PB21-002
PB20-096
PB21-003
PB21-004
PB21-007
PB21-006
PB21-005
PB21-009
PB21-008
PB21-010
PB21-011
PB21-013
PB21-012
PB21-016
PB21-015
PB21-014
PB21-020
PB21-021
PB21-019
PB21-022
PB21-017
PB21-025
PB21-026
PB21-023
PB21-028
PB21-029
PB21-018
PB21-032
PB21-027
PB21-024
PB21-033
PB21-034
PB21-035
PB21-036
PB21-031
PB21-038
PB21-037
PB21-030
PB21-044
PB21-046
PB21-045
PB21-047
PB21-043
PB21-048
PB21-040
PB21-041
PB21-042
PB21-049
PB21-050
PB21-051
PB21-052
PB21-053
PB21-054
PB21-055
PB21-056

1200 WRIGHT
803 W CENTER ST
217 E SUPERIOR ST
1325 WRIGHT AVE
1105 WILLOW RUN
605 N RIVER AVE
320 ALLEN AVE
215 E SUPERIOR
903 MICHIGAN AVE
300 WARWICK DR
300 WARWICK DR
402 ORCHARD ST
540 FAIRLANE
313 N STATE
300 WARWICK DR
1214 MICHIGAN AVE
220 E SUPERIOR ST
168 JADE CT
419 E HILLCREST
916 W CENTER ST
111 CEDAR
720 REPUBLIC AVE
1325 E SUPERIOR ST
213 W DOWNIE ST
255 E WARWICK DR
131 HOLIDAY
318 E DOWNIE ST
320 MARSHALL
510 WRIGHT
210 FLEMING
431 GRAFTON
614 W SUPERIOR ST
435 HARVARD
614 W SUPERIOR ST
525 E SUPERIOR ST
225 GOLFSIDE
301 N STATE ST
1700 WRIGHT (GLEN'S MKT)
1700 WRIGHT (GLEN'S MKT)
534 N STATE ST
889 MILL ST
1200 WRIGHT
603 LIBERTY
1417 MICHIGAN AVE
411 S GROVER AVE LOT 16
909 N STATE ST
238 RUBY CT
148 JADE CT
175 JADE CT
127 E END
322 MOYER AVE
903 MICHIGAN AVE
160 E WARWICK DR
900 MICHIGAN AVE
118 WINDSOR ST
1200 WRIGHT
1515 HICKORY

Spence Brothers
Stoudt Builders LLC
FREED CONSTRUCTION
PUMFORD CONSTRUCTION INC

MICHIGAN MASONIC HOME
$0
ALMA COLLEGE
$0
GRATIOT COUNTY PLAYERS
$0
CONSUMERS ENERGY
$0
CITY OF ALMA
$0
JANESAK PAMELA
$0
CLARK FAMILY RENTALS LLC
$0
ALMA COMMUNITY ART CENTER INC
$0
AVALON & TAHOE MANUFACTURING INC$0
Spence Brothers
MIDMICHIGAN MEDICAL CENTER-GRATIOT
$0
Spence Brothers
MIDMICHIGAN MEDICAL CENTER-GRATIOT
$0
SUTTEN DONALYN M
$0
Ayers Basement Systems
FREED LAURIE S
$0
Kincaid Building Group
GEMINI CAPITAL MANAGEMENT V LLC $0
THREE RIVERS CORPORATION MIDMICHIGAN MEDICAL CENTER-GRATIOT
$0
Chris Kress
ABELL HAILEY M
$0
Kincaid Building Group
GEMINI CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LLC
$0
Oak Ridge Homes LLC
CITY OF ALMA
$0
HANSONS WINDOWS & SIDING OF
BROWN
LANSING
JOHN R & CONSTANCE S
$0
Foundation Systems of Michigan
STONE NICK & ALIDA M
$0
BEAULIEU RAMON
$0
FOOTE JAMES A
$0
Andrew Foster
JUSTIN LUNEACK LLC
$0
FREED CONSTRUCTION
MCGEE DENISE M & FOX ADAM
$0
EFAW BUILDERS
SAXENA RAKESH N
$0
LOTT BUILDERS
FULLER CARRIE
$0
Clinton-Gratiot Habitat for Humanity LACROSS
Inc
DALE F & THEDABELLE R
$0
ALSPAUGH-DENMAN SUSAN M
$0
BT Construction LLC
Barnabas Lurrent
$0
GODFREY TADD W & LISA K
$0
COWDREY SARA BETH
$0
THREE RIVERS CORPORATION ALMA COLLEGE
$0
C & D BUILDERS
REINSTRA KAREN J
$0
THREE RIVERS CORPORATION ALMA COLLEGE
$0
Konwinski Construction
CITY OF ALMA
$0
Foundation Systems of Michigan
BUSHY WILLIAM & SHARON
$0
JBS CONTRACTING
MASONIC TEMPLE ASSOCIATION
$0
CLOUSE ALMA PROPERTIES LLC
$0
CLOUSE ALMA PROPERTIES LLC
$0
STUPICA BRANDI SHAWN
STUPICA BRANDI SHAWN
$0
Foundation Systems of Michigan
ROSAN LESTER E JR & CAROL
$0
Spence Brothers
MICHIGAN MASONIC HOME
$0
WERT ANDREW J & KARLA S
$0
LOTT CONSTRUCTION
SISTERS OF MERCY
$0
Lewis Homes LLC
MIAL MEADOWS MHP LLC
$0
BENDELE JEFFREY S & CRYSTAL J H&W $0
Oak Ridge Homes LLC
CITY OF ALMA
$0
Oak Ridge Homes LLC
CITY OF ALMA
$0
Oak Ridge Homes LLC
CITY OF ALMA
$0
Chris Kress
WENDT MARY E
$0
Paul Davis Restoration
LORETTO ARIANA NOREENA
$0
AVALON & TAHOE MANUFACTURING INC$0
THREE RIVERS CORPORATION MIDMICHIGAN HEALTH DEV ASSOCIATES$0
BEST EXCAVATING
RICHARDS LARRY
$0
BETTS DAVID B
$0
PITSCH WRECKING
MICHIGAN MASONIC HOME
$0
APPLE LINDA
$0
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PB21-057
PB21-059
PB21-061
PB21-062
PB21-063
PB21-060
PB21-064
PB21-065
PB21-066
PB21-058
PB21-069
PB21-070
PB21-071
PB21-072
PB21-074
PB21-076
PB21-075
PB21-077
PB21-078
PB21-082
PB21-083
PB21-085
PB21-086
PB21-079
PB21-080
PB21-084
PB21-081
PB21-087
PB21-088
PB21-089
PB21-090
PB21-092
PB21-093
PB21-094
PB21-095
PB21-097
PB21-096
PB21-098

1555 E SUPERIOR ST
945 GLENCOE
122 HILL
1005 FAIRVIEW
620 HANNAH AVE
1274 W SUPERIOR ST
223 FLEMING
140 S STATE ST
900 MILL ST
1575 PINE AVE
535 YALE AVE
301 N STATE ST
525 E SUPERIOR ST
525 E SUPERIOR ST
927 ELY
602 MILL ST
226 PURDY DR
411 S GROVER AVE LOT 62
1260 EUCLID
315 LINWOOD 8
315 LINWOOD 35
315 LINWOOD 28
315 LINWOOD 14
819 PINE AVE
423 W CENTER ST
315 LINWOOD 32
812 W CENTER ST
1004 FALKIRK
311 WARWICK DR
204 E SUPERIOR
520 REPUBLIC AVE
411 S GROVER AVE LOT 14
411 S GROVER AVE LOT 62
411 S GROVER AVE LOT 14
736 WRIGHT AVE
411 S GROVER AVE LOT 62
734 WRIGHT AVE
220 W DOWNIE

Records:95

Harsh General Building Inc.
DWL Construction

SUPERIOR OX
$0
STEPHENS TRACY L
$0
ZUKER RANDALL S & TAMMY M H&W $0
HOFFMAN CONSTRUCTION
PITTS MICHAEL G & CLARA J
$0
MALONEY DEBRA RUTH
$0
SHAFFER CONSTRUCTION
RADEY CHAD J & LIEZEL
$0
MCDAID JOHN
OLSON CARRIE REVOCABLE TRUST
$0
NASS WILLIAM & TAMARA S
$0
Ayers Basement Systems
BRADLEY DEAN & DIANA H&W
$0
DESHANO CONSTRUCTION
SCOTTISH PINES SENIOR APTS LDHA LP $0
HANSONS WINDOWS & SIDING OF
LUNEACK
LANSING
JOHN PAUL & NATASHA
$0
RAM Contruction
MASONIC TEMPLE ASSOCIATION
$0
Griffith Builders, Inc
CITY OF ALMA
$0
Griffith Builders, Inc
CITY OF ALMA
$0
IRVIN GARY L & LULU B H&W
$0
Kevin Vanderpool
DAYMON KIMBERLY
$0
BARE FREDERICK & CONNIE TRUST
$0
K&M Transport
HINDERLINE CARROLANN
$0
Limitless Solar
SUMNER LINDA
$0
Underdog Modular Set Up
BRIARWOOD MHC
$0
Underdog Modular Set Up
BRIARWOOD MOBILE HOME PARK
$0
Underdog Modular Set Up
BRIARWOOD MOBILE HOME PARK
$0
Underdog Modular Set Up
BRIARWOOD MHC
$0
HANSONS WINDOWS & SIDING OF
MAZZUCA
LANSINGJAMES W & KIMBERLY
$0
HANSONS WINDOWS & SIDING OF
RONK
LANSING
GARY M & PEGGY L
$0
Underdog Modular Set Up
BRIARWOOD MOBILE HOME PARK
$0
Peter Denicola
MORRILL JOHN R & ALICIA KAY
$0
Ayers Basement Systems
JOHNSON JAMES & IRWIN CAROL
$0
EFAW BUILDERS
SAXENA-KHOSLA INVESTMENTS LLC
$0
WELLINGS DWELLINGS, LLC
$0
PUMFORD CONSTRUCTION INC REPUBLIC STREET REAL ESTATE, LLC
$0
Blackford Concrete
WOOD GEORGE
$0
Blackford Concrete
HINDERLINE CARROLANN
$0
H & S Manufactured Homes LLC
WOOD GEORGE
$0
Ayers Basement Systems
HILL ADAM LEE
$0
H & S Manufactured Homes LLC
HINDERLINE CARROLANN
$0
Foundation Systems of Michigan
RUEHLE BRION D & DIANA G
$0
Universal Roofing
NATIVITY OF THE LORD PARISH OF ALMA$0

Total Fees:$41,212.77

Const. Value Total:$0

Interim City Manager Report

January 7, 2022
Brownfield Assessment -Jerome and Hoffman Properties
The Commission may recall from our November 23, 2021 meeting the news the Michigan Department of
Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) is making funds available to the Gratiot County Brownfield
Redevelopment Authority to complete a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) of the property east
of Jerome and adjacent to Hoffman Road. As part of the assessment, EGLE is requesting the consultant
compile the data and restrictions for all the sites associated with the refinery so there is a complete record
of the entire area. The Phase I ESA has become a prerequisite for properties to be marketed by the State.
On Tuesday’s agenda is a request to approve the Consent to Enter Private Property Form, so the Michigan
Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) may have a consultant access the city owned
property to conduct the Phase I ESA. The funding is coming through the Gratiot County Brownfield
Redevelopment Authority and will be administered by Gratiot Development. Kasey Zehner from Greater
Gratiot will be in attendance for any questions the Commission may have about the program.

6524 Jerome Road Lease
At the last City Commission meeting the lease agreement for the cold storage building at 6524 Jerome
was tabled to get a better understanding of the lease payment amount in relation to the amount of taxes
paid on the parcel. The proposed lease rate of $340 per month is just covering the property the taxes on
the parcel. The cold storage building is 3,360 sq. ft. located on a 10-acre lot. After speaking with the City
Assessor, we recommend calculating a lump sum amount for the taxes on just the cold storage building
and add the amount to the monthly rental payment. If this seems reasonable to the Commission, we will
reach out to the lessee with the amount and if it is agreeable, bring the lease agreement back to the
Commission for approval at the January 25th meeting. The assessor is also looking into the classification
of the rest of parcel, since the only portion being used for storage is the building itself.
Transit Update
It has come to our attention, once MDOT completed their FY2018 Local Bus Operating Final Audit, it was
determined Alma Transportation was overpaid in amount of $43,713. The Alma Transportation
accounting staff has reviewed MDOT’s request for repayment. The explanation received appears to be
accurate. Transportation staff will be in attendance to answer Commission questions. The request for
repayment will be added to the agenda on January 25th.
With the new budget season beginning for the FY2023, staff would like to work with the Commission on
an option to move the Alma Transportation Drivers from the Grade 1 to the Grade 2 classification. The
wage scale for Grade 1 Step 1 starts at $13.24 and tops out at Step 9 at $17.23. The wage scale for Grade
2 Step 1 starts at $16.03 and tops out at Step 9 at $20.82. Moving to the Grade 2 classification would put
the Alma Transit Drivers in line with those in neighboring agencies.
Transportation drivers are in safety sensitive positions requiring a Commercial Driver’s License (CDL),
which requires drivers be a part of a random drug screening program. The inherent liability of moving
people and those with special needs around the service area, requires the department to hire qualified
individuals to fill driver positions. Staff looks forward to working with Commission to come up with a plan
during the budgeting process.
East Superior Christian Church
The pastor from the East Superior Christian Church contacted staff this week to discuss sealcoating and
restriping their parking lot east of City Hall. The city has used the parking lot as overflow parking for staff
and visitors for decades. The use agreement for the parking ended in 2015 and was never extended or
renegotiated. Under that agreement the city provides snow plowing and shared in 61.5% of the parking
lot maintenance. I do not know where the percentage came from. Even though the use agreement ended
in 2015, the church has continued to allow city use of the parking lot and the city crew has continued to
plow the snow.
The pastor inquired if the city would be willing to share in half the costs of seal coating and stripping the
parking lot. Staff feels this is reasonable, the timing of their project works well, since the parking lots here
at City Hall need sealing and restriping. This would be a good time to put these projects together for a
better bid price. There is still the need for overflow parking for staff and visitors to the Police Department
and City Hall. Sharing the parking lot and maintenance is cheaper than building additional parking here at
city hall.

Staff would like input from Commission on the resealing and striping proposed by the East Superior
Christian Church. Also, to authorize staff to renegotiate the parking lot use agreement. A copy of the
agreement is included with the packet.
Neighborhood Seal Coat Program
Last Winter/early Spring, the City Commission approved the extension of the 2020 seal coat project to
Highway Maintenance & Construction Company for the 2021 season due to the company willing to carry
over their low bid number to 2021. However, during the Summer of 2021, Highway Maintenance was
unable to complete the work that was scheduled within the City of Alma last Summer. The owner of the
company contacted the staff a few weeks ago and apologized for not completing the work last Summer
(due to material shortages) and offered to complete that work at the same cost per square yard from
2020 into the 2022 season if we could add more work to the current project from 2021. The City is already
scheduled to perform seal coating streets this Summer (2022) and this offer is very reasonable, especially
if the City would use this as an opportunity to combine the two years’ projects into one contract.
The price being offered is the contracted price of $2.97 per square yard for seal coat and $0.58 per square
yard fog seal. The contractor will hold this price if we add an additional 5,000 square yards to the 2021
contract. This could be easily done by combining the 2021 and 2022 seal coat program streets together.
The roads that were to be completed in 2021 were as follows:
▪
▪
▪

Valley Avenue (from Ely St. to Marshall St.)
Penrith Avenue (from Ely St. to Marshall St.)
Marquette Boulevard (from Hayes Ave. to Republic Ave.)

The roads that are proposed to be completed in 2022 are as follows:
▪
▪
▪

W. End Street (from Wright Ave. to State St.)
Walnut Avenue (from State St. to Pine Ave.)
Allen Avenue (from Ely St. to Marshall St.)

The 2021 approved contract amount was $37,275.00 (approximately 10,500 square yards of seal coat and
fog seal). The projected 2022 cost based on year 2020 pricing would be approximately $39,000 for
approximately 11,000 square yards of seal coat and fog seal. If combining the years is favorable to
Commission, staff will add the contract to the January 25 th meeting. The contractor would have the City
of Alma scheduled to be completed with all of the above-mentioned streets in June of 2022.
Staff recommends combining the 2021 and 2022 seal coat street projects to complete the seal coats in a
more cost-effective manor by utilizing the proposed costs being offered from two-years ago.
Alma Fire District Promotions
We would like to recognize three promotions in the Alma District Fire Department: Tim Snyder to Captain,
Chad Pratt to First Lieutenant, and Cory Irvin to Lieutenant. Congratulations to each of you and thank you
for your service.
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FINANCIAL SECTION

Independent Auditors’ Report
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Commission
City of Alma, Michigan
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information
of the City of Alma, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the
financial statements of the Alma Housing Commission, a component unit, which statements reflect total assets and
deferred outflows of resources constituting 58 percent of total assets and deferred outflows of resources of discretely
presented component units at June 30, 2021, and total revenues constituting 63 percent of total revenues of
discretely presented component units for the year then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors,
whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Alma
Housing Commission, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Alma, as of June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.
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Adoption of New Accounting Standard
As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2021, the City adopted GASB
Statement No. 84 Fiduciary Activities. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.
Emphasis of Matter Regarding Correction of Error
As described in Note 16 to the financial statements, the Gratiot Community Airport Authority’s beginning net position
was restated. Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter.
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and Municipal Employees Retirement System schedules, as
identified in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board,
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information, because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence
to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the City of Alma’s basic financial statements. The other supplementary information, as identified in the table of
contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The other supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, is the responsibility of management and
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The other supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us and other auditors. In our opinion,
based on our audit, the procedures performed as described above, and the report of the other auditors, the other
supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation
to the basic financial statements as a whole.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report December 21, 2021 on our
consideration of the City of Alma's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Alma's internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report does not include the results of the other auditors’ testing of
internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by those
auditors. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the City of Alma’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Alma, Michigan
December 21, 2021
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City of Alma, Michigan
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2021
As management of the City of Alma, we offer readers of the financial statements this narrative overview
and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Alma for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. We
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the financial
statements which follow this discussion as well as the additional information we have furnished in our
letter of transmittal.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
From an entity-wide perspective, City of Alma primary government net position was
$42,225,304 at the close of fiscal year 2021. Net position refers to the cumulative amount of
assets plus deferred outflows of resources that exceed liabilities plus deferred inflows of
resources. Of this amount, $8,764,444 is unrestricted and available to meet the ongoing
obligations to citizens and creditors.
The net position of the primary government increased by $1,028,995 over the course of 2021
operations. This compares to an increase in net position of $1,033,101 over fiscal year 2020.
Net position of Governmental Activities increased by $471,421 from fiscal year 2020. The total
cost of the City’s governmental programs decreased $31,962 (0.5%) from fiscal year 2020.
Business-type activities provided a $557,574 increase in net position. The total cost of the
City’s business-type activities decreased $80,968 (1.7%) from fiscal year 2020.
From a fund perspective, the City of Alma’s governmental funds report combined Fund
Balances of $9,337,401 at the close of fiscal year 2021. Of this amount, $3,427,219 (36.7%)
is unassigned and available to meet ongoing obligations.
The General Fund reported an increase in Fund Balance of $791,163 for fiscal year 2021.
The unassigned portion of General Fund Balance increased $886,519 over fiscal year 2020.
Net position of the City of Alma’s business-type activities totaled $17,017,257 at the close of
fiscal year 2021. Of this amount, $6,596,605 (38.8%) is available to meet ongoing obligations
and $10,420,652 (61.2%) is net investment in capital assets.
OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This annual report consists of four parts: Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the basic financial
statements, required supplementary information and other supplementary information. The other
supplementary information section includes combining statements for nonmajor governmental funds,
nonmajor proprietary funds, internal service funds as well as statements for some of City of Alma’s joint
ventures.
The basic financial statements begin on page 4-1 of this report and present two different views of the
City.
Government-wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements summarize all City funds into one statement using the full
accrual method of accounting. The primary government is comprised of governmental activities and
business-type activities. Governmental activities are most of the basic municipal services including
police and fire protection, building code enforcement, general administration, public works, cemetery
and parks and recreation. Property taxes, state-shared revenue and charges for services are the primary
sources for financing these activities. Business-type activities include water, sewer and refuse collection
as well as public transit services. The City charges fees to customers to finance a significant portion of
these services. The third category is Component Units and is presented in a separate, distinct column
in the government-wide statements. These activities include Alma Downtown Development Authority,
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City of Alma, Michigan
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2021
Alma Public Library and Alma Housing Commission. Additional definition of the City’s Component Units
can be found beginning on page 4-17 of the Notes to Financial Statements.
Statement of Net Position
The Statement of Net Position provides information on assets plus deferred outflows of resources,
and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources with the difference between those defined as net
position. Over time, increases and decreases in net position can serve as a barometer of financial
health. A trend of increasing net position is viewed as a sign of improving financial condition. The
Statement of Net Position can be found on page 4-1.
Statement of Activities
The Statement of Activities presents revenues and expenses which reflect the underlying cause of the
change in net position. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. This statement includes depreciation
on capital assets and is adjusted to eliminate inter-fund transactions which would distort the overview
perspective of government-wide statements. The Statement of Activities can be found on page 4-2.
Internal service funds mainly benefit the governmental activities and are included in that section of the
government-wide statements. Financial statements for the component units can be found on pages
4-15 and 4-16.
Fund Financial Statements
This report also includes information on individual funds. A fund is defined as a grouping of related
accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities
and objectives. Funds are used to ensure conformity with finance-related legal or regulatory compliance
requirements. Funds are classified as either governmental funds, proprietary funds or fiduciary funds.
Governmental Funds
Governmental funds use a modified accrual basis of accounting which focuses on near-term inflows
and outflows and balances of expendable resources. In the governmental fund statements, capital
expenditures and debt principal are reported on the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balance, and depreciation and accrued compensated absences are not recorded.
The Balance Sheet for governmental funds does not include any capital assets or long-term debt.
The focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements.
Therefore, comparing the information presented in each statement can give the reader a better
understanding of the long-term impact of the City’s near-term financing decisions. Both the
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures
and changes in fund balance provide a reconciliation to facilitate a comparison to the governmentwide statements. The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 4-3 and
4-5 of this report.
The City of Alma maintains nine individual governmental funds. The largest funds in terms of assets
plus deferred outflows of resources, liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources, revenues or
expenditures are considered major funds. The General Fund and Major Streets Fund are presented
as major funds. Budgetary comparison schedules for the major governmental funds are presented on
pages 5-1 through 5-3 of this report. In the basic financial statements, nonmajor funds are
consolidated into one column. Combining statements for nonmajor governmental funds can be found
beginning on page 6-1. The nonmajor governmental funds for the City of Alma include the Cemetery
Endowment Fund, Library Endowment Fund, Local Streets Fund, Street Improvement Millage Fund,
Local Development Financing Authority Fund, Housing Improvement Fund, and Alma Building
Authority Fund.
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Proprietary Funds
Proprietary funds use a full accrual basis of accounting for both government-wide statements and
individual fund statements. The City of Alma uses two types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are
used to report business like activities. Internal service funds are used to accumulate and allocate the
cost of providing services to other city activities or functions.
The City of Alma maintains five enterprise funds. Four are presented separately as major funds in the
proprietary fund financial statements found on pages 4-7 through 4-12. Major funds include Transit
Services, Wastewater Utility, Water Utility and Refuse Disposal. Non-Major funds include State Street
Plaza and are presented separately in the financial statements.
The City of Alma maintains one internal service fund as of 2021: Public Works Services and
Equipment Maintenance. This fund is presented separately as a single column in the proprietary fund
financial statements.
Fiduciary Funds
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside of the City of
Alma. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the
resources held in those funds are not available for the use of the City of Alma. Fiduciary Funds include
the Public Safety Employees’ Benefit Trust Fund, Tax Collection Fund, and Park Projects Fund. The
Statement of Net Position for the Fiduciary Funds and the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net
Position for the Custodial Funds is found on pages 4-13 and 4-14 in the Basic Statements.
Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes provide additional detailed information integral to understanding the data provided in the
financial statements. The notes begin on page 4-17 of this report.
Required Supplementary Information
This report also presents required supplementary information including budgetary comparison
schedules for major funds and the City of Alma’s Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and
Related Ratios and Schedule of Employer Contributions to Municipal Employees Retirement System of
Michigan (MERS). MERS is the primary provider of pension benefits to City employees. These
schedules begin on page 5-1 of this report.
Other Supplementary Information
Other supplementary information begins on page 6-1 with Combining Statements for nonmajor
governmental funds. Additional financial schedules for the Joint Ventures are also included in this
section.
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Net Position
The Statement of Net Position provides an overview of the City of Alma’s assets plus deferred outflows
of resources, liabilities plus deferred inflows and net position. Over time, the level of net position can
provide a good indicator of the City’s fiscal health. At the close of fiscal year 2021, the primary
government net position was $42,225,304.
The largest portion of City of Alma’s net position reflects its net investment in capital assets. At June 30,
2021, this amount is $27,868,057. Streets, bridges and sidewalks are the largest share of investment in
capital assets for the governmental funds. The net book value of streets is $9,700,876; or 34.8% of net
investment in capital assets.
The City recorded $1,561,104 in capital asset additions in fiscal year 2021. While streets are open for
reconstruction, utility mains are evaluated for reconstruction and replaced as needed. The net book
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value of capital assets decreased 1.97% from last fiscal year. This resulted from a delay in project
constructions during the current fiscal year due to Covid-19. Additional information detailing the changes
in City of Alma’s capital assets is presented in the Notes to Financial Statements beginning on page 430.
An additional $5,592,803, or 13.2%, of City of Alma’s net position is subject to restrictions on how it may
be used. At the end of fiscal year 2021 the Cemetery Endowment and Library Endowment funds total
$778,864 of that amount. The ordinances creating both of those endowments allow eighty percent of
each year’s investment income to be transferred to the respective activity for operating purposes. The
largest restriction of net position is related to street maintenance. Except for intermittent grant funding,
Major and Local Street Funds are funded with Michigan PA 51 contributions and Street Improvement
Millage Fund is funded with a voted tax millage.
The remaining balance of net position is unrestricted and may be used to meet the City’s ongoing
obligations to citizens and creditors. Unrestricted net position at the close of 2021 is $8,764,444 or
20.8% of the City of Alma’s net position.
A summarized comparison of the Statement of Net Position follows:
Table A-1
City of Alma, Michigan
Net Position
(in millions of dollars)
Governmental Activities
2021
2020
Assets:
Current and other assets
Investment in joint ventures
Capital assets
Total assets
Deferred outflows:
Total assets and deferred outflows
Liabilities:
Noncurrent liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows:
Total liabilities and deferred inflows
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

$

10.72
1.47
17.45
29.64
0.66
30.30

$

9.72
1.47
17.76
28.95
0.55
29.50

Business-type Activities
2021
2020
$

7.97
14.72
22.69
0.34
23.03

$

7.65
14.96
22.61
0.29
22.90

Total
2021
$

18.69
1.47
32.17
52.33
1.00
53.33

2020
$

Total
Percentage
Change

17.37
1.47
32.72
51.56
0.84
52.40

7.60%
0.00%
-1.68%
1.49%
1.77%

3.97
0.60
4.57
0.52
5.09

4.16
0.45
4.61
0.15
4.76

4.80
1.00
5.80
0.21
6.01

5.48
0.94
6.42
0.02
6.44

8.77
1.60
10.37
0.73
11.10

9.64
1.39
11.03
0.17
11.20

-9.02%
15.11%
-5.98%

17.45
5.59
2.17
25.21

17.73
5.05
1.96
24.74

10.42
6.60
17.02

10.12
6.34
16.46

27.87
5.59
8.77
42.23

27.85
5.05
8.30
41.20

0.07%
10.69%
5.66%
2.50%

$

$

$

$

$

-0.89%

Changes in Net Position
From a government wide perspective, City of Alma Net Position increased $1,028,995 during the 2021
fiscal year. Governmental Activities recorded an increase of $471,421 and the increase for Businesstype Activities was $557,574. Total revenues for the primary government decrease $134,205 from fiscal
year 2020 to fiscal year 2021 due to a decrease in capital grant contributions for Transit of approximately
$440,000, partially offset by an increase in transit operating grants of approximately $220,000 in
response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Program expenses for Governmental Activities increased $31,962
from fiscal year 2020 to 2021. Total expenses for Business-type Activities decreased $80,968 from 2020
to 2021.
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The following table presents a summarized comparison of changes in net position during fiscal years
ending June 30, 2021 and 2020. The information is presented to reflect the programs or activities of the
City of Alma and mirrors the government-wide Statement of Activities on pages 4-2 of the basic
statements.

Table A-2
City of Alma, Michigan
Changes in Net Position
(in millions of dollars)
Governmental Activities
2021
2020
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants & contributions
Capital grants & contributions
General revenues:
Property taxes
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Other revenue
Total revenues

$

Expenses:
Community development
Housing & redevelopment
Community safety
Property maintenance
Transportation
Recreation & culture
Executive administration
Fiscal services
Public works
State Street Plaza
Transit Services
Wastewater Utility
Water Utility
Solid Waste
Total expenses
Change in net position
Beginning net position, as restated
Ending net position

$

0.70
1.52
-

$

0.40
1.07
-

Business-type Activities
2021
2020

$

4.42
0.72
-

$

4.87
0.70
0.44

Total
Percentage
Change

Total
2021

$

5.12
2.24
-

2020

$

5.27
1.77
0.44

-2.85%
26.55%
-100.00%

3.28
1.16
0.04
0.03
6.73

3.20
1.11
0.10
0.03
5.91

0.19
0.01
0.01
5.35

0.18
0.08
6.27

3.47
1.16
0.05
0.04
12.08

3.38
1.11
0.18
0.03
12.18

2.66%
4.50%
-72.22%
33.33%
-0.82%

0.35
2.36
0.29
1.63
0.29
0.43
0.90
0.01
6.26

0.21
2.13
0.35
1.82
0.46
0.60
0.72
6.29

0.06
1.14
1.42
1.56
0.61
4.79

0.07
0.92
1.47
1.74
0.66
4.86

0.35
2.36
0.29
1.63
0.29
0.43
0.90
0.01
0.06
1.14
1.42
1.56
0.61
11.05

0.21
2.13
0.35
1.82
0.46
0.60
0.72
0.07
0.92
1.47
1.74
0.66
11.15

66.67%

0.47
24.74
25.21

(0.38)
25.12
24.74

0.56
16.46
17.02

1.41
15.05
16.46

1.03
41.20
42.23

1.03
40.17
41.20

$

$

$

$

$

10.80%
-17.14%
-10.44%
-36.96%
-28.33%
25.00%
-14.29%
23.91%
-3.40%
-10.34%
-7.58%
-0.90%
0.00%
2.56%
2.50%
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Also shown graphically are government-wide revenues by source as well as government-wide expenses
by program shown as a percentage to total:
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS
The City Commission adopts budgets for the General, Special Revenue, and Enterprise funds. Budgets
are adopted at the activity level for General Fund and the fund level for all other funds.
The original adopted budget was created with an anticipate increase to fund balance of $177,500 in the
General Fund. During the fiscal year, amendments were made that created an anticipated decrease in
fund balance of $107,385 due to additional expenditures likely to be incurred. The actual result was an
increase in General Fund balance of $791,163. The increase was related in large part to additional
Federal grants stemming from the CARES Act, increases in Intergovernmental revenue for lost revenue
in the previous fiscal year that was able to be recouped, and increases in Charges for services for
internal service fees recorded but not properly budgeted for.
CAPITAL ASSETS
The City of Alma primary government has $32,166,120 invested in capital assets net of depreciation.
Capital assets include all tangible assets that exceed $5,000 in value and have an expected useful life
of greater than a year. Capital assets include land, land improvements, streets, sidewalks, buildings,
equipment, vehicles, storm drains and sewer and water mains. The City uses straight line depreciation
ranging from three to fifty years of useful life. Additional details of capital assets can be found in the
Notes to Financial Statements beginning on page 4-30.
DEBT ADMINISTRATION
The Governmental Activities of City of Alma had a Brownfield Redevelopment Loan outstanding with
Michigan Department of Environmental Quality. At June 30, 2020, the outstanding amount was $21,991.
The remaining balance was paid in full during year June 30, 2021.
The Business-type Activities of the City have $4,337,470 in outstanding bonded debt as of June 30,
2021. Of the outstanding debt, $1,690,000 is general obligation bonded debt, $15,000 is special
assessment bonded debt for which the City has pledged its full faith and credit and $2,632,470 is
revenue bonds issued for the Wastewater Utility. Currently, there is no bonded debt outstanding for the
Governmental Activities of City of Alma.
There is more detailed information on debt and other obligations beginning on page 4-33 of the Notes
to Financial Statements. The Notes also include a complete schedule of debt repayments until maturity.
ECONOMIC FORECAST
The City of Alma has three main sources of revenue: property taxes, state shared revenue, and service
charges.
Property Tax Base
The City of Alma recently completed a reappraisal for all properties within the City. This major
commitment on behalf of the City makes for a fair and equitable assessment of the City’s tax values.
State Shared Revenue
State shared revenue is the second largest source of revenue for General Fund. State shared sales tax
revenue is made up of two components. The constitutional component is 13% of the gross collections
of the 6% state sales tax. The statutory portion requires certain performances by the local unit to be
eligible to receive it. The City of Alma has met all necessary requirements to qualify for next year’s
funding.
Service Charges for Utilities
From an entity-wide perspective, utility service charges are the third major revenue source. The Gratiot
Area Water Authority has been created to produce potable water for both City of Alma and City of St.
Louis. Water usage is metered for both municipalities. City of Alma Water Utility is charged with the
distribution of water to its residents.
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THE FUTURE
The City of Alma Administrative Team is committed to ensuring that the policies, procedures, and
personnel needed to maintain an efficient, functional finance department are in place. Our response to
the COVID crisis will be measured and conservative.
CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT TEAM
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Alma’s finances for all those
with an interest and to show accountability for the financial resources managed for the benefit of its
constituents. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional information may be directed to the City Manager or Finance Director at 525 E. Superior Street,
Alma, Michigan, 48801.
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City of Alma
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021
Governmental
Activities
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Due from other units of government
Internal balances
Due from component units
Due from joint ventures
Inventories
Prepaid items
Restricted assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Equity interest in Gratiot Community Airport Authority
Equity interest in Rural Urban Fire Board
Capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Total assets

$

Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred amount on bond refunding
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability
Total deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities
Current payables and accrued expenses
Due to primary government
Due to other units of government
Advance due to other units of government
Unearned revenue
Portion of noncurrent liabilities due within one year
Noncurrent liabilities
Compensated absences
Bonds payable, net of discount
Net pension liability
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Street maintenance
Special tax districts
Housing rehabilitation
Tenant funds
Debt service
Permanent funds
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

8,560,696
262,203
298,551
494,921
704,528
1,510
1,555
79,480
322,793

Primary Government
Business-type
Activities
$

7,662,148
182,703
638,705
182,225
(704,528)
10,385

Total
$

Component
Units

16,222,844
444,906
937,256
677,146
1,510
1,555
79,480
333,178

$ 1,212,637
1,755,758
6,215
85,600
5,828

764,306
703,744
3,765,015
13,682,390
29,641,692

146,465
14,572,250
22,690,353

764,306
703,744
3,911,480
28,254,640
52,332,045

198,770
217,399
3,971,456
7,453,663

655,519
655,519

39,407
299,978
339,385

39,407
955,497
994,904

25,452
99,174
124,626

446,272
51,869
40,000
5,583
59,022

344,631
31,758
628,402

790,903
83,627
40,000
5,583
687,424

149,648
1,510
51,416
8,383
254,135

88,535
3,876,033
4,567,314

32,267
3,757,470
1,007,203
5,801,731

120,802
3,757,470
4,883,236
10,369,045

17,893
705,000
640,318
1,828,303

521,850

210,750

732,600

43,407

17,447,405

10,420,652

27,868,057

3,284,307

4,778,627
20,681
2,638
11,993
778,864
2,167,839

6,596,605

4,778,627
20,681
2,638
11,993
778,864
8,764,444

8,702
190,068
2,223,502

42,225,304

$ 5,706,579

25,208,047

$

17,017,257

$

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Charges for
Services

Expenses
Functions/Programs
Primary government
Governmental activities
Community development
Housing and redevelopment
Community safety
Property maintenance
Transportation
Recreation and cultural
Executive administration
Fiscal services
Public works
Interest on long-term debt

$

Total governmental activities
Business-type activities
State Street Plaza
Transit Services
Wastewater Utility
Water Utility
Solid Waste Disposal
Total business-type activities
Total primary government
Component units
Alma Downtown Development Authority
Alma Public Library
Alma Housing Commission
Interest on long term debt
Total component units

344,581
2,280
2,361,407
281,323
1,633,973
285,599
430,803
902,079
14,852
148

$

6,155
146,524
78,596
50,592
124,928
50
293,566
-

Program Revenues
Operating
Capital
Grants and
Grants and
Contributions
Contributions

$

50,000
299,638
1,152,792
17,448
-

$

108
-

$

108

(288,426)
(2,280)
(1,915,245)
(202,727)
(430,481)
(160,671)
(413,305)
(608,513)
(14,852)
(148)

6,257,045

700,411

1,519,878

64,545
1,135,487
1,421,821
1,552,539
613,835

45,552
152,208
2,083,383
1,441,249
687,138

722,246
-

-

-

4,788,227

4,409,530

722,246

-

-

$

11,045,272

$

5,109,941

$

2,242,124

$

108

$

9,337
705,741
1,218,582
26,126
1,959,786

$

8,019
403,583
411,602

$

20,602
457,908
745,170
1,223,680

$

44,317
44,317

$

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position
Primary Government
Governmental
Business-type
Activities
Activities
Total

$

$

$

(4,036,648)

-

$

-

(4,036,648)

(288,426)
(2,280)
(1,915,245)
(202,727)
(430,481)
(160,671)
(413,305)
(608,513)
(14,852)
(148)

$

-

(4,036,648)

-

(18,993)
(261,033)
661,562
(111,290)
73,303

(18,993)
(261,033)
661,562
(111,290)
73,303

-

343,549

343,549

-

343,549

(3,693,099)

-

(280,187)

General revenues
Property taxes
State shared revenue
Investment income
Miscellaneous
Total general revenues
Change in net position
Net position - beginning of year
Net position - end of year

$

Component
Units

$

3,279,798
1,164,672
37,620
25,979

185,238
13,411
15,376

3,465,036
1,164,672
51,031
41,355

255,397
34,124
26,597

4,508,069

214,025

4,722,094

316,118

471,421
24,736,626
25,208,047

557,574
16,459,683
17,017,257

1,028,995
41,196,309
42,225,304

35,931
5,670,648
5,706,579

$

$

$

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Special
Revenue Fund

General
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Due from other units of government
Due from other funds
Due from component units
Due from joint ventures
Prepaid items
Total assets
Liabilities
Current payables
Due to other funds
Due to other units of government
Advance due to other units of government
Unearned revenue

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Major
Streets

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

3,100,080
106,402
285,770
284,388
15,214
1,510
1,555
317,967

$

2,917,468
77,355
359
158,212
42

$

2,411,052
60,857
1,023
52,321
179

$

8,428,600
244,614
287,152
494,921
15,214
1,510
1,555
318,188

$

4,112,886

$

3,153,436

$

2,525,432

$

9,791,754

$

271,619
48,700
40,000
5,583

$

430
-

$

84,228
754
3
-

$

355,847
1,184
48,703
40,000
5,583

Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Unavailable investment income
Unavailable special assessments
Total deferred inflows of resources
Fund Balances
Non-spendable
Prepaid items
Permanent Fund principal (nonexpendable)
Restricted for
Street maintenance
TIF district infrastructure
Housing rehabilitation
Debt service
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,
$
and fund balances

365,902

430

84,985

451,317

445
1,353

359
-

879
-

1,683
1,353

1,798

359

879

3,036

317,967
-

42
-

179
778,742

318,188
778,742

3,427,219

3,152,605
-

1,625,340
20,678
2,638
11,991
-

4,777,945
20,678
2,638
11,991
3,427,219

3,745,186

3,152,647

2,439,568

9,337,401

4,112,886

$

3,153,436

$

2,525,432

$

9,791,754

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Governmental Funds
Reconciliation of Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to Net Position of Governmental Activities
June 30, 2021
$ 9,337,401

Total fund balances for governmental funds
Total net position for governmental activities in the statement of net position is different because:
Internal balances related to fund consolidations.

695,675

City of Alma investment in Gratiot Community Airport Authority, joint venture.

764,306

City of Alma investment in Rural Urban Fire Board, joint venture.

703,744

Capital assets not being depreciated used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the funds.

3,752,515

Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

12,306,187

Certain receivables are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore
are deferred in the funds.
Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and are not reported in the funds.
Compensated absences
Deferred outflows of resources resulting from net pension liability
Deferred inflows of resources resulting from net pension liability

(109,006)
468,966
(358,584)

Net pension liability is reported in the statement of net position

(2,874,827)

Internal service funds are included as part of governmental activities.
Net position of governmental activities

3,036

518,634
$ 25,208,047

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Special
Revenue Fund
Major
Streets

General
Revenues
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Federal grants
Intergovernmental revenue
Other state grants
Local contributions
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Investment income
Rental income
Other revenue

$

Total revenues
Expenditures
Current
Community development
Housing and redevelopment
Community safety
Property maintenance
Transportation
Recreation and culture
Executive administration
Fiscal services
Debt service
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges

$

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures
Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Sale of fixed assets
Total other financing sources and uses

$

$

$

441,877
369,889
1,250
4,704
-

3,111,487
74,357
262,426
2,909,246
50,000
10,306
575,443
13,654
38,109
19,345
114,357

904,054

817,720

7,178,730

386,724
2,398,020
262,990
139,640
218,320
398,721
871,963

269,090
-

2,202
859,414
572
-

386,724
2,202
2,398,020
262,990
1,268,144
218,892
398,721
871,963

-

-

21,991
661

4,699,030

269,090

862,188

5,830,308

757,926

634,964

(44,468)

1,348,422

766
32,471

(225,000)
-

225,000
(766)
-

225,766
(225,766)
32,471

33,237

(225,000)

224,234

32,471

179,766
2,259,802

1,380,893
7,956,508

791,163
2,954,023

Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - beginning of year, as restated

840,459
58,449
5,146
-

Total
Governmental
Funds

5,456,956

21,991
661

Total expenditures

Fund balance - end of year

2,669,610
74,357
262,426
1,698,898
50,000
10,306
515,744
13,654
28,259
19,345
114,357

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

3,745,186

409,964
2,742,683
$

3,152,647

$

2,439,568

$

9,337,401

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Governmental Funds
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
$

Net change in fund balances - Total governmental funds

1,380,893

Total change in net position reported for governmental activities in the statement
of activities is different because:
The statement of activities includes a gain on investment in Rural Urban Fire Board

(4,174)

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
Depreciation expense
Capital outlay
Sale of capital assets (net book value)

(950,757)
683,124
(35,058)

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenue in the funds.

(446,593)

Expenses are recorded when incurred in the statement of activities.
Accrued interest on outstanding note payable
Compensated absences

513
(10,456)

The statement of net position reports the net pension liability and deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources related to the net pension liability and pension expense. However, the amount
recorded on the governmental funds equals actual pension contributions.
Net change in the deferred outflows of resources related to the net pension liability
Net change in the deferred inflows of resources related to the net pension liability
Net change in pension liability

70,102
(240,795)
148,125

Bond proceeds are reported as financing sources in the governmental funds and
thus contribute to the change in fund balance. In the statement of net position,
however, issuing debt increases long-term liabilities and does not affect the statement
of activities. Similarly, repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental
funds but reduces the liability in the statement of net position.
Principal payment on Brownfield Redevelopment loan

21,991

The statement of activities includes charges to bring internal service funds to a break-even position

(139,758)

The statement of activities includes non operating revenues earned on internal service funds
Change in net position of governmental activities

(5,736)
$

471,421

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Proprietary Funds
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021
Enterprise Funds

Transit
Services
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables, net
Due from other units of government
Inventories
Prepaid items

$

Total current assets

1,172,075
29,335
41,782
124,378
254

Wastewater
Utility

$

2,631,141
36,757
286,489
57,847
9,666

Water
Utility

$

2,789,608
85,820
205,406
465

1,367,824

3,021,900

3,081,299

1,461,728
104,397
1,136,221
(942,553)

10,000
33,228
5,218,051
1,268,404
9,530,263
(7,198,164)

35,603
5,334
3,105
198,109
8,589,533
(4,909,984)

Total noncurrent assets

1,759,793

8,861,782

3,921,700

Total assets

3,127,617

11,883,682

7,002,999

79,335

17,004
82,029

22,403
138,614

Total deferred outflows of resources

79,335

99,033

161,017

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Current payables
Due to other funds
Due to other units of government
Current portion of noncurrent liabilities

25,321
4,008
24,129
17,336

196,204
2,598
815
428,443

91,495
1,643
6,814
182,623

70,794

628,060

282,575

11,557
251,977

9,162
3,136,870
291,456

11,548
620,600
463,770

Total noncurrent liabilities

263,534

3,437,488

1,095,918

Total liabilities

334,328

4,065,548

1,378,493

68,507

57,161

85,082

1,759,793
1,044,324

5,327,216
2,532,790

3,158,203
2,542,238

Noncurrent assets
Land
Construction in progress
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles
Utility lines and appurtenances
Less accumulated depreciation

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount on bond refunding
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability

Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Compensated absences
Long-term debt net of current portion
Net pension liability

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

2,804,117

$

7,860,006

$

5,700,441

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Proprietary Funds
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021

Refuse
Disposal
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables, net
Due from other units of government
Inventories
Prepaid items

$

Total current assets
Noncurrent assets
Land
Construction in progress
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles
Utility lines and appurtenances
Less accumulated depreciation
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount on bond refunding
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability
Total deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Current payables
Due to other funds
Due to other units of government
Current portion of noncurrent liabilities
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Compensated absences
Long-term debt net of current portion
Net pension liability
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position

471,805
10,736
98,075
-

Enterprise Funds
Nonmajor
Fund
State Street
Plaza

$

$

7,662,148
182,703
638,705
182,225
10,385

$

132,096
17,589
11,399
79,480
4,605

580,616

624,527

8,676,166

3,900
6,595
(10,256)

62,300
137,422
769,791
(794,312)

107,903
38,562
144,427
7,449,570
1,577,505
1,136,221
18,119,796
(13,855,269)

12,500
94,794
585,188
1,574,225
2,504,141
(3,382,145)

239

175,201

14,718,715

1,388,703

580,855

799,728

23,394,881

1,633,872

245,169

-

-

39,407
299,978

186,553

-

-

339,385

186,553

30,085
584
-

1,526
20
-

344,631
8,853
31,758
628,402

90,425
5,177
3,166
23,131

30,669

1,546

1,013,644

121,899

-

-

32,267
3,757,470
1,007,203

15,420
1,001,206

-

-

4,796,940

1,016,626

30,669

1,546

5,810,584

1,138,525

-

-

210,750

163,266

239
549,947
$

597,519
20,055
6,953
-

Internal
Service Fund

Total

550,186

$

175,201
622,981

10,420,652
7,292,280

798,182

17,712,932

Internal balances related to internal service fund eliminations
Net position for business-type activities

1,388,703
(870,069)
$

518,634

(695,675)
$ 17,017,257

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Proprietary Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Enterprise Funds

Transit
Services
Operating Revenue
Local unit contributions
Charges for services
Rental income
Other revenue

$

Total operating revenue
Operating Expenses
Engineering
Maintenance
Accounting and administration
Transit operations
Sewage disposal
Potable water system
Refuse collection and disposal
Yard waste collection
Leaf collection
Yard waste compost site
Central garage
Transportation
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses)
Property taxes
Federal grants
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Gain on disposal of assets
Interest expense and fiscal charges
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Change in net position
Net position - beginning of year, as restated
Net position - end of year

$

152,208
2,622

Wastewater
Utility
$

2,083,383
12,754

Water
Utility
$

1,382,843
58,406
-

154,830

2,096,137

1,441,249

95,143
164,805
668,601
187,858

258,705
304,450
387,568
349,532

204,559
55,447
1,046,621
185,105

1,116,407

1,300,255

1,491,732

(961,577)

795,882

(50,483)

185,238
436,957
285,289
2,173
7,786
-

3,335
(90,276)

6,028
(24,909)

917,443

(86,941)

(18,881)

(44,134)
2,848,251
2,804,117

$

708,941
7,151,065
7,860,006

$

(69,364)
5,769,805
5,700,441

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
Page 4 - 9

City of Alma
Proprietary Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Refuse
Disposal
Operating Revenue
Local unit contributions
Charges for services
Rental income
Other revenue

$

Total operating revenue
Operating Expenses
Engineering
Maintenance
Accounting and administration
Transit operations
Sewage disposal
Potable water system
Refuse collection and disposal
Yard waste collection
Leaf collection
Yard waste compost site
Central garage
Transportation
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses)
Property taxes
Federal grants
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Interest expense and fiscal charges
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Change in net position
Net position - beginning of year, as restated
Net position - end of year

$

5,836
681,302
-

Enterprise Funds
Nonmajor
Fund
State Street
Plaza
$

45,552
-

Total
$

5,836
4,345,288
58,406
15,376

Internal
Service Fund
$

989,672
1,406

687,138

45,552

4,424,906

991,078

7,707
427,380
32,871
75,173
56,021
260

38,153
24,875

596,560
532,409
668,601
387,568
1,046,621
427,380
32,871
75,173
56,021
747,630

231,350
42,512
352,597
393,021
221,350

599,412

63,028

4,570,834

1,240,830

87,726

(17,476)

(145,928)

(249,752)

722
-

1,153
-

185,238
436,957
285,289
13,411
7,786
(115,185)

503
(6,239)
-

722

1,153

813,496

(5,736)

667,568
17,045,364
$ 17,712,932

(255,488)
774,122
518,634

88,448
461,738
550,186

$

(16,323)
814,505
798,182

$

Reconciliation of Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes
in Net Position of Proprietary Funds to Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Change in net position per fund financial statements
Change in internal service charges to break even
Change in net position of per statement of activities

$
$

667,568
(109,994)
557,574

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Enterprise Funds

Transit
Services
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to vendors
Payments to employees
Internal activity-receipts from (payments to) other funds
Other payments

$

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Acquisitions of capital assets
Capital contributions
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Principal paid on capital debt
Interest paid on capital debt

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

$

$

$

$

1,786,438
(933,231)
(293,140)
(129,446)
430,621

608,017
191,844

(311)
-

-

799,861

(311)

-

(341,540)
(400,500)
(91,700)

(150,031)
(159,500)
(24,669)

(833,740)

(334,200)

2,367
14,128

3,579
17,703

6,596
41,330

16,495

21,282

47,926

21,701
1,150,374
1,172,075

$

472,644
2,158,497
2,631,141

$

144,347
2,645,261
2,789,608

$

795,882

$

524

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment income
Maturity of investments

2,132,613
(249,301)
(471,468)
(126,431)
-

Water
Utility

1,285,413

(7,303)
7,827
-

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
from operating activities
Depreciation and amortization expense
Changes in assets and liabilities
Receivables (net)
Due from other units of government
Due from component units and joint ventures
Inventory
Prepaid items
Deferred outflows of resources
Current payables
Due to other funds
Due to other units of government
Net pension liability
Deferred inflows of resources
Compensated absences

$

(795,179)

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Receipts from long term receivables
Subsidies from other units
Receipts from voted millage

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year, as restated
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

116,718
(123,604)
(751,742)
(36,551)
-

Wastewater
Utility

(961,577)

(50,483)

187,858

349,532

185,105

(38,112)
20
(17,966)
14,050
4,008
548
(37,963)
61,713
(7,758)

45,450
(8,974)
4,815
3,227
(11,142)
93,521
(1,781)
(1,272)
(30,728)
49,953
(3,070)

344,368
821
1,130
(18,045)
(62,260)
1,643
1,665
(47,594)
77,371
(3,100)

(795,179)

$

1,285,413

$

430,621

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Refuse
Disposal
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to vendors
Payments to employees
Internal activity-payments to other funds
Other payments

$

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

684,994
(371,874)
(113,152)
(84,388)
-

Enterprise Funds
Nonmajor
Fund
State Street
Plaza
$

115,580

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Receipts from long term receivables
Subsidies from other units
Receipts from voted millage

44,222
(32,265)
(3,423)
(1,038)
-

Total
$

7,496

4,764,985
(1,710,275)
(1,632,925)
(377,854)
-

Internal
Service Funds
$

1,043,931

988,827
(234,369)
(784,085)
(29,627)

-

-

(311)
608,017
191,844

-

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

-

-

799,550

-

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Acquisitions of capital assets
Capital contributions
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Principal paid on capital debt
Interest paid on capital debt

-

-

(498,874)
7,827
(560,000)
(116,369)

(222,355)
-

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities

-

-

(1,167,416)

(222,355)

793
5,170

1,286
9,659

14,621
87,990

572
8,470

5,963

10,945

102,611

9,042

$

121,543
350,262
471,805

$

18,441
579,078
597,519

$

778,676
6,883,472
7,662,148

$

87,726

$

(17,476)

$

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment income
Maturity of investments
Net cash provided by investing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year, as restated
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
from operating activities
Depreciation and amortization expense
Changes in assets and liabilities
Receivables (net)
Due from other units of government
Due from component units and joint ventures
Inventory
Prepaid items
Deferred outflows of resources
Current payables
Due to other funds
Due to other units of government
Net pension liability
Deferred inflows of resources
Compensated absences
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

260
(2,144)
29,154
584
$

115,580

$

(145,928)

$

(242,940)
375,036
132,096

$

(249,752)

24,875

747,630

221,350

(1,330)
1,407
20
-

348,232
(8,153)
4,815
4,377
(47,153)
75,872
4,474
941
(116,285)
189,037
(13,928)

(7,428)
(25,121)
(24)
(37,811)
71,325
5,177
(48,012)
(79,894)
129,878
(9,315)

7,496

$

1,043,931

$

(29,627)

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Statement of Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2021
Custodial
Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Certificates of deposit
Interest receivable
Due from other units of government

$

18,076
84
10,045

Total assets

594,409

Liabilities
Due to other units of government

17,558

Net Position
Held in trust for public safety employees
Held for parks and recreation projects
Total net position

566,204

569,860
6,991
$

576,851

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Custodial
Funds
Additions
Local contributions
Investment earnings
Property tax collections for other governments
Other revenue

$

Total additions

6,480,927

Deductions
Payments to other organizations
Payments of property tax to other governments

38,556
6,434,323

Total deductions
Change in net position
Beginning net position, as restated
Ending net position

40,630
1,057
6,434,323
4,917

6,472,879

$

8,048
568,803
576,851

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Combining Statement of Net Position
Component Units
June 30, 2021
Alma
Downtown
Development
Authority
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Due from other units of government
Prepaid items
Restricted assets
Restricted cash

$

112,865
2,663
37
-

$

-

Total current assets

115,565

Noncurrent assets
Land
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment and furnishings
Books
Less accumulated depreciation

at 12/31/20
Alma
Housing
Commission

Alma
Public
Library

132,188
5,665
3,502
85,600
1,040

$

967,584
1,747,430
2,676
4,788

Total

$

1,212,637
1,755,758
6,215
85,600
5,828

190,068

8,702

198,770

418,063

2,731,180

3,264,808

-

93,309
116,662
3,796,172
213,019
691,075
(2,354,961)

124,090
7,821,812
389,596
(6,701,919)

217,399
116,662
11,617,984
602,615
691,075
(9,056,880)

-

2,555,276

1,633,579

4,188,855

2,973,339

4,364,759

7,453,663

-

25,452
66,762

32,412

25,452
99,174

-

92,214

32,412

124,626

143
11
35
-

25,400
579
1,475
234,675
-

124,105
50,826
19,460
8,383

149,648
51,416
1,510
254,135
8,383

189

262,129

202,774

465,092

-

6,450
705,000
271,084

11,443
369,234

17,893
705,000
640,318

Total liabilities due in more than one year

-

982,534

380,677

1,363,211

Total liabilities

189

1,244,663

583,451

1,828,303

35,118

8,289

43,407

1,633,579
8,702
2,163,150

3,284,307
198,770
2,223,502

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

115,565

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount on bond refunding
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability
Total deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Current payables
Due to other units of government
Due to primary government
Portion of noncurrent liabilities due within one year
Unearned revenue
Total current liabilities
Due in more than one year
Compensated absences
Bonds payable
Net pension liability

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability

-

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position

115,376
$

115,376

1,650,728
190,068
(55,024)
$

1,785,772

$

3,805,431

$

5,706,579

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma
Combining Statement of Activities
Component Units
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Alma
Downtown
Development
Authority
Expenses
Community development
Recreation and culture
Public housing
Interest on long term debt

$

Total expenses

9,337
-

at 12/31/20
Alma
Housing
Commission

Alma
Public
Library
$

705,741
26,126

$

1,218,582
-

Total
$

9,337
705,741
1,218,582
26,126

9,337

731,867

1,218,582

1,959,786

20,602
-

308,273
8,019
149,635
-

403,583
745,170
44,317

328,875
411,602
894,805
44,317

Total program revenues

20,602

465,927

1,193,070

1,679,599

Net program revenue (expense)

11,265

(265,940)

(25,512)

(280,187)

General revenues
Property tax levy for debt retirement
Investment income
Other revenue

165
4,068

255,397
682
273

33,277
22,256

255,397
34,124
26,597

4,233

256,352

55,533

316,118

30,021
3,775,410
3,805,431

35,931
5,670,648
5,706,579

Program revenues
Property tax levy for operating
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions

Total general revenue
Change in net position
Beginning net position
Ending net position

$

15,498
99,878
115,376

$

(9,588)
1,795,360
1,785,772 $

$

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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City of Alma, Michigan
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Located in Gratiot County, Michigan, Alma was settled in 1853 along the banks of the Pine River, became a village
in 1872 and was incorporated in 1905 as the City of Alma. Organized under Michigan’s Comprehensive Home Rule
City Act, the City of Alma is governed by a seven-member City Commission elected by its more than 9,000 citizens
at large. The City Commission selects the Mayor and Vice Mayor from among its members. A City Manager is
appointed to administer the business of the City. By charter, City of Alma is a full service city providing police and fire
protection, highways and streets, sanitation, water production and distribution, housing, recreation, public
improvements, planning, zoning and general administration. The accounting policies of the City of Alma conform to
generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governmental units. The following is a summary of the
significant policies.
(A) THE REPORTING ENTITY
As required by generally accepted accounting principles, the reporting entity consists of the primary government and
component units for which the elected officials of the primary government are financially accountable. Component
units are those legally separate entities which are fiscally dependent on the primary government or for which the
nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the
financial statements to be misleading. The financial statements are written from the perspective of the primary
government.
All component units are presented in a separate column in the government-wide financial statements to emphasize
their separate legal status from the primary government. Alma Downtown Development Authority and Alma Public
Library have a June 30 year end. Alma Housing Commission has a December 31 year end. The following component
units are included in the City’s reporting entity.
(i)

Discretely Presented Component Units

Alma Downtown Development Authority is responsible for the correction and prevention of deterioration,
encouragement of historic preservation, authorization of the creation and implementation of development plans
and promotion of economic growth within the central business district. The Alma City Commission appoints board
members as recommended by the Mayor. The Alma D.D.A. is legally separate from the City and is funded by a
two-mill property tax levied on the district as authorized by the Alma City Commission. The D.D.A. also receives
contributions from the City and rental income from a donated downtown building. There are no separate financial
statements.
Alma Public Library operates the local library in Alma. The Library Board is appointed by the City Commission.
The Library is legally separate from the City; however, any debt issued by the Library must be approved by the
Alma City Commission. The Library is funded primarily through a local operating millage and the City’s share of a
county-wide library millage as well as an allocation of penal fines from the district court. There are no separate
financial statements.
Alma Housing Commission provides assistance with low income housing by operating subsidized low-income
housing and rent vouchers. The Board of the Housing Commission is appointed by the City Manager. The
Commission is legally separate from the City. All debt must be approved by the City of Alma. All land used by the
Housing Commission is owned by the City. Tartan Terrace was originally constructed with bond proceeds issued
by the Alma Building Authority and remains titled to the City. The Commission receives most of its funding from
rental income and federal grants. Fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 has been presented in this report.
Complete financial statements for the Housing Commission can be obtained by writing to:
Alma Housing Commission
400 E. Warwick
Alma, MI 48801
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City of Alma, Michigan
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021
(ii)

Blended Component Units

Alma Building Authority provides bond financing for City of Alma and its component units. The Board is appointed
by the Alma City Commission. The Authority is a separate legal entity. Although there are residual debt service
monies on hand, the authority is inactive.
Local Development Finance Authority is responsible for providing infrastructure improvements in Alma’s industrial
district. A majority of the board of the Alma L.D.F.A. is appointed by the City Manager. The Alma Public School
Board and the Gratiot County Board of Commissioners each appoint one member of the board. Projects are
restricted to the established development district. The Alma L.D.F.A. is legally separate from the City but the Alma
City Commission must approve all debt issues. There are no separate financial statements.
(iii)

Joint Ventures

Rural Urban Fire Board was created through Public Act 35 of 1951, as amended and Public Act 8, as amended.
The agreement is made among the City of Alma, the Township of Arcada, the Township of Sumner, the Township
of Seville and the Township of Pine River. The Board consists of seven voting members, including the Supervisor
of each of the Townships, the City Manager of Alma and two other individuals appointed by Alma’s City
Commission. The primary purpose of the Rural Urban Fire Board is to provide fire protection services to its
members.
The Board approves an annual budget and within the financial constraints of that budget and the authority granted
by the agreement, the Department is managed by Alma according to laws, rules and regulations applicable to
Alma as a municipal corporation. The employees of the Rural Urban Fire Department are considered employees
of City of Alma. The City of Alma’s equity interest in the Rural Urban Fire Board’s operating reserve totaling
$703,744 is recorded within the governmental activities column of the entity-wide statement of net position.
The City maintains the accounting records for the Board. The financial statements are presented in other
supplementary information. There are no separate financial statements.
Gratiot Community Airport Authority operates the only public airport in Gratiot County. Under MCL 259.621, et.
Seq. an agreement to establish the Gratiot Community Airport Authority was entered into on February 18, 2009
and amended on January 30, 2012. The agreement is between the County of Gratiot, City of Alma, City of St.
Louis, City of Ithaca, Township of Pine River and Township of Arcada. The Authority is operated by a six person
board, one member from each member municipality.
Operational funds are contributed in part by each member municipality. The Authority Agreement provides for
each member municipality to contribute to the Authority with Gratiot County and the City of Alma contributing
additional funds required in equal percentages. The Authority Board is responsible for preparing and adopting a
budget including the appropriations required from each member municipality.
The member municipalities conveyed title to the lands used as the Airport to the Authority. Any lands obtained
hereafter shall be owned by the Authority. The City of Alma’s equity interest in the Authority’s operating reserve
totaling $764,306 is recorded within the governmental activities column of the entity-wide statement of net position.
The City maintains the accounting records for the Gratiot Community Airport Authority. The financial statements
are presented in other supplementary information. The Gratiot Community Airport Authority is a proprietary fund
type and does not produce separate financial statements.
Gratiot Area Water Authority is a joint venture between the City of Alma and the City of St Louis. The purpose of
the Authority is to locate, treat and deliver potable water to the residents of the two cities. The Authority is governed
by a Board of Trustees consisting of two voting representatives for each constituent municipality as appointed by
a majority vote of the respective governing body. The city managers for each constituent municipality also serve,
ex officio.
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The Board is responsible for preparing and adopting an annual budget of proposed expenditures for the operation
of the Authority. The Board has the power to acquire real and personal property, enter into contracts and issue
debt. Funding for the Authority is provided by each constituent municipality based on metered water usage. The
City has no equity interest in the Gratiot Area Water Authority. The City of St. Louis maintains the accounting
records for the Authority. The Gratiot Area Water Authority is a proprietary fund type and produces separate
audited financial statements which may be obtained by contacting the City of St. Louis.
Gratiot County Central Dispatch Authority is a joint venture between Gratiot County, the State of Michigan, City of
Alma, City of St. Louis, City of Ithaca and City of Breckenridge. The Authority provides emergency dispatch
services for all police, fire and rescue services in Gratiot County. The governing board is comprised of 11 members.
Gratiot County appoints six board members: the County Sheriff, one township representative, one village
representative, one county citizen, and two county commissioners. Each other unit appoints one board member.
The Authority is responsible for preparing the annual budget (which must also be approved by Gratiot County) and
carrying out all activities of the Authority.
The Authority receives funding from telephone surcharge fees and local contributions. A formula has been
established to allocate the local contributions. The financial activities of Gratiot County Central Dispatch Authority
are reported in Gratiot County’s financial statements as a component unit. Gratiot County Central Dispatch is on
an October 1 to September 30, fiscal year. The City has no equity interest in the Dispatch Authority. There are no
separate financial statements produced for Gratiot County Central Dispatch Authority. Copies of Gratiot County
financial statements can be obtained by writing:
Gratiot County Treasurer
P.O. Drawer 437
Ithaca, Michigan 48847
(iv)

Joint Operation

Mid-Michigan Area Cable Communications Consortium is a joint operation between twelve mid-Michigan
communities with cable franchises granted to Charter Communications Inc. The twelve communities include the
Cities of Alma, Clare, Harrison, Ithaca, Mt Pleasant and St Louis, the Villages of Breckenridge, North Star and
Shepherd, and the Townships of Arcada, Pine River and The Charter Township of Union. The Consortium is
responsible for developing, monitoring, and enforcing the cable ordinance, negotiating and monitoring cable
franchise agreements, and, to the extent permitted by federal law, regulating cable rates. The Consortium is
responsible for the operation of the public, education and government access channels. Each community is
permitted two members of the governing board. The Consortium is responsible for preparing the annual budget.
A formula has been established to allocate the portion of each unit’s cable franchise fees contributed to the
consortium. The Consortium is on a January 1 to December 31, fiscal year and produces separate financial
statements. Copies of Mid-Michigan Area Cable Communication Consortium financial statements can be obtained
by writing:
Mid-Michigan Area Cable Consortium
312 West Michigan Street
Mt. Pleasant, MI. 48858
(B) GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
While separate government-wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are interrelated. The
government-wide financial statements (statement of net position and statement of activities) report information on
all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government of the City of Alma and its component units. For the most
part, the effect of inter-fund activities has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which are
normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities,
which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for services. The primary government of the City of Alma is
reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the City of Alma is financially
accountable.
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The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a function or segment are offset
by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.
Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods,
services or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes, investment income and
other items not properly included as program revenues are reported as general revenues.
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even
though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds
and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.
(C) MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. In the individual fund statements and schedules, the proprietary funds financial
statements are also reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
The Agency Fund does not have a measurement focus; however it is subject to the accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing
of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and
similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the grantor have been
met.
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and
the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and
available. Revenues are considered available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to offset liabilities of the current period. The City of Alma considers revenues to be available if they are
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when a liability is incurred,
except debt service expenditures, compensated absences and claims and judgments are recorded only when
payment is due.
Intergovernmental revenues, franchise fees, licenses and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all
considered to be susceptible to accrual and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other
revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received.
The City of Alma reports the following major governmental funds:
The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund used to account for all financial resources of the general
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
The Major Streets Fund accounts for the receipt of state shared gas and weight taxes allocated to the City
according to Act 51. The expenditure of these funds is restricted to City of Alma streets that have been
designated as major by the Michigan Department of Transportation.
The City of Alma reports the following major proprietary funds:
The Transit Services Fund accounts for the activities of the demand response bus system operated by the City
of Alma. The system is supported by federal and state grants, local tax dollars and user fees.
The Wastewater Utility Fund accounts for activities related to the collection and purification of wastewater.
The Water Utility Fund accounts for activities related to the distribution of potable water and contributions to the
Gratiot Area Water Authority.
The Refuse Disposal Fund accounts for the activities of collection and disposal of household hazardous waste,
yard waste.
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Additionally, the City of Alma reports the following fund types:
Permanent Funds are used to account for the Cemetery Endowment and the Library Endowment. Both
endowments were created by ordinance and transfer eighty percent of investment income to operating funds.
Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the administration of grant monies received from Michigan
Housing Development Authority. Special revenue funds are also used to account for the residual funds of the
Local Development Finance Authority, local streets funding and related project, and the street improvement
millage.
A Debt Service Fund is used to account for Alma Building Authority funds remaining after payment of bonds
issued to construct Tartan Terrace senior housing complex.
Nonmajor proprietary funds are used to account for the rental facilities owned and leased by the City.
Internal Service Funds are used to account for public works services, fleet maintenance, equipment
replacement, engineering services, geographical information system, data information systems, accounting,
retiree medical insurance, and buildings and grounds maintenance services provided to other departments on a
cost reimbursement basis.
Fiduciary Funds include the following custodial funds:




Public Safety Employees’ Benefit Trust Fund which is used to account for private donations legally held
in trust for Police and Fire personnel killed or disabled in the line of duty.
Tax Collection Fund which is used to collect and distribute State of Michigan, Gratiot County, Alma
Public Schools, and Gratiot Isabella Regional Educational School District property tax monies and
payments in lieu of taxes collected from subsidized housing units within the City limits.
Park Project Fund which accounts for amounts on hand related to various parks and recreation projects
administered by a third party.

As a general rule, the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.
Exceptions are charges for services provided between the Transit Services Fund, Water Utility Fund, Wastewater
Utility Fund and other functions and segments and payment in lieu of taxes from the Alma Housing Commission.
Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues for the various functions
concerned.
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services or
privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Property taxes,
state shared sales tax revenue and investment income are reported as general revenue. Examples of program
revenues include:






Cemetery burial charges
Building permits
Special assessments
Usage charges for water and sewer services
Charges for police and fire incident reports and fines

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operation. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds
include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.
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(D) DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Cash equivalents are defined as all highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of less than
three months at time of purchase. City of Alma includes cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments
as cash equivalents.
Investments are reported at fair market value. City of Alma has adopted an Investment Policy which specifies all
investments be made in accordance with all State of Michigan laws and regulations. The policy allows investment in
approved financial institution certificates of deposit and other interest-bearing demand deposit accounts and
obligations of the U.S. Treasury. In addition, excess funds of the Cemetery Endowment Fund, Library Endowment
Fund and Public Safety Employees’ Benefit Trust Fund may be invested in mutual funds.
(E) RECEIVABLES
Receivables have been recognized for all significant amounts due the City. Generally, no allowances have been
made for uncollectible receivables. Most delinquent receivables can be added to the tax roll and become a lien
against the property. No allowance for uncollectible accounts has been determined necessary.
(F) INVENTORIES
Inventories of proprietary funds are valued at lower of cost or market using first-in, first-out costing. Inventories
consist of disinfecting chemicals, vehicle maintenance parts and tires and road maintenance materials and signs. In
governmental funds, materials purchased are recorded as expenditures when acquired.
(G) PREPAID ITEMS
Certain types of services are paid for in advance. These payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future
accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.
Prepaid items include rent payments, insurance premiums and software maintenance agreements. The consumption
method is used to account for prepaid items in governmental funds.
(H) RESTRICTED ASSETS
Unexpended proceeds of bond issuances, as well as certain resources set aside for bond repayment, are classified
as restricted assets on the statement of net position because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants.
(I) CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital assets include property, buildings, equipment, vehicles and infrastructure assets (e.g. streets, bridges, and
sidewalks) and are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the governmentwide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the City of Alma as tangible assets with an initial cost of
more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. All capital assets are valued at historical cost
or estimated historical cost if actual cost is not available. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market
value on the date of donation.
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend asset
lives are not capitalized.
Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets used is charged as an expense against the related function or program
in the government-wide Statement of Activities and all proprietary fund financial statements. Accumulated
depreciation is reported on the government-wide statement of net position and all proprietary fund statements of net
position.
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The straight-line depreciation method is used for all depreciable capital assets. Land is not depreciated. The
estimated useful lives for capital assets are displayed in the following table:
Asset Class
Land Improvements
Buildings
Equipment
Vehicles
Utility Lines and Appurtenances
Streets and Bridges
Sidewalks
Library Books

Depreciable Life
10-20 Years
10-40 Years
5-20 Years
3-10 Years
10-40 Years
25 Years
50 Years
15-20 Years

(J) DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
A deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net position by the City that is applicable to a future reporting
period. The City reports deferred outflows of resources as a result of pension earnings. This amount is the result of
a difference between what the plan expected to earn from the plan investments and what the plan actually earned.
This amount will be amortized over the next four years and included in pension expense. Changes in assumptions
and experience differences relating to the net pension liability are deferred and amortized over the expected
remaining service lives of the employees and retirees in the plan. The City also reported deferred outflows of
resources for pension contributions made after the measurement date. This amount will reduce net pension liability
in the following year.
Deferred amounts on bond refunding represent the difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying
amount of the prior debt.
(K) COMPENSATED ABSENCES
The City allows employees to accumulate sick leave to a maximum of 720 hours. Sick leave is paid only upon illness
while in the employ of the City. Sick leave is not paid upon termination. No liability provision is made for accumulated
sick leave due to the uncertainty of the actual amount which may eventually be paid.
Earned vacation leave is required to be used within two years of accrual with a maximum carryover of 120 hours.
Earned vacation leave is paid upon termination. Accumulated unpaid vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the
government wide financial statements and in proprietary fund financial statements.
(L) LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
In the government-wide financial statements and fund financial statements of proprietary fund types, long term debt
and obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable statement of net position. Bond premiums or discounts
are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using straight line amortization. Bonds payable are reported
net of the applicable bond premium or discount.
In the fund financial statements of governmental fund types, bond premiums, discounts, and issuance costs are
reported in the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums
received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources. Bond discounts are reported as other financing
uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds, are reported as debt service in the
current period.
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(M) PENSIONS
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position the Municipal Employees
Retirement System (MERS) of Michigan and additions to/deductions from MERS’ fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported to MERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds
of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments
are reported at fair value. The City receives actuarial-based calculations to compute the annual determined
contributions (ADC) necessary to fund the obligations over the remaining amortization periods. In the governmental
funds, pension costs are recognized as contributions are made. For the government-wide statements and proprietary
funds, the City reports the full accrual cost equal to the current year required contributions, adjusted for interest and
“adjustment to the ADC” on the beginning of the year underpaid amount, if any.
(N) DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period or periods and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources until that time.
Unavailable revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report
unavailable revenue from five sources: property taxes, special assessments, cable franchise fees, lease income and
investment earnings. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the
amounts become available.
The City reports deferred inflows of resources as a result of pension earnings. This amount is the result of a
difference between what the plan expected to earn from the plan investments and what the plan actually earned.
This amount will be amortized over the next four years and included in pension expense. Changes in assumptions
and experience differences relating to the net pension liability are deferred and amortized over the expected
remaining services lives of the employees and retirees in the plan.
(O) ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
(P) FUND BALANCE POLICIES AND FLOW ASSUMPTION
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance in the following categories:
 Non-spendable – assets that are not available in a spendable form.
 Restricted – amounts that are legally imposed or otherwise required by external parties to be used for a
specific purpose.
 Committed – amounts constrained on use imposed by the City’s highest level of decision-making, its City
Commission. A fund balance commitment may be established, modified or rescinded by a resolution of the
City Commission.
 Assigned – amounts intended to be used for specific purposes, as determined by the City Commission or
City Manager. The City Commission has granted the City Manager the authority to assign funds. Residual
amounts in governmental funds other than the General Fund are automatically assigned by their nature.
 Unassigned – all other resources, the remaining fund balances after non-spendable restrictions,
commitments and assignments.
When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available,
the City’s policy is to consider restricted funds spent first.
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When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which committed, assigned or unassigned amounts could be used,
the City’s policy is to consider the funds to be spent in the following order: 1) committed, 2) assigned, 3) unassigned.
(Q) PROPERTY TAXES
City property taxes are assessed as of December 31 and attached as an enforceable lien on property as of July 1
of the following year. The taxes are due without penalty on or before September 15. Real property taxes unpaid at
March 1 are advanced to the City and collected by Gratiot County. Personal property taxes, property taxes on leased
land and industrial facilities property taxes remaining unpaid at March 1 are collected by the City of Alma Treasurer.
The City considers property taxes both measurable and available when they are levied on July 1 and recognizes
property tax revenue at that time.
The City acts as property tax collection agent for Gratiot County, Alma Public Schools, and the Gratiot-Isabella
Intermediate School District. Taxes collected on behalf of those units are remitted according to State of Michigan
regulation. The tax collections are received and distributed from an agency fund. The City collects a 1% property tax
administration fee.
(R) STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY
FUND DEFICITS
The City has an accumulated unrestricted net position deficit of $55,024 in the Alma Public Library Fund, a
component unit. A deficit elimination plan is not required.
BUDGETARY INFORMATION
Under City Charter, the following budget procedures must be followed:
1. The fiscal year shall begin on July 1 and end on June 30th of each year.
2. The City Manager shall submit a proposed operating budget to the City Commission by April 20.
3. A public hearing must be held before the budget is adopted. The budget hearing must be properly noticed
seven days before the hearing.
4. The City Commission must adopt the budget by resolution no later than June 1.
Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device for all funds except the following fund
types:





Permanent funds
Fiduciary funds
Debt service funds
Internal service funds

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Annual appropriation
budgets are adopted for the General, Special Revenue and Enterprise Funds. All annual appropriations lapse at
fiscal year end. Project length financial plans are adopted for all Capital Project Funds. In addition, the City
Commission approves budgets for two component units: Alma Public Library and Alma Downtown Development
Authority.
The budget for the General Fund is adopted at the activity level. All other budgets are approved at the fund level.
For management purposes, the City develops a more detailed budget. The City Commission must approve any
revision that alters the total expenditures above the legal level. City Commission approval of projects involving
intergovernmental grant funding are considered approved budget amendments when grant awards are approved.
The City Manager, or his designee, is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within these functional areas.
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Excess of expenditures over appropriations
The City had the following expenditures in excess of appropriations.
Fund
General Fund
Community development
Community safety
Recreation and culture
Debt service

Final Budget
$

259,760
2,339,125
158,135
22,650

Actual
$

386,724
2,398,020
218,320
22,652

Difference
$

126,964
58,895
60,185
2

(S) BUILDING PERMIT REVENUES AND RELATED EXPENDITURES
Under Public Act 245 of 1999, permit fees for building construction must be restricted to the operation of the enforcing
agency. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, the City of Alma collected $45,551 in building permit fees. For the
same time period, the City expended an amount in excess of the collections related to the building permit program.
(T) ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities improves the guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for
accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported. The focus of the criteria
includes the following: (1) is the government controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries
with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. The four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension
(and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust funds, and (4) custodial
funds. Custodial funds generally will report fiduciary activities that are not held in a trust or similar arrangement that
meets specific criteria.
Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue
Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans, (1) increases consistency and comparability related to the
reporting of fiduciary component units in circumstances in which a potential component unit does not have a
governing board and the primary government performs the duties that a governing board typically would perform;
(2) mitigates costs associated with the reporting of certain defined contribution pension plans, defined contribution
other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plans, and employee benefit plans other than pension plans or OPEB plans
(other employee benefit plans) as fiduciary component units in fiduciary fund financial statements; and (3) enhances
the relevance, consistency, and comparability of the accounting and financial reporting for Internal Revenue Code
(IRC) Section 457 deferred compensation plans (Section 457 plans) that meet the definition of a pension plan and
for benefits provided through those plans.
Statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report establishes the term annual comprehensive
financial report and its acronym ACFR. That new term and acronym replace instances of comprehensive annual
financial report and its acronym in generally accepted accounting principles for state and local governments. This
Statement was developed in response to concerns raised by stakeholders that the common pronunciation of the
acronym for comprehensive annual financial report sounds like a profoundly objectionable racial slur. This
Statement’s introduction of the new term is founded on a commitment to promoting inclusiveness.
(U) UPCOMING ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING CHANGES
Statement No. 87, Leases increases the usefulness of the financial statements by requiring recognition of certain
lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows
of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model
for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying
asset. A lessee will be required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use a lease asset, and a lessor
will be required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance
and consistency of information about leasing activities. The requirements of this Statement are effective for the fiscal
year ending June 30, 2022.
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Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period enhances the
relevance and comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and
to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. It requires that interest cost
incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost is
incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. As a result, interest
cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the historical cost of a capital asset
reporting in a business-type activity or enterprise fund. Interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period
should be recognized as an expenditure for financial statements prepared using the current financial resources
measurement. The requirements of this Statement are effective for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.
Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations provides a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers
and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements
associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. This Statement achieves those objectives
by clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a
liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial reporting of additional commitments and
voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations; and
improving required note disclosures. This statement is effective for the year ending June 30, 2023.
Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, is based on the standards
established in Statement No. 87 Leases. This statement (1) defines a SBITA as a contract that conveys control of
the right to use a SBITA vendor’s IT software, alone or in combination with tangible capital assets, as specified in
the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction (2) requires governments with SBITAs
to recognize a right-to-use subscription asset, an intangible asset, and a corresponding subscription liability, and (3)
provides guidance related to outlays other than subscription payments, including implementation costs, and
requirements for note disclosures related to a SBITA. This statement is effective for the year ending June 30, 2023.
The City is evaluating the impact that the above GASBs will have on its financial reporting.

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
(A) RECONCILATION OF DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Following is a reconciliation of cash and investments as reported in the financial statements to the City’s deposits
and investments:
Government-wide Financial Statement Captions:
Primary Government:
Cash and cash equivalents
$ 16,222,844
Investments
444,906
Fiduciary Funds:
Cash and cash equivalents
566,204
Investments
18,076
Component Units:
Cash and cash equivalents
1,212,637
Investments
1,755,758
Restricted cash
198,770
Joint Ventures:
Cash and cash equivalents
1,282,334
Investments
37,446
Total
$ 21,738,975
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Deposits
Cash on hand
Investments
Total

Notes to Financial Statements:
$

$

12,765,278
1,855
8,971,842
21,738,975

(B) DEPOSITS
For deposits, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure the government may lose its deposits
in that bank. The City’s investment policy restricts the amount of deposits in any one financial institution to 50% of
the City’s total deposits. Alma Housing Commission is included but reported in the financial statements as of
December 31, 2020. At June 30, 2021, the bank balance was $13,105,322. Of the bank balance, $4,072,799 was
covered by FDIC insurance and $6,182,542 was collateralized by governmental securities having a fair market value
of $7,880,500, leaving $2,849,991 uninsured and uncollateralized.
At December 31, 2020, the Alma Housing Commission has a depository agreement with every bank holding cash
and investments that guarantees 100% collateralization of funds beyond FDIC and SPIC limits.
Following an Attorney General Opinion, the City restricts its deposits to banks, savings and loan associations or
credit unions having their principal office in the State of Michigan.
(C) INVESTMENTS
Under its investment policy, which follows State statutes, the City restricts its investments to bonds, bills, or notes of
the United States; commercial paper rated prime; securities issued or guaranteed by agencies or instrumentalities
of the United States; United States government federal agency obligation repurchase agreements composed of
eligible collateral whose fair value must be maintained equal to or greater than amounts advanced, and with an
undivided interest; bankers’ acceptances; and mutual funds and investments pools that are composed entirely of
the aforementioned investments that are legal for direct investment by a city.
Interest Rate Risk
Unless matched to a specific cash flow, the City’s investment policy restricts investments to one year for
governmental fund types, two years for enterprise fund types, and five years for endowment funds.
Credit Risk
The City’s investment policy restricts investment in commercial paper to the top investment rating provided by two
nationally recognized rating agencies at the time of purchase and requires immediate sale if the principal invested
becomes jeopardized. City of Alma is not invested in commercial paper.
Concentration of Credit Risk
The City of Alma uses common checking accounts for several of the operating funds. Each fund’s share of the cash
balance is reported separately. Surplus funds are invested throughout the year. The City allocates interest earnings
in relation to the average cash balance of each fund. Investments are carried at cost as declines in fair values are
considered temporary except for investments where the term is for more than twelve months or in the case of mutual
funds. Investments in long term investments and mutual funds are recorded at fair value.
Custodial Credit Risk - Investments
For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the government will not be able
to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. All of
the City’s investments are in US Government instruments or securities guaranteed by the US Government or
collateralized. The City has not adopted a formal custodial credit risk policy.
(D) RELATED PARTY
A City Commissioner is the vice president of deposit administration for a bank that the City holds deposits with in
the amount of $3,094,914 as of June 30, 2021.
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NOTE 3 - FAIR MARKET VALUE
Investments in Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share
The City holds shares or interests in investment companies whereby the fair value of the investments is measured
on a recurring basis using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the investment companies as a practical
expedient.
At year end, the net asset value of the City's investment in Michigan CLASS was $8,971,842. The investment pool
had no unfunded commitments, specific redemption frequency or redemption notice period required. The Michigan
CLASS investment pool invests in U.S. treasury obligations, federal agency obligations of the U.S. government,
high-grade commercial paper (rated ‘A-1’ or better) collateralized bank deposits, repurchase agreements
(collateralized at 102% by Treasuries and agencies), and approved money-market funds. The program seeks to
provide safety, liquidity, convenience, and competitive rates of return, and is designed to meet the needs of Michigan
public sector investors. It purchases securities that are legally permissible under state statutes and are available for
investment by Michigan counties, cities, townships, school districts, authorities and other public agencies. It has a
rating of AAA from Standard and Poor’s with a weighted average maturity of 54 days.

NOTE 4 - RECEIVABLES
Receivables of the primary government and component units have been disaggregated in the following table. All
major funds have been shown individually. Delinquent utility bills are placed as a lien against the property and
collected in the next year with the property taxes.

Taxes
Primary Government
Governmental Activities:
General Fund
Major Streets Fund
Non-Major Funds
Total governmental funds
Internal Service Funds
Total governmental activities

$

Business-type Activities:
Transit Services
Wastewater Utility
Water Utility
Refuse Disposal
Non-Major Funds
Total business-type activities
Primary Government Totals
Component Units
Alma Downtown Development Authority
Alma Public Library
Alma Housing Commission

Long Term
Receivables

Within One Year
Accounts/
Special
Assessments/
Utilities

4,677
4,677
4,677

$

284
284

278,807
795
279,602
11,270
290,872

Investment
Earnings

$

41,362
269,951
205,008
98,025
6,860
621,206

446
359
228
1,033
129
1,162

Special
Assessments

$

136
170
398
50
93
847

1,840
1,840
1,840

Total

$

16,368
16,368

285,770
359
1,023
287,152
11,399
298,551

41,782
286,489
205,406
98,075
6,953
638,705

$

4,961

$

912,078

$

2,009

$

18,208

$

937,256

$

25
592
617

$

2,884
2,676
5,560

$

12
26

$

$

38

$

-

37
3,502
2,676
6,215

$

$

$

$
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NOTE 5 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
The following table presents amounts due at June 30, 2021:
Interfund Receivables / Payables
Between Funds of Primary Government
Receivable Fund
General Fund
General Fund
General Fund
General Fund
General Fund
General Fund
General Fund
General Fund

Payable Fund
Major Streets Fund
Transit Fund
Wastewater Fund
Water Fund
Refuse Disposal Fund
Internal Service Fund
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

$

430
4,008
2,598
1,643
584
5,177
754
20
15,214

$

NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ASSETS
A summary of changes in governmental activities capital assets including internal service funds is presented below:
Governmental Activities of Primary Government
Balances
June 30, 2020
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land
Construction in progress

$

Total capital assets not being depreciated

3,741,686
44,911

Additions
$

349,696

Balances
June 30, 2021

Deletions
$

(371,278)

$

3,741,686
23,329

3,786,597

349,696

(371,278)

3,765,015

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles
Sidewalks
Streets and Bridges

2,222,199
3,385,277
2,389,968
2,863,568
1,671,427
26,135,758

212,588
90,321
90,529
182,042
351,581

(10,346)
(364,594)
(365,316)
-

2,434,787
3,465,252
2,115,903
2,680,294
1,671,427
26,487,339

Total capital assets being depreciated

38,668,197

927,061

(740,256)

38,855,002

Less accumulated depreciation for
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles
Sidewalks
Streets and Bridges

1,436,253
2,835,197
1,761,426
2,009,399
616,176
16,041,013

84,217
39,419
100,654
161,186
41,181
745,450

(10,347)
(323,295)
(365,317)
-

1,520,470
2,864,269
1,538,785
1,805,268
657,357
16,786,463

Total accumulated depreciation

24,699,464

1,172,107

(698,959)

25,172,612

Net capital assets being depreciated

13,968,733

(41,297)

13,682,390

Governmental activities capital assets, net

$

17,755,330

(245,046)
$

104,650

$

(412,575)

$

17,447,405
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Depreciation expense was charged to the following governmental activities of the primary government:
Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense
Community development
$
2,956
Community safety
33,022
Property maintenance
12,004
Transportation
823,151
Recreation and culture
61,439
Executive administration
18,185
Internal service funds
221,350
Total governmental activities
$ 1,172,107

A summary of changes in capital assets for business-type activities is presented below:
Business-type Activities of Primary Government
Balances
June 30, 2020
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land
Construction in progress

$

Total capital assets not being depreciated

107,903
72,036

Additions
$

306,714

Balances
June 30, 2021

Deletions
$

(340,188)

$

107,903
38,562

179,939

306,714

(340,188)

146,465

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles
Utility lines and appurtenances

144,427
7,428,046
1,637,342
1,199,589
17,649,440

21,524
40,468
470,356

(100,305)
(63,368)
-

144,427
7,449,570
1,577,505
1,136,221
18,119,796

Total capital assets being depreciated

28,058,844

532,348

(163,673)

28,427,519

68,782
4,313,751
945,803
354,256
7,588,679

5,861
140,982
78,098
142,873
379,816

(100,264)
(63,368)
-

74,643
4,454,733
923,637
433,761
7,968,495

Total accumulated depreciation

13,271,271

747,630

(163,632)

13,855,269

Net capital assets being depreciated

14,787,573

(215,282)

(41)

14,572,250

Less accumulated depreciation for
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles
Utility lines and appurtenances

Business-type capital assets, net

$

14,967,512

$

91,432

$

(340,229)

$

14,718,715

Depreciation expense was charged to the following business-type activities of the primary government:

Business-type Activities Depreciation Expense
State Street Plaza
$
Transit Services
Wastewater Utility
Water Utility
Refuse Disposal
Total business-type activities
$

24,875
187,858
349,532
185,105
260
747,630
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Summaries of changes in capital assets for component units are presented in the following schedules:
Alma Public Library Component Unit
Balances
June 30, 2020
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land

$

93,309

Additions
$

Balances
June 30, 2021

Deletions
-

$

-

$

93,309

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Books

108,210
3,769,327
257,167
691,075

8,452
26,845
-

(44,148)
-

116,662
3,796,172
213,019
691,075

Total capital assets being depreciated

4,825,779

35,297

(44,148)

4,816,928

Less accumulated depreciation for
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Books

55,967
1,448,187
227,963
535,253

4,616
94,395
5,775
25,679

(42,874)
-

60,583
1,542,582
190,864
560,932

Total accumulated depreciation

2,267,370

130,465

(42,874)

2,354,961

Net capital assets being depreciated

2,558,409

(95,168)

(1,274)

2,461,967

Total net capital assets

$

2,651,718

$

(95,168)

$

(1,274)

$

2,555,276

Alma Housing Commission Component Unit
Balances
December 31, 2019
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land

$

124,090

Additions
$

Balances
December 31, 2020

Deletions
-

$

-

$

124,090

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements
Equipment

7,813,577
392,405

8,235
58,163

(60,972)

7,821,812
389,596

Total capital assets being depreciated

8,205,982

66,398

(60,972)

8,211,408

Less accumulated depreciation

6,619,902

142,989

(60,972)

6,701,919

Net capital assets being depreciated

1,586,080

(76,591)

-

1,509,489

Total net capital assets

$

1,710,170

$

(76,591)

$

-

$

1,633,579

$

93,309
124,090
217,399

Component Unit Totals
Capital assets not being depreciated
Alma Public Library
Alma Housing Commission

$
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Alma Public Library
Alma Housing Commission

$
$

2,461,967
1,509,489
3,971,456
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM DEBT
Balance at
June 30, 2020
Governmental activities
Note payable
Compensated absences
Total long-term liabilities

$

Business-type activities
Bonds payable
General obligation bonds
Special assessment bonds
Revenue bonds
Total bonds payable
Compensated absences
Total long-term liabilities

$ 2,035,000
35,000
2,827,470
4,897,470
94,597
$ 4,992,067

Component Units
Bonds payable
General obligation bonds
Compensated absences
Total long-term liabilities

$ 1,145,000
41,293
$ 1,186,293

$

21,991
146,416
168,407

Additions
$
$

$

$

$
$

242,561
242,561

73,277
73,277

22,413
22,413

Reductions
$
$

$

$

$
$

Balance at
June 30, 2021
$

(21,991)
(241,420)
(263,411)

$

(345,000)
(20,000)
(195,000)
(560,000)
(87,205)
(647,205)

$ 1,690,000
15,000
2,632,470
4,337,470
80,669
$ 4,418,139

$

(215,000)
(16,678)
(231,678)

$

$

$

147,557
147,557

Due Within
One Year

930,000
47,028
977,028

$
$

$

$

59,022
59,022

365,000
15,000
200,000
580,000
48,402
628,402

225,000
29,135
254,135

The note payable in governmental activities is a Brownfield Redevelopment Loan with Michigan Department of
Environmental Quality, Remediation Division. The contract was executed on September 21, 2005. The ten-year
repayment commenced September 21, 2010. Interest is at a nominal annual rate of 2%. The final payment was
made during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
For governmental activities, compensated absences are generally liquidated by the general fund. Internal service
funds predominantly serve the governmental funds. Accordingly, compensated absences for internal service funds
are included as part of the totals for governmental activities.
There are a number of limitations and restrictions contained in the various bond indentures. The City is in compliance
with all significant limitations and restrictions.
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Long-term bonded debt of the primary government and discretely presented component units is comprised of the
following individual issues:
Balance at
June 30, 2020

Additions

Reductions

Balance at
June 30, 2021

Due Within
One Year

Business-type activities:
$485,000 2006 General Obligation Bonds. Bonds due in annual
installments of $25,000 through May 1, 2022, interest at 4.75%.
Sold at par.
$755,000 2011 Capital Improvement Limited Tax General
Obligation Bonds. Bonds due in annual installments of $55,000 to
$70,000 through May 1, 2026, interest at 3.65% to 4.50% Sold at
par.

$

45,000

$

-

$

(20,000)

$

25,000

$

25,000

360,000

-

(50,000)

310,000

55,000

1,630,000

-

(275,000)

1,355,000

285,000

35,000

-

(20,000)

15,000

15,000

$1,465,451 2011 Sewer System Junior Lien Revenue Bonds,
Series 2012. Bonds due in installments of $70,000 to $90,451
through April 1, 2032, interest at 2.5%.

955,451

-

(70,000)

885,451

70,000

$660,000 2013 Sewer System Junior Lien Revenue Bonds,
Series 2012. Bonds due in installments of $35,000 to
$39,960 through April 1, 2033, interest at 2.0%.

454,960

-

(30,000)

424,960

35,000

$494,981 2012 Sewer System Junior Lien Revenue Bonds,
Series 2012. Bonds due in installments of $25,000 to $34,981
through April 1, 2032, interest at 2.5%.

329,981

-

(25,000)

304,981

25,000

Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2013. Bonds due in installments
of $65,000 to $85,000 through April 1, 2033, interest at 2.5%.

975,000

-

(65,000)

910,000

65,000

Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2013. Bonds due in installments
of $5,000 to $12,078 through April 1, 2024, interest at 2.5%.

112,078

-

(5,000)

107,078

5,000

(560,000)

$ 4,337,470

$2,655,000 2016 General Obligation Refunding Bonds. Bonds due
in annual installments of $165,000 to $310,000 through May 1,
2026, interest at 1.88% Sold at par.
$500,000 2006 Special Assessment Bonds. Bonds due in annual
installments of $15,000 through May 1, 2022, interest at 4.75%.
Sold at par.

Total Business-type activities

$ 4,897,470

$

Balance at
June 30, 2020

-

Additions

$

Reductions

$

Balance at
June 30, 2021

580,000

Due Within
One Year

Component Units:
$1,945,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds. Bonds due in
annual installments of $225,000 to $240,000 through June 1, 2025,
interest 1.73%.
$ 1,145,000

$

-

$

(215,000)

$

930,000

$

225,000
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The annual requirements to pay future principal and interest on bonded debt are as follows:
Primary Government - Business-type Activities
Year Ending
June 30,
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027 - 2031
2032 - 2033

General Obligation Bonds
Principal
Interest
$

365,000
350,000
365,000
375,000
235,000
$ 1,690,000

$

$

39,948
31,258
23,316
14,972
6,252
115,746

Special Assessment Bonds
Principal
Interest
$

15,000
15,000

$

$

712
712

$

Revenue Bonds
Principal
Interest
$

200,000
205,000
210,000
215,000
225,000
1,185,000
392,470
$ 2,632,470

$

$

61,936
57,113
52,037
45,963
41,637
124,186
10,403
393,275

Total
Principal
$

580,000
555,000
575,000
590,000
460,000
1,185,000
392,470
$ 4,337,470

Interest
$

$

102,596
88,371
75,353
60,935
47,889
124,186
10,403
509,733

The City has pledged its full faith and credit on the special assessment bonds. In the event that the special
assessments collected do not provide sufficient resources to repay the bonds, the City will be responsible for the
repayment.

Component Units
General Obligation Bonds
Principal
Interest
Total

Year Ending
June 30,
2022
2023
2024
2025

$

$

225,000
230,000
235,000
240,000
930,000

$

16,090
12,196
8,218
4,152
40,656

$

$

$

241,090
242,196
243,218
244,152
970,656

NOTE 8 - INTERFUND TRANSFERS
During the year, the following transfers were made between funds:
Transfers from:
Nonmajor
Major Streets
Governmental
Fund
Transfers to:
General Fund
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Totals

$
$

225,000
225,000

Totals

Funds

$
$

766
766

$
$

766
225,000
225,766

NOTE 9 - PENSION PLANS
(A) MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (MERS)
Plan description – The City participates in the Michigan Municipal Employees’ Retirement System (MERS), an agent
multiple-employer, statewide public employee defined benefit pension plan that covers all full-time employees of the
City. The plan was established by the Michigan Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a
nine-member Retirement Board. The system provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members and
their beneficiaries.
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MERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for the system. That report may be obtained by writing to:
Municipal Employees Retirement System of Michigan
1134 Municipal Way
Lansing, MI 48917
http://www.mersofmich.com
Benefits provided – At the December 31, 2020 valuation date, the benefits provided were as follows:
General
Status
Benefit Multiplier
Normal Retirement Age
Vesting
Early Retirement (Unreduced)
Early Retirement (Reduced)
Final Average Compensation
Employee Contributions
DC Plan for New Hires

Open
2.25% (80% max)
60
10 years
N/A
50/25 or 55/15
3 years
5.50%
N/A

POAM/COAM
Middle Emp
Closed to new hires
2.00% (no max)
60
10 years
55/25
50/25 or 55/15
3 years
4.83%
7/28/1997

Fire Volunteer
Open
2.25% (80% max)
60
10 years
N/A
50/25 or 55/15
3 years
5.50%
N/A

Housing Commission
Open
2.25% (80% max)
60
10 years
N/A
50/25 or 55/15
3 years
5.50%
N/A

POAM/COAM
Senior Emp
Closed to new hires
2.50% (80% max)
60
10 years
55/25
50/25 or 55/15
3 years
5.00%
N/A

Police Chief
& Lieut.
Open
2.50% (80% max)
60
10 years
55/25
50/25 or 55/15
3 years
5.50%
N/A

The contribution requirements of the City are established and may be amended by the Retirement Board of MERS.
The contribution requirements of plan members are established and may be amended by the City, depending on the
MERS contribution program adopted by the City.
Employees covered by benefit terms – At the December 31, 2020 valuation date, the following employees were
covered by benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
Inactive employees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits
Active employees

85
7
80
172

Contributions – The employer is required to contribute amounts at least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as
established by MERS Retirement Board. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to
finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded
accrued liability. The employer may establish contribution rates to be paid by its covered employees. Employer
contributions range from 14.54% to 18.15% based on annual payroll for open divisions. The general, fire volunteer,
housing commission and police chief and lieutenant divisions remain open; however the POAM/COAM middle
employee and POAM/COAM senior employee divisions are closed to new employees. There is an annual employer
contribution amount of $18,204 for the closed divisions.
Net pension liability – The employer’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2020, and the total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an annual actuarial valuation as of that
date.
Actuarial assumptions – The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 annual actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement include:
1) Inflation 2.50%; 2) Salary increases 3.00% in the long-term; 3) Investment rate of return of 7.35%, net of
investment expense, including inflation; and 4) Retirement age of 60.
Although no specific price inflation assumptions are needed for the valuation, the 3.00% long-term wage inflation
assumption would be consistent with a price inflation of 2.50%.
Mortality rates used were based on a 50% male and 50% female blend of the following tables: the RP-2014 Healthy
Annuitant Mortality Tables, the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Tables, and the RP-2014 Juvenile Mortality Tables.
The mortality table used to project the mortality experience of disabled plan members is a 50% male and 50% female
blend of the RP-2014 Disabled Retiree Mortality Tables.
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The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience study.
There were no significant changes in assumptions in the latest actuarial valuation.
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model method in which
the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment and
administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates or arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Asset Class
Global equity
Global fixed income
Private investments

Target
Allocation
60.00%
20.00%
20.00%
100.00%

Target Allocation
Gross Rate
of Return
7.75%
3.75%
9.75%

Long-Term
Expected Gross
Rate of Return
4.65%
0.75%
1.95%
7.35%

Inflation
Assumption
2.50%
2.50%
2.50%

Long-term
Expected Real
Rate of Return
3.15%
25.00%
1.45%
29.60%

Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 7.60%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions will be made at the rates
agreed upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers. Based on these assumptions, the
pension plans fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all projected future benefit payments of
current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Changes in the net pension liability during the measurement year were as follows:
Total Pension Liability
Service cost

$

(164,086)

Experience differences

668,263

Changes in actuarial assumptions

(1,680,826)

Benefit payments and refunds

991,009

Net change in total pension liability

24,576,611

Total pension liability - beginning
Total pension liability - ending (a)

350,391
1,817,267

Interest on the total pension liability

$

25,567,620

$

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Pension plan net investment income
Benefit payments and refunds
Pension plan administrative expense
Net change in plan fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b)

$

638,838
188,554
2,280,425
(1,680,826)
(36,665)
1,390,326
18,466,221
19,856,547

Net pension liability (a-b)

$

5,711,073

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability
Covered payroll
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll

$

77.66%
3,441,204
165.96%
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Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate – The following presents the net pension liability
of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of 7.60%, as well as what the employer’s net pension liability
would be using a discount rate that is 1% point lower (6.60%) or 1% higher (8.60%) than the current rate.

1% Decrease
Total pension liability
Fiduciary net position
Net pension liability

$

28,324,037
19,856,547
8,467,490

$

Current
Discount Rate
$

1% Increase

25,567,620
19,856,547
5,711,073

$

$

23,229,879
19,856,547
3,373,332

$

Pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions – For
the year ended June 30, 2021, the employer recognized pension expense of $605,114.
The employer reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Differences in experience
Differences in assumptions
Net difference between projected and
actual earning on plan investments
Contributions subsequent to the
measurement date*
Total

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
$
7,544
805,717

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
$
(246,467)
-

Amount to
Amortize
$
(238,923)
805,717

79

(577,415)

(577,336)

285,873
$ 1,099,213

(823,882)

(10,542)

$

$

* The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized in the net pension expense for the following fiscal year. The joint ventures
report a portion of the net pension liability and related deferred outflows of resources. The City’s financial statements
report the investment in joint ventures using the equity method. Therefore, a portion of the contributions are not
recorded on the City’s financial statements, except as they relate to the overall investment in the joint venture.
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:
Year Ended June 30,
2022
2023
2024
2025

$

96,443
283,340
(221,207)
(169,118)
$ (10,542)

The net pension liability and deferred outflows of resources have been reported as follows:

Governmental activities
Business-type activities
Component units
Joint ventures

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

$

$

$

655,519
299,978
99,174
44,542
1,099,213

$

521,850
210,750
43,407
47,875
823,882

Net Pension
Liability
$

Alma Housing Commission*
$

3,876,033
1,007,203
640,318
248,089
5,771,643
(60,570)
5,711,073
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* The Alma Housing Commission’s December 31, 2020 audited financial statements were not updated to include
the MERS December 31, 2020 actuary information. Reconciling items are required to go between the footnote
information and the amounts included in the required supplementary information schedules and actuary reports.
(B) POLICE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN
The Police Defined Contribution Plan is a 401A defined contribution pension plan administered by the ICMA
Retirement Corporation through MERS. All full-time sworn union police officers hired after July 28, 1997 received
the defined contribution plan. As of June 30, 2021 twelve officers were participating in the defined contribution plan.
Under the contract agreement, the employees contribute 4.65% of gross compensation and the City contributes
5.85% of gross compensation. Over the past year, the employees contributed $36,287 and the City contributed
$45,651 to the plan. Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established through negotiation between the
City and the police unions. The plan can be amended by mutual agreement of the City and the unions.
(C) MIDDLE TIER POLICE OFFICERS PLAN
The Middle Tier Police Officers Plan is a 401A defined contribution plan administered by the ICMA Retirement
Corporation. This plan covered all full-time police officers that were hired by July 27, 1997 and had less than 20
years of service and were not age 50 or older. This is a supplemental pension plan that is not currently receiving
contributions from either the employees or the City. Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established
through negotiation between the City and the police unions. The plan can be amended by mutual agreement of the
City and the unions.
(D) 457 RETIREMENT PLAN
The City maintains a Section 457 retirement plan for eligible employees. The City contributes 1.5% of gross
compensation for eligible employees. Over the past year, the employees contributed $93,434 and the City
contributed $12,632 to the plan. Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established through negotiation
between the City and the police unions. The plan can be amended by mutual agreement of the City and the unions.

NOTE 10 - RISK MANAGEMENT
The City is exposed to various risk of loss to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors and omissions;
and natural disasters. The City is a member of Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority, a public entity risk
pool of cities, counties, authorities, colleges and other local units of government. The Authority had more than 300
members as of June 30, 2021. The purpose of the Authority is to provide cooperative and comprehensive risk
financing and risk control services for general and automotive liability, motor vehicle physical damage, and property;
purchase or otherwise make other provisions for reinsurance, excess insurance or make other provisions for
payment of losses and related expenses; and provide claims, legal defense and related general administrative
services to members.
The Authority is governed by a ten-member Board of Directors composed of local government representatives from
the membership elected by the membership. The Board of Directors establishes the general policy of the Authority,
creates and publishes rules to be followed by the Manager and Board, and is empowered to impose sanctions or
terminate membership.
The City’s maximum retention on general liability and auto liability is $75,000 per occurrence. The retention limit on
auto physical damage is $15,000 per unit and $30,000 per occurrence after a $1,000 deductible. The retention limits
for property coverage are subject to a $1,000 deductible with 10% of the first $100,000 to be paid by the City. At
June 30, 2021, the City had funds on deposit of $187,697 with the Authority in the Member Risk Retention Fund.
Claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the prior three fiscal years.
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NOTE 11 - CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
(A) GRANTS AND REIMBURSEMENTS
The City has received federal and state grants for specific purposes subject to review and audit by the grantor
agencies. Although such audits could generate expenditure disallowances under the terms of the grants,
management believes that any required reimbursement would not be material.
(B) CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS
At June 30, 2021, the City has a balance of $1,584,524 remaining on construction commitments which totaled
$3,089,110.
(D) POSTCLOSURE CARE OF LANDFILL
In October of 2007, Weston Solutions, working on behalf of the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality
(MDEQ), issued a report entitled “Site Investigation Report Midwest Refinery/Pine River Alma, MI”. The report was
part of a project to identify sites impacting the Pine River and its sediments. Subsequently, City of Alma was informed
that the report identified Euclid Ball Field site as a former dump site. The City of Alma retained NTH Consultants to
assist with additional assessment of the current conditions at the Euclid Ball Field site with respect to the City’s
obligations under Part 201, Environmental Remediation, of Michigan’s Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act, 1994 P.A. 451, as amended (Part 201).
According to historical MDEQ file information, beginning in October 1958, the City of Alma owned and operated the
City of Alma Municipal Landfill at the site currently known as Euclid Ball Field. The site covers approximately 7 acres
and generally sits adjacent to the Pine River in the City of Alma. Active filling of the landfill took place between 1958
and 1969, and before this time, the site was reportedly used for land filling various waste residuals by the Alma
Sugar Company.
The results of the study performed by NTH Consultants were reviewed with representatives from the Michigan
Department of Environmental Quality, NTH Consultants and City of Alma. The MDEQ recommended that the City
pursue a “mixing zone” designation for Euclid Ball Field. This means that when the groundwater is mixed with river
water the resulting combination of water and impurities is so diluted that it is unlikely to harm the environment or
aquatic life. The City will have some ongoing responsibilities for continuing to monitor and occasionally test the
groundwater. The groundwater does not have to be routed through our wastewater plant.
Additionally, there are two hotspots on the site with elevated concentrations of lead. The first spot is just outside the
outfield fence and is covered in vegetation. The second spot is at the far end of the field near the river bank and is
covered by a patch of poison ivy. The options for remediation of the first hot spot include covering the spot with clean
soil, removing the soil or capping the spot with an asphalt cover. The exact method of remediation has not yet been
agreed to with MDEQ. Remediation of the second hot spot is still being discussed with MDEQ. Estimates of the cost
of remediation and monitoring the groundwater are currently being developed.
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NOTE 12 - OPERATING LEASES
The City currently has operating lease agreements for office space in the State Street Plaza, ground space with
erected billboard signs for advertising, vacant land leased for agricultural purposes, and water towers leased to
various cellular providers.
Future minimum rentals to be received under these leases as of June 30, 2021 are as follows:
Fiscal year ending June 30,
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026

$

$

Property
Cost

Property Description
State Street Building
Land at 820 Superior Street
Land at Lot 83 of Elmwood Subdivision
Agricultural Land
Agricultural Land
Jerome Road cold storage
Water tower

$

$

436,611
13,000
1,076
18,078
131,785
600,550

108,370
83,986
84,348
59,342
49,680
385,726

Accumulated
Depreciation
$

$

436,611
436,611

Remaining
Lease
Payments

Carrying
Amount
$

$

13,000
1,076
18,078
131,785
163,939

$

$

38,821
5,000
5,000
6,510
56,550
2,040
271,805
385,726

NOTE 13 - PERMANENT FUNDS
The City of Alma has two permanent funds that were created by ordinance by the Alma City Commission. The
Cemetery Endowment Fund receives half the proceeds from the sale of grave lots. The Library Endowment Fund
was created through donations. The creating ordinances permit up to eighty percent of current interest revenue,
excluding any gains or losses recorded to adjust investments to market, to be transferred to the designated activity.
In fiscal year 2021, the Cemetery Endowment Fund earned $958 in investment income and transferred $766 to the
General Fund for cemetery operations. The Library Endowment Fund earned $715 in investment income and
transferred $572 to Alma Public Library for collection purchases. Transfer of funds was made prior to June 30, 2021.

NOTE 14 - TAX ABATEMENTS
The City enters into property tax abatement agreements with local businesses under programs as authorized under
Public Act 198 of 1974, as amended (PA 198), Public Act 346 of 1966 (PA 346) and Public Act 381 of 1996, as
amended (PA 381).
PA 198 (Industrial Property Tax Abatement) allows abatements to encourage Michigan manufacturers to build new
plans, expand existing plans, renovate aging plants, or add new machinery and equipment. High technology
operations are also eligible for the abatement. Once approved the firm pays an Industrial Facilities Tax (IFT), instead
of property taxes, which reflects the abatement savings. The exemption covers only the specific project that is the
subject of the application. Any buildings and equipment that existed prior to the construction of a new facility are not
exempt. Likewise, any structures or equipment added after completion of the project are fully taxable. The IFT on
new plant and non-industrial personal property is computed at half the local property mileage rate, resulting in a
reduction of property taxes of approximately 50%. For an obsolete plant or machinery that is being replaced or
restored, the IFT is frozen at the assessed value of the plant prior to improvement, resulting in a 100% exemption
from property tax on the value of the improvements. A speculative building would be eligible for a reduction in
property taxes of approximately 50%. Commercial personal property will receive an automatic reduction of 12 mills
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for local school on their property tax bill. The City abated approximately $29,700 related to PA 198 during fiscal year
2021.
PA 346 (State Housing Development Authority Act) provides property tax abatements in the form of payments in lieu
of taxes for nonprofit housing corporations, consumer housing cooperatives, limited dividend housing corporations,
mobile home park corporations, and mobile home park associations. Properties must meet eligibility requirements.
The City abated approximately $123,500 related to PA 346 during fiscal year 2021.
PA 381 (Brownfield Redevelopment Abatement) allows abatements to encourage the purchase and revitalization of
properties in which redevelopment or reuse may be complicated by the presence or perception of contamination.
Revitalizing and redeveloping these properties protects the environment, reuses existing infrastructure, minimizes
urban sprawl and creates economic opportunities. The City abated approximately $4,100 related to PA 381 during
fiscal year 2021.
PA 146 (Obsolete Property Rehabilitation Act) provides property tax exemptions for commercial properties that are
rehabilitated and meet the requirements of the Act. Properties must meet eligibility requirements including a
statement of obsolescence by the local assessor. The property must be located in an established Obsolete Property
Rehabilitation District. Exemptions are approved for a term of 1 to 12 years as determined by the City. The City
abated approximately $400 related to PA 146 during fiscal year 2021.

NOTE 15 - CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE
As indicated in Note 1, Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 84 has been adopted. The standard
requires this change be applied retroactively. The impact of this change is to increase beginning net position of the
custodial funds reported in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position as of July 1, 2020 by $568,803, restating
it from $0 to $568,803.

NOTE 16 - RESTATEMENT OF FUND BALANCE AND NET POSITION
The Administrative Services Fund, an internal service fund, was closed out effective July 1, 2020. Amounts
previously recorded in this fund are now recorded in the General Fund and the Public Works Services and Equipment
Maintenance Fund. Fund balance of the General Fund was restated from $2,847,513 to $2,954,023, an increase of
$106,510. Net position of the Public Works Services and Equipment Maintenance Fund was restated from $764,571
to $774,122, an increase of $9,551. Overall, this resulted in net position of the internal service funds to be restated
from $634,245 to $774,122.
The Gratiot Community Airport Authority erroneously excluded a capital asset project administered by the State of
Michigan. Net position as of July 1, 2020 increased $163,894, restating it from $1,955,347 to $2,119,241 to correct
the error.
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Budgeted Amounts
Original
Final
Revenues
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Federal grants
Intergovernmental revenue
Other state grants
Local contributions
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Investment income
Rental income
Other revenue
Total revenues

$

2,251,100
177,350
1,000
1,052,000
1,500
130,500
26,500
40,000
27,500
67,000

$

2,748,810
177,350
1,000
1,282,000
1,500
130,500
26,500
40,000
27,500
67,000

Actual
$

2,669,610
74,357
262,426
1,698,898
50,000
10,306
515,744
13,654
28,259
19,345
114,357

Actual
Over (Under)
Final
Budget
$

(79,200)
(102,993)
261,426
416,898
50,000
8,806
385,244
(12,846)
(11,741)
(8,155)
47,357

3,774,450

4,502,160

5,456,956

92,500
32,100
27,000

166,750
63,310
29,700

125,374
54,748
177,860
28,742

(41,376)
(8,562)
177,860
(958)

151,600

259,760

386,724

126,964

1,556,250
257,000
98,000

1,796,875
277,950
150,000
114,300

1,846,832
264,951
151,089
135,148

49,957
(12,999)
1,089
20,848

1,911,250

2,339,125

2,398,020

58,895

66,400
143,250

148,040
127,575

148,593
114,397

553
(13,178)

209,650

275,615

262,990

(12,625)

26,250
57,500
16,600
123,750

26,375
65,750
18,260
136,125

26,000
4,949
3,563
105,128

(375)
(60,801)
(14,697)
(30,997)

Total transportation

224,100

246,510

139,640

(106,870)

Recreation and Culture
Parks and recreation

102,850

158,135

218,320

60,185

Executive Administration
City commission
City manager
City clerk
Elections

37,500
200,950
60,400
39,250

41,250
222,545
96,440
44,675

30,988
223,385
99,072
45,276

(10,262)
840
2,632
601

338,100

404,910

398,721

(6,189)

Expenditures
Community Development
Economic development
Downtown maintenance
Parking lots
Zoning
Total community development
Community Safety
Police
Contribution to Rural Urban Fire Board
Emergency management
Inspection services
Total community safety
Property Maintenance
Riverside Cemetery
Municipal building
Total property maintenance
Transportation
Contribution to Gratiot Community Airport Authority
Sidewalks
Public service permits
Street lighting

Total executive administration

954,796
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Budgeted Amounts
Original
Final
Fiscal Services
City treasurer
Finance
City assessor

$

Total fiscal services
Debt service
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges
Total debt service
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

$

Total other financing sources

$

619,425
284,915

$

593,144
278,819

$

(26,281)
(6,096)

649,400

904,340

871,963

11,000
500

21,990
660

21,991
661

1
1

11,500

22,650

22,652

2

3,598,450

4,611,045

4,699,030

87,985

757,926

866,811

176,000

Other financing sources
Transfers in
Sale of fixed assets

Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - beginning of year, as restated
Fund balance - end of year

73,150
353,600
222,650

Actual

Actual
Over (Under)
Final
Budget

(108,885)

(32,377)

1,500
-

1,500
-

766
32,471

(734)
32,471

1,500

1,500

33,237

31,737

791,163
2,954,023
3,745,186

898,548
2,954,023
3,852,571

177,500
2,954,023
3,131,523

$

(107,385)
2,954,023
2,846,638

$

$
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Budgeted Amounts
Original
Final
Revenues
Intergovernmental revenue
Charges for services
Investment income

$

Total revenues
Expenditures
Transportation
Excess of revenues
over expenditures
Other financing uses
Transfers out
Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - beginning of year
Fund balance - end of year

800,000
65,000
25,000

$

800,000
65,000
25,000

$

840,459
58,449
5,146

$

40,459
(6,551)
(19,854)

890,000

890,000

904,054

14,054

575,500

677,497

269,090

(408,407)

314,500

212,503

634,964

422,461

(225,000)

(225,000)

-

$

Actual

Actual
Over (Under)
Final
Budget

314,500
2,742,683
3,057,183

-

$

212,503
2,742,683
2,955,186

$

409,964
2,742,683
3,152,647

$

197,461
2,742,683
2,940,144
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2021
Total Pension Liability
Service cost
Interest on the total pension liability
Experience differences
Changes in actuarial assumptions
Other changes
Benefit payments and refunds

$

Net change in total pension liability
Total pension liability - beginning
Total pension liability - ending (a)
Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Pension plan net investment income (loss)
Benefit payments and refunds
Pension plan administrative expense

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

350,391 $
1,817,267
(164,086)
668,263
(1,680,826)

329,738 $
1,835,225
(212,587)
635,801
(1,574,026)

317,126 $
1,796,668
(73,880)
(1,554,493)

302,791 $
1,749,781
37,163
(1,467,129)

309,665 $
1,718,730
(198,912)
1
(1,408,696)

313,992 $
1,563,120
297,688
1,069,778
48,849
(1,283,580)

294,442
1,562,072
1
(1,239,396)

991,009
24,576,611

1,014,151
23,562,460

485,421
23,077,039

622,606
22,454,433

420,788
22,033,645

2,009,847
20,023,798

617,119
19,406,679

$

25,567,620

$

638,838 $
188,554
2,280,425
(1,680,826)
(36,665)

928,709 $
183,108
2,242,067
(1,574,026)
(38,598)

570,407 $
173,197
(693,036)
(1,554,493)
(34,899)

530,295 $
178,066
2,195,796
(1,467,129)
(34,814)

456,069 $
175,037
1,777,699
(1,408,696)
(35,118)

381,166 $
173,737
(247,530)
(1,283,580)
(36,550)

327,410
164,795
1,041,229
(1,239,396)
(38,113)

1,390,326
18,466,221

1,741,260
16,724,961

(1,538,824)
18,263,785

1,402,214
16,861,571

964,991
15,896,580

(1,012,757)
16,909,337

255,925
16,653,412

Net change in plan fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning

$

24,576,611

$

23,562,460

$

23,077,039

$

22,454,433

$

22,033,645

$

20,023,798

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b)

$

19,856,547

$

18,466,221

$

16,724,961

$

18,263,785

$

16,861,571

$

15,896,580

$

16,909,337

Net pension liability (a-b)

$

5,711,073

$

6,110,390

$

6,837,499

$

4,813,254

$

5,592,862

$

6,137,065

$

3,114,461

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability
Covered payroll
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll

$

77.66%
3,441,204
165.96%

$

75.14%
3,234,684
188.90%

$

70.98%
3,167,791
215.84%

$

79.14%
2,992,991
160.82%

$

75.09%
3,087,594
181.14%

$

72.15%
3,147,432
194.99%

$

84.45%
2,950,843
105.54%

Note 1: The joint ventures are recorded on the City's financial statements using the equity method. The joint ventures have recorded their proportionate share of the above net pension liability.

*GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 and does not require retroactive implementation. Data will be added as information is available until 10 years of
such data is available.

Page 5 - 4

City of Alma
Required Supplementary Information
Municipal Employees Retirement System of Michigan
Schedule of Employer Contributions
June 30, 2021

Actuarial
Valuation
Date
12/31/2010
12/31/2011
12/31/2012
12/31/2013
12/31/2014
12/31/2015
12/31/2016
12/31/2017
12/31/2018
12/31/2019
12/31/2020

Actuarially
Determined
Contribution
$

214,704
237,912
279,504
262,728
327,410
381,166
456,069
530,295
570,407
678,709
621,960

Contribution
Deficiency
(Excess)

Actual
Contribution
$

163,855
216,042
242,253
278,860
327,410
381,166
456,069
530,295
570,407
928,709
638,838

$

50,849 $
21,870
37,251
(16,132)
(250,000)
(16,878)

Covered
Payroll
3,029,810
2,980,941
2,949,631
3,013,287
2,949,367
3,172,776
3,130,701
3,127,404
3,222,342
3,329,380
3,439,733

Actual
Contribution
as a % of
Covered Payroll
5.41%
7.25%
8.21%
9.25%
11.10%
12.01%
14.57%
16.96%
17.70%
27.89%
18.57%

Notes: Actuarially determined contribution amounts are calculated as of December 31 each year, which is 18 months prior to
the beginning of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The actuarially determined contribution (ADC) included in
this schedule is calculated as the normal cost payment plus the amortized portion of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Remaining amortization period
Asset valuation method
Price inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Retirement age
Mortality

Entry age normal cost
Level percentage, open
18 years
5-year smoothed value of assets
2.50%
3.00%
7.35%, net of administrative expenses
60
RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Tables - 50% male and 50% female blend
RP-2014 Employee Mortality Tables - 50% male and 50% female blend
RP-2014 Juvenile Mortality Tables - 50% male and 50% female blend

Page 5 - 5

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

City of Alma
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021

Permanent Funds

Cemetery
Endowment
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Due from other units of government
Prepaid items
Total assets
Liabilities
Current payables
Due to other funds
Due to other units of government

Local
Streets

Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Alma
Building
Authority

Housing
Improvement

$

443,243
14,890
69
-

$

309,487
11,123
52
-

$

927,369
21,977
102
51,142
179

$

696,627
11,830
795
1,179
-

$

20,022
656
3
-

$

2,694
-

$

11,610
381
2
-

$

2,411,052
60,857
1,023
52,321
179

$

458,202

$

320,662

$ 1,000,769

$

710,431

$

20,681

$

2,694

$

11,993

$

2,525,432

$

$

966
-

$

-

$

43
10
3

$

-

$

84,228
754
3

$

Total liabilities

-

$

-

Deferred inflows of resources
Unavailable investment income

-

69

Fund Balances
Non-spendable
Prepaid items
Permanent Fund principal
(nonexpendable)
Restricted for
Street maintenance
TIF district infrastructure
Housing rehabilitation
Debt service

53

-

-

458,133

320,609

-

Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources, and fund balances

Library
Endowment

Special Revenue Funds
Local
Street
Development
Improvement
Financing
Millage
Authority

Debt Service
Fund

-

458,133

$

458,202

$

83,219
744
83,963

966

-

56

102

650

179

-

-

-

-

179

-

-

-

-

-

778,742

3

-

-

84,985

2

879

916,525
-

708,815
-

20,678
-

2,638
-

11,991

1,625,340
20,678
2,638
11,991

320,609

916,704

708,815

20,678

2,638

11,991

2,439,568

320,662

$ 1,000,769

$

710,431

$

20,681

$

2,694

$

11,993

$

2,525,432
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City of Alma
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Permanent Funds

Cemetery
Endowment
Revenues
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Investment income

$

Total revenues
Expenditures
Current
Housing and redevelopment
Transportation
Recreation and culture
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures
Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance
Fund balance - beginning of year
Fund balance - end of year

$

1,250
958

Library
Endowment
$

715

Local
Streets
$

312,333
1,665

Special Revenue Funds
Local
Street
Development
Improvement
Financing
Millage
Authority
$

441,877
57,556
1,298

$

-

Debt Service
Fund
Alma
Building
Authority

Housing
Improvement
$

43

-

43

-

Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

$

-

$

25

441,877
369,889
1,250
4,704

25

817,720

2,208

715

313,998

500,731

-

572

557,714
-

301,700
-

-

2,202
-

-

2,202
859,414
572

-

572

557,714

301,700

-

2,202

-

862,188

2,208

143

(243,716)

199,031

43

(2,202)

25

(44,468)

(766)

-

225,000
-

-

-

-

-

225,000
(766)

(766)

-

225,000

-

-

-

-

224,234

1,442
456,691
458,133

$

143
320,466
320,609

$

(18,716)
935,420
916,704

$

199,031
509,784
708,815

$

43
20,635
20,678

$

(2,202)
4,840
2,638 $

25
11,966
11,991

$

179,766
2,259,802
2,439,568
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City of Alma
Joint Ventures
Combining Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021
Gratiot
Community
Airport
Authority

Rural Urban
Fire Board
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Prepaid items

$

Total current assets
Noncurrent assets
Capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

883,958
25,568
5,911
557

$

398,376
11,878
16,352
-

Total

$

1,282,334
37,446
22,263
557

915,994

426,606

1,342,600

693,262

208,000
1,432,487

208,000
2,125,749

693,262

1,640,487

2,333,749

1,609,256

2,067,093

3,676,349

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability

44,542

-

44,542

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Current payables
Due to other units of government
Due to primary government

22,711
400
1,434

5,540
31
121

28,251
431
1,555

24,545

5,692

30,237

248,089

-

248,089

272,634

5,692

278,326

47,875

-

47,875

Total current liabilities
Due in more than one year
Net pension liability
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amount relating to net pension liability
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

693,262
640,027
$

1,333,289

1,640,487
420,914
$

2,061,401

2,333,749
1,060,941
$

3,394,690
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City of Alma
Joint Ventures
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Rural Urban
Fire Board
Operating Revenues
Licenses and permits
Federal grants
Local contributions
Charges for services
Rental income

$

Total operating revenues
Operating Expenses
Fire protection
Transportation
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

530,355
15
-

Gratiot
Community
Airport
Authority
$

150
30,000
73,000
2,390
51,493

Total
$

150
30,000
603,355
2,405
51,493

530,370

157,033

687,403

467,308
57,567

111,447
107,419

467,308
111,447
164,986

524,875

218,866

743,741

Operating income (loss)

5,495

(61,833)

(56,338)

Nonoperating Revenues
Investment income
Other revenue

1,505
966

688
3,305

2,193
4,271

2,471

3,993

6,464

Total nonoperating revenues
Change in net position
Beginning net position, as restated
Ending net position

$

7,966
1,325,323
1,333,289

$

(57,840)
2,119,241
2,061,401 $

(49,874)
3,444,564
3,394,690
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City of Alma
Joint Ventures
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Rural Urban
Fire Board
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to vendors
Payments to employees
Payments for interfund services used

$

Net cash provided by operating activities

524,578
(100,273)
(317,358)
(29,207)

Gratiot
Community
Airport
Authority
$

157,683
(75,621)
(19,646)
(2,816)

Total
$

682,261
(175,894)
(337,004)
(32,023)

77,740

59,600

137,340

966

3,305

4,271

1,674
12,313

767
5,721

2,441
18,034

Net cash provided by investing activities

13,987

6,488

20,475

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

$

92,693
791,265
883,958

$

69,393
328,983
398,376

$

162,086
1,120,248
1,282,334

$

5,495

$

(61,833)

$

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Other revenue
Cash flows from investing activities
Investment income
Maturity of investments

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
used by operating activities
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
from operating activities
Depreciation expense
Changes in assets and liabilities
Receivables (net)
Due from other units of government
Prepaid items
Deferred outflows of resources
Current payables
Due to other units of government
Due to primary government
Net pension liability
Deferred inflows of resources
Net cash provided by operating activities

57,567

107,419

(5,792)
(15)
(10,601)
17,102
(1,464)
1,434
(22,398)
36,412
$

77,740

164,986

4,821
4,492
4,611
(31)
121
$

59,600

(56,338)

(971)
4,492
(15)
(10,601)
21,713
(1,495)
1,555
(22,398)
36,412
$

137,340
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance With Government Auditing Standards
Independent Auditors’ Report
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Commission
City of Alma, Michigan
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information
of the City of Alma, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the City of Alma’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
December 21, 2021. Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of the
Alma Housing Commission, as described in our report on City of Alma’s financial statements. This report does not
include the results of the other auditors’ testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other
matters that are reported on separately by those auditors.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Alma’s internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Alma’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Alma’s internal control.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.
However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses and other deficiencies that we consider to be significant deficiencies.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We consider the deficiencies described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and responses as items 2021-001, 2021-002 and 2021-003 to be material
weaknesses.
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We consider the
deficiency described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses as item 2021-004 to be a significant
deficiency.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Alma's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an instance of noncompliance or
other matter that is required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards and which is described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and responses as item 2021-004.
City of Alma’s Response to Findings and Corrective Action Plan
City of Alma’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of findings
and responses and corrective action plan. City of Alma’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Alma, MI
December 21, 2021
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City of Alma, Michigan
Schedule of Findings and Responses
June 30, 2021
Finding 2021-001, 2020-001, 2019-001, 2018-001, 2017-001, 2016-001, 2015-001 and 2014-001 Material
Weakness – Audit Adjustments
Criteria:

Management is responsible for establishing, maintaining, and monitoring internal
controls, and for the fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position,
results of operations, and cash flows, including the recording of all appropriate journal
entries, so that the trial balances from which the audited financial statements are
prepared, reflect amounts that are in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

Condition:

Audit procedures identified fourteen adjustments of which three were material. These
adjustments related to the recording of the Alma Housing Commission and Gratiot
Area Water Authority payroll and to the utility billing receivable and revenue of the
Wastewater Utility Fund, Water Utility Fund and Refuse Disposal Fund. The
misstatements were not detected by the City’s internal control over financial reporting.

Cause and Effect:

The errors related to the payroll recording were the result of management’s lack of
understanding as to how these transactions should be recorded within the respective
funds. The errors related to the utility billing were an oversight on managements part
as they were not aware of the requirement to record an unbilled receivable at fiscal
year end.

Recommendation:

In order to ensure the City Commission and public are provided with accurate financial
information we recommend updating how payroll transactions related to the Alma
Housing Commission and Gratiot Area Water Authority are recorded in the general
ledger each pay period. We recommend that posting an adjustment for the year end
unbilled utility revenue be added to a fiscal year end checklist with a responsible party
assigned to the task.

Views of Responsible
Officials:

Management agrees with the finding.

Corrective Action Plan:

See attached corrective action plan from management.

Finding 2021-002 Material Weakness – Prior Period Adjustment
Criteria:

Management is responsible for establishing, maintaining, and monitoring internal
controls, and for the fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position,
results of operations, and cash flows, including the recording of all appropriate journal
entries, so that the trial balances from which the audited financial statements are
prepared, reflect amounts that are in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

Condition:

City management identified a hangar upgrade and improvement project for the Gratiot
Community Airport that was administered by the State of Michigan in a prior year that
had not been recorded in the City’s financial statements. Upon completion of the
project, ownership of the assets is maintained by the airport. This resulted in the
Gratiot Community Airport Authority Fund restating net position from $1,955,347 to
$2,119,241, an increase of $163,894.

Cause and Effect:

The cause of the omission is likely the result of prior finance department personnel’s
lack of understanding of the recording requirements for this type of project. The effect
is that prior financial statements were inaccurate.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Schedule of Findings and Responses
June 30, 2021
Recommendation:

We recommend that all departments within the City keep the finance department
informed of projects being administered by another governmental unit. Progress and
final accounting documents should be provided to the finance department in a timely
manner for review and recording.

Views of Responsible
Officials:

Management agrees with the finding.

Corrective Action Plan:

See attached corrective action plan from management.

Finding 2021-003, 2020-003, 2019-003, 2018-003, 2017-003 and 2016-002 Material Weakness – Federal Award
Written Procedures
Criteria:

Uniform Grant Guidance requires written procedures covering the following: financial
management systems, cash management, payments, allowable costs, period of
performance, federal timekeeping, matching or cost sharing, program income,
procurement, equipment and real property, supplies, copyrights, subawards to
debarred and suspended parties, monitoring and reporting program performance,
financial reporting, retention and access requirements for records, and subrecipient
monitoring.

Condition:

The City has not developed the required written procedures. This is a repeat finding.

Cause and Effect:

Management was initially unaware of the requirement to establish federal written
procedures during the June 30, 2016 audit. Subsequently, management has not
made development of written procedures a priority.

Recommendation:

The City should develop and implement the required federal written procedures.

Views of Responsible
Officials:

Management agrees with the finding.

Corrective Action Plan:

See attached corrective action plan from management.

Finding 2021-004 and 2020-005 Significant Deficiency and Noncompliance – Expenditures Not Within
Authorized Budget Amounts
Criteria:

The uniform budgeting and accounting act of the Statement of Michigan requires the
legislative body of the local unit to amend the general appropriations act as soon as
it becomes apparent that a deviation from the original general appropriations act is
necessary and the amount of the deviation can be determined. An amendment shall
indicate each intended alteration in the purpose of each appropriation item affected
by the amendment.

Condition:

Expenditures in the General Fund were not within authorized budget amounts. Total
budgeted expenditures were $4,611,045 while actual expenditures were $4,699,030
resulting in $87,985 total over expenditures. Community development, community
safety and recreation and culture had the most significant over expenditures.

Cause and Effect:

Budgets imported into the general ledger software did not match the original
resolution. Additionally, as budget amendments were made throughout the fiscal year
the general ledger was not updated to reflect authorized amounts.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Schedule of Findings and Responses
June 30, 2021
Recommendation:

The City should have a process in place to accurately upload and subsequently adjust
budget amounts authorized by the City Commission. Management should review
budget to actual reports periodically throughout the fiscal year. Additionally, the
general ledger system should be used to limit the ability to incur expenditures in
excess of the budget amounts available in the system.

Views of Responsible
Officials:

Management agrees with the finding.

Corrective Action Plan:

See attached corrective action plan from management.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Corrective Action Plan
June 30, 2021

There were four control deficiencies identified during the annual financial statement audit performed by a third-party
external audit firm that require a response and corrective action plan by management. The City of Alma has reviewed
and agreed with these findings and is taking the necessary steps to address these issues and make the proper
corrections.
Finding 2021-001: Accounting Control Environment and Audit Adjustments
Contact: Curtis Dancer, Finance Director
Anticipated Completion Date: June 30, 2022
Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan
As noted in the corrective action plan in the 2020 financial statement audit, the City administration believed that it
was necessary for a complete evaluation and reorganization of all personnel and processes for the finance
department to function as a professional unit of government and viewed this as a top priority to ensure completeness
and accuracy of financial records moving forward.
As a result, the finance department has gone through a complete overhaul that led to changes in personnel,
positions, and processes within the department. This includes the promotion of the previous Accountant/Deputy
Treasurer to Finance Director/Treasurer, the promotion of the previous Cashier to Deputy Treasurer, and bringing
on two additional staff to fill the vacant roles of Financial Analyst and Accountant. The two new staff brought onboard
both have degrees in accounting and over 50 years of professional accounting/finance experienced combined. This
department restructure also allowed management to re-evaluate and update the job descriptions and responsibilities
for each role to properly evaluate performances of staff and hold staff responsible. These changes went into effect
after the June 30, 2021, fiscal year end.
The City’s finance department will continue to seek training both internally and externally with an emphasis placed
on appropriate financial practices. The City has adopted a policies and procedures manual in April 2021 to define
essential processes and year-end adjustments as well as created a finance calendar with due dates for completion.
The City’s finance department will evaluate the recording of the activities related to the Alma Housing Unit and the
Gratiot Area Water Authority to ensure the financial records are accurate. The City will also add the posting of an
adjustment for the year end untilled utility revenue to the fiscal year end checklist. All activities will be assigned to a
responsible party and reviewed by the Finance Director.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Corrective Action Plan
June 30, 2021
Finding 2021-002: Prior Period Adjustments
Contact: Curtis Dancer, Finance Director
Anticipated Completion Date: July 1, 2021
Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan
It is critical to have the staff in place with the knowledge of reporting requirements for capital projects to ensure that
financial statements are being presented fairly and prior period adjustments are not required. This omission during
the prior year audit stemmed from a lack of understanding by staff responsible for overseeing the recording/reporting
of capital projects and the former finance director’s lack of review to ensure proper recording.
Management has put the proper procedures in place to ensure omissions of this matter are not made going forward.
This includes having a member of the finance department with the appropriate knowledge and experience reviewing
and reconciling the assets recorded in the accounting systems fixed asset module to the general ledger module at
year end. In addition, the finance department provides reports from the fixed assets module annually to department
heads to get verification from the department heads that the current asset listing, including additions and disposals
during the fiscal year, appear complete and accurate. An internal physical verification of fixed assets will also be
performed on a random basis to ensure everything is recorded.
Finding 2021-003: Federal Award Written Procedures
Contact: Curtis Dancer, Finance Director
Anticipated Completion Date: March 31, 2021
Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan
In September of 2017, in response to a material weakness finding in the previous audit, the City Commission
approved a policy and procedure for the administration of all Federal, State, and County grants. The policy in place
specifically states that procedures for grant development, application and approval, grant program implementation,
financial and budgetary compliance, and record keeping requirements. During the current fiscal year, the Grant
Administration Policy was formally adopted into the Finance Department Manual and shared with all department
heads and supervisors.
It was brought to management’s attention during the audit that the policy created did not include all the necessary
components required under the Uniform Grant Guidance. Management has instructed the Finance Director to review
the requirements of the Uniform Grant Guidance and make the appropriate changes to present to the Finance
Committee and ultimately the City Commission for adoption.
While the formal adoption of an amended policy is necessary to conform with Uniform Grant Guidance requirements,
management has not identified through internal review any instances over the previous fiscal year of noncompliance
with grant requirements beyond the adaptation of a formal written policy.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Corrective Action Plan
June 30, 2021
Finding 2021-004: Expenditures Not Within Authorized Budget Amounts
Contact: Curtis Dancer, Finance Director
Anticipated Completion Date: Immediate
Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan
Management understands the importance of ensuring that expenditures are within authorized budgeted amounts
and has taken several steps to ensure appropriate budget reporting moving forward.
First and foremost, a review has been done in FY 2022 to ensure that the budget amounts recorded in the BS&A
system match the budgeted amounts approved by the Commission through a certified budget resolution. This is
done each time a budget resolution is formally approved by the Commission.
Management has created a new procedure in which the Finance Director meets formally one-on-one with each
department head at the close of each quarter to review the status of the budget within each department. Reports
include both budget-to-actual and actual-to-actual from previous years with percentages of budgets used to-date by
line item. At that time any purposed budget amendments are drafted to be included on the agenda of the first
Commission meeting following a quarter end. Results of these meetings are reviewed with the City Manager. The
City has also implemented flags within the accounting software to warn and prevent budget overages from occurring
without City Manager or Finance Director approval.
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City of Alma, Michigan

Transit Services Fund
Financial Statements
June 30, 2021
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Commission
City of Alma, Michigan
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Transit Services Fund of the City
of Alma, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial
statements, as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the Transit Services Fund, as of June 30, 2021, and the
changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Emphasis of Matter
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Transit Services Fund and do
not purport to, and do not present fairly the financial position of the City of Alma, as of June 30,
2021, the changes in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information, because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Transit Services Fund’s basic financial statements. The other
supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, is presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The other supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, is the responsibility of
management and, other than the prior year information, was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The
other supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, other than the prior year information, the other supplementary
information, as identified in the table of contents, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation
to the basic financial statements as a whole.
Prior Year Information
We also have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States, and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the Transit Services Fund’s
financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, which are not presented with
the accompanying financial statements. In our report dated March 15, 2021, we expressed
unmodified opinions on the respective financial statements of the Transit Services Fund. That
audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Transit Services Fund’s financial statements as a whole. The 2020
information in the comparative other supplementary schedules is presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the 2020 financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of those financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the
4

financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 2020
information in the comparative supplementary schedules is fairly stated in all material respects in
relation to the financial statements from which they have been derived.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
December 21, 2021 on our consideration of the City of Alma’s internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Alma’s internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering City of Alma’s internal control
over financial reporting and compliance.

Alma, Michigan
December 21, 2021
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Transit Services Fund of the City of Alma
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Our discussion and analysis of the Transit Service Fund of the City of Alma (the Fund) financial
statements provides an overview of the Fund’s financial activities for the year ended June 30,
2021. This annual report consists of a series of financial statements including the Statement of
Net Position, the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position, and the
Statement of Cash Flows. The statements provide an overview of current and cumulative results
of the financial operations of the Fund.
Overview of the Financial Statements
The annual report consists of three parts – management’s discussion and analysis (this
section), the basic financial statements, and supplementary information.
The first two statements provide both long-term and short-term information about the Fund’s
overall financial status. These statements report information about the Fund, as a whole, using
accounting methods similar to those used by private sector companies. The Statement of Net
Position includes all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and net position. All of the current year’s revenues and expenditures are reported on
the Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position on the accrual basis.
The two statements report the Fund’s net position and how it has changed. “Net Position” is the
cumulative difference between the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources. The third statement is the Statement of Cash Flows which reflects
the change in cash and cash equivalents by presenting all activities for the year on a cash
basis.
The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial
statements and provide more detailed data. The statements are followed by supplementary
information that further explains and supports the information in the financial statements.
The statements reflect only the results of the Fund in their effort to provide affordable public
transportation for their service area.
Financial Analysis of the Fund
The Fund’s net position decreased by 1.55% from $2,848,251 to $2,804,117 for the year ended
June 30, 2021. Net position for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
Current assets
Capital assets
Total assets

$

Deferred outflows of resources
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

6

2021
1,367,824
1,759,793
3,127,617

$

2020
1,214,730
1,940,389
3,155,119

79,335

61,369

70,794
263,534
334,328

56,843
304,600
361,443

68,507

6,794

1,759,793
1,044,324
2,804,117

1,940,389
907,862
2,848,251

$

Transit Services Fund of the City of Alma
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
The statement of net position presents information on the Fund’s assets and liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net
position may serve to be a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Fund is
improving or deteriorating.
The Fund’s combined total assets and deferred outflows of resources did not significantly
change for the years ended June 30, 2021, and 2020. The same is true for the Fund’s total
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. The Fund’s Total net position decreased by 1.55%
as a result of a decrease in the net investment of capital assets of $180,596 as a result of not
acquiring any significant assets during the fiscal year and the depreciation of existing assets.
Fund capital assets are generally funded 100% by State and/or Federal funds and result in a net
investment in capital assets. However, the changes do not have a reflection on the Fund’s
financial position. The Fund’s unrestricted net position increased by $136,462. These funds
would be available for future general expenses or any allowable fund expenditures if
appropriated for expenditure.
Changes in Net Position
A summary of changes in net position for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as
follows:

Operating revenues
Nonoperating revenues
Total revenues

$

Operating expenses

2021
154,830
917,443
1,072,273

$

1,116,407

Capital contributions

925,600

-

Change in net position

$

(44,134)

2020
246,890
703,268
950,158

440,511
$

465,069

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents information on
revenues, expenses, capital contributions and how to Fund’s net position changed during the
most recent fiscal year.
The Transit Service Fund revenue increased by $122,115 from 2020. The primary reason for
this change was an increase in federal and state revenue of approximately $214,175 due to an
increase in the federal and state participation rates (funded in part by CARES Act funding),
partially offset by decreases in farebox revenue and contract fares of approximately $92,808 as
ridership had not returned to pre-COVID 19 numbers prior to June 30, 2021.
The Fund’s operating expenses increased by $190,807 from 2020. The increase was
anticipated due to the rise in costs of daily operating activities related to provided public
transportation services and expanded services during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.
The capital contributions consist of Fund assets (buildings, buses, major equipment purchases,
etc.) generally funded 100% by State and/or Federal funds. In year ending June 30, 2020, the
Fund purchased multiple new buses as part of updating the fleet with new equipment. No such
purchases were made for fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.
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Transit Services Fund of the City of Alma
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Capital Assets
As of June 30, 2021 and 2020 the Fund had the following amounts invested in capital assets:

Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles

$

Less: accumulated depreciation
$

2021
1,461,728
104,397
1,136,221
2,702,346
(942,553)
1,759,793

$

$

2020
1,454,425
114,131
1,199,589
2,768,145
(827,756)
1,940,389

Capital Assets consist of Fund assets (buildings, buses, major equipment purchases, etc.)
generally funded 100% by State and/or Federal funds. Since the Fund did not acquire any
significant assets for the year ending June 30, 2021, the balances for Buildings and
improvements, Equipment, and Vehicles decreased by $65,799. The majority of this was
related to the disposal of a fully depreciated bus. There is more detailed information on Capital
Assets beginning on page 17 of the Notes to the Financial Statements.
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Outlook
Fiscal year 2022 Fund expenditures are projected at $1,287,000. The State will be funding
74.96% of Alma Transit expenditures for FY’22 up to $965,000. The difference between the
State funding and the $1,287,000 is funded with Local Revenues which includes Millage, Real
and Personal Property Taxes, Farebox Collections, and other miscellaneous revenues.
Ridership numbers are expected to increase as the economy opens and people need to return
to work, school, and performing their pre-Covid daily activities. In addition, the Fund will be
expanding to provide services to the City of St. Louis, City of Ithaca, and Pine River Township.
The expansion went into effect August 1, 2021 and will be fully implemented in fiscal year 2022.
This expansion will serve 3,500 more residences and over 300 businesses covering almost 40
square miles in rural Gratiot County.
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City of Alma
Transit Services Fund
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables, net
Due from other units of government
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

$

Noncurrent Assets
Buildings
Equipment
Vehicles
Less accumulated depreciation
Total noncurrent assets

1,172,075
29,335
41,782
124,378
254
1,367,824

1,461,728
104,397
1,136,221
(942,553)
1,759,793

Total assets

3,127,617

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount of pension expense related to net pension liability

79,335

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Current payables
Due to other funds
Due to other units of government
Current portion of noncurrent liabilities
Total current liabilities

25,321
4,008
24,129
17,336
70,794

Noncurrent liabilities
Compensated absences
Net pension liability
Total noncurrent liabilities

11,557
251,977
263,534

Total liabilities

334,328

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amount of pension expense related to net pension liability
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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68,507

$

1,759,793
1,044,324
2,804,117

City of Alma
Transit Services Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
June 30, 2021
Operating Revenues
Charges for services
Other revenue
Total operating revenues

$

Operating Expenses
Operations
Facility and vehicle maintenance
Administration
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

152,208
2,622
154,830

668,601
95,143
164,805
187,858
1,116,407

Operating loss

(961,577)

Nonoperating Revenues
Taxes
Federal grants
Intergovernmental
Investment income
Gain on sale of capital asset
Total nonoperating revenues
Change in net position
Beginning net position
Ending net position

185,238
436,957
285,289
2,173
7,786
917,443

$

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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(44,134)
2,848,251
2,804,117

City of Alma
Transit Services Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
June 30, 2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to vendors
Payments to employees
Internal activity-payments to other funds
Net cash used by operating activities

$

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Subsidies from other units
Receipts from voted millage
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

116,718
(123,604)
(751,742)
(36,551)
(795,179)

608,017
191,844
799,861

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Acquisitions of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities

(7,303)
7,827
524

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment income
Maturity of investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

2,367
14,128
16,495

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year
Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash
used by operating activities
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
from operating activities
Depreciation and amortization expense
Changes in assets and liabilities
Receivables (net)
Prepaid items
Deferred outflows of resources
Current payables
Due to other funds
Due to other units of government
Net pension liability
Deferred inflows of resources
Compensated absences
Net cash used by operating activities
See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
11

$

$

21,701
1,150,374
1,172,075

(961,577)

187,858

$

(38,112)
20
(17,966)
14,050
4,008
548
(37,963)
61,713
(7,758)
(795,179)

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Located in Gratiot County, Michigan, City of Alma was incorporated in 1905 under Michigan’s
Home Rule Act, Public Act 279 of 1965. The City of Alma is governed by a seven-member City
Commission elected by its 9,383 citizens at large. The City Commission selects the Mayor and
Vice Mayor from among its members. A City Manager is appointed to administer the business of
the City. By charter, City of Alma has the capacity and authority to provide public transportation
within the approved service area. The Transit Services Fund represents only a portion of the
financial activity of the City and thus the financial statements are not intended to present fairly the
financial position, changes in financial position and cash flows of the City of Alma as a whole. The
accounting policies of City of Alma’s Transit Services Fund conform to generally accepted
accounting principles as applicable to governmental units. The following is a summary of the
significant accounting policies.
Reporting Entity
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with criteria
established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) as to which
governmental organizations are to be included in a ‘reporting entity’. The City of Alma is the
primary government which has oversight responsibility and control over all activities related to
the Transit Services Fund and, as such, includes Transit Services Fund as an enterprise fund
in its financial statements.
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation
The Transit Services Fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of
related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are
levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the grantor have been met.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods relating to a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operation. The principal
operating revenues for Transit Services Fund are charges to customers for services.
Operating expenses include the cost of services, administrative expenses and depreciation
on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
Deposits and Investments
Cash equivalents are defined to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term
investments with a maturity of less than a year at time of purchase.
Investments are reported at fair market value. City of Alma has adopted an Investment Policy
which specifies all investments be made in accordance with all State of Michigan laws and
regulations. The policy allows investment in approved financial institution certificates of
deposit and other interest-bearing demand deposit accounts and obligations of the U.S.
Treasury.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021
Receivables
Receivables have been recognized for all significant amounts due the Transit Services Fund.
Allowances for uncollectible personal property taxes have been made in the Transit Services
enterprise fund.
Capital Assets
Capital assets include property, buildings, equipment and vehicles and are reported in the
Statement of Net Position. Capital assets are defined by the City of Alma as tangible assets
with an initial cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. All
capital assets are valued at historical cost if purchased or constructed or estimated historical
cost if actual cost is not available. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market
value on the date of donation.
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or
materially extend asset lives are not capitalized.
Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is charged as an expense in the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Accumulated depreciation is reported on
the Statement of Net Position.
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:





Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Office furniture and equipment
Maintenance equipment

10 to 40 years
4 to 7 years
5 to 10 years
5 to 12 years

Deferred Outflows of Resources
The deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net position by the City that is
applicable to a future reporting period. The City reports deferred outflow of resources as a
result of pension earnings. This amount is the result of a difference between what the plan
expected to earn from the plan investments and what the plan actually earned. This amount
is amortized over the next four years and included in pension expense. The City also reported
deferred outflows of resources for pension contributions made after the measurement date.
This amount will reduce net pension liability in the following year. Changes in assumptions
and experience differences relating to the net pension liability are deferred and amortized
over the expected remaining service lives of the employees and retirees in the plan.
Compensated Absences
The City allows employees to accumulate sick leave up to a maximum of 720 hours. Sick
leave is paid only upon illness while in the employ of the City. Sick leave is not paid upon
termination; and therefore, no liability provision is made for accumulated sick leave. Earned
vacation leave is required to be used within two years of accrual with a maximum carryover
of 120 hours. Vacation leave is paid upon termination and the liability for accumulated
vacation leave is recorded as current and noncurrent liabilities.
Pensions
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expenses, information about
the fiduciary net position of the Municipal Employees Retirement System of Michigan and
additions to/deductions from MERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same
basis as they are reported to MERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refund of
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City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
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June 30, 2021
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. The City receives actuarial-based calculations
to compute the actuarially determined contributions (ADC) necessary to fund the obligations
over the remaining amortization periods. The City reports the full accrual cost equal to the
current year required contributions, adjusted for interest and “adjustment to the ADC” on the
beginning of the year underpaid amount, if any.
Pension costs incurred for the defined benefit retirement plan administered by MERS were
calculated pursuant to the MERS GASB 68 Implementation Guide. The total pension
expenses recognized as calculated in STEP 6 of the guide is $54,955. The entire amount of
$54,955 was expensed on the books and is reported in 50220 Defined Benefit Pensions.
Transit paid $49,171, therefore, $5,784 ($54,955 less the amount paid) is subtracted out under
58020 Ineligible Defined Benefit Pension.
Deferred Inflows of Resources
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period or periods and so will not be
recognized as an inflow of resources until that time. The City reports deferred inflows of
resources resulting from pension earnings. This amount is the result of a difference between
what the plan expected to earn from the plan investments and what the plan actually earned.
This amount will be amortized over the next four years and included in pension expense.
Changes in assumptions and experience differences relating to the net pension liability are
deferred and amortized over the expected remaining service lives of the employees and
retirees in the plan.
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred
inflows and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities improves the guidance regarding the identification of
fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities
should be reported. The focus of the criteria includes the following: (1) is the government
controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary
relationship exists. The four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension
(and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust
funds, and (4) custodial funds. Custodial funds generally will report fiduciary activities that are
not held in a trust or similar arrangement that meets specific criteria.
Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans, (1) increases
consistency and comparability related to the reporting of fiduciary component units in
circumstances in which a potential component unit does not have a governing board and the
primary government performs the duties that a governing board typically would perform; (2)
mitigates costs associated with the reporting of certain defined contribution pension plans,
defined contribution other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plans, and employee benefit plans
other than pension plans or OPEB plans (other employee benefit plans) as fiduciary
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component units in fiduciary fund financial statements; and (3) enhances the relevance,
consistency, and comparability of the accounting and financial reporting for Internal Revenue
Code (IRC) Section 457 deferred compensation plans (Section 457 plans) that meet the
definition of a pension plan and for benefits provided through those plans.
Statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report establishes the term annual
comprehensive financial report and its acronym ACFR. That new term and acronym replace
instances of comprehensive annual financial report and its acronym in generally accepted
accounting principles for state and local governments. This Statement was developed in
response to concerns raised by stakeholders that the common pronunciation of the acronym
for comprehensive annual financial report sounds like a profoundly objectionable racial slur.
This Statement’s introduction of the new term is founded on a commitment to promoting
inclusiveness.
Upcoming Accounting and Reporting Changes
Statement No. 87, Leases increases the usefulness of the financial statements by requiring
recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as
operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on
the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting
based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying
asset. A lessee will be required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use a
lease asset, and a lessor will be required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow
of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about leasing
activities. The requirements of this Statement are effective for the fiscal year ending June 30,
2022.
Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction
Period enhances the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets and the
cost of borrowing for a reporting period and to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred
before the end of a construction period. It requires that interest cost incurred before the end
of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost is
incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus.
As a result, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included
in the historical cost of a capital asset reporting in a business-type activity or enterprise fund.
Interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period should be recognized as an
expenditure for financial statements prepared using the current financial resources
measurement. The requirements of this Statement are effective for the fiscal year ending June
30, 2022.
Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations provides a single method of reporting conduit
debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments
extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3)
related note disclosures. This Statement achieves those objectives by clarifying the existing
definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a liability
of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial reporting of additional
commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated
with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note disclosures. This statement is
effective for the year ending June 30, 2023.
Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, is based on
the standards established in Statement No. 87 Leases. This statement (1) defines a SBITA
as a contract that conveys control of the right to use a SBITA vendor’s IT software, alone or
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in combination with tangible capital assets, as specified in the contract for a period of time in
an exchange or exchange-like transaction (2) requires governments with SBITAs to recognize
a right-to-use subscription asset, an intangible asset, and a corresponding subscription
liability, and (3) provides guidance related to outlays other than subscription payments,
including implementation costs, and requirements for note disclosures related to a SBITA.
This statement is effective for the year ending June 30, 2023.
Note 2 – Deposits
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Transit Services Fund operates a common checking account with the City of Alma. Surplus
funds are invested throughout the year. The City of Alma allocates investment earnings to the
participating funds in relation to the average cash balance of each fund.
Bank deposits include checking and savings accounts, and money market accounts. The
breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is as follows:
Bank deposits .................................................................................................. $1,171,815
Petty cash ..................................................................................................................... 260
Total ...... ........................................................................................................... $1,172,075
Custodial Credit Risk
In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Transit Services Fund
may lose its deposits in that bank. The City’s investment policy restricts the amount of deposits
in any one financial institution to 50% of the City’s total deposits. As of June 30, 2021, the
amount of Transit Service Fund deposits uninsured and uncollateralized is undeterminable as
a result of pooling deposits with City of Alma.
For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that
are in the possession of an outside party. All of the City’s investments are collateralized.
Investments
Under its investment policy, which follows State statutes, the City restricts its investments to
bonds, bills, or notes of the United States; commercial paper rated prime; securities issued or
guaranteed by agencies or instrumentalities of the United States; United States government
federal agency obligation repurchase agreements composed of eligible collateral whose fair
value must be maintained equal to or greater than amounts advanced, and with an undivided
interest; bankers’ acceptances; and mutual funds and investments pools that are composed
entirely of the aforementioned investments that are legal for direct investment by a city.
As of June 30, 2021, the investment balance of $29,335 was in certificates of deposit.
Interest Rate Risk
Unless matched to a specific cash flow, the City’s investment policy restricts investments to two
years for enterprise fund types.
Credit Risk
The City’s investment policy restricts investment in commercial paper to the top investment
rating provided by two nationally recognized rating agencies at the time of purchase and
requires immediate sale if the principal invested becomes jeopardized. City of Alma is not
invested in commercial paper.
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Concentration of Credit Risk
The City of Alma uses common checking accounts for several of the operating funds. Each
fund’s share of the cash balance is reported separately. Surplus funds are invested throughout
the year. The City allocates interest earnings in relation to the average cash balance of each
fund. Investments are carried at cost as declines in fair values are considered temporary except
for investments where the term is for more than twelve months or in the case of mutual funds.
Investments in long term investments and mutual funds are recorded at fair value.
Custodial Credit Risk - Investments
For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that
are in the possession of an outside party. All City investments are collateralized.
Note 4 – Capital Assets
Depreciation on capital assets acquired with grant funds is an ineligible expense. A summary
of capital asset activity for the year ending June 30, 2021 follows:
Balances
June 30, 2020
Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles
Total capital assets being depreciated

$ 1,454,425
114,131
1,199,589

Additions

$

7,303
-

Deletions

$

(9,734)
(63,368)

Balances
June 30, 2021

$

1,461,728
104,397
1,136,221

2,768,145

7,303

(73,102)

2,702,346

Less accumulated depreciation for
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Vehicles

381,064
92,436
354,256

37,277
7,708
142,873

(9,693)
(63,368)

418,341
90,451
433,761

Total accumulated depreciation

827,756

187,858

(73,061)

942,553

(41)

1,759,793

Net capital assets being depreciated
Business-type capital assets, net

1,940,389
$ 1,940,389

(180,555)
$

(180,555)

$

(41)

$

1,759,793

Note 5 – Risk Management
The City is exposed to various risk of loss to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; and natural disasters. The City is a member of Michigan Municipal Risk
Management Authority, a public entity risk pool of cities, counties, authorities, colleges and other
local units of government. MMRMA had more than 300 members as of June 30, 2021. The
purpose of the Authority is to provide cooperative and comprehensive risk financing and risk
control services for general and automotive liability, motor vehicle physical damage, and property;
purchase or otherwise make other provisions for reinsurance, excess insurance or make other
provisions for payment of losses and related expenses; and provide claims, legal defense and
related general administrative services to members.
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Note 6 – Employee Retirement and Benefit Systems
Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS)
The City of Alma has a defined benefit plan covering all full-time employees. The plan is operated
by the Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS), which is an agent multiple-employer
retirement system. MERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplemental information. That report may be obtained by writing to:
Municipal Employees Retirement System of Michigan
1134 Municipal Way
Lansing, MI 48917
Additional information related to the pension plan can be found in the City of Alma’s audited
financial statements which can be obtained from the City of Alma webpage at www.ci.alma.mi.us.
Note 7 – Commissions
Intercity Ticket Sales commission revenue, 40620, is earned from the sale of Indian Trails, Inc.
bus tickets. Because the transit employee has joint job responsibilities between intercity and
public transportation, the employee’s time is an eligible expense under 50102, Other Salaries and
Wages. The revenue earned from ticket sales does not need to be subtracted out as ineligible.
Note 8 – Non-financial Data
The methodology used for compiling mileage is an adequate and reliable method for recording
vehicle mileage.
Note 9 – Cost Allocation Plans
The following cost allocation plans were adhered to in the preparation of the financial
statements:
 Administrative Costs
 Insurance Costs
 Central Garage Costs
Note 10 – Capital Monies
Capital money was not used to pay for operating expenses.
Note 11 – Contingencies
Grants and Reimbursements
Amounts received or receivable under grant programs are subject to audit and adjustment by
the grantor agencies, principally the Federal and State governments. Any disallowed claims,
including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the transit agency. The amount,
if any, of expenses which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time.
However, the transit agency expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 1 - Local Revenues
Year Ended June 30, 2021
July 1, 2020 Sep 30, 2020
Operating revenues
Farebox collections and ticket sales
Contract fares
Other-advertising
Indian Trails commission

$

7,128
3,911
173
750

Total operating revenues

Oct 1, 2020 June 30, 2021

$

50,236
88,184
2,448
2,000

Total

$

57,364
92,095
2,621
2,750

11,962

142,868

154,830

Nonoperating revenues
Tax levy
Investment income
Gain on sale of capital assets

823
-

185,238
1,350
7,786

185,238
2,173
7,786

Total nonoperating revenues

823

194,374

195,197

Total local revenue

$

12,785

19

$

337,242

$

350,027

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 1A - Local Revenues
Based on a September 30, 2020 Year End
Oct 1, 2019 June 30, 2020
Operating revenues
Farebox collections and ticket sales
Contract fares
Other-advertising
Indian Trails commission

$

109,701
90,896
1,024
2,500

July 1, 2020 Sep 30, 2020

$

7,128
3,911
173
750

Total

$

116,829
94,807
1,197
3,250

Total operating revenues

204,121

11,962

216,083

Nonoperating revenues
Tax levy
Investment income
Gain on sale of capital asset

179,276
8,244
-

823
-

179,276
9,067
-

Total nonoperating revenues

187,520

823

188,343

Total local revenue

$

20

391,641

$

12,785

$

404,426

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 2 - Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Federal and State Grantor/Pass-through
Grantor/Program Title
U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed through Michigan Department of Transportation:
Highway Planning and Construction
MI-2019-014-02

Federal
Assistance
Listing
Number

Grant No.
Authorization
Number

MI-2019-014-02
20.509

Bus and Bus Facilities
Section 5339 Capital Grant:
MI2018-009-02

20.526

Rural Transit Assistance Program (RTAP)

20.509

N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Total Grant Awards

Total

Current Year's Expenditures
Federal
State

Local

Prior
Award
Year
Amount
Expenditures Remaining

20.505

Grants for Rural Areas Program
Section 5311 Operating Assistance:
COVID-19 MI-17-030-03
MI-2020-015 and MI-2020-008-03
COVID-19 MI-2020-015 and MI-2020-008-03
COVID-19 MI-2020-015-02

Michigan Department of Transportation
Nonurban Operating Assistance - Act 51
FY 2017
FY 2019
FY 2020
FY 2021

Program
Award
Amount

$

65,000

2017-0004/P15/R1
2017-0004 P16 FY2021
2017-0004 P16 FY2021
MI-2020-015-02

326,316
167,455
167,455
80,658

MI-2018-009-02

153,735

$

-

116,565
71,437
167,455
80,658

$

-

116,565
71,437
167,455
80,658

$

-

$

-

-

-

$

-

129,677
-

$

65,000

80,074
96,018
-

-

-

-

-

-

153,735

5,500

842

842

-

-

-

4,658

11,741
256,863
333,492
349,188

11,741
19,858
53,840
199,850

$ 1,917,403

$ 722,246

21

$ 436,957

11,741
19,858
53,840
199,850
$ 285,289

$

-

237,005
250,119
-

29,533
149,338

-

$ 616,801

$ 578,356

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 2A - Federal and State Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Federal
U.S. Department of Transportation
Grants for Rural Areas Program
RTAP

July 1, 2020 Sep 30, 2020

Oct 1, 2020 June 30, 2021

$

$

116,565
-

Total federal awards

319,550
842

Total

$

436,115
842

116,565

320,392

436,957

State
Michigan Department of Transportation
Nonurban Operating Assistance - Act 51
FY 2017
FY 2019
FY 2020
FY 2021

19,858
76,737
-

11,741
(22,897)
199,850

11,741
19,858
53,840
199,850

Total state awards

96,595

188,694

285,289

Total federal and state awards

$

213,160

22

$

509,086

$

722,246

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 2B - Federal and State Awards
Based on a September 30, 2020 Year End
Oct 1, 2019 June 30, 2020
Federal
U.S. Department of Transportation
Operating Assistance - Section 5311
RTAP

$

167,987
4,101

July 1, 2020 Sep 30, 2020

$

116,565
-

Total

$

284,552
4,101

Total federal awards

172,088

116,565

288,653

State
Michigan Department of Transportation
Operating Assistance - Act 51
FY 2016
FY 2019
FY 2020

30,974
(19,858)
250,119

19,858
76,737

30,974
326,856

Total state awards

261,235

96,595

357,830

Total federal and state awards

$

23

433,323

$

213,160

$

646,483

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 3 - Operating and Contract Expenses
Year Ended June 30, 2021
Operating
Operating Expenses:
Labor:
Operations
Maintenance
Administration
Dispatchers
Fringe Benefits
Pension
Services
Materials and supplies
Fuel
Tires
Utilities
Casualty and liability costs
Association Dues and Subscriptions
Advertising
Travel, Meetings, Training
MDOT Payback
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

$

$

319,775
52,993
78,243
81,320
165,395
54,955
54,653
23,818
45,214
3,571
16,908
24,811
1,126
1,206
65
3,654
187,858
1,115,565

24

RTAP

$

$

Total

842
842

$

$

319,775
52,993
78,243
81,320
165,395
54,955
54,653
23,818
45,214
3,571
16,908
24,811
1,126
1,206
907
3,654
187,858
1,116,407

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 3A - Operating Expenses Split Between a June 30 and September 30 Year End
Year Ended June 30, 2021
July 1, 2020 Sep 30, 2020
Labor
Operations
Maintenance
Administration
Dispatchers
Fringe benefits
Pension
Services
Materials and supplies
Fuel
Tires
Utilities
Casualty and liability costs
Travel, meetings, training
Association dues and subscriptions
Advertising
MDOT Payback
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

$

$

25

87,792
13,392
19,147
10,867
35,639
11,167
14,341
6,061
8,389
1,008
4,111
6,203
100
1,000
47,044
266,261

Oct 1, 2020 June 30, 2021

$

$

231,983
39,601
59,096
70,453
129,756
43,788
40,312
17,757
36,825
2,563
12,797
18,608
907
1,026
206
3,654
140,814
850,146

Total

$

319,775
52,993
78,243
81,320
165,395
54,955
54,653
23,818
45,214
3,571
16,908
24,811
907
1,126
1,206
3,654
187,858
$ 1,116,407

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 3B - Operating Expenses by Program
Based on a September 30, 2020 Year End
Oct 1, 2019 - July 1, 2020 June 30, 2020 Sep 30, 2020
Labor
Operations
Maintenance
Administration
Dispatchers
Fringe Benefits
Pension
Services
Materials and supplies
Fuel
Tires
Utilities
Casualty and liability costs
Travel, meetings and training
Association dues and subscriptions
Advertising
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

$

$

26

271,613
22,750
58,115
16,883
96,715
33,352
30,037
24,272
33,701
511
13,324
17,023
5,599
171
302
141,854
766,222

$

$

87,792
13,392
19,147
10,867
35,639
11,167
14,341
6,061
8,389
1,008
4,111
6,203
100
1,000
47,044
266,261

Total
$

359,405
36,142
77,262
27,750
132,354
44,519
44,378
30,333
42,090
1,519
17,435
23,226
5,599
271
1,302
188,898
$ 1,032,483

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
OAR Schedule 4R
Nonurban Regular Service Revenue Report
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Code

Description

Amount

401
40100

Farebox revenue
Passenger fares

406
40615
40620

Auxiliary transportation revenue
Advertising
Intercity ticket sales

408
40800

Local revenue
Taxes levied for Transit Services

409
40950

Local service contract/local source
Contract fares

411
41101

State formula and contracts
State Operating Assistance

357,830

413
41301
41398

Federal contracts
Section 5311
RTAP

284,552
4,101

414
41400

Other revenue
Investment Income

9,067

$

Total revenues

116,829

1,197
3,250

179,276

94,807

$ 1,050,909
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City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
OAR Schedule 4E
Nonurban Regular Service Expense Report
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020
Code

Description

501
50101
50102
50103

Labor
Operators salaries & wages
Other salaries & wages
Dispatchers salaries & wages

502
50200
50220

Fringe Benefits
Other fringe benefits
Pensions

503
50302
50399

Services
Advertising
Other services

504
50401
50402
50499

Materials and supplies
Fuel and lubricants
Tires and tubes
Other materials and supplies

505
50500

Utilities
Utilities

506
50603

Insurance
Liability insurance

509
50902
50903

Miscellaneous expenses
Travel, meetings and training
Association dues and subscriptions

513
51300

Operations

Maintenance

Administration

$ 359,405
27,750

$

$

36,142
-

Total

77,262
-

$ 359,405
113,404
27,750

95,759
26,802

12,254
7,326

24,341
10,391

132,354
44,519

7,002

3,721

1,302
33,655

1,302
44,378

14,135

42,090
1,519
16,116

82

42,090
1,519
30,333

-

-

17,435

17,435

23,226

-

-

23,226

5,572
-

-

271

Depreciation
Depreciation

188,898

-

-

Total expenses

748,549

550
55007

Ineligible expenses
Ineligible depreciation

188,898

-

-

188,898

574
57402

Ineligible expenses
Ineligible RTAP

4,101

-

-

4,101

580
58020

Ineligible expenses
Ineligible DB Pensions

3,482

952

1,350

5,784

196,481

952

1,350

198,783

163,389

$ 833,700

Total ineligible expenses
Net eligible expenses

$ 552,068

28

27

119,195

$

118,243

164,739

$

5,599
271

188,898
1,032,483

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
OAR Schedule 4N (unaudited)
Nonurban Regular Service Nonfinancial Report
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Code
610
611
615
616
617
618
622
625

Description

Weekday

Vehicle Hours
Vehicle Miles
Unlinked Passenger Trips - Regular
Unlinked Passenger Trips - Elderly
Unlinked Passenger Trips - Persons with Disabilities
Unlinked Passenger Trips - Elderly Persons with Disabilities
Total Demand-Response Unlinked Passenger Trips
Days Operated

29

15,095
175,858
29,769
2,524
12,021
3,913
48,227
252

Saturday/
Sunday

Total
15,095
175,858
29,769
2,524
12,021
3,913
48,227
252

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 5 - Operating Assistance Calculation
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Federal Section 5311
July 1, 2020 - Oct 1, 2020 Sept 30, 2020 June 30, 2021
Expenses:
Labor
Fringe Benefits
Pension
Services
Materials and supplies
Fuel
Tires
Utilities
Casualty and liability costs
Travel, meetings and training
Association dues and subscriptions
Advertising
MDOT payback
Depreciation

$

Total expenses

131,198
35,639
11,167
14,341
6,061
8,389
1,008
4,111
6,203
100
1,000
47,044

$

401,133
129,756
43,788
40,312
17,757
36,825
2,563
12,797
18,608
907
1,026
206
3,654
140,814

State Operating Assistance
July 1, 2020 - Oct 1, 2020 Sept 30, 2020 June 30, 2021

$

131,198
35,639
11,167
14,341
6,061
8,389
1,008
4,111
6,203
100
1,000
47,044

$

401,133
129,756
43,788
40,312
17,757
36,825
2,563
12,797
18,608
907
1,026
206
3,654
140,814

266,261

850,146

266,261

850,146

Less ineligible expenses:
Depreciation
Change in net pension liability
RTAP grant expenses
Dues
MDOT payback

47,044
-

140,814
5,784
842
326
3,654

47,044
-

140,814
5,784
842
326
3,654

Total ineligible expenses

47,044

151,420

47,044

151,420

Net eligible expenses

$

219,217

Maximum Section 5311 reimbursement
FY2020 - 18.00%
FY2021 - 36.00%

$

39,459

Maximum state operating assistance
FY2020 - 42.050916%
FY2021 - 37.535000%

30

$

698,726

$

251,541

$

219,217

$

92,183

$

698,726

$

262,267

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 5B - Schedule of Ineligible Expenses
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Program

Finding

Federal
Section 5311
per OMB
Uniform
Grant Guidance

State Operating
Assistance per
Revenue and
Expense Manual

1. Depreciation on contributed capital

$

$

Urban Mass Transportation
Operating Grants:

2. Change in net pension liability

187,858

187,858

5,784

5,784

3. Training expenses reimbursed by RTAP

842

842

4. Association dues

326

326

3,654

3,654

5. MDOT payback
$

31

198,464

$

198,464

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule 6 – Comments and Recommendations
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
STATUTORY COMPLIANCE
Our review of procedures for compliance with statutory requirements related to the Transit
Services Fund disclosed no items to be reported to management.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule of Mileage Data (Unaudited)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
Demand - Response
Weekday
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

Saturday

38,999
41,784
46,840
45,480

Total mileage

173,103

33

-

Total
38,999
41,784
46,840
45,480
173,103

City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule of Expenses by Contract and General Operations
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021
RTAP
Labor
Fringe benefits
Pension
Services
Materials and supplies
Fuel
Tires
Utilities
Casualty and liability costs
Travel, meetings, training
Association dues and subscriptions
Advertising
Depreciation
MDOT Payback

$

Operations
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
842
‐
‐
‐
‐

$

532,331
165,395
54,955
54,653
23,818
45,214
3,571
16,908
24,811
65
1,126
1,206
187,858
3,654

Total

842

1,115,565

Less: ineligible expenses

842

197,622

Total eligible expenses

$

34

‐

$

917,943

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial
Statements Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing
Standards
Independent Auditors’ Report
Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Commission
City of Alma, Michigan
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of the Transit Services Fund of the City of Alma, as of and for the year ended June
30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Transit
Services Fund’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December
21, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Transit
Services Fund of the City of Alma's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to
determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Transit Services Fund of the City of Alma’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Transit Services Fund of
the City of Alma’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal
control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses as item 2021-001
that we consider to be a material weakness.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Transit Services Fund of the City of
Alma's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported
under Government Auditing Standards.
Transit Services Fund of the City of Alma’s Response to Findings and Corrective Action
Plan
The Transit Services Fund of the City of Alma’s response to the finding identified in our audit is
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses and corrective action plan.
The Transit Services Fund of the City of Alma’s response was not subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no
opinion on it.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Alma, MI
December 21, 2021
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City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Schedule of Findings and Responses
June 30, 2021
Finding 2021-001, 2020-003, 2019-003, 2018-003, 2017-003 and 2016-002 Material Weakness –
Federal Award Written Procedures
Criteria:

Uniform Grant Guidance requires written procedures covering the following:
financial management systems, cash management, payments, allowable
costs, period of performance, federal timekeeping, matching or cost sharing,
program income, procurement, equipment and real property, supplies,
copyrights, subawards to debarred and suspended parties, monitoring and
reporting program performance, financial reporting, retention and access
requirements for records, and subrecipient monitoring.

Condition:

The City has not developed the required written procedures. This is a repeat
finding.

Cause and Effect:

Management was initially unaware of the requirement to establish federal
written procedures during the June 30, 2016 audit. Subsequently,
management has not made development of written procedures a priority.

Recommendation:

The City should develop and implement the required federal written
procedures.

Views of Responsible
Officials:

Management agrees with the finding.

Corrective Action Plan:

See attached corrective action plan from management.
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City of Alma, Michigan
Transit Services Fund
Corrective Action Plan
June 30, 2021

There was one finding of a material weakness identified during the annual financial statement
audit performed by a third-party external audit firm that requires a response and corrective action
plan by management. The City of Alma has reviewed and agreed with this finding and is taking
the necessary steps to address this issue and make the proper corrections.
Finding 2021-001: Federal Award Written Procedures
Contact: Curtis Dancer, Finance Director
Anticipated Completion Date: March 31, 2021
Management’s Response and Corrective Action Plan
In September of 2017, in response to a material weakness finding in the previous audit, the City
Commission approved a policy and procedure for the administration of all Federal, State, and
County grants. The policy in place specifically states that procedures for grant development,
application and approval, grant program implementation, financial and budgetary compliance, and
record keeping requirements. During the current fiscal year, the Grant Administration Policy was
formally adopted into the Finance Department Manual and shared with all department heads and
supervisors.
It was brought to management’s attention during the audit that the policy created did not include
all of the necessary components required under the Uniform Grant Guidance. Management has
instructed the Finance Director to review the requirements of the Uniform Grant Guidance and
make the appropriate changes to present to the Finance Committee and ultimately the City
Commission for adoption.
While the formal adoption of an amended policy is necessary to conform with Uniform Grant
Guidance requirements, management has not identified through internal review any instances
over the previous fiscal year of noncompliance with grant requirements beyond the adaptation of
a formal written policy.
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WARRANT TO THE TREASURER

WARRANT NO. 22-13

CITY OF ALMA

JANUARY 11, 2022

The attached claims have been allowed by the City Commission and you are hereby authorized
to release payment for each of the claims as covered by the checks listed.
Internal service fund transfers for the period December 24, 2021 through January 6, 2022:
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES:

$

0.00

ENGINEERING SERVICES:

$

0.00

PUBLIC WORKS SERVICES:

$

0.00

EQUIPMENT RENTAL CHARGES:

$

0.00

Payroll of January 6, 2022 totaling $340,186.03 in gross wages, employer taxes and benefit
costs.

SIGNED: ___________________________________________
Sara Anderson, City Clerk
COUNTERSIGNED: _________________________________
Aeric Ripley, Interim City Manager

CITY OF ALMA
525 East Superior St.
Alma, MI 48801
Curtis Dancer
Finance Director/Treasurer
525 East Superior St.
Alma, Michigan 48801
cdancer@myalma.org
(989) 463-9504

City of Alma Commission
Greg Mapes,
Mayor
Roxann Harrington, Vice Mayor
Nick Piccolo,
Commissioner
Danny Wernick,
Commissioner
Roger Allman,
Commissioner
Michelle Pitts,
Commissioner
Audra Stahl,
Commissioner
Anthony Costanzo
City Attorney
Aeric Ripley,
Interim City Manager
Sara Anderson
City Clerk

FINANCE REPORT
FOR CITY
COMMISSION

CHECK WARRANT
To be approved at Commission
Meeting dated
January 11, 2022
Month/Day/year

\\coaserver\users\CDancer\Documents\TITLE PAGES FOR COMMISSION REPORT JAN.docx

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#
198-436533
76198

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

25.58

25.58

Open

N
01/07/2022

41.74

Open

N
01/07/2022

65.75

Open

N
01/07/2022

33.98

Open

N
01/07/2022

17.57

Open

N
01/07/2022

33.98

Open

N
01/07/2022

3.59

Open

N
01/07/2022

62.60

Open

N
01/07/2022

(8.37)

Open

N
01/07/2022

A-1 Truck Parts, Inc.
ROCKER SW 2POS
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

A-1 Truck Parts, Inc.
SUPPLIES
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

A-1 Truck Parts, Inc.
SUPPLIES
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

ACE HARDWARE
HAND SOAP REFILL
692-265.000-740.000

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

33.98

ACE HARDWARE
SUPPLIES
692-449.000-746.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
TOOLS/EQUIPMENT

01/12/2022

17.57

ACE HARDWARE
SUPPLIES
692-449.000-746.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
TOOLS/EQUIPMENT

01/12/2022

ACE HARDWARE
RIVERWALK LIGHTS
101-751.000-740.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

1708200559070
76209
Advance Auto Parts
INVENTORY
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

1708136326828
76210
Advance Auto Parts
CREDIT
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

198-436184
76199

198-436185
76200

432/8
76190

437/8
76192

440/8
76193

414/8
76194

1/25

25.58
41.74
41.74
65.75
65.75

33.98

17.57
33.98
33.98
3.59
3.59
62.60
62.60
(8.37)
(8.37)

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

1708200627169
76211
Advance Auto Parts
AIR FILTER
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

1708136358934
76212
Advance Auto Parts
INVENTORY
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

1708136358942
76213
Advance Auto Parts
INVENTORY
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

1708135539767
76214
Advance Auto Parts
INVENTORY
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

51004
76151

Alley T & Gifts, Inc
FACE MASKS
588-596.000-740.100

C320474
76067

B331084
76191

Inv Amt

8.92

Amt Due

2/25

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

8.92

Open

N
01/07/2022

92.41

Open

N
01/07/2022

129.12

Open

N
01/07/2022

34.27

Open

N
01/07/2022

300.00

Open

N
01/05/2022

2,953.39

Open

N
01/06/2022

78.74

Open

N
01/03/2022

59.76

Open

N
01/03/2022

18.00

Open

N
01/07/2022

8.92
92.41
92.41
129.12
129.12
34.27
34.27

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
COVID 19 RELATED EXPENSES

14688 AND 14668
76176
ALMA COMMUNITY ART CENTER
01/06/2022
REIMBURSEMENT FOR WORTHY ELECTRIC
mshaffer
101-728.000-740.000
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES
C320642
76066
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

01/12/2022

300.00
300.00
2,953.39
2,953.39

Alma Hardware
SUPPLIES
590-527.000-787.000

01/03/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

78.74

Alma Hardware
SUPPLIES
590-527.000-746.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
TOOLS/EQUIPMENT

59.76

Alma Hardware
KEYS
692-449.000-740.000

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

78.74

59.76
18.00
18.00

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

1M6P-DYJY-XPHQ
76150
AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES
SUPPLIES
510-790.000-740.000
30684964
76149

01067
76027

WT 01063
76028

WT 01064
76029

WT 01065
76030

WT 01066
76031

08491
76201

2036344859
76039
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

Applied Imaging
01/05/2022
AGREEMENT NUMBER 132-1531484-000
mshaffer
510-790.000-801.000
CONTRACT FEES

01/12/2022

Arcada Township
WINTER TAXES
581-595.000-958.000

12/28/2021
mshaffer
PROPERTY TAXES

01/12/2022

Arcada Township
WINTER TAXES
581-595.000-958.000

12/28/2021
mshaffer
PROPERTY TAXES

01/12/2022

Arcada Township
WINTER TAXES
581-595.000-958.000

12/28/2021
mshaffer
PROPERTY TAXES

01/12/2022

Arcada Township
WINTER TAXES
581-595.000-958.000

12/28/2021
mshaffer
PROPERTY TAXES

01/12/2022

Arcada Township
WINTER TAXES
581-595.000-958.000

12/28/2021
mshaffer
PROPERTY TAXES

01/12/2022

ASAP Sales & Service
PARTS
692-532.000-780.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

Baker & Taylor
BOOKS
510-790.000-973.200
510-790.000-973.100
510-790.000-972.100

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
ADULT NONFICTIONAL BOOKS NONFICTION
ADULT FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
JUVENILE FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION

3/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

49.08

49.08

Open

N
01/05/2022

165.84

Open

N
01/05/2022

1,479.93

Open

Y
12/28/2021

1,255.07

Open

Y
12/28/2021

410.11

Open

Y
12/28/2021

488.34

Open

Y
12/28/2021

227.72

Open

Y
12/28/2021

157.42

Open

N
01/07/2022

2,050.08

Open

N
12/29/2021

49.08
165.84
165.84
1,479.93
1,479.93
1,255.07
1,255.07
410.11
410.11
488.34
488.34
227.72
227.72
157.42
157.42
2,050.08
1,136.22
726.45
125.15

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

2036358000
76040

2036328974
76041

H59192520
76042

H59057540
76043

H59260900
76044

H59340380
76145

5017466226
76146
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
510-790.000-972.200

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

Inv Amt

JUVENILE NONFICTIONAL NONFICTION

Baker & Taylor
BOOKS AND CDS
510-790.000-749.800
510-790.000-973.100
510-790.000-972.100
510-790.000-973.200

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
CD/AUDIO COLLECTION CD/AUDIO
ADULT FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
JUVENILE FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
ADULT NONFICTIONAL BOOKS NONFICTION

460.80

Baker & Taylor
BOOKS AND CDS
510-790.000-972.100
510-790.000-972.200
510-790.000-973.100
510-790.000-973.200
510-790.000-749.800

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
JUVENILE FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
JUVENILE NONFICTIONAL NONFICTION
ADULT FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
ADULT NONFICTIONAL BOOKS NONFICTION
CD/AUDIO COLLECTION CD/AUDIO

770.60

Baker & Taylor
DVD
510-790.000-749.700

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
DVD/VIDEO COLLECTION DVD/VIDEO

8.37

Baker & Taylor
DVD
510-790.000-749.700

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
DVD/VIDEO COLLECTION DVD/VIDEO

21.63

Baker & Taylor
DVDS
510-790.000-749.700

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
DVD/VIDEO COLLECTION DVD/VIDEO

140.91

Baker & Taylor
DVD
510-790.000-749.700

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
DVD/VIDEO COLLECTION DVD/VIDEO

17.44

Baker & Taylor
BOOKS
510-790.000-973.200

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
ADULT NONFICTIONAL BOOKS NONFICTION

46.76

4/25

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

460.80

Open

N
12/29/2021

770.60

Open

N
12/29/2021

8.37

Open

N
12/29/2021

21.63

Open

N
12/29/2021

140.91

Open

N
12/29/2021

17.44

Open

N
01/05/2022

46.76

Open

N
01/05/2022

62.26

154.66
114.28
96.37
95.49

478.41
168.92
42.11
40.29
40.87

8.37

21.63

140.91

17.44

46.76

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#
2036377396
76147

2036409815
76148

0337963-IN
76076

228473
76224

76292437
76046

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

294.70

Open

N
01/05/2022

319.88

Open

N
01/05/2022

108.96

Open

N
01/03/2022

200.00

Open

N
01/07/2022

14.92

Open

N
12/29/2021

253.80

Open

N
12/29/2021

166.17

Open

N
12/29/2021

139.05

Open

N
12/29/2021

Baker & Taylor
BOOKS
510-790.000-973.100
510-790.000-972.100
510-790.000-973.200
510-790.000-972.200

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
ADULT FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
JUVENILE FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
ADULT NONFICTIONAL BOOKS NONFICTION
JUVENILE NONFICTIONAL NONFICTION

294.70

Baker & Taylor
BOOKS
510-790.000-973.100
510-790.000-972.100

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
ADULT FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
JUVENILE FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION

319.88

Beaver Research Company
FOAMING DEGREASER
590-527.000-787.000

01/03/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

108.96

C. Stoddard
CRANKCASE OIL
692-532.000-801.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
CONTRACT FEES

200.00

CENGAGE LEARNING CENTER
ACCOUNT NUMBER 150249
510-790.000-740.000

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

5/25

108.77
82.63
83.34
19.96

218.47
101.41

108.96

200.00

DEC2021UB 1105 WILLO
76048
CITY OF ALMA
763110500001
588-596.000-927.000

12/29/2021
mshaffer
WATER/SEWER

01/12/2022

DEC2021UB 217 N STAT
76049
CITY OF ALMA
645021700001
580-265.850-927.000

12/29/2021
mshaffer
WATER/SEWER

01/12/2022

DEC2021UB 219NSTATE
76050
CITY OF ALMA
645021900001
580-265.860-927.000
580-265.870-927.000

12/29/2021
mshaffer
WATER/SEWER
WATER/SEWER

01/12/2022

14.92
14.92
253.80
253.80
166.17
166.17
139.05
72.58
66.47

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

DEC2021UB 901 WASHIN
76073
CITY OF ALMA
730090100001
590-527.000-927.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
WATER/SEWER

01/12/2022

DEC2021UB 800 WASHIN
76205
CITY OF ALMA
730080000001
692-265.000-927.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
WATER/SEWER

01/12/2022

DEC2021UB 800 EUCLID
76206
CITY OF ALMA
185080000006
101-751.000-927.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
WATER/SEWER

01/12/2022

DEC2021UB 525 E SUPE
76207
CITY OF ALMA
665052500001
101-265.000-927.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
WATER/SEWER

01/12/2022

DEC2021UB 940 CHARLE
76208
CITY OF ALMA
080094000001
101-751.000-927.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
WATER/SEWER

01/12/2022

206079601625
76006
Consumers Energy
100013225246
581-595.000-921.000

12/23/2021
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

206435354125
76007
Consumers Energy
100013337389
581-595.000-921.000

12/23/2021
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205011764706
76008
Consumers Energy
100000074854
101-448.000-921.000

12/23/2021
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

206613345614
76091
Consumers Energy
100070877749
101-448.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

6/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

87.61

87.61

Open

N
01/03/2022

934.86

Open

N
01/07/2022

121.92

Open

N
01/07/2022

588.96

Open

N
01/07/2022

121.92

Open

N
01/07/2022

35.91

Open

Y
12/23/2021

861.02

Open

Y
12/23/2021

36.62

Open

Y
12/23/2021

99.98

Open

N
01/03/2022

87.61
934.86
934.86
121.92
121.92
588.96
588.96
121.92
121.92
35.91
35.91
861.02
861.02
36.62
36.62
99.98
99.98

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

206613345615
76092
Consumers Energy
100070889744
101-448.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

204655814988
76093
Consumers Energy
100074804608
101-448.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

204655814989
76094
Consumers Energy
100074804723
101-448.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

204655814954
76095
Consumers Energy
100075507523
101-751.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

202609029776
76096
Consumers Energy
100020649032
101-751.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

207146511754
76097
Consumers Energy
100022415150
101-567.000-921.000
101-567.000-923.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

201096256780
76098
Consumers Energy
100022517492
101-751.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

201096256782
76099
Consumers Energy
100022518326
101-751.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

201363169542
76100
Consumers Energy
100022658361
101-751.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

7/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

110.34

110.34

Open

N
01/03/2022

119.72

Open

N
01/03/2022

109.34

Open

N
01/03/2022

29.93

Open

N
01/03/2022

64.60

Open

N
01/03/2022

288.88

Open

N
01/03/2022

50.19

Open

N
01/03/2022

42.06

Open

N
01/03/2022

71.03

Open

N
01/03/2022

110.34
119.72
119.72
109.34
109.34
29.93
29.93
64.60
64.60
288.88
183.92
104.96
50.19
50.19
42.06
42.06
71.03
71.03

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

201363169543
76101
Consumers Energy
100022658957
101-751.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

201363169544
76102
Consumers Energy
100022659104
101-751.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205456707078
76103
Consumers Energy
100063176851
101-448.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/11/2022

205723673715
76104
Consumers Energy
100020640189
510-790.000-923.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

206880161375
76105
Consumers Energy
100000076263
510-790.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

207057924916
76106
Consumers Energy
100000074318
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

207057924918
76107
Consumers Energy
100000076727
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

207057924988
76108
Consumers Energy
100000078392
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

207057924919
76109
Consumers Energy
100000078947
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

8/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

51.91

51.91

Open

N
01/03/2022

62.46

Open

N
01/03/2022

47.76

Open

N
01/03/2022

1,590.66

Open

N
01/03/2022

2,655.74

Open

N
01/03/2022

171.43

Open

N
01/03/2022

160.89

Open

N
01/03/2022

227.06

Open

N
01/03/2022

147.31

Open

N
01/03/2022

51.91
62.46
62.46
47.76
47.76
1,590.66
1,590.66
2,655.74
2,655.74
171.43
171.43
160.89
160.89
227.06
227.06
147.31
147.31

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

206524340319
76110
Consumers Energy
100021968647
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

201096256781
76111
Consumers Energy
100022518052
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

201363169545
76112
Consumers Energy
100022659583
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

207057926776
76113
Consumers Energy
100000159143
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

207057926779
76114
Consumers Energy
100000175198
590-527.000-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189769613
76115
Consumers Energy
100022835225
590-527.000-923.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

205189769612
76116
Consumers Energy
100022835050
590-527.000-923.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

201007540475
76117
Consumers Energy
100039241037
590-527.561-921.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

01/03/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

9321998529
76118

Consumers Energy
300019571508
590-527.000-921.000

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

9/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

62.60

62.60

Open

N
01/03/2022

32.64

Open

N
01/03/2022

53.34

Open

N
01/03/2022

198.71

Open

N
01/03/2022

170.97

Open

N
01/03/2022

1,655.01

Open

N
01/03/2022

43.06

Open

N
01/03/2022

114.82

Open

N
01/03/2022

27.72

Open

N
01/03/2022

62.60
32.64
32.64
53.34
53.34
198.71
198.71
170.97
170.97
1,655.01
1,655.01
43.06
43.06
114.82
114.82
27.72
27.72

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

204121876461
76152
Consumers Energy
100021573702
580-265.860-921.000
580-265.870-921.000
580-265.860-923.000
580-265.870-923.000
580-265.850-923.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY
ELECTRICITY
NATURAL GAS
NATURAL GAS
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

206524342682
76153
Consumers Energy
100075042620
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189770029
76154
Consumers Energy
100070879091
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

201274206348
76155
Consumers Energy
100071694119
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189770031
76156
Consumers Energy
100070879117
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189770030
76157
Consumers Energy
100070879109
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189770034
76158
Consumers Energy
100070981442
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189770032
76159
Consumers Energy
100070889819
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

Inv Amt

1,208.41

Amt Due

10/25

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

1,208.41

Open

N
01/05/2022

20.20

Open

N
01/05/2022

50.23

Open

N
01/05/2022

153.64

Open

N
01/05/2022

171.16

Open

N
01/05/2022

217.38

Open

N
01/05/2022

184.22

Open

N
01/05/2022

225.97

Open

N
01/05/2022

312.03
245.17
157.40
189.97
303.84
20.20
20.20
50.23
50.23
153.64
153.64
171.16
171.16
217.38
217.38
184.22
184.22
225.97
225.97

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

205189770027
76160
Consumers Energy
100070879059
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189770033
76161
Consumers Energy
100070891434
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

201274206349
76162
Consumers Energy
100071714420
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189769611
76163
Consumers Energy
100022834889
692-265.000-921.000
692-265.000-923.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

207057926845
76164
Consumers Energy
100000171403
101-265.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

201185229535
76165
Consumers Energy
100025956543
101-751.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

206346423583
76166
Consumers Energy
100022562613
101-751.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

205189769607
76167
Consumers Energy
100022831992
101-265.000-923.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

202520029668
76168
Consumers Energy
100023040171
591-536.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

11/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

290.59

290.59

Open

N
01/05/2022

183.76

Open

N
01/05/2022

107.55

Open

N
01/05/2022

1,827.58

Open

N
01/05/2022

1,553.76

Open

N
01/05/2022

29.36

Open

N
01/05/2022

130.95

Open

N
01/05/2022

1,108.00

Open

N
01/05/2022

86.71

Open

N
01/05/2022

290.59
183.76
183.76
107.55
107.55
1,827.58
648.95
1,178.63
1,553.76
1,553.76
29.36
29.36
130.95
130.95
1,108.00
1,108.00
86.71
86.71

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

202520029672
76169
Consumers Energy
100023049180
101-751.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

202253069675
76170
Consumers Energy
100023307539
101-751.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

204655817015
76171
Consumers Energy
100040754911
580-265.810-921.000
580-265.810-923.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

204655817016
76172
Consumers Energy
100040807230
580-265.810-921.000
580-265.810-923.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

203498939620
76173
Consumers Energy
100043870862
588-596.000-921.000
588-596.000-923.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

205189770028
76174
Consumers Energy
100070879067
101-448.000-921.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

203854906071
76175
Consumers Energy
103028928895
580-265.840-921.000
580-265.840-923.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY
NATURAL GAS

01/12/2022

207146514943
76183
Consumers Energy
100000214930
101-448.000-921.000

01/06/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

12/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

29.64

29.64

Open

N
01/05/2022

92.14

Open

N
01/05/2022

100.87

Open

N
01/05/2022

58.67

Open

N
01/05/2022

1,011.48

Open

N
01/05/2022

184.79

Open

N
01/05/2022

45.08

Open

N
01/05/2022

5,037.67

Open

N
01/06/2022

29.64
92.14
92.14
100.87
31.07
69.80
58.67
38.50
20.17
1,011.48
716.30
295.18
184.79
184.79
45.08
30.08
15.00
5,037.67
5,037.67

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

206880166747
76184
Consumers Energy
100000173623
101-448.000-921.000

01/06/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

207146514942
76185
Consumers Energy
100000214690
202-449.161-921.000

01/06/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

204566836120
76186
Consumers Energy
103033719461
101-448.000-921.000

01/06/2022
mshaffer
ELECTRICITY

01/12/2022

1041903
76221

237608-0
76037

237325-0
76038

236999-1
76065

238402-0
76127

237973-0
76142

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

13/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

19.70

19.70

Open

N
01/06/2022

172.13

Open

N
01/06/2022

122.16

Open

N
01/06/2022

384.72

Open

N
01/07/2022

45.56

Open

N
12/29/2021

73.73

Open

N
12/29/2021

388.00

Open

Y
12/30/2021

74.73

Open

N
01/04/2022

302.69

Open

N
01/05/2022

19.70
172.13
172.13
122.16
122.16

D & K Truck Company
SUPPLIES
692-532.000-740.000

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

384.72

DBI Office Plus
WIRELESS MOUSE
510-790.000-740.000

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

45.56

DBI Office Plus
12/29/2021
01/12/2022
WIRELESS KEYBOARD AND CORRECTION T mshaffer
510-790.000-740.000
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

73.73

01/12/2022

384.72

45.56

73.73

DBI Office Plus
SCREEN, TRIPOD, PROJ, 70X70
101-257.000-740.000

12/30/2021
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

388.00

DBI Office Plus
CALENDAR
588-596.000-717.000

01/04/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
OTHER EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE

74.73

DBI Office Plus
SUPPLIES
510-790.000-740.000

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

302.69

388.00

74.73

302.69

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#
237973-1
76143

238452-0
76144

7058935
76141

INV59038
76025

72166
76045

102279
76081

21-4342
76140

18975/5
76195

18980/5
76196

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

61.29

Open

N
01/05/2022

25.25

Open

N
01/05/2022

132.33

Open

N
01/05/2022

186.50

Open

Y
12/28/2021

35.00

Open

N
12/29/2021

276.35

Open

N
01/03/2022

1,845.00

Open

N
01/05/2022

19.98

Open

N
01/07/2022

8.98

Open

N
01/07/2022

DBI Office Plus
SUPPLIES
510-790.000-740.000

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

61.29

DBI Office Plus
SUPPLIES
510-790.000-740.000

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

25.25

Demco
SUPERFOLD BOOK JACKET COVER
510-790.000-740.000

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

132.33

Dornbos Sign & Safety, Inc
12/28/2021
OVERNIGHT PARKING PERMIT DECALS
mshaffer
101-443.000-740.000
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

E & S Graphics, Inc
PROJECT PLATE
510-790.000-804.000

12/29/2021
mshaffer
PRINTING/COPYING

01/12/2022

E.I. Morrow Co, Inc
SUPPLIES
590-527.000-740.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

Election Source
ANNUAL MAINTENANCE CONTRACT
101-262.000-801.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
CONTRACT FEES

01/12/2022

Family Farm & Home
RIVERWALK LIGHTS
101-751.000-740.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

Family Farm & Home
BATTERY
101-265.000-740.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

14/25

61.29

25.25

132.33
186.50
186.50
35.00
35.00
276.35
276.35
1,845.00
1,845.00
19.98
19.98
8.98
8.98

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#
19002/5
76197

0143532
76009

01/07/2022
76345

12292021
76034

01/07/2022
76343

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

Family Farm & Home
01/07/2022
01/12/2022
RENTAL SUPPLIES FOR BOILER WORK
mshaffer
580-265.860-740.000
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES
FERGUSON WATERWORKS #3386
CUSTOMER # 7226
590-527.552-740.000
591-536.552-740.000

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

12/23/2021
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

FREDERICK, SHIRLEY
01/07/2022
UB refund for account: 775072800-0 CDANCER
590-000.000-276.000
58 SEWER
596-000.000-276.000
SOLID WASTE
591-000.000-276.000
WATER RATE

01/12/2022

3.49

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

3.49

Open

N
01/07/2022

699.30

Open

Y
12/23/2021

34.34

Open

Y
01/07/2022

1,616.73

Open

N
12/29/2021

43.79

Open

Y
01/07/2022

3.49
699.30
349.65
349.65

01/14/2022

34.34
17.97
15.46
0.91

Frontier
12/29/2021
01/12/2022
ACCOUNT #: 989-197-0120-102914-5
mshaffer
101-172.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
101-215.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
101-270.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
101-257.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
101-567.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
101-371.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
597-336.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
101-301.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
510-790.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
581-595.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
588-596.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
590-527.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
591-536.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
593-536.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
101-191.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS - FINANCE
101-447.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS - ENGINEERING
692-449.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
692-532.000-922.000
COMMUNICATIONS
GEORGE, BRENT
01/07/2022
UB REFUND FOR ACCOUNT: 545032000-0 CDANCER
590-000.000-276.000
58 SEWER

Inv Amt

15/25

01/14/2022

1,616.73
71.71
71.71
71.71
71.71
43.27
71.71
58.66
234.66
73.73
68.72
43.27
136.95
94.66
94.66
71.71
71.71
133.09
133.09
43.79
22.90

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

9152983186
76088

01052022
76139

10675
76220

01032021
76080

4156
76222

876062
76074

01042022
76138

29
76137

306453
76181

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
596-000.000-276.000
591-000.000-276.000

SOLID WASTE
WATER RATE

Grainger Industrial Supply
ACCOUNT NUMBER 804943140
591-536.552-740.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

19.18

19.18

Open

N
01/03/2022

20.10

20.10

Open

N
01/05/2022

244.99

Open

N
01/07/2022

9,685.80

Open

N
01/03/2022

195.00

Open

N
01/07/2022

920.00

Open

N
01/03/2022

129.00

Open

N
01/05/2022

140.00

Open

N
01/05/2022

1,438.31

Open

N
01/06/2022

20.10
244.99
244.99

01/12/2022

9,685.80
9,685.80
195.00
195.00

JCI Jones Chemicals
01/03/2022
CHLORINE/ANNUAL CHEMICAL PROCUREME mshaffer
590-527.000-742.000
CHLORINE

01/12/2022

KALEN SCHOOLEY
REIMBURSEMENT FOR NEWSPAPERS
510-790.000-747.000

01/05/2022
mshaffer
NEWSPAPERS

01/12/2022

Kamlyn Paksi
01/05/2022
CLEANING SERVICES WEEK OF 12/27 AN mshaffer
580-265.810-801.000
CONTRACT FEES

01/12/2022

KCI
JANUARY UTILITY BILLS
591-536.556-801.000

01/12/2022

01/06/2022
mshaffer
CONTRACT FEES

Amt Due

19.18

GRIFFITH BUILDERS
01/03/2022
01/12/2022
2020 PARK RESTROOM REBUILD AND REH mshaffer
101-751.000-970.000-P69.00000
2020 PARK RESTROOM REBUILD AND REHA
In & Out Items
SUPPLIES
692-532.000-780.000

Inv Amt

16/25

19.70
1.19

Gratiot County Treasurer
01/05/2022
01/12/2022
DECEMBER BOARD OF REVIEW - CITY OF mshaffer
101-000.000-447.000
TAX ADMINISTRATIVE FEE
Gratiot Outdoor Equipment
SUPPLIES
692-532.000-780.000

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

920.00
920.00
129.00
129.00
140.00
140.00
1,438.31
479.44

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

948
76125

25486
76219

1345949
76072

12232021
76010

01072022
76223

01/07/2022
76344

211
76119

70480920
76071

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
590-527.556-801.000
596-528.520-801.000

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

CONTRACT FEES
CONTRACT FEES

KM INTERNATIONAL
SUPPLIES
202-449.109-740.000
203-449.109-740.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

KSS ENTERPRISES
SUPPLIES
590-527.000-740.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

Livingston County Assessors Associa 12/23/2021
VALUING MEDICAL AND RECREATION MAR mshaffer
101-257.000-715.000
EMPLOYEE TRAINING

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

25.00

25.00

Open

N
01/04/2022

370.66

Open

N
01/07/2022

133.25

Open

N
01/03/2022

35.00

Open

Y
12/23/2021

25.00

Open

N
01/07/2022

5.12

Open

Y
01/07/2022

7,651.14

Open

N
01/04/2022

137.98

Open

N
01/03/2022

25.00
370.66
185.33
185.33
133.25
133.25

01/12/2022

35.00
35.00

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
LICENSE/CERTIFICATION FEE

MCCARTHY, JORDAN
01/07/2022
UB REFUND FOR ACCOUNT: 580051800-0 CDANCER
590-000.000-276.000
SEWER RATE
591-000.000-276.000
WATER RATE

01/14/2022

McDonald Air Services, LLC
01/04/2022
AIRPORT MANAGER SERVICES AND SNOW
mshaffer
581-595.000-801.000
CONTRACT FEES

01/12/2022

McMaster-Carr Supply Co.
SUPPLIES
590-527.000-787.000

Inv Amt

17/25

479.44
479.43

Keep Michigan Beautiful, Inc
01/04/2022
01/12/2022
TAX DEDUCTIBLE CONTRIBUTION FOR 20 mshaffer
101-702.000-718.000
PUBLICATIONS/MEMBERSHIPS

LUKE SWISHER
REIMBURSEMENT FOR CDL TEST
692-449.000-716.000

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

25.00
25.00
5.12
2.80
2.32

01/03/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

7,651.14
7,651.14
137.98
137.98

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

S4966937.001
76069
Medler Electric Co.
SUPPLIES
590-527.000-787.000

01/03/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

(44.96)

(44.96)

Open

N
01/03/2022

S4966939.001
76070
Medler Electric Co.
SUPPLIES
590-527.000-787.000

01/03/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

10.32

10.32

Open

N
01/03/2022

S4962677.001
76124
Medler Electric Co.
SQD 9050JCK11V20 120V RELAY
590-527.559-787.000

01/04/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

166.91

166.91

Open

N
01/04/2022

S4963321.001
76217
Medler Electric Co.
SUPPLIES
101-448.000-740.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

322.00

322.00

Open

N
01/07/2022

90.00

Open

Y
12/28/2021

20.00

Open

Y
01/07/2022

20.00

Open

Y
01/07/2022

29.99

Open

N
01/05/2022

20.00

Open

Y
12/23/2021

01072022
76225

01/07/2022
76226

501447743
76136

12232021
76011

Inv Date
Entered By

18/25

Due Date

12282021
76022

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

01/12/2022

(44.96)

10.32

166.91

322.00

MICHIGAN HISTORICAL PRESERVATION NE 12/28/2021
01/12/2022
MEMBERSHIP
mshaffer
101-728.000-717.000
OTHER EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE

90.00

MID MICHIGAN ASSOC OF ASSESSING OFF 01/07/2022
01/12/2022
MMAAO 2022 MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION
mshaffer
101-257.000-717.000
OTHER EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE

20.00

MID MICHIGAN ASSOC OF ASSESSING OFF 01/07/2022
01/12/2022
MMAAO 2022 MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION
mshaffer
101-257.000-717.000
OTHER EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE

20.00

MIDWEST TAPE
CD
510-790.000-749.800

29.99

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
CD/AUDIO COLLECTION CD/AUDIO

MMAAO
12/23/2021
JANUARY MEETING AND CONTINUING EDU mshaffer
101-257.000-715.000
EMPLOYEE TRAINING

01/12/2022

90.00

20.00

20.00

29.99
20.00
20.00

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#
3967-342077
76054

3967-343803
76055

3967-343801
76056

3967-344637
76128

3967-343805
76179

3967-344285
76215

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

35346174
76047

35490819
76134

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

O'Reilly Auto Parts
AIR FILTER
588-596.510-787.000

12/29/2021
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

O'Reilly Auto Parts
AIR FILTER
588-596.510-787.000

12/29/2021
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

O'Reilly Auto Parts
RETURNED AIR FILTER
588-596.510-787.000

12/29/2021
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

12/28/2021

O'Reilly Auto Parts
OIL FILTER
588-596.000-780.000

01/04/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

O'Reilly Auto Parts
CREDIT
588-596.000-780.000

01/06/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE PARTS

01/12/2022

O'Reilly Auto Parts
WIPER FLUID
692-532.000-740.000

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

0239-003034866
76177
Republic Services #239
ACCOUNT NUMBER 3-0239-0072019
596-528.000-801.000

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

01/06/2022
mshaffer
CONTRACT FEES

19/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

168.12

168.12

Open

N
12/29/2021

75.96

Open

N
12/29/2021

(39.57)

Open

N
12/29/2021

53.52

Open

N
01/04/2022

(9.84)

Open

N
01/06/2022

65.88

Open

N
01/07/2022

30,342.96

Open

N
01/06/2022

14.99

Open

N
12/29/2021

41.60

Open

N
01/05/2022

168.12
75.96
75.96
(39.57)
(39.57)
53.52
53.52
(9.84)
(9.84)

01/12/2022

65.88
65.88
30,342.96
30,342.96

SCHOLASTIC INC. EDUCATION
BOOK
510-790.000-972.100

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
JUVENILE FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION

14.99

SCHOLASTIC INC. EDUCATION
BOOKS
510-790.000-972.200

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
JUVENILE NONFICTIONAL NONFICTION

41.60

14.99

41.60

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#
35519254
76135

01042022
76120*

6031068-00
76218

3495486771
76216

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

SCHOLASTIC INC. EDUCATION
BOOKS
510-790.000-972.100
510-790.000-972.200

01/05/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
JUVENILE FICTIONAL BOOKS FICTION
JUVENILE NONFICTIONAL NONFICTION

SPEEDWAY
DECEMBER 2021 FUEL CHARGES
101-371.000-743.000
588-596.000-743.000
101-447.000-743.000
597-336.000-743.000
736-692.660-743.000
692-532.000-743.000
101-301.000-743.000
598-336.000-743.000
590-527.000-743.000
591-536.552-743.000

01/04/2022
mshaffer
FUEL - INSPECTIONS
FUEL
FUEL - ENGINEERING
FUEL
FUEL
FUEL
FUEL
FUEL
FUEL
FUEL

01/12/2022

Standard Electric
SUPPLIES
101-448.000-740.000

01/07/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

01/12/2022

Staples, Inc
DESK PAD
692-449.000-740.000

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

11425-REV.
76079

Summit Companies
SUPPLIES
588-596.510-740.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
MATERIALS/SUPPLIES

20/25

Inv Amt

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

77.99

77.99

Open

N
01/05/2022

16,941.51

Open

N
01/04/2022

274.00

Open

N
01/07/2022

39.96

Open

N
01/07/2022

1,785.70

Open

N
01/04/2022

262.00

Open

N
01/03/2022

1,591.31

Open

N
01/03/2022

15.59
62.40
16,941.51
53.47
7,210.56
48.43
413.41
456.37
5,821.02
2,268.41
58.39
119.36
492.09
274.00
274.00

761-10670485
76126
STATE OF MICHIGAN
01/04/2022
01/12/2022
ANNUAL BIOSOLIDS LAND APPLICATION
mshaffer
590-527.000-801.000
DRY TON BIOSOLIDS FEE $8.94/DRY TON
133008249
76078

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

01/12/2022

TAPLIN GROUP LLC
01/03/2022
01/12/2022
SANITARY SEWER VIDEO INSPECTIONS/2 mshaffer
590-527.552-970.000-S163.0000
VIDEO INSPECTIONS-SANITARY SEWER

39.96
39.96
1,785.70
1,785.70
262.00
262.00
1,591.31
1,591.31

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#
01052022
76133

1120753
76068

2010129
76180

1630027900
76051

1630027024
76052

1630028739
76053

1630029580
76087

1630029582
76182

1630028740
76202

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
T-MOBILE
ACCOUNT NUMBER 975200437
510-790.000-801.000
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13
Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

01/05/2022
mshaffer
CONTRACT FEES

01/12/2022

TRACE ANALYTICAL LABORATORIES, INC
01/03/2022
METALS DIGESTION
mshaffer
590-527.000-801.000
CONTRACT FEES

01/12/2022

TRACE ANALYTICAL LABORATORIES, INC
01/06/2022
METAL DIGESTION
mshaffer
590-527.000-801.000
CONTRACT FEES

01/12/2022

Inv Amt

1,029.41

Amt Due

21/25

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

1,029.41

Open

N
01/05/2022

50.00

Open

N
01/03/2022

35.00

Open

N
01/06/2022

5.55

Open

N
12/29/2021

5.55

Open

N
12/29/2021

5.55

Open

N
12/29/2021

61.82

Open

N
01/03/2022

5.55

Open

N
01/06/2022

91.81

Open

N
01/07/2022

1,029.41
50.00
50.00
35.00
35.00

Unifirst Corp
UNIFORMS
588-596.000-741.000

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
UNIFORMS/SAFETY EQUIPMENT

5.55

Unifirst Corp
UNIFORMS
588-596.000-741.000

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
UNIFORMS/SAFETY EQUIPMENT

5.55

Unifirst Corp
UNIFORMS
588-596.000-741.000

12/29/2021
01/12/2022
mshaffer
UNIFORMS/SAFETY EQUIPMENT

5.55

Unifirst Corp
UNIFORMS
593-536.000-741.000
591-536.000-741.000

01/03/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
UNIFORMS/SAFETY EQUIPMENT
UNIFORMS/SAFETY EQUIPMENT

61.82

Unifirst Corp
UNIFORMS
588-596.000-741.000

01/06/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
UNIFORMS/SAFETY EQUIPMENT

5.55

Unifirst Corp
UNIFORMS
692-449.000-741.000
692-532.000-741.000

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
UNIFORM/LAUNDRY SERVICE
UNIFORM/LAUNDRY SERVICE

91.81

5.55

5.55

5.55

30.91
30.91

5.55

29.12
26.89

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

1630029583
76203

63623
76204

427838
76077

9895604685
76085

01032021
76083

01-03-2021
76084
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INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
590-527.552-741.000
692-532.000-740.000

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

UNIFORMS/SAFETY EQUIPMENT
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

15.92
19.88

Unifirst Corp
UNIFORMS
692-449.000-741.000
692-532.000-741.000
590-527.552-741.000
692-532.000-740.000

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
UNIFORM/LAUNDRY SERVICE
UNIFORM/LAUNDRY SERVICE
UNIFORMS/SAFETY EQUIPMENT
MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES

91.81

Unique Paving Materials Corp
COLD MIX
692-000.000-111.000

01/07/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
MATERIAL/SUPPLY INVENTORY

711.16

VEGA AMERICAS, INC
01/03/2022
01/12/2022
5 C-21 RADAR & 841 CONTROLLER UNIT mshaffer
590-527.000-970.000
VEGAPULS C-21 RADAR UNIT

8,681.50

Verizon North
683734136-00001
101-257.000-922.000
597-336.000-922.000
590-527.520-922.000
591-536.000-922.000
593-536.000-922.000
692-449.000-922.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
COMMUNICATIONS
COMMUNICATIONS
COMMUNICATIONS
COMMUNICATIONS
COMMUNICATIONS
COMMUNICATIONS

01/12/2022

Winn Telecom
ACCOUNT NUMBER 0410000554
581-595.000-922.000

01/03/2022
mshaffer
COMMUNICATIONS

01/12/2022

Winn Telecom
ACCOUNT NUMBER 0410001714
101-191.000-922.000

01/03/2022
01/12/2022
mshaffer
COMMUNICATIONS - FINANCE

Inv Amt

22/25

Amt Due

Status

Jrnlized
Post Date

91.81

Open

N
01/07/2022

711.16

Open

N
01/07/2022

8,681.50

Open

N
01/03/2022

228.12

Open

N
01/03/2022

63.68

Open

N
01/03/2022

250.00

Open

N
01/03/2022

29.12
26.89
15.92
19.88

711.16

8,681.50
228.12
114.03
6.41
27.63
41.87
22.87
15.31
63.68
63.68
250.00
250.00

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution

# of Invoices:
# of Credit Memos:

179
4

Inv Date
Entered By
# Due:
# Due:

179
4

Net of Invoices and Credit Memos:
*

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

1 Net Invoices have Credits Totalling:

Totals:
Totals:

Due Date

Inv Amt

Amt Due

130,044.28
(102.74)

130,044.28
(102.74)

129,941.54

129,941.54

(60.42)

Status

23/25

Jrnlized
Post Date

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
--- TOTALS BY FUND ---

101
202
203
510
580
581
588
590
591
593
596
597
598
692
736

-

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

GENERAL FUND
MAJOR STREETS
LOCAL STREETS
ALMA PUBLIC LIBRARY
STATE STREET PLAZA
GRATIOT AIRPORT AUTHORITY
TRANSIT SERVICES
WASTEWATER UTILITY
WATER UTILITY
GRATIOT AREA WATER AUTHTY
REFUSE DISPOSAL
RURAL URBAN FIRE BOARD
RESCUE
MUNICIPAL SERVICES
ALMA HOUSING COMMISSION

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

Inv Amt

Amt Due

31,362.07
357.46
185.33
10,679.97
1,861.74
12,541.64
9,426.23
18,332.53
1,598.93
148.44
30,857.55
478.48
58.39
11,596.41
456.37

31,362.07
357.46
185.33
10,679.97
1,861.74
12,541.64
9,426.23
18,332.53
1,598.93
148.44
30,857.55
478.48
58.39
11,596.41
456.37

814.51
71.71
321.71
71.71
668.74
1,845.00
6,056.12
299.54
45.08
470.01
545.50
501.61
71.71
2,503.07
536.87
125.18
186.50
120.14
8,088.78
341.15
370.66
172.13
15,527.26
27.63
1,972.80

814.51
71.71
321.71
71.71
668.74
1,845.00
6,056.12
299.54
45.08
470.01
545.50
501.61
71.71
2,503.07
536.87
125.18
186.50
120.14
8,088.78
341.15
370.66
172.13
15,527.26
27.63
1,972.80

--- TOTALS BY DEPT/ACTIVITY ---

000.000
172.000
191.000
215.000
257.000
262.000
265.000
265.810
265.840
265.850
265.860
265.870
270.000
301.000
336.000
371.000
443.000
447.000
448.000
449.000
449.109
449.161
527.000
527.520
527.552

-

GENERAL
CITY MANAGER
FINANCE ADMINISTRATION
CLERK
ASSESSOR
ELECTIONS
BUILDING/GROUNDS MAINT
200 PROSPECT
206 PROSPECT
217 N STATE
219 N STATE
221 N STATE
HUMAN RESOURCES
POLICE
FIRE & RESCUE
PUBLIC SAFETY/BUILDING
PARKING LOTS
ENGINEERING
STREET LIGHTING
ACT 51 STREETS/BRIDGES
SURFACE MAINTENANCE
TRAFFIC SIGNALS
SEWAGE DISPOSAL
SEWAGE DISPOSAL - ADMIN
MAINTENANCE OF SEWER MA

Status

24/25

Jrnlized
Post Date

01/07/2022 12:15 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Inv Num
Inv Ref#

Vendor
Description
GL Distribution
--- TOTALS BY DEPT/ACTIVITY ---

527.556
527.559
527.561
528.000
528.520
532.000
536.000
536.552
536.556
567.000
595.000
596.000
596.510
692.660
702.000
728.000
751.000
790.000

Page:

INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF ALMA
EXP CHECK RUN DATES 01/12/2022 - 01/12/2022
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN
BANK CODE: 13

-

SEWAGE UTILITY BILLING/
ARCADA SEWAGE LIFT STAT
PINE RIVER TWP SEWAGE L
REFUSE COLLECTION/DISPO
REFUSE DISPOSAL ADMINIS
CENTRAL GARAGE
POTABLE WATER SYSTEM
MAINTENANCE OF WATER MA
WATER UTILITY BILLING/C
RIVERSIDE CEMETERY
GRATIOT COMMUNITY AIRPO
TRANSIT OPERATIONS
TRANSIT SYSTEM MAINTENA
LOW RENT
PLANNING & ZONING
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
RECREATION & CULTURE/PA
LIBRARY

Inv Date
Entered By

Due Date

Inv Amt

479.44
166.91
114.82
30,342.96
479.43
7,747.68
402.59
860.92
479.44
332.15
12,541.64
8,959.72
466.51
456.37
25.00
3,043.39
10,607.48
10,679.97

Amt Due

479.44
166.91
114.82
30,342.96
479.43
7,747.68
402.59
860.92
479.44
332.15
12,541.64
8,959.72
466.51
456.37
25.00
3,043.39
10,607.48
10,679.97

Status

25/25

Jrnlized
Post Date

CITY OF ALMA
525 East Superior St.
Alma, MI 48801
Curtis Dancer
Finance Director/Treasurer
525 East Superior St.
Alma, Michigan 48801
cdancer@myalma.org
(989) 463-9504

City of Alma Commission
Greg Mapes,
Mayor
Roxann Harrington, Vice Mayor
Nick Piccolo,
Commissioner
Danny Wernick,
Commissioner
Roger Allman,
Commissioner
Michelle Pitts,
Commissioner
Audra Stahl,
Commissioner
Anthony Costanzo
City Attorney
Aeric Ripley,
Interim City Manager
Sara Anderson
City Clerk

FINANCE REPORT
FOR CITY
COMMISSION

OFF-CYCLE
CHECKS
To be approved at Commission
Meeting dated
January 11, 2022
Month/Day/year

\\coaserver\users\CDancer\Documents\TITLE PAGES FOR COMMISSION REPORT JAN.docx

01/07/2022 12:14 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma
Check Date

Bank

CHECK REGISTER FOR CITY OF ALMA
CHECK DATE FROM 12/29/2021 - 01/07/2022
Check

Vendor

Vendor Name

Page:

1/2

Invoice Vendor

Amount

Bank 12 MERCANTILE BANK PROPERTY TAX CHECKING
12/29/2021
12/29/2021
12/29/2021
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022
01/07/2022

12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12

2558
2559
2560
2561
2562
2563
2564
2565
2566
2567
2568
2569
2570
2571
2572
2573
2574
2575
2576
2577
2578
2579
2580
2581
2582
2583
2584
2585
2586
2587
2588
2589
2590
2591
2592
2593
2594
2595
2596
2597
2598
2599
2600
2601
2602
2603
2604
2605
2606
2607
2608
2609
2610
2611
2612
2613
2614

3181
3095
3870
TXRFD
TXRFD
6663
6082
TXRFD
3870
TXRFD
10259
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
3095
TXRFD
5289
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
8180
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
3930
TXRFD
3181
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
10094
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
6846
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
TXRFD
7805
TXRFD

Gratiot County Treasure
CITY OF ALMA
ALMA PUBLIC SCHOOLS
131 W SUPERIOR LLC
525 W WARWICK, LLC
Airgas USA, LLC
Alma Abstract & Title C
ALMA PARTNERS LTD
ALMA PUBLIC SCHOOLS
AMROCK, LLC CHASE SIX
Avalon & Tahoe Manufact
BADER & SONS CO LINWOOD
BARBARA LANG
CAPITAL REAL ESTATE TAX
CENTURY 21 LEE-MAC REAL
CITY OF ALMA
CLARK FAMILY RENTALS LL
Commercial Bank
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMUNITY FIRST
COOK KRISTOPHER
CORELOGIC INC
Corelogic Tax Services
CROSSROADS TITLE AGENCY
DAYMON KIMBERLY
DEVON TITLE AGENCY
FREED APARTMENTS
Freed Construction
GEMINI CAPITAL MANAGEME
Gratiot County Treasure
HATCHER PROPERTIES LLC
HOME TOWN INVESTMENT PR
ISABELLA BANK
JENNIFER & JOSEPH BUTCH
KOPPLEBERGER JOSHUA DAV
LAKE HURON CREDIT UNION
Lereta
LIQUIPAK CORP
LOANCARE
MCLAREN CENTRAL MI HOSP
MEMBERS FIRST CREDIT UN
MERCANTILE BANK OF MICH
MICHIGAN SCHOOLS & GOVE
Mid Michigan Auto Servi
MIDMICHIGAN HEALTH
PINEWINDS II APTS OP AC
PREFERRED CREDIT UNION
PRIME PROPERTIES MANAGE
SUMMERS VICTORIA L
WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT F
Wells Fargo Real Estate
WEST MICHIGAN CREDIT UN

Gratiot County Treasure
CITY OF ALMA
ALMA PUBLIC SCHOOLS
131 W SUPERIOR LLC
525 W WARWICK, LLC
Airgas USA, LLC
Alma Abstract & Title C
ALMA PARTNERS LTD
ALMA PUBLIC SCHOOLS
AMROCK, LLC CHASE SIX
Avalon & Tahoe Manufact
BADER & SONS CO LINWOOD
BARBARA LANG
CAPITAL REAL ESTATE TAX
CENTURY 21 LEE-MAC REAL
CITY OF ALMA
CLARK FAMILY RENTALS LL
Commercial Bank
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMERCIAL BANK
COMMUNITY FIRST
COOK KRISTOPHER
CORELOGIC INC
Corelogic Tax Services
CROSSROADS TITLE AGENCY
DAYMON KIMBERLY
DEVON TITLE AGENCY
FREED APARTMENTS
Freed Construction
GEMINI CAPITAL MANAGEME
Gratiot County Treasure
HATCHER PROPERTIES LLC
HOME TOWN INVESTMENT PR
ISABELLA BANK
JENNIFER & JOSEPH BUTCH
KOPPLEBERGER JOSHUA DAV
LAKE HURON CREDIT UNION
Lereta
LIQUIPAK CORP
LOANCARE
MCLAREN CENTRAL MI HOSP
MEMBERS FIRST CREDIT UN
MERCANTILE BANK OF MICH
MICHIGAN SCHOOLS & GOVE
Mid Michigan Auto Servi
MIDMICHIGAN HEALTH
PINEWINDS II APTS OP AC
PREFERRED CREDIT UNION
PRIME PROPERTIES MANAGE
SUMMERS VICTORIA L
WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT F
Wells Fargo Real Estate
WEST MICHIGAN CREDIT UN

90,521.16
20,303.65
7,565.01
1.60
11.39
4.03
141.19
4.48
2,438.19
5.03
112.12
18.46
4.85
101.45
7.34
14,522.01
7.88
218.68
2.06
45.91
90.63
75.95
3.16
0.97
1.38
774.25
10.10
1,900.25
4.04
709.17
2.69
21.90
9.74
23.25
101,764.02
7.83
5.33
79.01
6.38
469.60
2.80
134.80
7.95
1.61
10.74
4.27
40.07
3.04
19.87
16.43
50.97
1.25
15.65
751.09
4.40
25.05
1.31

12 TOTALS:
Total of 57 Checks:
Less 0 Void Checks:

243,087.44
0.00

Total of 57 Disbursements:

243,087.44

Bank 15
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022

MERCANTILE BANK CHECKING FSA/HRA
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15

5259(E)
5260(E)
5261(E)
5262(E)
5263(E)
5264(E)
5265(E)
5266(E)
5267(E)
5268(E)
5269(E)

99889
99867
99787
MISC
99827
99810
99886
99816
10472
99767
99745

ADVANCED DIAGNOSTIC IMA
CARELINC MEDICAL
CENTRAL MICHIGAN FAMILY
CHERI RAYNER (E)
COMPASS HEALTHCARE
COVENANT MEDICAL CENTER
EVERGREEN PHYSICAL THER
F S RADIOLOGY
Foundation Radiology Gr
HONORHEALTH MEDICAL GRO
LOSSIO PEDIATRICS PLLC

ADVANCED DIAGNOSTIC IMA
CARELINC MEDICAL
CENTRAL MICHIGAN FAMILY
CHERI RAYNER (E)
COMPASS HEALTHCARE
COVENANT MEDICAL CENTER
EVERGREEN PHYSICAL THER
F S RADIOLOGY
Foundation Radiology Gr
HONORHEALTH MEDICAL GRO
LOSSIO PEDIATRICS PLLC

148.40
128.53
191.65
10.82
109.22
345.67
21.81
40.39
190.71
20.40
116.77

01/07/2022 12:14 PM
User: CDANCER
DB: Alma

CHECK REGISTER FOR CITY OF ALMA
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Check Date

Bank

Check

Vendor

Vendor Name

Invoice Vendor

01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022

15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15

5270(E)
5271(E)
5272(E)
5273(E)
5274(E)
5275(E)
5276(E)
5277(E)
5278(E)

99734
99761
99782
99773
99739
99742
99887
99891
99890

MCLAREN CENTRAL MICHIGA
MIDLAND PATHOLOGY
MIDLAND RADIOLOGY ASSOC
MIDMICH MEDICAL CTR-MID
MIDMICHIGAN MEDICAL - G
REGENTS OF UNIV OF MI
RICHARD HORBAL MD PC
RONAN PHYCOLOGICAL
SPARROW CARSON HOSPITAL

MCLAREN CENTRAL MICHIGA
MIDLAND PATHOLOGY
MIDLAND RADIOLOGY ASSOC
MIDMICH MEDICAL CTR-MID
MIDMICHIGAN MEDICAL - G
REGENTS OF UNIV OF MI
RICHARD HORBAL MD PC
RONAN PHYCOLOGICAL
SPARROW CARSON HOSPITAL

Amount
70.62
22.07
134.50
1,410.45
569.27
1,212.49
180.02
859.45
754.43

15 TOTALS:
Total of 20 Checks:
Less 0 Void Checks:

6,537.67
0.00

Total of 20 Disbursements:

6,537.67

REPORT TOTALS:
Total of 77 Checks:
Less 0 Void Checks:

249,625.11
0.00

Total of 77 Disbursements:

249,625.11

